Notes on the Fox Wâpanōwiwenit / by Truman Michelson.

Contributors

Michelson, Truman, 1879-1938.

Publication/Creation

Washington: US Government Printing Office, 1932.

Persistent URL

https://wellcomecollection.org/works/fqrnu82j

License and attribution

Conditions of use: it is possible this item is protected by copyright and/or related rights. You are free to use this item in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s).



Wellcome Collection 183 Euston Road London NW1 2BE UK T +44 (0)20 7611 8722 E library@wellcomecollection.org https://wellcomecollection.org

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY BULLETIN 105

NOTES ON THE FOX WÂPANŌWIWENI

By TRUMAN MICHELSON





Ore

79050

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY BULLETIN 105

NOTES ON THE FOX WÂPANŌWIWENI

BY
TRUMAN MICHELSON



UNITED STATES
GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
WASHINGTON: 1932

Mediconce Library
for the Michaey
and Conferstensing

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION, BURRAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY, Washington, D. C., May 12, 1831.

Sin: I have the honor to transmit the accompanying manuscript, entitled "Notes on the Fox Wapanowiweni," by Truman Michelson, and to recommend its publication as a bulletin of the Bureau of American Ethnology.

Very respectfully yours,

M. W. Stimling, Chief

> 32. Charles G. Abror, Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution.

XII

CONTENTS

Introduction

Page

First Indian text	20
English translation of first Indian text	21
Second Indian text	108
English translation of second Indian text	109
Third Indian text	142
English translation of third Indian text	143
Fourth Indian text	168
English translation of fourth Indian text	169
Linguistic notes on the Indian texts	176
List of works cited	189
Index	193
tions also my a resultant of the court figure sent desired by the	
ILLUSTRATION	
on a parableone pritter by House B weekiek corrected and	
	Page
FIGURE 1.—Diagram showing the public performance of the Wapanowi-	
weni	113
balling to the little religion to the was restand described	

Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2018 with funding from Wellcome Library

NOTES ON THE FOX WAPANOWIWENI

By TRUMAN MICHELSON

INTRODUCTION

The first Indian text (p. 20 et seq.) was written in the current syllabic script about 15 years ago by Alfred Kiyana. The first few pages are restored according to the phonetics of Thomas Scott, the remainder according to those of Harry Lincoln. The English translation is based on an English translation written by Tom Brown, a Sauk of Oklahoma. This has been slightly modified to agree with what I conceive Fox grammar to be. Some grammatical notes secured from Harry Lincoln were most useful in analyzing the Indian text and indirectly showed the accuracy of Brown's original translation.

The second Indian text was written in the syllabic script a few years ago by a member of the Bear gens who desires to remain anonymous. He is the author of the Indian original of the second account of the Thunder Dance of the Bear Gens in Bulletin 89 of the Bureau of American Ethnology. The English translation is based on a paraphrase written by Horace Poweshiek, corrected and supplemented by a grammatical analysis of the text. Some linguistic notes, based on the text, obtained from Harry Lincoln, were most helpful in this. The syllabic text was restored according to his phonetics.

The third Indian text was written in the current syllabic script by Jim Peters and restored according to the phonetics of Harry Lincoln. The English translation is based on a paraphrase written by Horace Poweshiek, supplemented and corrected by a grammatical analysis by myself. Some linguistic notes obtained from Harry Lincoln have

also proved helpful.

The fourth Indian text was written in the syllabic script by Sam Peters (son of Jim Peters); it is restored according to the phonetics of Harry Lincoln. The English translation is based on a paraphrase written by Horace Poweshiek, supplemented and corrected by an analysis of the text by myself.

In presenting these Indian texts with English translations, together with some other material in this introduction, I do so with a certain amount of diffidence, for it is obvious that these notes are rather disjointed and that more detailed information on a number of points would be highly desirable. Owing to the conservative character of the Fox Indians it is not likely that such desiderata can be taken care of for some time to come; and in so far as these notes on the Fox Wâpanōwiweni contain much more information than was known previously, save to Fox Indians, they are well worth printing now. General knowledge of the published material on the Fox Indians is presupposed; I therefore have not annotated all the material presented very fully.

From prior experience I consider the informants as perfectly reliable. However, it may be pointed out that it is possible to check them in a number of ways. Obviously it is a simple thing to compare some of the songs given by Alfred Kiyana with those given by Jim Peters, etc., bearing in mind that owing to the faulty manner of writing songs in the current syllabic script some minor discrepancies are bound to occur. ¹ [It may be here stated that for the most part songs are given in roman type, but otherwise I have followed the principles of the syllabary.] Again, the list of members (given in "syllabics," substituting roman type for the script) on page 15 et seq., is not a list of purely fictitious persons. Where known to me, I have added the current English personal names.

I do not understand the exact connection of the Owl Dance (see the Indian text, p. 168 et seq.; also p. 21) with the Wâpanōwiweni, but have been told of this connection by at least one other informant. The name of the same traditional hero "Mama'sā'a" is attached to it. I may add that in 1917 Alfred Kiyana informed me that the first of the Bear gens to be blessed was Mama'sā'a. Incidentally I may remark that a Fox Indian of this name died some years ago. Years ago Sam Peters stated that a sacred pack formerly in possession of his father belonged to the Wâpanōwiweni rite. (See Bull. 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1927, p. 95.) Here again the exact connection is uncertain.

The author of the Indian text (p. 108 et seq.) on another occasion wrote in the current syllabic script an account of the same ceremony, without having access to the other account. The two agree very well; and it should be noted especially that the two diagrams, so far as they are comparable, differ very slightly. The second account contains a few elements not found in the first. An abstract of it is therefore presented.

¹ It may be observed at this point that the esoteric meanings in the first Indian text are those given by Alfred Kiyana on another occasion. Consult the Indian texts as well as English translations in comparisons; for the latter are based on those of different interpreters.

See Fig. 1 for the diagram appurtenant to the Indian text printed on p. 108 et seq.

The Great Manitou makes up his mind that he has made mortals' lives too short. He summons the other manitous and tells them to bless the people. Mama'sā'a goss about wailing with tobacco in his hands, realizing the uncertainties of life. He eventually is blessed by a Wâpanōwa, who takes him to the other Wâpanowagi and the Great Manitou, who all confer the same blessings. The Foxes (Meskwakies) are surrounded by hostile Indians. There is no possible escape. Mama'sā'a beats a drum all night long and puts the foe to sleep by singing one song ("Ghost, I tell you to-day," the second half of which is "I exactly tell you to-day, I exactly tell you to-day"). His companion was Ke le yo ma wa. A holy wolf hide is dipped in water four times. A heavy snow falls, and the Foxes escape unnoticed. Mama'sā'a now admonishes his fellow clansmen in the usual manner. An explanation of how the ceremony is conducted to-day is given, together with the usual conventional speeches.

A Fox Indian who desires to remain anonymous wrote an account appertaining to our subject, consisting of about a hundred pages of manuscript in the ordinary syllabic script. Harry Lincoln dictated an English version of the first few pages (which version I have since checked by working out a grammatical analysis of most of the syllabic text), but the remainder was translated by myself. Since the information was given in a rambling style, and as the text ends abruptly, I have decided to present only an abstract of the myth; and to note here that according to the author poison formerly was kept in clamshells; and to-day the Wâpanōwiweni is a rather jolly affair, for they have ceased to practice it very strictly; that formerly it was held in a long wickiup similar to one used in the Metäwiweni; and that Fox shamans know a very poisonous weed which the whites also know; mixed with urine, it is even more efficacious:

A man's brothers die one by one; also his parents pass away; only he and his sister survive. The man fasts and is warned by the Spirit

This whole section consists of the regular formulas. Compare Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 48 (bottom). See also Bull. 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 125 et seq.; Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 49 (bottom) et seq.; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 23 (middle) et seq., 61 et seq., 103; and this volume, pp. 125, 127, 129.

⁴ All of this consists of the usual conventional phraseology. See the above-named bulletins of the Bureau of American Ethnology passim. Consult also the first and fourth papers, Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn; also pp. 35 et seq., 129 et seq., 143 et seq. of this volume.

⁵ This is much the same as the beginning of the story of White Robe (Wapa'saiya). See Jones's For Texts, Publications of the American Ethnological Society, vol. 1, pp. 9, 11, 13. See also this volume, pp. 169, 171. For the song, see pp. 70, 71, 80, 81, 88, 89, 98, 99, 148, 149, 150, 151, 172, 173.

⁶ Ke le yo ma wa is a name appropriate to the War Chiefs gens, exactly as Mama'sā'a is to the Bear gens.
7 See Jones's Fox Texts, pp. 11, 13. A version of the Wâpa'saiya tale told me over 20 years ago by Joseph Tesson, sr. (now deceased), corresponds rather more closely to the Fox text of which the abstract is presented. This is another proof that legends, etc., of primitive peoples are not organic wholes, but consist of preexisting material combined in slightly varying ways.

^{*} The red headdress is mentioned, and the flute is stated to come from the Sāgimā'kwāwa pack, on which see Bull. 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 117 et seq. For the conventional speeches, consult the bulletins of the bureau cited above and this volume, pp. 8, 9, 59, 61, 69, 71, 75, 77, 87, 89, 93, et seq., 97, 99, 105 et seq., 115, 117, 125 et seq., 151, 153, et passim.

of Fire that a witch has evil designs on his sister; is told to use cedar leaves 10 to find the witch who was to come that night. The witch comes and hides under a clamshell.11 The man throws a cedar shaving into the fire and finds the clamshell. The witch arises from underneath it. The man kills the witch, flays him, and cuts off his head. The man decides to hold a ceremonial feast. His ceremonial attendant is told only to invite notorious witches. He feeds them the witch's head, claiming that the witch's body is a bear's. 12 He in turn is invited to a Wâpanōwiweni meeting. He is warned that they plot his death; and is told how to excel in the shamanistic tricks. The shamans fail to get meat out of boiling water. The man, spitting medicine on his arm, plunges it into the boiling water, and brings forth the meat without injury to himself.13 The shamans are afraid. They now pick up hot coals. The man rubs medicine on arms and hands and picks up the hot coals.14 The shamans are now much afraid. The ceremony ends the next day without any special events.

Another Indian who desires to remain anonymous has given me some information on the shamanistic tricks which he has seen performed by members of the Bear gens, adding that members of the Wâpanōwiweni are the greatest adepts in these. All the tricks except the first are stated to have been performed by members of that

The ordinary Fox word for witch is manetowe'sita, a participle of manetowe'siwa, "he, she is a witch." This has exactly the same main stem as manetowiwa, "be, she has the nature of a manitou"; the former has the animate copula -e'si-, the latter has the auxiliary -i-. The same stem occurs in manetowa, "supernatural spirit," etc., and manetowi, "supernatural power." Compare W. Jones, The Algonkin Manitou, Journal of American Folk Lore, vol. 18, New York and Boston, 1905, p. 184 (inferentially), and T. Michelson, Notes on the Great Sacred Pack of the Thunder Gens of the Fox Indians, Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1930, p. 55. Sauk has an exact equivalent of manetowe's wa and is also used in a malevolent sense. Compare A. Skinner, Observations on the Ethnology of the Sauk Indians, Bull. Publ. Mus. Milwaukee, vol. 5, No. 1, Milwaukee, 1923, p. 55. Apparently Olibwa also has, but the meaning is rather different. Algonkin has an exact equivalent also, but the meaning is rather "he is a sorcerer," etc., whether malevolent or not can not be determined from the published material. (It may be added that there are several derivatives of the stem manetow- in several Algonquian languages, some with malevolent ideas, some with beneficent. Note especially Fox maneto'ka'sowa, "he conjures for a miracle," has an exact equivalent in Plains Cree manetô'kāsow; the Fox word literally means, "he, she pretends to be a manitou." Fox nemanetőmi, "my mystic power," is, I think, used only in a malevolent sense. Fox manetőwimigatwi means "it is laden with manitou power," and applies only to what is inanimate; e. g., a sacred pack [micāmi]. Fox mi'ckawe'siwa means "he, she is physically or mystically powerful"; from it is derived mi'ckawe'siweni, an abstract noun, "power.") A less common word in Fox for "witch" is nana kawe'sita, nănă'kawe'sī'a, the former being a participle, the second an animate noun; both are derived from nanā'kawe'sīwa, "he, she is a witch." This last is derived from the stem nanā'kawi-, "make sport of, play a prank on," with the animate copula mentioned above; nanā'kawi- rarely is found unreduplicated, and when then combined with the instrumental participle -'w- (-A'w-), means "to bewitch"; note the compound nanä'kawinätawinöni, "witch-medicine," p. 5.

Origin of the White Buffalo Dance of the Fox Indians, Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1925, p. 91; Notes on Fox Mortuary Customs and Beliefs, ibidem, p. 357; A Sacred Pack called A'penäwänä'A, belonging to the Thunder gens of the Fox Indians, Bull. 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1927, pp. 102, 110; A Sketch of the Buffalo Dance of the Bear Gens of the Fox Indians, Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1930, p. 13.

¹¹ For this trick compare also W. Jones, Ojibwa Texts, ed. Truman Michelson, Publ. Amer. Ethn. Soc., vol. vн, pt. п, New York, 1919, p. 379.

According to Fox ideas a bear is the most dreadful form of a witch. See W. Jones, Fox Texts, Publ. Amer. Ethn. Soc., vol. 1, Leyden, 1907, p. 155 (footnote).

¹³ See p. 13 et seq.

¹⁴ Compare p. 13.

society. He states that as a spectator he was not privileged to ask how they were done. Stones or feathers in box were removed without touching the box or contents. Balls of fire were produced. Snake skins were held in the hands of the practitioners; the snake skins then became alive and the snakes "spoke." Down of feathers came to life, "talked," and went about the lodge. Stones ran around in a circle. Cat hides also were used. They successfully called upon the Wâpanōwi birds to come. 15

The same Indian tells me that when a lad his father called him aside, took down his sacred pack, and told him he was going to show him something. The man took out an otter hide and said it would come to life and speak. The shaman began singing, and both of these things happened. [Compare p. 63 of Mem. Amer. Anthrop. Assn., vol. v, Lancaster, 1918.] Then the otter became only an otter hide, which was put away in the sacred pack. The informant (who has had a little schooling) tells me he does not know whether his father hypnotized him or not; or whether his father had practiced ventriloquism or not. He added certain Fox societies conjured with bones, but unfortunately did not give any details.

Eighteen or nineteen years ago Alfred Kiyana told me that of the Metäwiweni, Sī'sa'kyäweni,¹6 Wâpanōwiweni, and Nanā'kawināta-winōni only the last three were still practiced, stating that there was then only one old woman who belonged to the Metäwiweni. (When I first went to Tama in July, 1911, there were two old women who belonged to it.) The last may be translated "witch medicine." Persons belonging to the Wâpanōwiweni had to be members of the Bear or War Chiefs gentes; gentes cut no figure as regards the other three. There was no fixed order in which a person entered them. Persons belonging to the Wâpanōwiweni could pick up red-hot rocks or eat anything boiling.

Many years ago Alfred Kiyana wrote a Fox text in the current syllabic script on the Wa le si wi so tti ki which I translated. Obviously in some way the performance is connected with the Wâpanö-

¹⁵ One set of shamans used crickets, another insects. Addition, February, 1931.

Is I have a long unpublished Fox text (by Jim Peters, of Sauk descent, though he lived with the Foxes at Tama, Iowa) in the current syllabic script on the origin of the Si'sa'kyāweni. This follows the usual type of Fox origin myths; but it has one novelty, the incorporation of a story within a story—an art form which apparently is practically absent from aboriginal American literature. [The incorporated story is a variant of "The Turtle Brings Ruin Upon Himself," on which see Jones's Fox texts, pp. 315-331.] The blessing was conferred by a gray hawk, pike, squirrel, and crawfish. The hero sucks out a hair of a deer's tail from a sick young man, who is then restored to health; the patient is asked to say what shall happen to the witch who had plotted tgainst him. Death in four days is the decision, which happens. All this is enough to connect the Si'sa'kyāweni with the Ojibwa Tci'sa'kiwin, Plains Cree Tcikusāpa'ta'mawin (Michelson, information). But the external performance follows Fox lines; the description of the other practices, which among the Sauk so closely follow the Ojibwa and Cree ones (see Skinner, Observations on the Ethonology of the Sauk Indians, pp. 54, 55), has no counterpart in the Fox text, whether such practices exist or not among the Foxes. I call attention to the fact that the Fox Si'sa'kyāweni and Ojibwa Tcīsa'kīwin do not conform initially to recognized phonetic shifts. I have previously called attention to other apparent irregularities of this kind.

wiweni, as is shown by the mentioning of the Wâpanōwi birds. Alfred Kiyana has been dead many years, and thus far my efforts to learn more about the Wa le si wi so tti ki have been fruitless. I therefore present my translation as it is. The ceremony obviously follows the general Fox pattern for gens festivals, and the ritualistic

origin myth conforms to the usual Fox scheme. What Wa le si wi so tti ki means is a matter of doubt. The word is clearly a participial, third person animate plural, intransitive, verbalized from a noun walle si wa (reconstructed by myself); "Those who are named after the wa le si wa" is as far as we can get with certainty. The manner of formation follows the ordinary designations of gentes; e. g., mä'kwi'sucigki' [me gi so tti ki], "Those named after the Bear," derived from ma'kwa "bear" [ma ga]. To judge from Algonkin, Cree, and Ojibwa *wa le si wa would mean "swan." If we were sure that Forsyth's wab-bis-see-pin, "swan root" (Thomas Forsyth, An account of the manners and customs of the Sauk and Fox nations of Indians tradition, in E. H. Blair, The Indian Tribes of the Upper Mississippi Valley and Region of the Great Lakes, vol. II, Cleveland, 1912, p. 228), were native Fox (the exact equivalent is found in Ojibwa and Algonkin; the preceding muc-co-pin, "bear potato," is native), we would have additional support, but the ordinary word for "swan" is totally different. It may be mentioned that a Swan gens occurs among the gentes of both the Sauk and Fox according to information furnished by the late William Jones (see the articles Sauk and Foxes, Bull. 30, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1907-1910, pt. 1, p. 473; pt. 2, p. 478); it is also on the lists given by Forsyth (loc. cit., pp. 191, 192); it is on at least one list of my unpublished Sauk material and on at least one list of my unpublished Fox material; it is also on M. R. Harrington's lists of Sauk gentes (Sacred Bundles of the Sac and Fox Indians, Univ. Pa., Univ. Mus. Anthrop. Publ., vol. 4, no. 2; Philadelphia, 1914, pp. 131, 160); it is absent from Major Marston's list of Sauk gentes (letter of Major Marston to Reverend Doctor Morse, in E. H. Blair, The Indian Tribes of the Upper Mississippi Valley and Region of the Great Lakes, vol. II. Cleveland, 1912, p. 163); but as he states there are no less than 14, though he cites but 9, this is inconclusive; it is absent from A. Skinner's list of Sauk gentes (Observations on the Ethnology of the Sauk Indians, Bull. Publ. Mus. Milwaukee, vol. 5, no. 1, Milwaukee, 1924, p. 13); it is absent from the list of Lewis H. Morgan (Ancient Society, New York, 1878, p. 170), as it is from the list of Isaac Galland (The Indian Tribes of the West, Annals of Iowa, vol. vII, no. 4, Davenport, 1869, p. 350), both of which lists refer presumably to the Sauk, not Fox, as I have pointed out in my review of A. Skinner's Observations, etc. (Amer. Anthropologist, n. s., vol. 26, Menasha, 1924, pp. 93-100). Unfortunately the word given by Forsyth as the

designation of the swan gens in both cases is in reality nothing but the animate plural of the ordinary word for swan, somewhat corrupted; and it is to be much regretted that none of the other authorities citing the Swan gens give the native designation. So we can not be sure that Wa le si wi so tti ki (presumably = Wâpe'siwi'sutcigki') means "those named after the swan." I may add that it has been suggested to me that Wa le si wi so tti ki really is Wa le di wi do tti ki (Wâpe'ciwi'sutcigki'), "Those named after the gray (white) lynx," a group said to have become extinct about twenty-eight years ago. But as Kiyana in his syllabic text writes Wa le si wi so tti ki three times, and as his texts otherwise keep si ('si) and di ('ci) apart rigorously I am not entirely convinced that this is the correct solution.¹⁷

The translation is as follows:

This is how it now is when a gens festival is held. Many worship the buffaloes and those called "Wâpanōwi birds." A young maiden is the chief dancer. She is the chief dancer when she first begins to menstruate. For a very long time when the dance was held only young people were the dancers. They were not old women, but virgins. Any young person continued to dance. And the same with regard to men. No old man can dance, only a young one, so that they will not be tired.

They dance twice in clusters, and twice in a circle. While they are dancing in clusters they begin to dance in a circle. They dance the Bird Dance when they dance in clusters; they dance the Buffalo Dance when they dance in a circle. Whenever they dance they dance for a long time. They must not stop dancing prematurely. At the end of the dance the men dancers stop dancing, and the women do the same. That is why the elder people do not think much of it.

Dogs are what are offered in the festival, and beans, Indian corn, strawberries, Indian sugar, and watermelons. When the Wâpanōwi birds are worshiped corn and beans are the proper foods. And when the buffaloes are worshiped, dogs are suitable.

When they are worshiped together the very same songs are mixed, buffalo songs and Wâpanōwi bird songs. That is why they dance anyway.

The leading virgin is given the dog's head ¹⁸ and Indian sugar. ¹⁹ She stoops down when she eats. She does not use a spoon.

¹⁷ A reliable informant tells me "those named after the swan" is correct. Addition, February, 1931.
18 For the gift of the dog's head see notes on the Buffalo Head Dance of the Thunder Gens of the Fox Indians, Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1928, p. 6; Observations on the Thunder Dance of the Bear Gens of the Fox Indians, Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1929, pp. 8, 9; and the references given in these citations; also Proceedings of the Twenty-third Internat. Cong. Americanists, New York, 1930, p. 546.

¹⁹ Compare Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 27; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 19.

And this is how the celebrants are seated in groups.20

These are the things the celebrants sound.21

The leading man used, it is said, formerly a buffalo head as a head-dress as long as he danced.²²

The virgin uses the tail of a she buffalo; it is just above her buttocks. She fastens it on her belt when she dances.²³

The leading man fastens the tail of a buffalo bull on his belt while he dances.25

This is how that ritual is conducted. They wear oak leaves in their hair; the woman white oak, and the man black oak leaves, which they fasten in their hair for as long as they dance.²⁴ And they always eat dogs. Whenever the ceremonial attendants are told "Give invitations," they go about giving invitations. And this is what is reported of the ceremony when they speak in the worship. The buffaloes and the Wâpanōwi birds are they whom they worship. Now this is exactly what they say to them when they speak to them:

"Our grandfather, this day when we worship you, we have boiled dogs, our pets, for you; and this other sweet food. You therefore must bless us in a way which is good. With life—that is the way you must bless us. That we continue to play long with our friends, that is the way you must bless us; and that we may not be sick. Moreover, may we easily slay each one of our foes. Such is the way you must bless us. And just as an old man lives his full span of life, so you must bless us that we live the full span of our lives. That we continue to see your land for a long time, and forget our sorrows—such is the way you must bless us. And that we continue to steadily see your sky for a long time and forget our sorrows as you continue to change the appearance of the clouds—such is the way you must bless us. And we must have these sacred packs which you have placed here for us when we sacrifice. In whatever way you thought of the one whom you first blessed, that is the way we desire you to bless us. In whatever

I therefore here summarize the diagram. The singers (rattlers) are on the south side of the summer house. The drummer, said to be a Tō'kāna, is in the center; the singers (rattlers) to the west of him will be Kī'cko'agi, those to the east of him Tō'kānagi (the exact opposite of what takes place in the Thunder Dance of the Bear Gens of the Fox Indians; see Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 37, 61). Women belonging to those celebrating the festival and who are Kī'cko'agi are in the southwest corner of the lodge, those who are Tō'kānagi being in the southeast corner. Dancers who are Kī'cko'agi are in front of these women. Tō'kānagi women (function?) are in the northwest and northeast corners. The people (sex and function? smokers?) in the rear on the north side are Tō'kānagi. When they dance in a circle they start on the south side, about opposite the drummer, go east, north, west, and then south. The chief singer is immediately to the right of the drummer.

n A flute.

¹² See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 504, etc.; also Proceedings of the Twenty-third Internat. Cong. Americanists, New York, 1930, p. 546.

²³ Compare Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 504, 523; Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 23; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 17; Proceedings of the Twenty-third Internat. Cong. Americanists, New York, 1930, p. 546.

²⁴ See also Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 15; Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 27; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 11, 17; Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 504, 523; Proceedings of the Twenty-third Internat. Cong. Americanists, New York. 1930, p. 546.

way you all spoke to our venerable man at the time when you began to think of blessing him, in whatever way you spoke to him in a circle (east, south, west, and north), as you then blessed him, you must bless us when we are doing this to-day. Even the one called the 'Great Manitou,' who blessed our old man, must have spoken to him. He ordered us to do this. This is the way you must think of us. 'That is why I am not at all afraid of pitying you at this time. Even at this time whenever you remember me, I shall hear you.' That, very probably, was what you said to our venerable man.

"And if a foe of yours goes about our land always speaking evil of you, he shall stop thinking of it. And if he does not stop thinking of it, he shall instead curse himself." That, it seems, is what you so pleasantly said to the one you first blessed. And so we ask for more power from you in that respect. And that we live here until the end is what we implore you, as many of you as are called manitous. And so think this way of this religion of us who are named after the Wa le si wa. And you will think the same of every kind of a society; and you will think exactly the same of these persons who are the directors when we worship you. And you must think exactly the same of these men and women who were called when we are worshiping you to-day while it is daylight. That is all, our grandfather."25

That is exactly what those named after the Wa le si wa say when

they first make a speech.

And the ceremonial attendants are in the habit of eating as soon as it is afternoon. As many as are ceremonial attendants eat a kettle full. That is the amount those who singe the dogs eat. At the time they are seen they are summoned. Even a boy is summoned. They are summoned in the order they are seen. The waiters who boil the food early in the morning are different. And those who served as ceremonial attendants the day before are different. They are called "those who singe (the dogs)." And the headman there is the one who continues to serve the ceremonial attendants food.

The ceremonial attendants may eat well; food is served to as many as there are. And so they sit down to a single bowl. It is called "the ceremonial attendants' bowl." The bowl must have a pointed handle. This is how it is. They all sit down and eat out of this as long as the festival is held. As long as this festival is held so long it is displayed. Only men are made to sit down to eat together, not women. And girls are not made to sit down and eat together. Only a ceremonial attendant is the one who sits down and eats in a group. Not even the chief says, "I shall sit down and eat in a group." "Are you a ceremonial attendant?" he is asked. "Whenever you are a ceremonial attendant, you may sit down and eat in a group." That, it is

²⁵ The speech obviously follows the standard pattern with but minor deviations.

²⁶ A drawing of an ordinary wooden bowl with a handle, not reproduced.

said, is what he ordinarily is told. And then, it is said, the ceremonial attendants cease to say anything. Only a ceremonial attendant is ever made to sit down and eat in a group when others have a bowl. He does not sit down and eat in a group from his own bowl. Surely this is how he must sit down and eat in a group. The bowl is called "the ceremonial attendants' bowl." As soon as the others have eaten, it is said, a ceremonial attendant starts to go out.

This is where the one blessed dreamed, and what he dreamed.27

This is the wickiup where the one fasting dwelt. He fasted for several years. He lived with his grandfather and was made to fast there. As soon as he was plainly bony, he was asked, "Have you dreamed of anything?" "No," he said. And then he was made to fast again. "Soon your grandfather will again ask you a question. You will inform him. This is what you are to say to him: 'It is said that as soon as I dream of anything, this dwelling of ours will begin to fall down.' That is what you will say to your grandfather. 'And, it is said, in this way you will learn it by seeing it,' you will tell your grandfather," he was told in a dream. Soon he was again asked by his grandfather, and he said to him, "It is said you will know by this sign, this dwelling of ours will begin to fall down." That is what he said to him. Suddenly he was told, "My grandchild, you begin to speak great words. Now perhaps you think, 'our wickiup poles are nearly rotten'; that is why you say that," he was told by his grandfather. He ceased saying anything to him. Soon later he had a vision of a long wickiup. He always had a bright vision of the same thing. He thought it was up above. He dreamed of it always. Well, one winter he dreamed the same thing. Whenever he forgot it he always dreamed of it. That is what happened to him. He was surely to dream of something, he made up his mind. He told his grandfather. "You have had a fine dream, my grandchild," he was told.

And in the winter he dreamed there was a very long wickiup. He dreamed that the long wickiup looked very nice. But no one dwelt there. And again, he dreamed only this. He dreamed that he went inside. It is said that whenever he forgot he again dreamed the same thing. Finally he always remembered the wickiup. And soon he told his grandfather what he had been in the habit of dreaming of. "Oh, my grandchild, you will soon dream of something great. It is now a long time since you have continued to dream. If I see anything, then you will have a great dream, my grandchild. Do not think lightly of your blessing." When it was winter he began to fast. At that time, it is said, he was blessed. He had a vision of the one whom he first saw in a vision. He was addressed by a buffalo whom he saw. "My grandchild, now you see me here, up above," he was told. "Verily I give you life, so you will live a very long time,

[#] A picture of a wickiup, a buffalo, and a Wapanowi bird.

so that no one will overpower you, if your enemy or fellow tribesman who knows an evil medicine thinks anything against you, so be it; you will attain old age. This is another way in which I bless you. Well, you will continue to walk. You will go where your foes have a village. As many as may accompany you will slay many. But I shall also give you my medicine, of which I am fond. This is what it is called: 'buffalo medicine.' And this is what you are to do with it when you use it. Even your foe will not see you if you are fighting against each other. You will chase them around, striking them down; but, my grandchild, you must always worship me.

"We have already told you the one who orders us to bless you that way. So I bless you that way. I think of you in the way I said. I do not tell you any more. And I do not finish telling you prema-

turely. That is how I bless you."

And as this fellow looked again, there it was. He saw a large eagle. "My grandchild, I also bless you the same way. I bless you so that you will attain an old age. You will be unable to move around, as it is difficult. I shall bless you that way. But, my grandchild, do not cease to remember me quite often. As long as the earth persists you will think of me from time to time. For I shall tell the truth in what I say to you. I bless you so that you will be unable to move in any way from old age. And that you will live to be a very old man is what I tell you. That is why I tell you, 'you will be unable to move.' And if any one thinks anything against you, he shall have no power over you. Even your own tribesmen shall not prevail over you, if they plan something against you. And I bring this flute which I shall recognize. Whenever you celebrate a gens festival you will blow it. If you blow it, first you must hold it toward the east; and if you blow it again, to the south; if you blow it again, to the west. And you must hold it to the north. And whenever you give dances, the headman, whoever shall serve as your ceremonial attendant, will continue to blow it all the time. But you must take good care of this for me, so that I shall bless you.

"Well, to whatever old age the manitou destines this earth, so long I shall think of you. Your body will get old there. In a way, I as if give you this road. You will have a road that is good and beautiful. And you must follow what I think of you when I bless you. And two

of us shall speak to you," he was told.

Then he was addressed by two manitous who blessed him. "As often as whoever shall recollect us, we shall already know him. There will be a time when we shall remember anyone who follows this road. Whoever shall carefully remember us, he is the one whom we shall know by his doing so. Soon this life will be hard for all to get while you are living, for you all will die. He, that leader (the Great Manitou) says, 'You are not dead.' Even we say you are not

dead. We bless you. I have full control as to where you will wander. If I think, 'well, I shall go up yonder in the sky,' I shall go there. At the very moment I thought I should start to go, I should start to go. And the same applies also to this buffalo. He has even more the nature of a manitou. His bellow reaches far down in the earth and far above. That is why I say to you, 'He has more power.' Well, you must gather only those relatives of whom you are fond when you hold your first gens festival. You will look at those who are to hold a gens festival with you. These very persons will always hold festivals with you. You will tell them truthfully what we think of you. You must strongly urge them to remember it. You will tell them, 'do not think disobligingly toward any one.'

"As many of us as are called manitous bless you all alike. We think less of no one. We think of you alike. Yet even we were told, 'You will continue to bless only a person who fasts.' That is why we do not continue to bless merely any of you. And if we had not been told that, if we had not been told, 'You will continue to bless any one,' we should have continued to bless any one. New the one called a manitou desires many persons to continue to paint themselves with ashes—some boys, some girls, any one. Of course he is not at all beautiful, he will only know how to send his blessing. Se we all will be given a smoke from it (i. e., mortals will do this in exchange for their blessings). That is why we desire all of you to fast carefully and earnestly. We were the first to obtain power over your bodies so that we could bless you. Many another called a manitou went about thinking of blessing you. So you must strongly urge those who are to share your guardian spirit, you who are named after the Wa le si wa, to do this. That is the way we think about your dwelling. You must make this that way. Whenever you shall have dwellings you shall gather each other there, and you shall tell each other. You must always tell those with whom you are always to celebrate your festival. Never think lightly of this wickiup. You have had many visions of it a long time beforehand. So we bless you. We have never thought lightly of this. We always as if told you. Finally you ceased forgetting it. This is why we treat you so.

"That is what you must tell the future young people from time to time. Finally you will be an old man. You will tell them from time to time. Finally you will continue to be led there to instruct them. Eventually when you are asleep you will die," he was told.

That, it is said, is what happened to him. The one blessed reached to a very old age.

It should be pointed out that the phonetic equivalents of Fox wâpanōwa (plural wâpanowagi) in Cree, Ojibwa, Algonkin, and apparently Menomini, mean "sorcerer, wizard," whereas the Fox word designates a mythical bird (and in the plural, mythical birds).

That there are four of these is simply because four is the holy number among the Foxes. That a Kī'ckō Wâpanōwa is in the south and a Tō'kān Wâpanōwa in the north is in accordance with the ceremonial

localizations of Kī'ckōs and Tō'kāns among the Foxes.

The tricks of putting one's arm in boiling water (and pulling out meat), and handling fire without injury have been reported for the various central tribes of the United States; usually both occur in the same tribe. (See, for example, J. O. Dorsey, Study of Siouan Cults, Eleventh Ann. Rept. Bur. Ethn., Washington, 1894, p. 469; W. J. Hoffman, The Mide'wiwin or Grand Medicine Society of the Ojibwa, Seventh Ann. Rept. Bur. Ethn., Washington, 1891, pp. 156, 157, 275; W. J. Hoffman, The Menomini Indians, Fourteenth Ann. Rept. Bur. Ethn., Washington, 1896, pt. 1, pp. 62, 63, 66, 67, 151-157; W. Jones, The Central Algonkin, Ann. Archaeol. Rept. for 1905, App. Rept. Min. Ed. Ont., Toronto, 1906, p. 145; W. Jones, Ojibwa Text, ed. Truman Michelson, Publ. Amer. Ethn. Soc., vol. vii, pt. ii, New York, 1919, p. 314 et seq.; R. Lowie, Dance Associations of the Eastern Dakota, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xi, pt. II, New York, 1913, p. 113 et seg.; R. Lowie, Societies of the Hidatsa and Mandan Indians, ibidem, pt. 111, New York, 1913, pp. 252, 253, 308, 309: R. Lowie, Societies of the Arikara Indians, ibidem, New York, 1915, pp. 668, 669; R. Lowie, Primitive Religion, New York, 1924, p. 303; J. Mooney, The Chevenne Indians, Mem. Amer. Anthrop. Assn., vol. I, Lancaster, 1907, p. 415; J. R. Murie, Pawnee Indian Societies, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xi, pt. vii, New York, 1914, pp. 608, 609, 613, 616; P. Radin, The Winnebago Tribe, Thirty-seventh Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1923, p. 342 (bottom); A. Skinner, Societies of the Iowa, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xi, pt. ix, New York, 1915, pp. 702, 703; A. Skinner, Ponca Societies and Dances, ibidem, New York, 1915, p. 789; A. Skinner, Ethnology of the Ioway Indians, Bull. Pub. Mus. Milwaukee, vol. 5, no. 4, Milwaukee, 1926, p. 240; A. Skinner, Observations on the Ethnology of the Sauk Indians, Bull. Pub. Mus. Milwaukee, vol. 5, no. 1, Milwaukee, 1924, p. 55; A. Skinner, The Mascoutens or Prairie Potawatomi Indians, pt. III, Bull. Pub. Mus. Milwaukee, vol. 6, no. 3, Milwaukee, 1924, p. 354; A. Skinner, Associations and Ceremonies of the Menomini Indians, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. XIII, pt. II, New York, 1915, pp. 171, 191, 192; A. Skinner, Notes on the Plains Cree, Amer. Anthrop., n. s., vol. 16, Lancaster, 1914, p. 78; C. Wissler, Societies and Ceremonial Associations in the Oglala Divisions of the Teton-Dakota, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xi, pt. i, New York, 1912, pp. 82-85; C. Wissler, General Discussion of Shamanistic and Dancing Societies, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. x1, pt. x11, New York, 1916, pp. 859-861; C. Wissler, The American Indian, 2d ed., New York, 1922,

p. 201. The references given in the above should also be consulted. R. Lowie (Plains Indian Age-Societies, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xI, pt. XIII, New York, 1916, p. 925) identifies the Fire Dance of the Arapaho and Gros Ventres (on which see A. Kroeber, The Arapaho, III. Ceremonial Organization, Bull. Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xvIII, pt. II, New York, 1904, p. 190, and Ethnology of the Gros Ventre, Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. 1, pt. 1v, New York, 1908, p. 245) with part of the Hot Dance of the Village-Tribes: this no doubt is correct, but neither the Arapaho nor Gros Ventre seem to have the trick of plunging one's hand into boiling water and taking out meat without injury, and so their Fire Dance apparently lacks connection with the Fox Wâpanōwiweni. To the information given by Mooney regarding the Chevenne, I may add that among the southern Chevenne in the Sun Dance there is a lodge where a man jams his arm in boiling water and pulls out meat without injury to himself. (Information, 1931.) See also Grinnell, The Chevenne-Indians, vol. II, p. 78. In Algonquin, to judge by J. A. Cuoq's Lexique de la Langue Algonquine, Montreal, 1886, p. 414, wabanowiwin is not the designation of a special rite, but of a quality; and the wabano (cf. Thavenet's note) seems to be a combination of the "Jesako" or "Jesakaid" and "Wabano" cults of Central Algonkins. It is known to me that the Kickapoo of Oklahoma have a performance which takes place at night, of which they say wâpanōwiyagi (Fox wâpanōwiwagi). Further details are unknown to me.

Skinner's (Sauk) Wäxkaji'hûk (loc. cit.) is the animate plural of a noun, and in my transcription is Wä'kādtcī'Agkl'. Translating the Sauk word as if it were Fox, the rendition "those who have feet" would be a close one; idiomatically in Fox this is used in the sense of "bake ovens." (See Bull. 40, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pt. 1, p. 755.) This designation is not inappropriate in view of Skinner's description. No details of the public performance is given; only the shamanistic tricks are described. [Cf. details in Jones's Fox manuscripts, 1932.]

It should be observed that the external public performance of the Wâpanōwiweni ²⁸ has been entirely remodeled so as to conform to the pattern of Fox gens festivals. The papers in Bulletins 85 (third and fourth paper), 87, 89, and 95 of the Bureau of American Ethnology, as well as the first and fourth of the Fortieth Annual Report, prove it.

Note that the Wâpanōwiweni agrees with the Buffalo Dance of the Bear gens in having the red feathers on the south side of the mound of earth and the white ones on the north side. This is exactly the opposite of what happens in the Buffalo-head Dance of the Thundergens. The use of the four feathers, two red, two white, is common enough in other Fox ceremonies, but detailed knowledge of their localization is still unknown.

¹⁸ See p. 109 et seq. The red headdress, however, recalls the Pawnee performance.

Walta si ma . (Waltagama T)

We are told on page 147 that one member from the Thunder, Eagle, Wolf, and Fox [War Chiefs] gentes make the drum in the Wâpanō-wiweni. There are parallels to this. But what I wish to point out is that in the Thunder Dance of the Bear gens and in the festival appurtenant to the Sāgimā'kwäwa sacred pack which belongs to the Bear gens the same gentes are associated in being especially fed. So they are also in the Buffalo Dance of the Bear gens, but the society known as the "The Dirty Little Ani" is coordinated with them. So also it is equated with gentes in the Buffalo-head Dance of the Thunder gens. According to a single informant it is equated with gentes in fixing the drum in two ceremonies of the War Chiefs gens, namely, When they raise the flag, and When they worship the wolf-hide, the associated gentes in both cases being the Wolf, Bear, and Thunder.

Formerly a special type of "adoption feast" was held in combination with the Wâpanōwiweni. Further details are unknown. (See pp. 173,175.)

In 1917 Alfred Kiyana wrote out a list of members of "when the Bear gens gives the Bird Dance;" i.e., the Wâpanōwiweni. The list follows (the appended K or T denotes that the person is a Kī'ckō'a or Tō'kāna respectively, according to Kiyana):

Ke ke gi mo a (Kekeqema, T)	Drummer.
Ma gi la na da A (Young Bear, K)	Speaker.
Di di ga ne sa (John Bear, K)	
The second was Peter To	nial attendants.
Li ta ta ge A (Old Man Pete, T) Le me ka i ta (Frank Push, T)	Directs the dancers.
Le me ka i ta (Frank Push, T)	Singer.
Ki dki ne no swa (John Buffalo, T)	Singer.
Tta ke ne me a (Jim Bear, K)	Singer.
Ki wa to sa ta (John Black Cloud, K)	Singer.
Le ka ta A (George Black Coud, T)	
	Singer.
Ki yo sa ta ka (Charley Keosatuck, T) Ka ki ki a (Willy Johnson, T)	Singer.
Ki wa ga ka (John Young Bear, T)	Singer.
A ya tti wa (Percy Bear, K)	Singer.
E ni di ka (K)	Singer.
La wi di ka (Jim Poweshiek, K)	Singer.
Wa le dki ka ke (White Breast, K)	Singer.
Ne na wa kye li (George Young Bear, T)	Singer.
Na na tti o A (Frank Young Bear, K)	Singer.
Ni do ne me ke (Robert Young Bear, T)	Singer.
Me ki so lye A (K)	Singer.
Sa ke na we ga (K)	Hummer.
Ne ko to da A (Elsie Johnson, K)	Hummer.
Da wa no ge (K)	Hummer.
Ni la wo se ge (K)	Hummer.
Tti ki ke A (Mrs. White Breast, T)	Hummer.
Wa li la ke a (Mary Poweshiek Davenport, T)	
Lo na wa li ga (Nina Young Bear, K)	
O ki ma ge sa (Lucy Young Bear, T)	
The state of the s	

On pages 4-7 of Bulletin 89, Bureau of American Ethnology, I have shown a strong tendency to an "interlocking" membership in the Thunder Dance of the Bear gens, the organization centering around the Sāgimā'kwäwa sacred pack of the same gens and the Bird Dance of the same gens and have shown that these essentially belong to the Brown Bear division of the Bear gens. There is, therefore, no occasion to repeat the details; it will suffice to add a few corrigenda et addenda. On page 5 the last sentence of the first paragraph should read "The first three . . ." instead of "The first two" The last line of the same page should read "with the exception of E ni di ka and Da wa no ge who belong to the Black." On page 6 the beginning of line 4 should read "save five" instead of "save four"; on line 5 Da wa no ge (K) should be added; on line 11 "but four" should be read for "but three." On page 3 Sa ke na we ga should be substituted for Sa ke A we ga. The error is mine; on the original list the name is properly spelled. Me ki so lye A and Me ki wi so lye A both designate the same person (who is a member of the Brown Bear division of the Bear gens). It may be added that Ni la wo se ge belongs to the Brown Bear division of the Bear gens. Since 1917 various members of the organization as given above have died.

A few notes on the persons named in the account beginning on page 109 are in order. Sam Peters belongs to the Thunder gens and is a To'kāna. He is mentioned only casually. John Jones, a ceremonial attendant, is a member of the War Chiefs gens and is a Tō'kāna. Jack Bullard, the leading ceremonial attendant, is a member (or rather was, as he has recently died) of the Eagle gens and is (or rather was) a Kī'ckō'a. I have no information regarding Sioux Boy, the attendant who clubs the dogs to death, A woman by the name of Sioux Woman (A'cā'i'kwäwa), according to a list written out nearly 15 years ago by Alfred Kiyana, belongs to the Wolf gens; per se, then, the name Sioux Boy might be a name appropriate to the Wolf gens. This would fall in line with the information furnished Jim Peters regarding the membership of the ceremonial attendants. Ta'kamadtcī'a is a female and a member of the Black Bear division of the Bear gens; Jim Old Bear, a Kī'ckō'a, is a member of the Black Bear division of the Bear gens. Kekequemo (recently deceased), Young Bear (a speaker), John Bear (drummer), Jim Bear, and John Pete are all members of the Brown Bear division of the Bear gens; they are To'kāna, Kī'ckō'a, Kī'ckō'a, Kī'ckō'a, and Tō'kāna, respectively. Wâ'kaiya (recently deceased), a speaker, is a Kī'ckō'a and a member of the Thunder gens. By consulting Bulletins 85, 89, and 95 of the Bureau of American Ethnology, it will be seen that all the men mentioned in this paragraph (save Sam Peters, who is a pevote devotee) are prominent in Fox ceremonials. Petegu'sä'kwa is a Kī'ckō'a and a member of the Thunder gens. I have no other information regarding her.

I call attention to the fact that John Pete (Me de ne a) is also a member of the organizations centering around the Thunder Dance of the Bear gens and the Sāgimā'kwäwa sacred pack belonging to the Bear gens. This is further evidence of the existence of an "interlocking directorate." (See Bulletin 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 146; Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 3.) There is no discrepancy in the information given on page 6 of Bulletin 89: John Pete is not on Kiyana's list, as will be seen above. The ceremonial attendants named naturally would not be on Kiyana's list (see above). Kekequemo, Young Bear, John Bear, and Jim Bear also occur on Kiyana's list. I have called attention to the fact that such lists are rarely complete and to the "placing" of members in ceremonies appurtenant to gentes to which they do not belong.

I have stated on pages 56, 58 of Bulletin 95, Bureau of American Ethnology, that the connection among the Foxes between ethics and religion, especially formal worship, is rather slim, but that it did occur. This leads me to give a few more examples showing it. In an unpublished Fox text, collected years ago, I find a sentence which I translate "the man who knows nothing of the nature of a woman, and the woman who knows nothing of the nature of a man, is the one of whom the manitou thinks most highly." Note in this volume several passages in which prayers are uttered for the benefit of the ceremonial attendants, dancers, especially women and children, any one who remembers the sacred pack. Also the hope is expressed that the chief's village may rest in security. That is to say, purely personal selfishness does not predominate. Observe that even children and women are invited to the festival. Note also the statement that whoever lives a truly upright life is the one of whom the manitous are fond. It may be incidentally remarked that any one called upon to serve as a ceremonial attendant is morally obligated to do so. (Compare p. 83 of American Indian Life, ed. Elsie Clews Parsons, New York, 1922.) In another Fox text men are warned not to think lustfully of women during a religious ceremony.

I have also argued (loc. cit.) that Alexander (Encyc. Rel. and Ethics, article Sin [American]) is in error when he asserts that American Indians made no discrimination between sin, vice, etc. In the summer of 1930 I received information to the effect that the Foxes discriminate between madtcimīna'kyäweni and ne'ciwanātanō'kyäweni. The former would apply to beating a woman, poisoning, murder; the latter to incest, giving girls strong drink, child abandonment, stealing, and desecrating a sacred pack.

A word on Ke'tcimanetōwa "the Great Manitou" and Ke'cāmanetōwa "the Gentle Manitou." I do not think the former is altogether European in origin, contrary to the usual belief. I, of course, admit European influence. On the other hand I think the term Ke'cāmanetōwa is due to European ideas. At the same time there are echoes of aboriginal notions. So when on page 68, line 43, he is spoken of as "a'pemegi'megu äwi'ta" "he who dwells above," as long as this is in connection with the Wâpanōwiweni, we are reminded of the Ojibwa icpimīng manidōn. (Jones's Ojibwa texts, pt. 11, p. 314, line 15.) Furthermore, over 20 years ago a Piegan of Montana, Big Brave (Mountain Chief, sr.) put this sentence (translated) in the mouth of a legendary hero, "the man above the earth hears me." I asked Big Brave the name of this man. He stated that he did not know. Had it been a purely Christian notion he undoubtedly would have answered. It will be recalled that years ago I pointed out that the Piegan had taken over some Biblical tales, keeping the European names. It goes without saying that the Foxes identify Ke'tcimane-tōwa and Ke'cämanetōwa.

In so far as I have stated my position on the above, I now hasten to add that I do not follow the erudite anthropologist, W. Schmidt, in his theoretic reconstructions, but follow the critique of R. Lowie.

Incidentally I may remark that when W. Schmidt in his Der Ursprung der Gottesidee, II Band: Die Religionen der Urvölker Amerikas (Münster, 1929) complains of the lack of materials on Fox religion he apparently ignores the various publications of both the late Dr. William Jones and myself. Prof. R. Lowie in his review of Schmidt's work (Anthropos, xxv, pp. 751-753) previously pointed out that he failed to utilize the splendid Ojibwa texts of Doctor Jones.

FIRST INDIAN TEXT

A'warano'wiwalling A'gawiwallin Maligaware Me'ro'sane'.

Liggs oip, a writeinesto's and indicate write and the magesture also and the state of the state

Kilingramigatip almawitemental kilintenagistalingramitement.

Kilintenagistalingramitementalingr

Nabötstemegrup a'nenol'tawaltei wite'gowalle saowanisteimegralu

20 a'ileinenol'tawalte". "Malana'iteimegrup alianwalanwa'iteimegralu

20 a'ileinenol'tawalte". "Malana'iteimegrup alianwalanwa'itawateile'iteimegralu

20 a'ileinenol'tawalteimegrap alianwalanwa'iteimegralu

20 a'ileinenol'tawalteimegrap alianwalanwa'iteimegralu

20 a'ileinegra'itei aliana kwipeleile alianwalanwalanwalanwani

25 wi ponionelangu'itei alianaliwiyagin'i alianmagralu ponionekanagu'iteimegralu

25 wi ponionegra'uma'teisananiwiyagin'i alian aleimegralua aleimegraluk

26 wi ponionegra'uma'teisananiwiyagin'. Almi alia aleimegraluk

26 wi ponionegraluk

go d'A'penä'teiga win a'mogulu wi'anemimegu'enak'nak'i. A'gwi
nanä''ei wi'käwita'ei'mä'tein'il. Cewä'na ki'penalmegu wi'pöoinel30 inalitalgowät", wi'pöni'moguta'gowagi' sa'sa'sigä''megu. Agwigä''
uwi'yā'ani wi'wigamegowā'tein''i, māme'nikagālmegu' wina wi'wiigenög'il. I'ni wili'ea wiwa'te''a Me'sötäwe'megu'u wi'a'kawapamegenög'il. I'ni wili'ea wiwa'te''a Agwigā'ii kimā'na me''teno'i
nagi'ik aiyō''i mo'si'megu'u a'me'te'saneni'wiyagwa ka'gime'si me'-

FIRST INDIAN TEXT

Ä'WÂPANŌ'WIWĀDTC Ä'CAWIWĀDTCIPI NA'CAWAIYE ME'TO'SÄNE'-NIWAGKIC

ä'apenö'idtcigä''megu'u ä'ne'semedtc ö''sani'. Kwīve'sä'ä''Ap Ugyä'nip ä'wīdtcime'to'säne'nīmādtc'. Īnip īn ugyä'n ä'cīgā'winidtc ä'maiyomai'yōnidtci. Ä'kīkegwäwäge''sinidtcu'wīvaw". Ī'na kwī'ye'sä' ä'ape'nō'idtc'. Kīmedtci wī'cāwe'tā'gudtcin ugyä'n ä'nō'-5 tāgudtci. Kī'cipimegu'unono''idtcin ä'ke'tci'nepādtci. Kenwä'cipi'megu'u āgwi tō'kī''idtcini kī'citapinono''idtcin'. O'nipi kabo'tw ä'wäpima'katäwīgwänegudte". Āgwigä'i mā'ma'kādte ä'nāwa'kwänigi wī'a''camedtci', me'ce'megu na''ina'imegu'u mäyodtcin ä'a'-'camedtci'. Īni'megu'u ä'i'cawidtci'. 'Ō'nipi kabō'tw ä'pō'si'megu'-10 una'ima'katä'wī'idtel'. Awa'sīmä'kä''megu'u ä'ineginö'idtelt. 'Ö'nipi wīna'megu ä'wäwäneti''sō'idtci na''ina'i wī'wī'senī''idtcinni'.

Kākāgīwanigä'ip ä'wāwīdtcano'megudtci kī'kī'cimagigi'nō'idte'. Ä'kī'cāgudtci'meguke'cādtcinu'tāgudtc īni'ni kākāgīwanni. Kī'cipi'megu'u wī'se'nidtcin ä'ani''sānidtci. 'Ō'nipi pwāwima'katä'wīdtcin 15 ä'pwāwipagi''cinidte'. Kī'ci'ānawäneme'gudtcin ä'penonidtci'megu. 'Ō'nip a'penädtci'megu ä'ma'ka'täwīdtc a'penädtci'megu'u ä'tpyānidte!

Kabōtwemegup ä'neno''tawādtci wīte'gowa''; änowänidtcimegu'u ä'ke'känemādtci wīte'gwoa''. Ī'nipi pe''k ä'pe'cigänemedtc īni' 20 ä'i'cineno''tawādtel'. "Ma'n änā'dtcimudtci wītegōwa," ädtcin ä'täpwä'tāgu'tci'megu. A'cki'dtcā'kä'megup ä'ānwā'ānwä''tawu'dtc'. 'Ō'nipi wī'nāna kwīye'sa' a'adtci'ā'dtcimudtci': "Mā'a'gi kākāgīwagi pe'ki'megu'u kī'cāgudtci täpāne'nagwigkit, ä'ume'cōme''senagkwet: änāgōme'nagkwet. Mā'agigä'ipi nā'inā'imegu'u pōninäwagw īni 25 wī'pōni'megu'ume'to'sänenī'wiyagkwe'. Ī'ni nī'n ä'ci'megu'uke'känemagi mā'agi kākā'gīwagki'," ä'inidtci kwīye''sā'anni'. Pe'ki'megu'u ä'pe'sepe'seta'wādtc īni'nnic.

"A'penädtcigä'wīna'megu'u wī'anemimegu'umā'näwagkit. Ā'gwi nanā'ci wī'käwita'cī'wādtcinnt. Cewä'na kī'pene'megu wī'pōnina'-30 ina'ita'gowāte', wī'pōni'meguta'gowagi' sä'sä'sigä''megu. Āgwigä'' uwī'yä'ani wī'wīgamegowādtcinnit, mäme'ci'kagä'megu' wīna wī'wī'genōgki. Ī'ni wī'i'ca'wiwādtci. Me'sōtäwe'megu'u wī'a'kawâpamenagkwet. I'ni wä'dtci mā'näwādtcit. Āgwigā'ti kīnā'na me'tenō'i ne'ci''k aiyō''i me'si'megu'u ä'me'to'sänenī'wiyagwe ke'gime'si me'-

ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF FIRST INDIAN TEXT

WHAT THE PEOPLE DID, IT IS SAID, A LONG TIME AGO WHEN THEY PERFORMED THE WÂPANŌWIWENI

When, it is said, a little boy was indeed a child his father was slain. He then lived with his mother, it is said. Then, it is said, when his mother became a widow unreleased from mortuary observances she wailed continuously. She went about wailing, taking him with her. That boy was a child. Later on his mother who listened to him with disappointment suckled him. After he suckled he slept soundly. After he had suckled sufficiently he did not wake up for a long time. And soon, it is said, they began to make him blacken his face. He was fed not only at noon, but any time whenever he cried. That, indeed, is what happened to him. And, it is said, soon he was in the habit of fasting earnestly. He had then indeed grown a little larger. Then, it is said, he indeed had full control of whatever time he was to eat.

It is said that a crow would always play with him when he had grown a little bigger. He was indeed treated very tenderly by that crow. As soon as (the boy) had eaten (the crow) flew away. And, it is said, when (the boy) did not fast (the crow) did not alight. Whenever (the crow) became tired of (waiting for him to fast) he flew away. And, it is said, when (the boy) fasted continuously (the crow) always indeed came.

Soon, it is said, he understood the owls; he knew what the owls said. Now, it is said, he was thought to be very cute because he understood them. Whenever he said, "This is what an owl said," he was indeed believed. At first indeed, it is said, he was always disbelieved. Then, it is said, that boy kept on saying, "These crows are they who love us very much, for they are our grandfathers: that is how they are related to us. It is said that at the time when we cease to see these (crows) we shall indeed cease to be a people. That is what I know about these crows," that boy said. Indeed they listened very attentively to him.

"Indeed they will always continue to be plentiful. They will never at any time diminish. But if, however, they cease to be numerous, they cease to be numerous indeed rapidly. And they will not be relished as food by any one, yet indeed they will certainly be savory. That is what will happen to them. They will oversee all of us. That is why they are numerous. And (they will) not only (oversee) us alone who are here but all of us who exist as mortals,

sōtāwe'megu'u māwā'ganan'i'; äyāwi'megu'inā'penane'tīyag^{kwe'}. Ī'ni wä'dtci aiyō''i wī'ta'ci'a'kawâpamenag^{kwe'}. Wī'nagä'i Wī'sa'kä' īni' ute'kawāni'ema''. Kī'pene'megu'u 'a'ce'nowagi kākā'gīwagi' ine'tā'gäyag^{kwe'}, āgwimegu nā'ka'dtci wī'me'to'sänenī'wiyagwin^{ni'}.

5 Īnigā''megu'u wī'i'ca'wiyagkwe','' ä'i'ciwädtci kwīye'sä'ä'.

Ä'pe'setawāwādtcigā''megu. Ke'te'n ä'täpwänidtci'megu'u. Īni'i nā'ka'dtci wīte'gowa'', "Mā'a'gi kākāgīwagi mā'a'i wītegowa'i kakātāgō'tī'āp''. Kakātāgōmäwag īniginä'i wīte'gowaga'. Ketume'-cōme'kā'gōpenna'. Wīnwāwadtcā'i mā'a'gi kākāgīwagi näwāwāt

- 10 īni'i wītegowa'i', īni'megu ä'wäpimeguwâpa'ci''āwādtci'. A'cegä''megu i'ca'wiwā'sa'. Āgwigä'i wī'ne''sāwādtci'. Mā'a'gi kākāgīwag
 u'ci'sä''iwagi wītegowa'i'. Īnidtcā''megu'u änemimegu'u'tāpyägi
 keme'to'säneniwiwe'nenānni'. Ī'ni. Nī'naiyō īnigi'megu'u tcīnawämä'ī'yānigki','' ä''inādtcī'na kwī'ye'sä'a me'cemegōna' uwīyä'anni'.
- 15 'Ō'nip ä'wäpimegu'umenwimenwitō'tāgudtci me'to'säneniwa''.
 Ä'ādtcimudtc''. Ugyä'n ä'ādtci'mo'ādtc'', "Anā''e, pōnipenamāma'-ka'täwīnnu'," ä'inādtc''. "Ne'cāgwä'nemumā' nīn a'penädtci'megu ä'ma'kama'katä'wīyan''. Ī'ni wä'dtci nī'na' cāgwäne'moyān''.
 Ne'ci'kagä''megu'u a''penädtci kemāma''katäwī," ä'inādtc''. "Na'-
- 20 i', negwī'i, mani'ku'i wädtci wä'ciwä'cī'oyāni tō'kī'yānin'i', ä'a'-sāmi'megukī'cāgudtciketemāge'sī'iyagkwe'," ä'igudtci'. "Manidtcā' āmi'ca'wiyan a'penädtci'megu'u wī'unāpä'miyan'i', i'citä'ä'kapa'," ä'inādtc ugyä'n'i'. "Kī'ci'unāpämemet u'wīyä' īnā'mi'ta'i mämenā'cku'noyagkwe'," ä'inādtci'. Wīnagä' īn i'kwäwa, "Yā!" ä'cāgwä-
- 25 nemudtci wī'unā'pāmidtci. "Na'i', negwī''i, āgwi'ku' īni nī'na nene'kānetamānin'i," ä'inādtc ī'nini kwīye''sā'an'i. 'Ō'nip'i, "Wāgunā'wā'n''a', anā''e', wī'udtcike'tcima'katāwī''tōyani kīya'-wwi'," ä'inādtci'. "Medtci'wägā'i ketenenīwi, nātawānetamowanānigā' inenī'wiwen'i'? Kete'kwāwi ma'n'i'," ä'inādtc ugyān'i'.
- 30 Ī'nip¹', "Nāpi'wäni nī'pōnima''katāww¹', negwī''¹, "ä''igudtc¹'. Ō'nip ä'pōni'megu'uma'katā'wīnidtc¹', "Īnimā'' kīnna'," ä''inādte ugyā'nn¹'. Wī'nagā'i kabō'tw ä'mamā'tomedte ä'pyä'pa''āwedte ī'na kwī'-

ye'sä'a'. 'Ō'n ī'naku' ä'anō''kānādtci wīte'gowani tepe''ki wädtci'pa''āwedtci'. Me'cena''megu nyä'w ä'anō''kānādtci'. Ä''pyānidtci ke'gi-

- 35 me'simā''megu. "Menwina'' pyäwagi nätu'pa'ag^{kī'}," ä'ini^dtc^{ī'}. Īnipi'megu'u kegitepe''kw ä'pemā'mowā^dtci paiyā'ki^dtci'megu i'c ä'inu'täwā^dtci tepe'ki'megu. 'Ō'nipi na''ina'i wī'wâpanigi nāwi'-megu'sasaga'nw ä'māmawipōnīwā^dtc^{ī'}. Āgwigā''ipi wī'a'sipi'pōnīwā^dtc^{ī'}: waninawe'megu. Ī'nip ä'gowā^dtc īni'ni kwīye''sä'an^{nī'}.
- 40 Īni'megu ä'ca'wiwādtci'. Änowänidtcimegu ä'i'ca'wiwādtc īnin ukwī-ye'sä'e'mwāwanni'.

Mani'megu'u ä'cipe''kutä'inig ä'kī'ci'megu'unato'mānidtc īniyä'a wīte'gowa''. 'Ō'nip ä'sa'ka'ama'wāwādtc'. "Kī'ata'mä'āpwa'," ä'inedtci me'to'säne'niwagk'. Kegime'si'megu ä'atamä''āwādtc'.

and the villages everywhere; for we attack each other separately. That is why they will oversee us here. And they are Wī'sa'kā'a's own overseers. However, if we hear 'the crows have disappeared,' we shall never again exist as mortals. That indeed is what will

happen to us," the boy said.

They indeed listened to him. He surely spoke truthfully. (He) again (spoke of) those owls, "These crows have been made to be related to these owls so that they may joke with each other. And those owls too are related to them in a joking way. We have been provided with grandfathers. Verily if they, these crows, see those owls they indeed at once begin to make sport of them. They would do so just for fun. And they will not kill them. These crows are uncles (mother's brothers) to the owls. From there indeed our lives are derived. That is it. As for me, they are my relatives," that boy said to simply any one.

Then, it is said, the people began indeed to treat him well. He then spoke. He said to his mother, "Mother, cease fasting," he said to her, "I am unwilling for you to fast continually. That is why I am unwilling. Indeed you alone fast continuously," he said to her. "Well, my son, this truly is why I paint myself as soon as I awake, because we are so exceedingly wretched," he was told. "This verily is what you should do, you should always wish to have a husband," he said to his mother. "If you had any one for a husband then we would have plenty of meat to eat," he said to her. "Oh!" (said) that woman, for she was unwilling to be married. "Now, my son, I do not indeed think of that," she said to that boy. Then, it is said, he said to her, "Why is it that you fast so earnestly? You are not a man, is manhood what you desire? You are now a woman," he said to his mother. Then, it is said, he was told, "Well, I shall cease fasting, my son." Then, it is said, when she ceased fasting, he said to his mother, "Now you (are doing well)."

And soon that boy was besought when (they feared) the approach (of enemies). And he indeed sent at night (to watch) whence they would approach. Finally he sent four. They indeed all came. "The war-party is coming at quite a distance," they said. And, it said, that same night they fled and during the night they moved to another direction. Now, it is said, at the time when it was to be daylight they all went to camp in the middle of the thickets. And, it is said, they were not to camp in a cluster but scattered. That, it is said, is what they were told by that boy. That very thing is what they did. Whatever that boy said, they did.

Now when night drew on he had indeed summoned those owls. And, it is said, they burned (tobacco) for them. "You must give them a smoke," the people were told. They all gave them a smoke.

Īnipi' nā'ka'dtc ä'mawiwâpamānidtc īniyā'a A''cā'a'l'. 'Ō'nipi menwine'ki'megu'u ä'inä'tenidtcl'. Ä''pyanidtc ä'ādtci'monidtcl'. "Kī'ci'megu'upyäwag ä'a'wiyägkwe'," ä''inidtcl'. "Cewä'na wī'täpāpīw A'cā''a'. Kī'ke'känemegunāna'megu'u ä'awī'wagwän'l'. Ce-

- 5 wä'nīn ä'citä''äyān ā'gw wī'matane'nagwinⁿ','' ā'ini^dtc¹'. Ä'na'ina'wäme^dtci me'to'säneniwag^k¹'. Kabō't^{we'}, "Ī'n ä'täpāpamenag^{kwe'},'' ä'ini^dtc¹'. "Kenäwugunāna'megu ä'a'wiyag^{kwe'}. Kī'cipyä^dtcipe'nowāt īnugimegu nä'kīnā'na kī'nāgwāpen^{na'}. 'Ō'ni me'tenō''megu nyäwugunaga'tenigi me''tenō'i wī'ka'ckitä'pāpi^dtc¹'; ā'gwi
- 10 nō'ta wī'natawâpidtcinni. Īninā''megu'u me'tenō'i nyāwugunaga'-tenige wī'nāwunagkwe'. Nīnagā' mā'ag awi'ta nanā''ci' cāgwānemowā'sa wīte'gowag ano'anō''kānagke'. Āgwidtcā''i wī'wāwanāne'-magwin ā'pemikīwītā'gwā'igki','' ā''inidtc īnini kwīye''sā'anni'. Ä'pemā'mowādtci'.
- 15 'Ō'nipi wīnwā'w A''cā'ag ītepi'megu ä''āwādtc''. Ke'tcipaiyā'-kidtci'megu'u ä'anemi''āwādtc''. A'penädtci'megu tepe''k ä'pemā'-mowādtc''. Ā'gwip ä'wâ'sä'yānigi na'ipemāmo'wadtcin''. Īyā' ä'tanāpame'gowādtci pyäyānidtc ä'mai'yōnidtci mäyāwu'sā'nidtcin''. 'Ō'nip īni'ku' ä'päwäne'monidtc'. Mā'a'igä' wī'n uwītegōma'

20 ä'pwāwimegu'u'cāgwäne'monidtci'. 'Ī'nip aiyāpam ä''ānidtci'. Wīnwā'wagä' aiyāpami'megu'u ä'āwādtci me'to'säne'niwagki'.

Ōnip īna kwī'ye'sä' ä'wäpima'katäwī'negudtc ugyä'nni. Ä'cāg-wä'nemudtcigä'megu. Cewä'napi kī'kī'ki'megudu ä'wä'ciwä'cī'edtci'. Kabō'twän ä'päwä'nemudtci kwī'ye'sä' ä'wäpi'megu'uwä'ciwä'-

- 25 'cī'udtc'. A'penädtci'megu tō'kī'idtcini'megu ä'wä''cī'udtc'. Nā'ka'-ni pepōnwe'megu'u ä'pwāwinanā''ci'cā''ckīgwädtc'. A'penädtci'megu ä'ma'katä'wīnedtc'. 'Ōnipi me'ce'megu'u kī'inegi'nō'idtci pe'ki'-megu'u ä'manetowidtci'megu'u. Me'cena'me'gap ä'kakanō'netīdtci manetowa'i me'cemegō'na' ä'cigi'nidtci''; me'sōtäwi'megu'u ä'kete-
- 30 mi'nāgudtcimegu'u' tāta'gi manetowa'', āgwigä'ipi negu't'. Na'ka'tci me'cemegō'na' ä'cigi'nidtcini wī'cke'no'an ä'neno''tawādtci'megu'u.
 'Ō'nip a'penädtci'megu ä'pe''se'cädtcl'. Āgwipi'megu'u kägō'i wāwanāne'tagin''. Mō'tci'megu'u mīdtci'pä'a' ä'awi'nidtcin ä'ke'känemādtci'megu'u ä'anemi'megu'u'ādtcimādtci' cī'cā'nidtci'i'. "Man-
- 35 A'ka'ku'i wī'ta''ci'a'dtcl'," ä'inādtci' cī'cānidtci'l. Ke'tenapi'megu'u īna''megu'u ä'ke''ka'i'igawādtcin ä'anemita'ci''ānidtcl'. Īni'megu'u ä'anemi'ci'tāpwädtcl'. Āgwipi'megu'u nanā''ci wī'pa'ci'towädtcl'; a'penädtci'megu ä''tāpwädtcl'.
- 'Ō'nip a'penädtci'megu'u īn ā''cawidtc'. Kabōtweme'gup āwa'sī'40 mä'i kī'ci'inegi'nō'idtc uwī'yä'an ä'medtcimedtcimāpa'megudtc ä'wīgowinidtci'megu. Mō'tcime'gup ä'wâ'sä'yānig ä'pwāwi'meguwīgo'winidtci mädtcimāpame'gudtcin ä'wīgowinidtci'megu'u. Ä'pwāwigä'ipi'megupagi'sāpa'megudtci nepäniwanipi'megu'u. 'Ō'nip ä'maiyagäne'megudtc'. 'Ōn'' 'Mägwä'megu'u wīgowiwenī'yātugke','' ä''45 igudtc āne'ta' nenō'täwa''. Īnipi'megu'u ä''cawidtc''. ''Nīna'mata'

Then, it is said, they again went to see those Sioux. And, it is said, they were absent for some time. When they came they made a report. "They have indeed come where you are," they said. "But a Sioux will mystically see from a distance. He will know where we are. Yet I do not think they will overtake us," he said. The people were encouraged by what he said. Soon he said, "Now he is looking for us with mystic power. He indeed sees where we are. As soon as they come at full speed then we too shall depart. And only when four days are up will he be able to see mystically from a distance; he will not look before then. At that time only, when four days are up, will he see us. And as for me, these owls would never be unwilling (to do what) I bid them. Verily we shall not fail to know wherever they are abiding," said that boy. They retreated.

And, it is said, they, the Sioux, went thither. They continued to go on the wrong trail. (The Foxes) always fled at night. It is said that they were not in the habit of fleeing while it was daylight. When the leader of the war-party came to where the others were lost sight of, he wept. And, it is said, then indeed these (people) were discouraged. And these, his owls, were not unwilling. Then, it is said, they went back. And they, the people, went back.

Then, it is said, that boy began to be made to fast by his mother. And he was unwilling. But, it is said, nevertheless, he was always painted. Soon the boy gave up and began to paint himself continuously. He always painted himelf as soon as he woke up. All winter long he never went with his face bare (i. e., unpainted with charcoal). Indeed he was always blackened. Now, it is said, when he was perhaps full-grown he became greatly endowed with the nature of a manitou. At length, it is said, he and manitous of various kinds talked together, indeed he was blessed presumably by all, and not, it is said, by one. Moreover, he understood any kind of a bird. And, it is said, he always listened. He did not fail, it is said, to know everything. He even knew where the game animals were and continued to tell the hunters. "Yonder really is where you will kill (them)," he said to the hunters. It is said that they continued to kill (the game) just where he mentioned to them. He always told the truth that way. He never, it is said, spoke falsely; he always told the truth.

And, it is said, he always did so. Soon, it is said, as soon as he was a little more grown, when he was looked at steadily by any one, the other became sleepy. Even, it is said, when it was daylight, whenever any one who was not sleepy stared at him, the former became sleepy. And, it is said, when (any one) did not take his gaze from him, he fell asleep, it is said. Now, it is said, he was thought of as being strange. And he was told by some Indians, "What kind of a

awi'ta' nanā''ci wīgo'wi'kā'a'," ädtcin u'wīyä' īte'p ä'i'cī'wenedtc!". Māne'megu ä'cimedtcimāpamā'wādtcin onipi'megu kenā'dtc ä'wīgo'wiwādtel. Mani'megu a'ciponime'teno'iwapamā'wādtci a'panegwa'-'ciwādtc1'. Īnipi'megu'u ä'ca'winidtci me'to'säne'niwa'1'. Kī'cipi'-

5 megu'ukī'ci'gi'idte ä'ā'kwa'matagkit. "Mämädteigi'megu'u wī'ne'pō'iwwa'," ä'inä'nemegudtc āne'ta wâpamegudtci'. 'Ō'nip ä'ckami'megu'u ä'i'ci'ä'cka'me'sidtci'. Kabōtwepi'megu'u ä'wäpimegu'upanapanā'te'sidte'. Ī'nip ä'maiyōnidte ugyä'n''. Ä'wâ'pamādte ō'nip ä'wäpi'ādtei'mo'ādte ugyä'n'', "Anä'e, mägwä'megu ā'gwi

10 wī'nepō'īyāninni'," ä'inādtei. Ī'nip ä'pemi'megu'upa''segwīdte ä'pemi'nowīdte ä'anemi'a''kōgudte ugyä'nni. Me'te'gw ä'wâ'cini'ka'tenig ä'pī'tōtädtcl'. Nōmagä'wä'megu ä'udtcinā'ka'dtcino'wōtädtci. Näyāpi'megu'u ä'i'cinā'gu'sidtc ä'icināgu'site'e'. Ī'nip ä'näwādte10 ugyänn14. "Inimā" kī'n ä'kī'cinä"säyān anä'e6," ä'inādte14.

15 'O'nip ä'pe'nowādtc1'. Ä'anemiwī'tämādte ugyä'nn1'.

Īyā'i pyäyāwādte', "Anä'e pena keta'sān a'ci'tōnau, "ä'inādte". Negutō'ku'kwe'megu'u ä'a'ci''tōnidtc ugyä'nnic. Kī'ciwa'dtcā'edtc ä'ā'dtcimudtci', "Na'ī', nīna'megu'u nī'wī'pumāwagi käteminawī'-'itcigki'. Āgwigä' u'wīyä'a wī'wī'pu'maginni'," ä'inādte ugyä'nni'.

20 Ka'ō'nip ä'wäpi'sīga'agi me'ci'anā'ganeg ī'ni ta'gwa'ānni'. 'Ō'nip ä'wäpi'ā'dtcimudtci', "Na'ī', ta'swi'megu'u näne'känemi'gwä'igi nī'wī''pumāwa ma'netōwwa'. Āgwigä''i papī'wima'netō'ä'a', mō'cagi'megu'u mamāgiginega ma'netowwa'. Ī'ni wī'udtcima'nimī'dtciyān"!", ä'i'dtc ī'na kwī'ye'sä' ä'wäpimīdtcidtci. Me'cena'me'gup ä'tcā'ga-

25 tagkic. "Cī kanane'ciwi wī'nān ina''ckenāwwac," ä'i'citä' awādtci me'to'säne'niwag īna' ä'witcigki'. Ō'nipi manetowagi ke'tena'megu ä'ke'käneme'gowādtc īni'ni kwīye''sä'an ä'täpi'e'gowādtci'. Wānatō'kaga''megu a'pwāwi'megu'ukī'pudtcagin i'cawidtc ī'na kwī'ye'sä'a'. "Ī'n ä'ca'wiwādtci manetowagki". Nīnaiyō' man āgwi'megu

30 me'tō'dtci pā'ci'megu'u kī'pudtcä'yānin'd. Mānegä'megu netcā'gi'senye me'tō'dtc1'," ä'inādtc uwīdtcinenō'täwa'1'.

Ā'nawänikwīye''sä'idtcigä''. Mō'tci'megup ä'ke'tci'ci'tä'ädtci wä'-

gwi'sit".

Ō'nip a'ckadtcimegī'i negu'ti nenīw īni'n ä'wa'dtcā'ādtc īn ä'cige-35 nigi ta'gwa'āni keta'sān ä'cite'kā'tänig*i'; ä'tä'pi'ādte'. Māne'egä'-'megu'u ī'n ä'wa'dtcā'ādtc". Ō'nip", "Na'i', nīna'megu'u nī'mī'dtci ne'ci''ka'. Nī'nīcopī''ipena neme'ci''kä'emma'," ä''inidtc ä'wäpimī'dtcinidtci. Ke'tena'megu'u nōmagä'megu'u ä'mī'dtcinidtcimä'megu. Natawä'nemāgw ä'kī'citcāgi'se'nyänidtc'. "Cī' ke'te'nna'," ä'i'ci'

40 tä'ädtc ī'na wädtcā'ā'ta', "'wä'na ma'na manetōwa'megu'u tāta'ghi," ä'inādtci kī'cinā'gwānidtc'. Ke'tena'megu'u ä'manetowä'nemādtc'. Ōnip ä'pyä'pa''owedtc'. Mämädtcigi'megu'u me'to'säneniwa' ä''näwādtci negu'ti nenī'wwa'. Ä'mawi'ādci'mo'edtc ä'me'kwä'nemedtci wī'ke'kä'netag ä'cigenigwänni'. "'Au'," ä'i'ciwädtci'megu. Ä'wâ'-

sleep-being may he be." That, it is said, is what happened to him. When any one said, "I should never grow sleepy," he was led over there. Many indeed stared at him, and, it is said, they gradually became sleepy. This is how they kept awake, only by ceasing to stare at him. That, it is said, is what happened to the people. It is said that after he grew a little bigger he became ill. "He will surely die," some of those who watched him thought. And, it is said, he increasingly became worse. Soon, it is said, he began to be unconscious from time to time. Then, it is said, his mother wailed. When he saw his mother he began, it is said, to speak to her, "Mother, perhaps I shall not die," he said to her. Then, it is said, he started to rise to his feet, and to go out, followed by his mother. He crawled into the hole of a tree. In a little while he again crawled out. He looked exactly as he had looked. Then, it is said, he saw his mother. "Now you see I have become well, mother," he said to her. Then, it is said, they went home. He accompanied his mother.

When they arrived yonder he said to her, "Mother, please make some corn dumplings." His mother made one kettleful. As soon as she had cooked for him, he said, "Come, I shall eat with those who took compassion upon me. And I shall eat with no one (else)," he said to his mother. And, it is said, he began to pour the corn meal in a large bowl. And, it is said, he began to speak, "Well, I shall eat with as many manitous as think of me. And it will not be a small manitou, but only a very large manitou. That is why I shall eat," said that boy, and he began to eat. Finally, it is said, he ate it all up. "Good gracious, he (must) hold (a large amount of food)," the people who were there thought. And, it is said, surely that boy knew that the manitous were pleased. That boy acted unconcernedly as if his belly was not filled. "That is the way the manitous do. As for me here, it seems as if I were not at all filled in my belly. And it seems as if I had eaten much, all (in fact)," he said to his fellow-Indians.

And he was a handsome boy. Even, it is said, his mother was very proud of it.

Then, it is said, a little while afterwards one man cooked for him that same kind of corn dumplings called "keta'sāni"; he pleased him. He cooked much of it for him. And, it is said, he (the hero) said, "Well, I shall eat alone. I and my snapping turtle will (eat) as a pair (from the same bowl)," and he began to eat. Surely in a short time he had eaten it. He had eaten all of it before (the other) expected him to. "Good gracious, it is a fact," the one who cooked for him thought, "why this person is indeed a sort of manitou," he said of him when he had departed. He surely thought he was a manitou. And, it is said, they fled in fear. One man certainly saw the people. They went and told (the boy) for they remembered that

sä'yānig ä'ādtci'mo'ādtci kākāgīwa'i wī'natawâpa'mānidtci me'to'säne'niwa'1. Ä'anwā'dtcinidtc1. Ä'kwâpi''sānidtc1, menwine'ki'megu'u ä'inä'tenidte ä'teāgi'megu'umāwa'dteīnidte ä'anemi'megu'ādtci'monidtci näta'minidtci. Mō'tci'megu'u mīdtci'pä'a' ä'anemi'-

5 megu'u'ādtci'mānidtc a'pemi'awi'nidtcinnic. 'O'ni negu'tic, "Aiyō'-'megu uwī'giwagi negu'taiyagki', aiyō'mā'' megu ke''tcinä'e negu'tigamige'sī'iwagki'," ä''inidte', "negu'ti'īwa nenīwwa', 'ō'n i''kwäwagi nī'ciwagkit, 'ō'n ape'no'agkit. Īni'megu ä'ta'cī'iwādtcit. Ā'gwi ke'kä'nemagin a'ci'dtci wī'a'winidtci wītamawā'gwä'inni. Mana'ka'-10 megu u'dtcipyädtcipe'nowag ä'utōtäwenī'wiwādtcit. Ī'ni nī'nat

ä'cike'kä'nemagki'," ä'indtci ne'guti kākā'gīwanni'.

'Ō'ni pe'ku'tänigi wītegowa'i' nā'ka'dte ä'anō''kānādte'. Ä'pe'nonidte". Menwine'ki'megu'u ä'inä'tenidte". Ä'kī'cipā'pyānidte ä'wäpi'ādtci'monidtci'. Īni'megu ä'inādtci'monidtci'. "Ne'ci'kamige'-

15 sī''iwagkı', " ä''inidtel'. "Āgwi kägō'i kīwinatawä'netaginni', cä'cki'megu ape'no'a'i wī'i'cimenwiwī'se'ninidtc1'. Īni'megu'u ä'cinatawäneta'mō'idtc1'," ä'inidtci wīte'gowa'1'. 'Ō'nipi "Mana'kagä'megu'u u'dtcipyädtcipe'nowagkit. Cewä'n īni'megu'u ä'wäpi'megu'unatawänetāgu''siwādtcl'. Īnugi' man ī'ni wī'tāpāpamedtci; wī'ke'kāne-

20 māpi'megu'u ä'awi'gwä'igki'. Nā'ka'dte aiyō'i wī'a'kwimegu'uke'kä'netamwa wī'tapā'pamāta'. Ī'nni'. 'Ō'ni wī'anemī'kānowagidtcā'i', kudtcī'i me'cena'megu'u ā'gwi wī'ādtci'mudtcini wī'pwāwita'citä'anidtci wänīdtcāne'semā'nidtci'. Pwāwi'megu'ā'dtcimut āgwi'megu kägō''i wī'i'cinene'känemā'nidtcinnit. Wänīdtcāne'si'nidtci'i

25 pe'kigä''megu ugimāwi'niwa''. Wāwīta'wi wädtci'giwādtci mā'a'g aiyō''i wäwīgä''itcigki'. Ī'ni wī'tō'tawudtci wī'wâpamäwenī'wiwagki'. 'Ö' mani'dtcā' āminā'pena'nenāgwe wī'ne'sāgkwe'. Īni'megu'u i'ci'aiyi'aiyīnegwāme'ta'wiyä'gägo'a'," ä'inādtci wī'tegōw īni'i. "'Ō'n ā'mi'ta'i pwāwi'näwudte ä'ea'wigwänni'. Mani wī'na mīgātī'agw āgwi

30 wī'nānnie. Kī'ke'känemegōpwaku''megu'u," ä'i'gowādtci wīte'go-

WAnnie.

'Ō'nip ä'wäpi'adtci'mo'ādtci'. Ānte'tap ä'wī'cā'ckāwādtci'megu'u wī'mawi'megu'une''sāwādtc". Ī'nip ä'ca'wiwādtc". 'Ō'nip īnini kwīye''sā'an ä'ādtcimo'e'gowādtci nī''cwi ne'niwagki'. "'Ō'ni kuta'ga mä'kwi'sut ī'na wī'wī'tämägkwa'. Wī'i'cinī'cī''iyägkwe'," ä''inedtci'.

35 "'Au'," ä'ī'yowādte". "Kī'mawitcāgata'wā'pwa'," ä'inidte īni'n kwīye''sä'Anni', ä'i'gowādtci'. "'Ō' īni'megu nī'i'ca'wipenna'," ä'i'nāwādte". "Me'todtcidtcā'megu'u kī'ne'sipwa," ä'inidte". 'Ōnip īni'megu ä'i'ca'wiwādte'. Ä'wītä'māwādtei mä'kwi'so'nidtein ä'mawimäyāwu''sänidtci', īninigä''ipi kwīye''sä'ani mäyāwu'sä'e'gudtcinni'.

40 'Ō'nipi wīna'megu'u "Nī'mai'yāwu'se'," ä'i'ciwäpi'tä'ä'ädtci mä'-'kwi'sut^'. Kī'cine''semedte ä'pe'nowādtel'. Īnip īni wī'giyāp ä'udtci'gämudtci wī'sa'ka'a'mowedtci'. Īnip īn ä'sa'ka'a'mowedtci'. Kī'ci'sa'ka'a'minidte', "'kī'kīmodtcine'sāpwa',' kete'gopena wī'naiyōwwet," ä'inidtci negu'ti ne'niwannit. "Medtci'wät kīna kī'ādtci-

45 mo"apena wī'cādtci"?" ä'inidtci".

he would know how it was. "Very well," he said. While it was divisible the told the crows to look for the people. The (crows) were willing. They flew off to scout, and were absent a good way off, and they all gathered to tell what they had seen. They even told where the game animals were. And one said, "One set live right here, close by here is one family. There is one man, and there are two women, and children. That is the number they are. I do not know whether the ones whom they accompany are close. They have come from yonder, where they have their town. That is what I know of them," said one crow.

And at night he again sent out the owls. They went off. They were absent some time. After they had come back they began to narrate. They said exactly the same thing. "They are alone in a camp," they said. "(The man) is not going about desiring anything save that the children may eat well. That indeed is what he desires." said the owls. Then, it is said (an owl said), "Yonder indeed is where they come from. But now (people) began to desire them (to return). They are mystically seen from a distance exactly now; it will be known wherever they are. Moreover, the one who will see mystically from a distance will know (what takes place) as far as here. That is all. And they will verily continue to do things (?), although indeed (the one who will see mystically) finally may not tell so that those who have children may not think (of them). If he does not tell they will not know anything of them. Those who have the children are by all means chiefs. Those who camp here are of that nature on both sides. Now the way they will be treated is that they will be watched. Oh, this verily is how you should do with them, you should kill them. Now you should kill them while they sleep," is what an owl said to them. "Then it would be seen what happened to them. Now if you fight them it would not be the right way. You would indeed be known," they were told by an owl.

Then, it is said, he began to give them instructions. Some, it is said, were indeed impatient to go and kill them. That, it is said, is what happened to them. Then, it is said, two men were told by that boy. "And another who belongs to the Bear gens is he whom you shall accompany. There will be two of you," they were told. "Very well," they said among themselves. "You will go and strike all down," said that boy, and so they were told. "Oh, we shall do that very thing," they said to him. "Verily in a way you will be three," he said. And, it is said, they did so. They accompanied a member of the Bear gens who was the leader of the war-party, the one, it is said, who was made the leader by that boy. And, it is said, he, the member of the Bear gens, began to think, "I shall be the leader of the war-party." After (the foes) were slain, they went home. And,

'Ō'nip ä'pe'nowādtci wädtcīwādtci. Ä'ke'tcinātō'inigiyugā''. Īyā' ä"pyāwādte ä'ādtei anemiwawaga a'mowādte ä'anemiteigeteigena'mowādtc īni'ni mī'ce'ko''aiyanni. Wīna'megu'u ne'ci''kapi nätupa'nigin ä'inäne'ti'sudtci mä''kwi'suta'. Ä'mī'cātä'nemudtc ä'āpimai-5 yā'wu'sädtcit. 'Ō'nip īnin ä'pyädtcipīti'gänidtci kwīye''sä'annit. 'Ō'nipi', "Ä'pyädtcinanātu''tōnānni'," ä'inidtci'. "'Au'," ä'i''ciwädtcle. "A'cawiwanan a'cimenaniga'megu'u wi'ica'wiyanne, 'o' tana'kä' anwä'ta'wi'kanni. Ninaiyo' wina kemaiyawu'a'enne. 'Ki'kepā''ku'āpwa',' ketenegä'i', 'a'ckwātāmmi'.' Manidtcā' ä'cimī'ya-10 medtci ma'na' āpi'āwa'cī'yameta'; 'kī'sa'ka'ā'pwa',' nete'gunān īyā". Īnidtcā a'ca'wīyagke. 'Ö'ni kī ci'sa'ka' amāg a'ādtcimo'-'egudte āpiwītāmema'gedtcinnic. 'Kene'ckimegopena wī'naiyowwec,' ä'inādtc'." 'Ö'nip ä'ādtcimo''emedtc', "Kīna'megu'u ketemā'gi'āwa me'to'sänenīwwa'. Kī'nāgatawä'nemāwa wī'i''cawidtci'. Kīna'me-15 gu'u manigä' kī'nīgāniketemāge's". Kīnaiyō' mani ketōta kī'yānānnit. Ā'gwi wī'na me'ce'megu. Mō'cagi'megu'u ä'citä'ä'wanän ä'ci'tä'āta 'īna wī'ketemā'gi'ata'. Nī'naiyō ā'gw ī'ni wī'i'cawī'yānini wī'i'ca'wigwäni me'to'säne'nīwwa'. Kī'mawinanegōpenagä'-'megu. Mämädteigi kabo'tw īni'megu wī'i'ca'wiyagkwe'. A'gw i'ce

'Ö'nipi me'to'sä'nenīw ä'sägi'megudtc īnini kwīye'sä'annit. Īniyagä'i ä'kī'cāgudtci'megu'u'sä'gimedtci mäyā'wu'sāt ä'pōni'megu'ukägö'i'i'nowädtcl': ā'penäwi'megu'u ä'naganagape''kwäpidtcl'. 'O'nipi kabō'twe menwine'ki'megu ä'kā'cki''āwādtci nenōtä'wa'l'. 'Ō'-

25 nip ä'mamāto'mādtci me'to'sänenīw īni'ni kwīve''sä'anni'. A'ce'megu nī''kudtcawwi. Āgwi wī'na ke'käneta'mānini wī'ke'känemiwādtci'ga'i ma'madtcigi ka'kane'mitcigi ma'netowagkit. 'Ō'mame'ci'kagä''megu awita' ke'käne'miwā'sa'. Mämädtcigi'megu newāwane'ckā'anemegō'petuge manetowag a'wāwane'ckā'itōdtci mayā-

30 wu'sä'a'gaiyōwwe'. Nemaiyāwu'sä'ā'waiyōwwe'. Ā'gwidtcā' ä'cimagi pā'ci'megu'u i'cawite'e'yätugke'. Wīna'megu'u wäwänäneti''sugwäni wīna'megu ä'ci'tä'ädtci'. I'cime'to'sänenī'wigwänni'. Kuta-

gä'ite wī'n awita i'n i'cawi'sa ."

20 wī'inowä'yāninnit."

"Nī'kudteawi'dteā'"," ä'i''eiwädte ä'ku'dteawidte". 'Ō'nip ä'na'-35 tomādtci wītegowa ano ano kā nādtci . Ä pwāwi megu a cita ipyānidte". A'ckadteimä''megu'u ä''pyānidte". Ä'ano''kānādte'. Nomagä'wä''megu'u ä'inä'tenidtc ä''pyānidtc't. "Aiyō''megu'u ke'-'tcinä' ī'n ä''pyāwādtci me'to'sänen'niwagki'. Ā'gwi wī'ka'ckimägwä'ewanīpa''ägwinni'," ä''inidtei'. 'Ö'nip ä'kudteimāwadteime'go-40 wādtc īni'ni wīte'gowannic. A'cepi'megu'u i'ci'megōgkic. Ke'te'nap

ä'säge''siwādtci me'to'säne'niwag ä'pemā'mowādtci. Ä'ādtcimo'-

it is said, he coaxed them to burn that wickiup. And, it is said, it was burned. After they had burned it, one man said, "You will kill them secretly," we were told formerly." "Why you! are we going to tell them at a particular time?" he said.

Then, it is said, they went back from where they came. It was indeed close by. When they came yonder they whooped anew on their way and kept holding those scalps up in the air as they went along. And the member of the Bear gens thought he alone had been on the warpath. He was proud that he had gone as the leader. Now, it is said, that boy came and entered. Now, it is said, he said, "I have come to ask you." "All right," he replied. "(I have come to ask you) whether you did as I told you to do, or whether you disobeyed me. 'You will close the door,' I said to you." "This verily is what the one who went and took us said to us; 'you will burn it,' he said to us yonder. That verily is what we did. And as soon as we burned it he was told by the one who had accompanied us. were forbidden,' he said to him." Then, it is said (the leader) was told, "You have harmed the people. You will see what will happen to them. You indeed now will be the first to be injured. You have brought this upon us. Indeed it will not be merely any one. Only indeed he who thinks as you think will be the one you will harm. As for me, whatever happens to the people will not happen to me. And indeed they will come and attack us. Surely we shall soon experience that. I shall not merely say so."

Now, it is said, the people were frightened by what that boy said. And the one who formerly had been the leader of the war party was especially frightened by what had been said and ceased to say anything: he always sat with bowed head. And, it is said, soon, after some length of time, they discovered the Indians. Then, it is said, the people besought that boy. "Oh, I shall merely try. Yet I do not know whether the manitous who certainly thought of me, will still think of me. Oh, surely they would not know me. Certainly the manitous probably think I am worthless because the one whom I made leader of the war party has done evil. I made him the leader of the war party. He did not do what I told him. He thought he was his own master (in what he did). That is the kind of mortal he is. If he had been another, he would not have done so."

"Verily I shall try," he said, and he tried. Now, it is said, he summoned some owls whom he always sent forth. They did not come soon. Later on indeed they came. Then he sent them out. They were absent for but a short time and came (back). "The people are coming close by here. You will not perhaps be able to run away from them," he said. Then, it is said, that owl tried to gather them together. It is said that they were just told this. Surely, it is said, the people were frightened and started to flee.

'egudtc īni'nimegu'u wīte'gowanⁿⁱ. Kabōtwe'megu'u ä'ādtcimo''egudtc'i', "A'cemā'' nīna kete''cimene," ä'igudtc'i'. "Ke'tena
wīnwā'wa nä'säwenī'yätuge näne'käneta'mowādtc'i'. Nīnadtcā'i ke'tenepwa'," ä'igudtci wīte'gowanⁿⁱ. 'Ō'nipi me'sōtäwemā''megu'u,

5 "Kekakādtcimenepwa"," ä'i'gowādtci". "Āgwimā''megu'u wätäwipyādtcin u'wīyä'a". Īni'igä'i näwādtci'i ma'kwa' ä'peme''kānidtci". Me'to'sänenīwâpa'mäwagki", ma'kwa'igä' wī'nāni''," ä'inidtci". "Āgwidtcā''megu uwī'yä'ani näwā'wādtcin'," ä'i''ciwädtci', "mā'ag

äno'anō'kānä'ī'yānigki'," ä''inādtel'.

10 'Ō'nip a'ckadtci'megu'u kī'ci'megu'umage'ginegi pō''s īnipi' nā'-ka'dtc ugyä'n ä'ādtci'mo'ādtci', "Na'ī', anä''e, nōmagäweyā'pi nī'-ma''katäw". Ā'gwi pe''ki wī'ke'cigima'katäwī'yānin'," ä''inādtc ugyä'n'. 'Ō'nip', "Ka''ciyō' i''cawīwa nō''sa wädtcidtcā'i ne'-pō'idtc'?" ä''inādtc ugyä'n'. "Cinā'gwa, A''cā'a'i ne'se'gkwa'.

15 Ä'ana'wiwādtci kīmōdtciwā''megu natupani'gwä'igki'. Inī'yātuge wī'n ä'ne'segu'te'e'," ä''inādtc u'gwi'sanni'. "Cewä'n īnī'yātug ä'cawi'te'e wäyō''siyānna'," ä''inādtc ugyā'nni'. 'Ō'nip ä'nānatu'-'tawādtc utā''kw ä'ta'ci'e'mātänni'. Ä'ādtcimegudtci'megu ugyā'nni'. 'Ō'nip īte'pi nanō''ckw ä'ādtci'. Ä'mawi'natu'nä'ag ō'sa'n ä'ta'ci-

20 'e'mātānⁿⁱ'. Ä'pwāwi'me'kag ō'nip ugyā'n ä'māmīnawi'megu'u'ādtcimo'egudtc ä'ta'ci''emedtci'. 'Ōnipi'megu'u īte'p ä'ā'dtc ä'mawinatu'nä'ag ä'ta'ci'e'mātānⁿⁱ'. Īni wīna'megu'u ä'i'cināgwa'tenig
änādtci'mowedtci'. 'Ō'nip ä''me'kagki'. A'ka'n ä'a'watōdtci'. Īn
a''kani me'to'säneniwigä' wīna'megu a''kan aiyä''megu ä'i'cināgwa'-

25 tenigki. 'Ōnip în ä'a'watōdtci. Īyā' pyäyādte ä'na'i'setōdtcīn

A'kannie.

'Ō'nipi nā'ta'sugunagatō''inig ä'matōte'cāwātōdtc''. 'Ō'nip ä'na''sä'ādtci wīna'megu'u. Cewä'nap ā'gw īni'n ō''sidtcin''. Kutagi'megu i'cīne'niwan īni'ni nā'sä''ādtcin''. Ma'kwādtci'megu ä'pagi'se'30 nāwādtc īni'n ä'peno''āwādtc'. Ä'ne'ckimedtci'megu'u u'wīyā'a
wī'mawināwanō'nā'wādtc'. "Kā'ta' 'nī''ne'sāwwa',' inämemī'yägägku'. Me'tōdtciku''megu'u ketōgimā'menāna ne'ciyägägo'a ne'sä'gkwet,'' ä'inedtc u'ckina'wä'agki'. Ä'pwāwi'u'wīyä'anāwanō'nä'wādtc'. Me'to'sä'nenīw ä'pwāwi'megu'uma'dtcinagki'. "Ā'gwi
35 wī'ka'cki'u'wīyä'ane''sādtcin'','' ä''inedtc''. Īnigä''ip īn ä'pe'nō'idtc''.

'Ō'nip īn īte'p ä'ādte i'kwä'w ä'pwāwi'megu'ume'ka'gi mō''tei negu't a''kanä''. Ī'nip ä''cawidte i'kwä'wwa'. Apī'napi kīwimaiyōw ä'natu'nä'ag a''kanan''. Ä'pwāwi'megu'ume'kamō'idte ä''penudte 40 ä'ādtei'mo'ādte u'gwi'san''.

'Ō'nip īna' ō'sani'megu'u ä'wäpi'megu'unatawä'nemādtel'. A''penädtei māma'kādtei'megu ō'sani'. Ä'wäpiwāwī'gi'edtel', maiyāwu''säwen''. Āgwime'gupi kanāgwa: ō'sani'megu'u mā'ma'kādtel'.
'Ō'ni kabō'twe wī'na'imī'kedtei'iwädtel'. Āgwi'megu'u kanā'wa:

(The hero) was instructed by that owl. And soon he was told, "I merely said that to you for fun," he was told. "Surely being saved probably is what they think about. Verily I tell you," he was told by the owl. Then, it is said, all were told "I was joshing you. Hardly any one is coming. They were bears whom they saw walking along. They mistook them for people, but they were bears," he said. "Verily they saw no one," he said, "(that is,) these whom I sent out," he said to them.

Then, it is said, later on when he had grown larger, then, it is said, he again addressed his mother, "Well, I am going to fast for a short time. I shall not fast very steadily," he said to his mother. Then, it is said, he said to his mother, "What, pray, happened to my father that he died?" "Well, he was slain by the Sioux. When they were out hunting they had secretly been on the warpath. Then, it seems, he was slain," she said to her son. "But that was what happened, it seems, to the one who was my father," he said to his mother. Then, it is said, he asked her the locality of where he was slain. He was told by his mother. Then, it is said, he went thither quite blindly. He went to search where his father was slain. As he did not find it he then, it is said, was carefully instructed by his mother as to where (his father) was slain. Then, it is said, he went thither and sought where he was slain. To be sure it looked exactly as had been stated. And, it is said, he found (the spot). He took away a bone. It was indeed a human bone and looked as if it had been there some time. Then, it is said, he took it away. When he arrived vonder he put away that bone properly.

Then, it is said, after several days he made a sweat lodge. And, it is said, he made the person come to life. But, it is said, it was not his father. It was a man of a different tribe whom he had cured. They quietly dismissed him and sent him home. It was forbidden for any one to follow him for the purpose of killing him. "Do not think, 'I shall slay him." If you kill him it would be the same as if you were killing our own chief," the young men were told. No one followed him to slay him. The people did not dare to do so. "No one will be able to kill him," they were told. Then, it is said, he

went home.

Then, it is said, that woman went over there and could not find even a little bone. That, it is said, is what happened to the woman. She even went about weeping while searching for the bones. As she did not find one she went home and told her son.

And, it is said, he began to desire his father. Surely it was his father all the time. They began kindly to mention (various things) to him (such as) leadership on the warpath. It was to no purpose, it is said: it was only his father (whom he wanted). And soon (he

māma'kādtci'megu ō''sanni'. Me'cena''megu ādtcipanagidtc ä'anemi'-ciwāwī'gi'edtci': māma'kādtci'megu ō'sa'nni'. Āgwipi'megu'u kanā'-gw ä'ādtcimo'edtci'gä'i, "Tcāgiku''megu'u'cegu'ckä'niwan utō'ka'-nemanni'. Kī'ci'megu'u a'kiwi'niwanni'. Pōnänemi kō''sa'," ä''ine-

5 dtc¹. Āgwi'megu'u kanā'gewa', ō'sani'megu'u māma'kādtci'megu'u ō'sa'nⁿ1. "Na'i', tcāgi'megu'u kī'i'cina'iwe's¹," ä'inedtc¹. Āgwipi'-megu kanā'gwa: māmā'kādtci'megu'u ō'sanⁿ1. Ä'wäpikudtcimegudtci ma'netowa'. Mene'ta nāma'kamig änapi'nidtci ä'kudtcikudtci'megudtci. Āgwipi'megu kanā'gwa kägō''megu ä'anemi'cike'ka'-

10 A'mawudtci wī'inä'inäne'megudtci'. Āgwipi'megu kanā'gewa'; māma'-kādtci'megu'u ō'sani'megu'u A'penädtci'megu'u ō'sani'megu'u. 'Ō'-nip ä'säge''siwādtci ma'netowagki'. "Wī'i'cawī'wagwäni wī'na ma'-nni'," ä'i'tīwādtci'.

Wīnagā'ip īn ā'ckami'megu'u ā'wāwī'ci'gimādtci manetowa'', 15 ō'sani'megu'u. 'Ō'nip ādtcipa'nagidtc ā'i'ci'megudtc'. Mō'tci'megu'u wī'na'i'ani'iwädtc ā'i'cimedtc'. Nātawinō'n īna' ādtcipa'nagidtc ā'ci'genigk'. Āgwime'gupi kanā'gkwa': ō'sani'megu. Ā'anemi'megu'u'ādtcipi'cikanō'negudtc'. 'Ō'nip ā'kanō'negudtci nā'ka'dtc a'kwita''kamigi ta'cimanetowa'i me'cemegō'na' ā'cigi'nidtci'i'. Ād-

20 tcipanagidtci'megu'u ä'anemi'ci'megudtc ä'ci'megu'u'pyānig ä'anemi'i'ci'megudtc'. Āgwipi'megu'u kanā'gwa: māma'kādtci'megu ō'sa'n
ä'natawä'nemādtc'. Īni'megu'u me''tenō' ä'i'cinatawä'netagk'. Īni'megu'u me''tenō' ä'ādtcimo'edtcigä''megu a''penädtc ō'sani'megu'u
"'A'sām a'cawaiye'iwīwi," ä''inedtc'. "Ī'ni me''tenō' ä'cika'cki'i'-

25 nenānⁿ'," ä'ine^dtc¹'. "Ma'ni wīna nī'n ä'ci'menān i'ca'wiyane kīna'megu me''tenō'l', ī'ni kī'mīnen^{ne}'," ä'ine^dtc¹'. "Ma'na wī'na kī^dtcime'to'sänenīw ā'gw ī'ni wī'ke'kä'netaginⁿ¹'," ä'ine'^dtcip¹', "kīna'-megu'u me''tenō'l'," ä'ine^dtc¹'. Īnipi'megu'u kī'cetunāmo'we^dtcinⁿ¹', "Me'tenō'ku''megu'u nō''sa'," ä'i'ciwä^dtc¹'. Īnigä'ipi'megu

30 ä'maiyodte".

Īn ä'ciwädtcin ä'kwīnatawi'cina'wämādtcime'gupi manetowa''. Ä'kīwipikugwä'ka'kyä'ci'nowādtci manetowagk'. 'Ō'nipi kabō'twe māmedtcinā''megu'u, "Kī'na nā'ka'dtc'," ä'inedtci Wâpanōww'. Īte'p ä'ā'dtc'. A'ce'megu'u īyā''megu ä'medtci'megupyänu'tawādtc

35 ä'a'winidte'. Ä'cāgwä'nemudtei wī'mō'ci''egudte ä'me'tei'megu'u ä'pīti'gawādte'. 'Ō'nip'', "Na'i', no'cī''i, 'wänä'aiyō'' mana,' ketenänemipetugke'. "Wâpanōwa' ku'i netegōgi manetowagk''," ä'inidte'. "Īnugidteā', no'cī''i, ma'n ä'ei'megu'upyā'iyan'', nī'ādteimmu'. Kudte', no'cī''i, pe'ki'megu'u kekī'cāgudtei'megu'sanagi'i-

40 citä'e kō''s ä'ke'tci'megunene'känemadtci'. Cewä no'cī''i, nī'na ma'ni wī'i'nenān'i'. Wī'nānīmi'adtci me'to'sänenīwwa'. Me'to'sänenīwa'megu'u wī'nānī'mi'adtci'. 'Ō'n änäne'menāni kī'anemi'megu'umäme''säneta'. Ma'ni'i wī'inäne'menān'i'. Āgwigä'', no'cī''i, ä'cimyā'netegi wī'inäneme'nānin'i'. Ä'ci'megu'ume'nwikeg ī'ni 45 wī'inäne'menān'i'. Nā'ka'dtci kīna'megu'u ke''tcinäwi kīkī'kīwipe-

was told) that he would he a great doctor. It was in vain: it was his father only (whom he desired). Finally he was promised all sorts of things: it was surely his father (whom he desired). It was said he was told in vain, "His bones are all crushed. They have become earth. Cease to think of your father," he was told. It was in vain, it surely was his father, his father. "Come, you will be clever in all ways," he was told. It was said it was in vain: it was surely his father. The manitous began to speak to him. First those under the earth kept on trying to coax him. It was in vain, it is said, when they continued mention any way he would be blessed. It was in vain, it is said; surely it was his father, always his father. Then, it is said, the manitous were afraid. "What in the world shall be done about this?" they said to each other.

And, it is said, he gradually called out more loudly to the manitous, naming his father. Then, it is said, they mentioned many different things to him. They even told him he would always win. Medicines of all sorts (were promised him). It was in vain, it is said: it was his father. They continued to tell him of new things, it is said. Then, it is said, he was likewise addressed by the various manitous who dwell on the surface of the earth. They continued to mention all sorts of pleasurable things to him. It was in vain, it is said. He surely desired his father. He desired that only. And he was always only told the same thing about his father. "It is too long ago," he was told. "That is all I can tell you," he was told. "Now if you do what I tell you, I shall give you (a blessing), and to you alone," he was told. "These your fellow people will not know it," he was told, it is said, "it is you alone," he was told. Then, it is said, as soon as the words were spoken, he said, "Only my father." Then, it is said, he wailed.

Whenever he said that, he indeed perplexed the manitous, it is said. The manitous went about changing the way they lay on the earth. Then, it is said, soon finally a Wâpanōwa was told, "You also (try)." He went thither. He simply came to where he was. As he was unwilling for them (only) to have a vision of him, he entered plainly. Then, it is said, (he said to the hero), "Now my grandchild, you probably think 'who is this person here?" The manitous really call me a 'Wâpanōwa," he said. "To-day verily, my grandchild, I shall tell (you) this, why I come. Yet, my grandchild, you desire something superlatively difficult when you so strongly remember your father. Yet, my grandchild, this is what I shall say to you. You will make the people dance vigorously. You will indeed make the people dance vigorously. And you will continue to derive benefit from what I tell you. This is how I shall bless you. And, my grandchild, I shall not bless you in a way that is evil. I shall bless you in

men änänemeno'wānän". Āgwigä' man ā'pa'wā'cī'yanin". Pe'ki'megu keme'tci'megu'upyänutön aiyō'' ä'awī''iyanⁿı'. Īni'megu wī'inäne'menanⁿı', pwāwi'cāgwänemowe'tawī''iyanⁿe'. Cāgwänemowe'tawī'iyanegä'i', me'cena'' megu'u kī'cāgwänemowe'tawwi'. Nī'n

5 āgwigā' aiyō'i nāma'kamig awī'yāninnie. Aiyō'ie ä'a'wiyānnie: āpe'tawikī'ce'gkwe'. Ī'n ä'a'wiyānni'. Nīnadtcā' ma'ni netcāgāpat A''ki nätawāpī'yānin". Ā'gw u'wīyā'A kägō''megu'u i'cipanāpa'magini kī'pene nätawāpī'yāninni," ä'inintci. "Wī'i'ca'wiyani na'anetamawī''iyanne'. Wī'inane'menāni wī'mīnenānigā'i 'mī'cām-10 mie' ä'cite''kātägki'," ä''igudtei'.

Ä'na'kwitä''amādtc''. '''Au','' ä'inä'nemādtc''. Īnigä'ipi'megu'u ä'kī'ci'megu'uke'käne'megudtc''. Īni'megu'u ä'pemiketena'minidtc apinā'g ä'a''tōnidtci'. "Na'i', no'cī''i, nīna'ku'i me'ne'ta kenene'känemenne". Agwidtcā'i ma'na'a ma'netōwa mene'ta pyädtcikaka'-

15 none'k. A'gwi mene'ta kägo''megu'u i'cinene'käne'me'kinnit. Īnugi'megu'u ī'n ä'aneminene'kä'neme'k". Nīnagä' a'cawaiye'megu'u kenōdtcipyädtcinene'kä'nemenne'. Mā'a'gi keneno'tamwi'ene wīte'gowagki'. Īn āmi'cinene'käne'tamanni'. Īnigä' āmi'ci'meguke'käne'taman"i. 'Cī'! Ke'te'n"a',' ī'n āmi'citä''äyan"i. Me'ce'megu

20 ä'i'ci'anō'kā'nadtcini kete'ci'anō'kā'nāwagki'. Keneno''tagōgki'. 'Ō'ni mā'agi kīdtcime'to'säne'niwag īni' ā'gw u'wīyä'a neno'ta'wādtcinni'. Mā'a'gi nā'ka'dtci kākāgīwag īnimegu nä''īnigi wädtci neno''tawadtci. Keneno'tawāwagi yō īni'gki. Nīnadtcā'megōni nete'citä'āgannic. Ä'apenō''iyīni ketudtci'megu'upyädtcinene'kä'nemennec. Ī'n

25 ä'cinene'käne'menān". Keke'känemāwagi'dtcā' īni'g ä'ci'giwādtc'. Nīnagä' īni wädtci ke'kä'nemadtc īni'gkl'. 'Ō'n ī'nugi nīnamegōni ke'tcinawe'megu'u ä'pyädtcipītigänu'tōnānni'. Awi'ta ma'ni me'tcikwīye'namō'cī''iyanne'. Ma'ni wī'na pe'ki'megu'u kenäw ä'cināgu''siyān"i. Īni. Nī'n āgwidtcā'i kägō''i'cinatawiwanime'nā-

30 ninⁿi. Ma'ni nā'ka'dtei mī'eā'mⁿi. Kī'eina'ku'miyan īni wī'wäpi'ādtcimo''enānni'. Āgwigä'' aiyō'nina'i wī'A'kwänemenāninni': īyā' mana'ka'megu'u kī'cāgudtci' penodtci. Ī'n änäne'menānni;

āgwigä" aiyō'nina"," ä'igudte".

"Ma'ni wâ''säyāwi nā''inā' ä'pōnipyämiga'tugwän ī'ninā' änäne'-35 menān". 'Ō'ni ma'ni pe'ku'täyāgki'. Nā''inā' aiyō''i ä'ā'pedtci'a'tägwän ī'n änäne'menānni. Ī'ni wī'a'kwäne'menānni. Ma'na kī'ce''sw īnu'gi kenä'näwāwa mani' nā'ka'dtci kī'ce'gwi kenänätae īnugkit, 'ō'ni ma'n a'tkit, 'ō'ni ma'ni nōte'nwit. Īninidtcāt nā'tināt ä'pōnipyämiga'tugwän ī'ni wī'a'kwäne'menānni'. Ma'ni nōte'nw

40 ī'ni wädtci menwime'to'sänenī'wiyägkwe', me'sōtäwimā''megu mō'tci'-megu'u aiyō''i kīwi''sā'it^'. Īni māwadtci'me'cāgi nāta'winōnni'. Cewä'na ketume'sōtäwimegu'u kemāmī'kedtci'e'gwipena 'ī'ni nōtenwit. Ä'atā'panä'tamagwe kemenwinawä'ckā'gwipennat. Ī'nidtcāt na'ina'i pōni'megu'upyä'miga'k ī'n ä'kwäne'menānni. 'Ō'ni wädtci-

45 nenwā'piyagwe ma'na'a kī'ce''swa wädtcinenwā'piyagkwe'. Me'sō-

a good way. Moreover, you in person will take care of whatever way I bless. And you are not dreaming now. I have come plainly to you here where you are. Now I shall bless you if you are not unwilling to listen to me. And if you are unwilling to listen to me, why you shall listen to me unwillingly. And I do not dwell here under the earth. Here is where I dwell: half way up in the sky. That is where I dwell. Verily I see all this earth whenever I desire to look around," he said. "(This) is what will happen to you if you are pleased with what (I shall give you). I shall bless you in giving you what is called 'a sacred pack,'" he was told.

He consented in his heart to the other. "All right," he thought of him. Now, it is said, it was already known that he would. Then he took it out and placed it on the bench (of the wikiup). "Now, my grandchild, I truly first thought of you. Verily it was not this manitou who first came to talk to you. He did not first think anything of you. Just now he begins to think of you. And I have thought of you a long time ago, so be it. I made you understand these owls. You should think of that. And indeed you should contrive to know it. 'Gracious! It is true,' is what you should contrive to think. You have ordered them to do whatever you wished. They understand you. And none of these your fellow people understands them. Moreover, as for those crows you understand them for the same reason. You indeed understand them. Verily that is my own wish. From the time you were a child I have thought of you. That is how I think of you. Verily you know how these are. And I am the reason you know them. And I have come in person within (your dwelling). This would not be appropriate if you plainly had a vision of me. You now see very clearly how I look. That is all. Verily I do not desire to deceive you in any way. Moreover, regarding this sacred pack. As soon as you have assented then I shall begin to instruct you. And I shall not think of you (only) so far as the present time: it will be yonder far distant time. That is how I think of you; and not (merely) at the present time," he was told.

"At the time this daylight ceases to come is (how far) I think of you. And night. At the time when it is here forever I shall think of you. That is as far as I shall think of you. To-day you see this sun and this sky, and this earth, and this wind. At whatever time they really cease to come is the extent I shall think of you. This wind is why we live well, indeed every one of us, even indeed (a fowl) which flies around here. That is an especially great medicine. But that wind doctors every one of us. When we suck it in it has a beneficial effect upon us. Verily at the time that ceases to come is as far as I think of you. And the reason we see well is this sun. At the time when every one of us is born this sun has made us see well when these, our eyes, are laid.

täwi'megu'u na'ina''megu ma'n ä'kī'cinīgī''iyagw īnina''megu kī'cinenwāpi''enagwe wī'na mana'a kī'ce''swa mā'ani ke'ckī'cegu'nānan

ä'kī'cedtcä'ckāgki'.

"'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtci mani'i wâ'säyāw". Ī'ni pe''ki säna'gategi 5 wī'kākīgäwinä'tamagwe mani'i. Kī'pene'megu'u pōninä'tagin u'wī-yä'a kī'cāgudtcāniwi'megu. Āgwigä''megu'u kanā'gwa wī'kīwiwīdtcawiwä''iyagwe 'ī'n ä''cawita', pōninäta'ga ma'ni wâ''säyāw". Īnidtcā' pōnipyä'miga'ke wâ''säyāw ī'ni wī'a'kwänemenān'', no'cī''.

"Mani' nā'ka'dtci ku'ki'nāgwa'ke keta'ki'menān ī'ni nā'ka'dtci 10 wī'udtcimegu'upemike'käne'taman''. Mämädtcigimegu'u kuta'gi ki'cāme'ki''setōge 'ī'ni kī'na wī'udtci'megu'upemike'känetamani'megu.

"Āgw A'cemegu'u ma'ni wī'ckupetunātōnānin". Kegyä'tenāmigi'tōne'megu'u, no'cī'i, neka'nawīn". Āgwigä' no'cī'i, nī'na ma'n i'cineguti'ī'yānini ma'n ä'inäne'menān". Kī'cina'änetamawī'-

- 15 'iyane ma'n ä'tä'gi wāwīta'mōnān ī'ni wī'näwadtci'megu'u manimegu'nä' änäneme'kigki'. Āgwidtcā'i ne'guta'i wī'myānete'nigini wī'inä'neme'ki'. Cewä'na nī'na ma'ni kemāwadtci'megu'umenwikete'minōne mägwä''e'. Nō'ci''sema nīna'megu'u ne'ci''ka neme'nwimāwwa'. Ketenänemene'ku'i', no'cī''i. Ä'ke'käne'menān ä'a'-
- 20 sāmimegu'ukwä'kwäwikakamadteitä'ayanni, i'ni wä'dtei ma'nni, no'ci'i, 'i'nenānni'."

'Ō'nipi wī'na ne'nōtāw ä'ka'nōnādtcl', "Neme''cu', wāwu'sā'' yātugke, 'ā'gwi' wī'ine'nānin''. Ke'tenamā''megu kīna'megu ī'n äno'wäyani ketä'pwe'. Īni'megu'u ä'ca'wiyān änādtci'moyan''.

- 25 Mani^dtcā' inug ä'nenānⁿ', 'kena'kwitä'emen^{ne}', kena'kumene wī'ketemina'wiyanⁿ'. Nā''ka ma'n ā'gwi wī'ātänetamō'nāninⁿ'. Nemenwäneta wī'pemenamān īni'megu'u inänemiyan^{ne}'. Ke''tena 'ī'ni nī'na wī'i'cimegu'uka'cki'tōyāni wī'inenānⁿ', neme''c^u','' ä'-'inā^dtc^l'.
- 30 Ōnip¹', "Īniku''megu, no'cī'i. Ī'ni netä'i kīna'megumä' īni ketä''i. Ā'gwi wī'myāne'tegini ketä''i: wī''pīnyāwwi. Na'i', no'cī'i, īnidtcā'mā'i wī''aiyagwe tepowäwa''ckutäw ä''a'tägki, ä'tāta'-ciketemi'nawudtci kīdtcime'to'sä'nenīwwa'. Ī'ni wī''aiyagkwe'," ä''inedtci'.
- 35 Ä'nā'gwāwādtc īte'p ä''āwādtc'. Ō'nip īyā'' ä''pyāwādtci nāma''kamigk'. Ä'kī'cāgudtci'megumenwināgwa'tenigk'. Īnigä'i'p īn ä'tane''cänigk'. Ä'ādtci'mo'edtc', "Ma'n īni 'tepowäwa''ckutäwi'
 ä'tamegk'," ä''inedtc'. "Manigä' ä'tāta'nowädtci ma'netōwa,"
 ä'inidtc'. "'Ō'ni ma'n ä'kawâ'patag ä'katawipyādtc'," ä''inidtc'.
- 40 Ke'tena'megu'u a'cka'dtcimä' ä'pyädtcipīti'gänidtci ne'niwan'', ä'ke'cādtcinenī'winidtc''. "Na'i', kīwatomi nī'kānagk''," ä'inedtc''. "Ö'ni Ke'cāma'netōwa wī'tagwina'tomedtc''," ä'inedtc''. "Īni'megu nī'i'cawi," ä'inidtc''. Ä''anemino'wīnidtc''.

"And again, this daylight. It is most difficult to see this forever. If, however, any one ceases seeing it, there is sorrow. And it is indeed impossible for us to go about with one who has done so, one who has ceased to see this daylight. So verily when daylight ceases to come will be the extent to which I shall think of you, my grandchild.

"Moreover, when this earth of ours changes its appearance then indeed you will find out about (this). And surely when another

earth is made then you start to know about it.

"I am not making a sweet mouth for you just for fun. I have indeed made my word truthful to you, my grandchild. And I am not alone, my grandchild, in blessing you this way. As soon as you have assented to what I have told you then you will indeed see those who also bless you this way. Verily they will bless you in a way that is not evil in any way. But perhaps I indeed alone bless you in an especially good way. Indeed I alone speak well to my grandchild. I truly bless you, my grandchild. Because I know you have been altogether too downcast in your heart is why I tell you this, my grandchild."

Then, it is said, the Indian addressed him, "My grandfather, it seems useless for me to say 'no' to you. Surely indeed you speak truthfully in what you say. I do exactly what you say. Verily when I say this to you to-day, 'I accept your heart with mine,' I consent that you bless me. And I shall not give up (your blessing). I like to cherish it if you so bless me. Surely that is how I am able to tell you, my grandfather," he said to him.

Then, it is said, he was told, "That is it, my grandchild. That is my heart and that is also your heart. Your heart will not be evil: it will be clean. Well, my grandchild, now verily we shall go where the council fire is, where your fellow people are always blessed."

They departed and went thither. Then, it is said, they came yonder, under the earth. It looked extremely beautiful. And, it is said, it was where there was a flame. He was informed, "This is what is called 'the council fire,'" he was told. "And this is where the manitou always talks," the other said. "Now this one who watches over it has nearly come," the other said.

Surely indeed a little later a man who was a kindly man, came and entered. "Well, go about and summon my friends," he was told. "And the Gentle Manitou shall be summoned with them," he was told. "I shall do exactly so," the other said as he went out.

Menwine'ki'megu ä''pyānidtci negu't". Īni'megu'u ä'ca'winidtc'. Māwadtcā'kowi'megu Ke'cama'netowanni. Īnip īni' ä'tcāginagape'kwä'sa''onidtci na'ina''megu'u pyädtcipīti'gänidtci'. Kī'cāgudtci kenādtc ä'kana'winidtc īnini ne'niwannit. "Na'i', ine'nītige natawāpi'-5 gkut," ä'inemedtelt. Īni" Adtcāmegu'u ä'nīmä'kwä''ckānidtelt.

Ī'nip ä'wäpi'ādtci'monidte ume'cō'me'sannie. "Na'i', nīdtcima'netōtigket, īnu'gi ma'ni wädtcimāwadtci'menagwe mana'a kō'ci'se'menānas. Ma'n änä'nemagkit. Ä'a'sāmikī'cāgudtciketemi'nawagi na'ina' ä'a'ce'nonidte ō'sa'n ä'pwāwidteā'megu'uke'kä'nemādte ä'ein-

- 10 āgu'si'nigwānni. Ī'ni wä'dtci ketemi'nawagki. Īnugidtcā'i na'ina'i kī'cimīnawä'netag ä'ke'tcinene'känemādtc ō'sa'nnic. Keme'tänemāpwadtcā' ä'tcāgi'megu'ukanō'negudtci manetowa'i'. Āgwidtcā' uwī'yä'ani kägō''megu i'cika'ckime'gudtcinni. Nīnadtcā'i nena''kumegkwa". Nīnagā' ke'te'na nemāwadtci'megu'u'ani'wāwa 'īna 'īn
- 15 änemi'cika'nonāta'. Nī'na mene't ī'ni netenä'nemāw a'cawāmä'-'megu. Īnug īn ä'wâpatōnenagōwe kō'ci'se'menānnat. Ä'ketemi'nawag änänemagi kī'pe' setawi'pwa'. Nā''ka kī'me'tci'megupe'setā'gunāna mana'a ane'mime'to'sä'nenīwwa'. Āgwi ku'dtci' ce'cegā' inäne'maginnit. A'gwi wädtcinowinäne'maginnit. A'ci'megu'uke'-

20 tena'inig ī'ni wī'i'cika'nonagkit. 'Ō'ni mani tcā'g ä'kī'cinota'wiyäg^{kwe}. Ī'ni, nenītig^{ke}, " ä'i'neme^dtci manetowa'¹.
Ä'nānama''kwänig^k nyäwe'nwi ma'n a''k ä'na'kutamini^dtci

manetowa''.

"Ī'ni nō''ci'sema wī'wäpi'ādtci'mo'agki'," ä'inedtci'. "Na'i', 25 no'cī'i, ma'n änäne'menāni: ma'na kī'ce''sw ä'pōni'aiyō'ipyāgwännit, 'ō'ni ma'ni wâ''säyāw ä'pōni'aiyō'ipyämiga'tugwänni', 'ō'ni ma'ni nōte'nw ä'pōni'aiyō'ipyämiga'tugwänni', 'ō'ni ma'n a''k ä'ne'ciwanāta'kī'wigwän ī'n änäne'menāni ma'ni wī'a'kwipemenamani mī'cā'mmit. 'Ō'ni kī'cipīnāme'ki''setōte manetōwa 'ī'ni nā''ka wī'udtci'-

30 megu'upemike'käne'tamannic. Mani'megu'u wi'i'cike'käne'tamannic. Aiyō'' inug ä'cike'käne'taman äyigi'megu'u kī'ke''käneta'. "Wä'na 'īni wä'dtci ke'känetamāni neme''come's ä'ketemi'nawidtci',' kī'i'citä'e'. Ā'gwi mā'a'gi papīwe'cī'ī'wādtcin aiyō'i mō'ca'g ä'ta'cipe'-

seta'witcig ä'ketemi'nōnānⁿ¹. Ī'ni wä'dtcinenāni yō'w^{we}, 'ā'gwi 35 nī'na netō'ni wī'ckupitō'nāninⁿ¹,' ä'inenā'ni yō'w^{we}. Īnug īni nī'n ä'ā'pedtci'megukī'cowā'nenānni. Manigä'i mī'cā'mi mō'cagi'megu'u ta"swi mä'kwi"soyägwe 'ī'ni wī'i'cimamātotamägkwe'. Kuta'g ä'-'ci'suta me'cena''megu wī'wāwī'senīwwa'. Kīnagä'i', 'nī'kīgännu',' kī'i'ci'te'kāta na''ina' pyätenamawī'yanini kekī''cetämmi'. Manid-

40 tcā''megu ā''pene wī'inä'inäne'menānni', wī'na nō'dtci', megu'u pīgāpa'citō''iyannit. Kenwä'ci wī'anemime'to'sänenī'wiyannit. Ī'n änäne'menānni. Nā'ka'dte ä'cinatawäne'tamani me'cena'megu'u kī'kīkīwa'ta'wāwa kī'dtcī'ckwe'a'. Ī'n ai'yā'kōwi, no'cī'i, nī'n ä'cikanō'nenānnit," ä'tinedtcit.

Some time afterwards one came in. They did exactly so. The very last was the Gentle Manitou. Then, it is said, all bowed their heads suddenly at the time he came and entered. That man spoke as softly as possible. "Now, men, look about," they were told. They just then raised their heads.

Then, it is said, his grandfather began to narrate. "Well, my fellow manitous, the reason why I call you together to-day is this our grandchild. This is how I think of him. At the time his father disappeared I more than pitied him because he did not know what (his father) looked like. That is why I pitied him. Verily to-day at the time when he had (become sufficiently old to be) observant, he thought greatly of his father. You know full well that he was addressed by all the manitous. Verily he was persuaded in any manner by none. Verily he assented to me. And I surely have greatly excelled those who spoke to him that way. I first thought that of him a long time ago. So to-day I show you our grandchild. You will listen to what I thought of him and how I took compassion upon him. And he will listen to us in person, that is, this future mortal. Yet I do not think of him just for fun. Nor is my wish for him easy. I shall speak to him as is indeed right. And then you will have all heard this from me. That is all, men," the manitous.

When the manitous gave their consent this earth roared four times.

"Now I shall begin to instruct my grandchild," he said. "Well, my grandchild, this is how I think of you: when this sun ceases to come here, and when this daylight ceases to come here, and when this wind ceases to come here, and when this earth is destroyed is as far as I think of you to take care of this sacred pack. And as soon as the manitou has again planted this earth to be clean then again you will begin to know about these things. This indeed is how you will know them. As you know them now you will also know them. You will think, 'why the reason why I know them is because my grandfather has taken compassion upon (i. e., blessed) me.' These who are only listening to me here as I take compassion upon you are not small. That is why I said to you before, 'I am not making my mouth sweet for you.' I have precisely now made eternal plans for you. And only as many of you as are members of the Bear gens shall worship this sacred pack. A member of any other gens may indeed eat at any time. And you shall call it 'I am going to celebrate a gens festival,' whenever you bring me your cooked food. Verily I shall always think the same of you, so be it, even if you live to be a very old man. You will continue to exist as a mortal for a long time. That is how I think of you. Moreover, you will go about striking down your foes whenever you so desire. That, my grandchild, is the very last thing I say to you, my grandchild," he was told.

'Ō'ni wätā'panigi ta''ciWâpanōw ä'ka'nōnādte', "Na'i', no'cī''i, mana'a änä'neme'ki kī'cika'nōne'ki nīnanä' īni'megu'u ä'cika'cki'-'tōyāni wī'i'nenān''. Manigä'i mī'cā'mi nīnā'nanä' īn ä'ci'megu'-utā'ta'gwitepäne'tamāgke'. Īni'megu äne''k ä'citä''äyāgke'. Äyänī-

5 wegä''megu'u pemāte''siweni ketenäneme'nepenna'. Mō'cagi'megu'u ī'ni nīgāni'se'tōnāgke'. Keke'kyäwen ī'n ä'cinīgāni'se'tōnāge wī'udtcigä'ipwāwiwāwanänetamōnāge ma'ni kīgā'nowennī'. A''ckutägi kī'tane'tunämmu'. Īna'tcā' ä'ci'megu'ukanawī'wanäni wī'tcāgi'megu'u'āto'tamō'ka wī'wītamawī'yameta'. Ī'ni wī'udtci'megu'unānō'-

10 tonāge nānāgadtci'megu. Īni'megu'u wī'anemi'inādtcimo'ī'yamedtci keme'come'sa'. Wī'na kī'cimegwa mā'a'ni Ke'cämanetowani wī'anemi'inādtcimo'ī'yamedtci'. Keme''come'sa wī'na kī''cimegwa mā'a'ni Ke'cämanetowani wī'anemipwāwiwāwanetowe'tawī'yamedtci ta'swi'megu'u ma'netowa ä'cī'namegi wī'pwāwi'megu'uwāwane'ta'-

15 wagedtci wī'n A'ckutä'nä'sīwwa'. Īnidtcā'i wī'tanetunāmo'katamani keme'to'sānenī'wiwen ä'ci'megu'unatawānetamo'wanān'i'. Īni'megu'u wī'anemi'inādtci'mo'adtc A'ckutä'nä'sīwwa'. Ī'n ä'ciwīta'mōnān'i'. Ma'ni wīn änä'neme'ki'megu ma'n ä'inäne'menān'i'. Nekī'ci'meguwī'nānitcāgow ä'cika'nōne'ki'. Ī'ni ke'te'na na'igenīw ä''ci-

20 me'k'. Nemenu'tawā'wadtcā'i. Pe'ki'megu ä'kegyä'tenāmine'ki wī'ādtci'megu'uke'käne'taman'i. Ä'i''cime'ki keke'tci'megu'umenwimegkwa'. Na'ina'idtcā'i pōnime'to'säneniwī'wanān īni'megu'u wī'a'wiyan ä''awidtci keme'cōme'sa'. Ī'ni wī'kīwī'taiyan'i. Ā'gwi ma'ni ne'guta'i me'tcīgi ta'cime'to'säneniwī'yāgin'i. Kegime'si'-

25 megu'u a'pemä'egi neta'cime'to'säneniwä'ipenna'. Ī'n ä'ca'wiyāgke'. Ī'ni wä'dtci kīnāgwimenāgke'. 'Īyā'mā' kī'udtcipemike''käneta',' ä'i'nenāgke', ma'ni wädtc īn i'nenāgke'. Īyā'i wī'a'wiyann'. Me'cewä'megōna' ä'pemi'awī'wāgäni kī'pemikīwīta'. Īninā'i'iwig ī'ni wī'nī'se'nenāgke'. Nā'ka'dtci me'tō'dtc ä'a'sāmi'megukī'cāgudtcitä'-

30 'äyani kō''s ä'agi'adte''. Ī'ni wä'dte īn i'nenān'', no'eī''i. Na'i', no'eī''i, mana'ka nā'ka'dtei wädteināwa''kwänig äpi'ta 'ī'ni wī'ka'-nōne'k''," ä''inedte''.

Ä'kegapi'edtci', "Na'i', no'cī''i, īni'megu'u nä''nīna wī'inäne'-menān'i'. Ā'gw a'te''tci wī'inäneme'nānin'i'. Ä'ci'megu'ukanōne'ki 35 mana'a ä'ckika'nōne'ka keme'cōme's īni'megu ä'nenān'i'. Ā'gwidtcā' nä''nīni wī'pekīni'setō'yānin änäne'menān'i'. Īni'megu'u wī'i'ci'se'-tōnān änänetāgu''siyan'i'. Wäwenetenīwiku'i ke'te'n ä'cika'nōne'ki keme'cōme's'. Āgwi kägō''megu'u i'cimyā'cikanō'ne'kin'i'.

"Nā'kadtcigā' mō'tci'megu'u kepe'sepe'seta'wipen''. Ā'gwi kāgō''
40 i'cime'nāgin''. Ā'gwi mō'ci'i'yāgin''. Ma'ni mō'cī'iyāge māme'ci'kamegu'u wanimenagāwā''. Īnugi wī'n āgwi wī'wanime'nāgini
wī'anemi'nenāgke'. Nī'naiyo, no'cī'i, wī'na ma'na nīgānika'nōne'k

And the Wapanowa of the east addressed him, "Well, my grandchild, I too am able to say to you exactly the same as this being has thought of you and has said to you. And we all collectively own this sacred pack. We think exactly as he said to you. We all as one bless you with life. That only do we place first for you. We place your old age first so that we thereby will not fail to know of this your offering. You will speak through the fire. Verily whatever you say there, the one who is to tell it to us will tell us indeed all of it. In that way we shall always hear you exactly. Your grandfather will continue to inform us. He has been told by this, the Gentle Manitou, to continue to inform us. Your grandfather has been told by this, the Gentle Manitou, to continue not to misutter your prayers to us as many as are called a manitou, so that we shall not fail not to misunderstand the Spirit of Fire. Therefore you will speak of your life in whatever way you desire. You will continue to tell that indeed to the Spirit of Fire. That is what I tell you. As he thinks of you I think the same. I have now spoken all my wishes (when I say that mine would be exactly) the same as he has spoken to you. Surely what he said to you is right. Verily I liked to hear him. He told you very convincingly that you would know those things afresh. He has spoken exceedingly well in what he said to you. Verily at whatever time you cease to exist as mortal then you will abide where your grandfather is. That is where you will be. We do not have our lives any place on the bare ground. We indeed all have our lives up above. That is what happens to us. That is why we speak freely to you. Because we said to you, 'You will know those things from yonder' is why we say it to you. You will dwell yonder. Wherever indeed we may be you will stay. When that time comes we shall take you down. Moreover, it seems you have felt too badly in losing your father. That is why I tell you, my grandchild. Now, my grandchild, the one who is vonder in the south will also now speak to you," he was told. He was seated further on (and told), "Now, my grandchild, I also will think exactly the same of you. I shall not think of you in a different way. As this your grandfather who spoke to you, has spoken

He was seated further on (and told), "Now, my grandchild, I also will think exactly the same of you. I shall not think of you in a different way. As this your grandfather who spoke to you, has spoken to you I also say to you. I too shall not make my thought toward you (i. e., my blessing) different. I shall arrange my thought exactly as is expected of you. Surely the manner in which your grandfather has spoken to you is truly fine. He has in no way spoken evilly to you.

"And furthermore you have even kept on listening to us. We have deceived you in no way. You did not have a vision of us. If now you had had a vision of us we surely might have deceived you. To-day we shall not deceive you in what we continue to say to you.

ä'cime'k īni'megu'u ä'cikanōnenān¹. Ke''kyäwen ä'wāwīta'mōneg īni^dtcā'i ketenä'nemene wī'tāpa'ku''ckamani keme'to'sänenī'wiwen¹. Nā'ka'^dtci mani'¹. Sägi'käneta'mugwäna änäne'menāge 'īna nā'-ka'^dtc īni'megu'u änänemage^dtc¹. Na''ina' wäpimamāto'miyāge 5 'īni'megu'u wī'anemi'inänemage^dtc¹.

"A''penädtci' sägi''kinene'käneta'mugwäna mani''i mī'cā'cā'm īni'megu'u wī'anemudtcimenwime'to'säne'niwidtci'. Me'tōdtci'megu kä'tcimāma'ka'täwita mō''ci'tōta kenwä''ci wī'me'to'säne'niwidtci', īni wī'i''cawidtci'. Manigä'i wī'udtci'i''cawidtci ma'ni mī'cā'm''.

- 10 Ā'gw a'cemegu'u wī'u'dtci'īni'i'ca'wi'dtcinn'. Ma'ni wī'awa'negwi'dtci me'tō'dtci ke'kyä'wenegi wī'i'ciwenegwīw'. Ā'gwigä'i mā'ma'kā'dtci nenīwa me'ce'megu'u. I'kwäwagä' ī'n anemi'i'ci'a'penä'dtcinene'känetage 'īni'megu'u wī'i'cawi'dtc'. Mō'tci'megu apeno'ä'a ī'n āmi'cimäme'kwäne'dtcigä'ete 'īni'megu wī'u'dtcipwāwi'anemi'ā'kwa'ā'-
- 15 kwamatag^k'', wī'udtci'megu'umenwime'to'säne'niwidtc''. Wī'kī'cigīwadtcā''. Īni' mani' wädtc anemi'cime'ki mā'a'g^k'', 'kī'anemimäme'sä'net^k'.' Ä'ci'cime'k'.

"Me'tōdtci ketapeno'e'ma wī'menwiwe'negwīwwa'. Āgwi'megu kägō'i wī'anemi'cipegipegi'ckinawä''ekinni'. Īnidtcā'' īn ä'tamō'ki'.

20 Ī'ni wädtci', 'menwigenwi',' 'i'nenān a'cawä'', no'cī''i. Mā'a'gi mä'kwi''sutcigi kī'menwi'megu'uwīta'mawagki'. Ā'gwi wī'cāgwänemo'wādtcinni'. 'A'penädtci'megu'u kī'kīgänopenna'' kī'i'nāwagki'. Āgwigä' kī'na ne'ci''ka', me'cemegō'na' u'wīyä'a wi'anemikī'gänōwwa'. 'Pena nī'mamāto'māwagi mane'towagki',' ä'ci'tä'āta 25 'ī'na wī'anemimamātomuta'. Ke'te'na 'īna u'wī'sōn aiyō'i wī'anemita'cike'ka'ā'tänigki'. Āgwigä'', no'cī''i, wī'wāwanäne'māgin ä'pemi'awī'yanini ta''swi mä'kwi''soyanni'. Kī'ke'käneme'nepenamegu'u.

"Āgwigā", no cī'i, kāgō'i wī'sa'sā'kwā'yāgin ". A'cemegu'u ta''swi wī'kīgāno'wanāni. Kāgō'i kī''kīgān ". Mō''tc āno ānō'30 'siyāgwe kīgānō''iyāgw āgwi'megu'u kāgō''. Ä'pī'tānetamo'wāgwāni kudteī' ī'ni wī'anemi'a'pī'tcita'swi''tōyāgwe kekīgānō'nwenwāw". Tepā'tamāgwe me'cena''megu'u wī'mānā'tōwāgwāni kī'mānā'tōp ". Manigā' ā'cku'tānigi 'ō' mamī''cī' īnini wī'a'watōdte
ä'uwīgidtcini wī'mawita'ciwa'dtcā'udte'. Ī'n ā'cimāmādtcigiwīta'35 mōnāni mani'i kī'gānōn ā'aiyātota'mōnān".

"Kekī'cigā'mani'ādtcimo'en ā'na'ināne'menānⁿi". Ā'ko'wi ketudtci-'setōne nā''nīna māyomaiyō'e'kigi wī'nāpā'ku'kōnānⁿi. Ä'na'inata'wāwatānidtcā'i kī'kīwinata''wāwagi kīdtcī''ckwe'agh'. No'cī''i, āgwi nanā''ci wī'ute'sagi''ekinⁿi". Nā'ka'dtci nānadtcini ta'swi'megu'u 40 nānadtc īni'megu'u ta''swi wī'anemipyānadtci kīdtcī'ckwe'a'. 'Negu't ōtāweni nī'tcāgipyātu',' i'citā'āyan^{ne'}, kī'anemi'megu'utcāgipyātu'. As for me, my grandchild, I say to you exactly what the one who first spoke to you said to you. As old age was mentioned to you therefore I bless you to reach (this span) of your life. Moreover, this: Whoever thinks earnestly of how we bless you, we shall bless him the same way. At the time you begin to worship us then we shall continue to bless him.

"Whoever always thinks earnestly of this sacred pack shall in the same way thereby continue to live well. It seems as if the one who fasts greatly and has a vision of it will exist as mortal for a long time; that is what will happen to him. And this sacred pack is the reason this will happen to him. He will not do so just by chance. This will in a way bring and lead him to old age. And not only a man, any one. And if a woman continues thus always to remember it, the same will happen to her. Even indeed if a little child should contrive to thus remember it constantly, in the same way it would thereby continue to never be sick, and thereby would live in health. Verily he will mature. Now this is why these have continued to say to you, 'You will continue to always derive benefit from it.' That is what they say to you.

"It seems that (this) will carry your children on in the right way. They will not indeed continue to do anything which will disappoint you. That verily is what they meant. That is why I said to you, 'it is good,' a long time ago, my grandchild. You will tell these members of the Bear gens pleasantly. They will not be unwilling. You will tell them, 'we shall always hold gens festivals. And not you alone but any one will continue to hold gens festivals.' The one who thinks, 'why, I shall worship the manitous,' is the one who will continue to worship. Surely his name will be mentioned here. And, my grandchild, we shall not fail to know where as many of you as belong to the Bear gens are. We shall indeed know about you.

"And, my grandchild, there will be nothing which will be against our rules. You may hold a gens festival at any time and as often as you please. You may offer anything. Even if you have something left which you offer at your gens festivals it is nothing. Yet the amount (of food) is based on the extent you value your gens festivals. If you love it, should you desire to have much (food) you may have much. And a ceremonial attendant shall take this food which is left over to wherever he lives and cook it there. That is what I tell you with certainty in explaining to you the details of this gens festival.

"I have now told you what my wishes are with respect to you. I thereby grant as my last (boon) that I also should replace your kettle (of food) with those who have made you mourn. You will go about striking down your foes whenever you so desire. My grandchild, they will never harm you. Moreover, whenever you go after them you will bring back the number of your foes that you wish to. If you

Ī'n änänemenānⁿ', no'cī'i. 'Ō' ma'ni nā'ka'dtc'. Mana'a ketōgimāmwāw ä'utōtäweni'enāgwe ma'kwādtci'megu'u nä'īni nī'inänetama'wāpenⁿ'. Ā'gwi ne'gutenwi wī'a'penäwene'kämiga'tenig utō'täwenⁿ'. Īn änämemage'dtc'. Kīnagä' ī'n änäne'menāgke'. Āgwi-

5 gä'i wī'nna': a'cedtcā'i wī'na newāwī'tāpenna'. 'Manigä' utō'-täwenni',' ä'iyāge 'ī'ni wä'dtc u'gimāwa ke'ka''wagedtci'. Ī'n ä'cikanō'nenānni', no'cī'i. Manadtcā' nā'ka'dtci wädtcike'sī'yänigi ta'ci Wâ'panōwa wī'wī'tamō'ka',' ä''inedtci', ä'kega'pi'edtc īte'pi'c īyā''.

10 Kī'cime'nwapidte', "Na'i', no'cī'i, īnu'gi mā'a'gi kekī'ciwīta'-māgōg ä'inä'neme'ki keme'cō'me'sagk!". Āgwidtcā'i nī'nna', no'cī'i, a'te''tcimā'i wī'anemi'inäneme'nāninni. Īni'megu'u wī'anemi'inäne'-menānni. Änemi'cikī'cikaka'nōne'k īni'megu'u wī'anemi'cinänemenānni. Maniyu'gā' kemene'tami'megōgi wī'tāpaku''ckamani keme'-15 to'sānenī'wiwenni. Īnidtcā''megu nā'nīn änäne'menānni.

"Mā'anigā' naga'mōnan änemi'segi'ki'megu'unene'käneta'mugwäna 'īna''īn īni'megu wī'anemi'ci'utenagi me'to'sänenī'wen^{nī'}.
'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtci ma'n ā'dtcimōn änemikanōta'mugwäna 'īni'megu'u wī'anemi'citäpa''ku'ckagi me'to'sänenī'wiwen^{nī'}. Ā'gwi nō'ta wī'ane-

20 mi'a'kwike'käne'taginⁿ. Na'ina''megu ä'ke''kyāgwän ī'ni wī''a'-kwī^dtc ume'to'sänenī'wiwenⁿ. Ma'ni nā''ka wī'i''cawi^dtc ī'n ä''cawit^a. Mā'a'i'megu ä'pemi'awini^dtc ī'ni wī'pemipemenā''so-wā^dtc¹'. Mō'cagi'megu änemike'käne'tagigi mī'cā'minaga'mōnani nā'ka''dtei mī'cā'mikanakana'winan īni'gi wī'nānā''sutcig^k¹'. Aiyō''i

25 kī'cipōnita'cime'to'säneniwī'wādtcin īni'megu'u wī'nānegowādtc'. Mamī''cī'ani nā'ka'dtci nā'i'megu'u. Kīgānugwāna 'īna nā'ka'dtc īna'megu wī'anemi''cawidtc'. 'Wī'nene'kāne'mā'sōwwa'.' Ī'ni wā'dtciyān". Īnugi' man ī'n ä'ci'megu'umāmādtcigi'megu'ume'tciwīta'mōnān", 'āgwi' mā'a'gi wīta'mō'kigk', a'ce'megu'u i'ci'me'-30 kin".'

"Īniku''megu ke'tena'megu'u änäneme'kimegu'u ä'cika'nōne'ki'.

Īnugidtcā'i pe'ki'megu'u kekī'cimenwipata'cki'a'tōnepena kewīnä'-tepīgi nekanawīne'nānan'i'. 'Ō'ni nā''ka ke'tä'eg īni'megu'u ä'kī'-ci'se'tōnāgke'. Ā'gwina''megu'u aiyō'nina'i wī'ta'ciwanī'kä'yānin

35 inänemenāginⁿ¹°. Kekī'cime'nepena nā'ka'dtci wī'nene'käne'tamani mani'¹¹°. 'Apinamegu'u kuta'g a''ki kī'ci'tōg īninā'i wī'udtcipemipa'-se'gwīyani', ketenepena wī'udtcike'käne'tamanⁿ¹°. Īnidtcā''megu'u wī'ci'ca'wiyanⁿ¹°, nō'ci'semenāte'. Ī'n änäne'menāg^{ke'}. Me'tōdtci'-megu'u wī'i'cinene'käne'miyāg^{ke'}. Ī'ni wä'dtc īn i'neneg^k¹°, 'āgwaiyō'-

40 nina'i', 'ä'i'nenāgke'. Mana'ka'megu'u ketagwi'setō'nepena penō'd-tc'. Mō''tci nīnān ä'manetō'wiyāge 'penō'dtc'' kete'nepena ā'in-äne'menāgke'. Pe'ki'megu kemämädtci'gäneme'nepena'. Ī'n ä'in-äne'menāgke', nō'ci'se'menāte'. Pwāwi'manimä'mädtcigiketemi'nōnāg awita' man i'cime'tciwītamōnagā'ge'e ma'ni wī'n ä'mämädtcime-

think, 'I shall bring an entire town,' you will bring it. That is how I bless you, my grandchild. Oh, also this. This your chief has placed you in his town, and we shall also think quietly of it. Never once shall his town be stricken with disease. That is how we bless him. And that is how I bless you. But it is not him: we mention it. When we say 'and this his town,' that is why we name the chief. That is what I say to you, my grandchild. Moreover, verily this Wâpanōwa who is in the north is one who will talk to you," he was told as he was seated further on toward him.

As soon as he was well seated (he was told), "Well, my grandchild, to-day these have told your grandfathers how they think (i. e., bless) you. Verily I, my grandchild, shall not continue to think of you any differently. I shall continue to think of you in the same way. As they have continued to address you, I shall continue to think of you in the same way. Now they first mentioned to you that you would reach the span of your life. So I also bless you that way.

"And whoever shall continue to earnestly remember these songs he will continue to gain life from them. And moreover whoever continues to know this talk in the same way will continue to reach (his allotted span of) life. He will not end (his power of) knowing things prematurely. At the time his age is old then he will end his life. And who does so will have this happen to him. They will be taken care of wherever these manitous are. Only those who continue to know the songs and speeches appurtenant to the sacred pack are they who will be fetched. Whenever they cease existing as mortals here will they then be fetched. Moreover, also a ceremonial attendant. Moreover, whoever celebrates a gens festival (will be) one to whom the same will happen. 'He will be thought of.' That is why I say it. Now to-day I certainly plainly tell you, 'These who spoke to you did not speak to you merely for fun.'

"Truly indeed they bless you as they have spoken to you. Verily to-day we have implanted our speeches in your brain very well. And we have also placed them in your heart. You are not to forget right here and now what we say to you. We have told you to think of this again. We said to you, 'why, if another earth is made at that time you will thereby start to rise to your feet,' so that you will thereby know these things. That verily is what will happen to you, our grandchild. That is what we think of you. It seems in that way you will think of us. That is why you were told, 'not at this time,' when we spoke to you. We have collectively placed it for you yonder, far off. Even though we are manitous we say, 'far off' when we bless you. We certainly think of you. That is how we bless you, our grandchild. If we did not certainly take compassion upon you we should not now plainly tell you that we certainly think of you.

gōninäne'menāg^{ket}. Keme'tci'ādtcimo'e'nepen aiyō''megu'u ma'ni ma'netōwitepowäwi'gāneg^{klt}. Ma'ni manetō'wa kī'ci''setōdtci wī'ta'-cikägō'ipa''kutagi wī'anemi'ci'genig^{klt}. Īnidtcā' ä'ciwīta'mōnān^{nlt}, no'cī''i, ä'kī'ci'megu'upa'kipa'ki'menāge wī'aneminänemenāg^{ket}.

5 Wä'dtc aiyō'i me'cena'i pītiga'nenāg ä'kī'ci'megu'unegutikī'cä'wīyāg ä'ketemi'nönāgke'. Ī'ni wä'dtc aiyō'i ta'cikī'cäwīyāge pa'kowäwī'gānegki'," ä'inidtc ume'cō'me'sanni'. "No'cī'i, īnāga'dtcā'i wī'nana'ime'ka', keme'cō'me'sa Ke'cäma'netōwa mana'a'dtcā'i ma'na'a tcī'tapita'," ä'inedtci'.

- Ite'pi nā'ka'dtc ä'mawinana'a'pi'edtc änā'sama'pinidtc ä'ādtcimo''egudtc'', "No'cī'i," ä'igudtc ä'se'kwāta'minidtc u'ne'kan ä'nanā'-citepä'negudtc'', "no'cī'i, īni' mā'ag ä'menwime'nwime'k''. Nī'na netäpi'egōg ä'kete'minōk''. Īni'ku' ä''cimagi nīdtcimane'towagk'', 'kī'anemi'megu'uketeketemi'nawāpwa keme'to'sänenīmenānagk'', 'ä'-
- 15 'inag^k'. Āgwiyā'pi mō''tci negutō''pwāgan a'ckunamāti'so'yānin a'semāw^k'. Wī'na^dtcā'i netcā'gikega'pi'āwa mana kō'ci'se'menāna wī'anemikī'cigenamā'ti'su^dtc''. Īni^dtcā'i me''tenō'i wī'wāwu^dtci'ka-maiyagwe me'kwäneme'nagwinⁿ'. Āgwigä' äyī'gi wī'anemi'kemōte'-magwini mā'a'gi kō'ci'seme'nānag^k'. Tcāgi^dtcā'' megu'u neta'cinā-

20 gwi'ta'wāwagi unīpeniwī'seniwenwāw^w'. Īni'megu'u wī'anemi'ā'-kwäneta'mawag^{kwe}'. Kī'anemi'dtcā'iketeketemi'nawāp^{wa}'. Ī'ni wädtcime'nagōw^{we}'.

"Kī'cimaniketeminawägwin ī'ni wī'anemudtci'ka'maiyagkwe'. Cewä'n ā'gwi nanō''ckwe wī'anemiketemina'wägwin¹': me'tenō''megu 25 wī'anemimāma'ka'täwīta 'ī'na me''tenō'i wī'anemiketemi'nawägkwa'. Ī'ni wä'dtc ina'gi mā'a'gi keme'cō'me'sagki', no'cī''i. Īnidtcā' ä'citäpi'-'iwādtci nä'nīn ä'kete'minō'k'. Īnidtcā'i kenādtci nä''nī'n ä'ciketemi'-nōnān¹', no'cī'i. Manidtcā' änäne'menān¹'. Cä'cki'megu kīnadtcā' wī'i'cimenwime'to'sänenī'wiyan¹'. Ī'n änäne'menān¹'. Ma'ni wī'n

30 ai'yā'kowi wä'dtci'setō'k īni wī'na nīn ā'gkwi'. A'sā'mi na'sa'tawāwwi'. Ma'ni wīnānug änäne'menān ā'penäwe'megu. Wī'i'cime'to'sänenī'-wiyan ā'penäwi'megu'u ä'cime'nwikegki'. Wī'anemi'ciwīgā'dtcime'-to'sänenī'wiyanⁿi'. Änäne'menānⁿi', no'cī''i.

"'Ō' mani nā'ka'dtc'. Ketōtä'wenwāw īni'megu'u änäneme'nagōw 35 ä'tcāgänemenagōw''. Ā'pene'megu'u ketenänemene'p''. Wīgādtcidtcā', no'cī'i, mä'to'säne'niwita 'ī'nānāna wī'täpime'to'säne'niwit ä'kwi'āwotātänigi me'to'sänenī'wiwen''.

"'Ō'ni pwāwikwīye'na'i'cime'to'sänenī'wigwäna 'īnāna nana'wi wī'anemime'to'säne'niwita'. Āgwi nä''nīna wī'nene'käne'magin ī'n 40 ä''cawita', no'cī''i. A'kwiyā''i ma'n ä''cawita naiyenwi'megu'u uwīdtcime'to'säne'niwani pänādtci'āgwäna'. 'Ī'n ā'gwi nī'na no'cī''i, wī'nene'känemagina'.

Indeed we have instructed you plainly here in this council lodge of the manitous The manitou has placed this here so that he may accept anything which is going to happen. Therefore I tell you, my grandchild, that we have indeed permitted you to be blessed by us. That is why we finally brought you here when we had indeed completed our plans in taking compassion upon you. That is why we completed our plans here in (this) acceptance lodge," his grandfather said. "My grandchild, yonder one verily is one who will instruct you, your grandfather the Gentle Manitou, this one who is seated," he was told.

And he was brought thither, was seated opposite where (the Gentle Manitou) was seated, and instructed, "My grandchild," he was told as the other spat on his hands and caressed his head, "My grandchild, now these have spoken well to you. They please me in blessing you. That truly is what I said to my fellow manitous, 'You will indeed continue to bless our people,' I said to them. And I have not even saved one pipeful of tobacco for myself. Verily indeed I have granted our grandchild to have all of it so that he may continue to raise it for himself. Verily the only way whereby we may smoke is whenever he remembers (i. e., worships) us. And also we shall not steal it from these our grandchildren. Verily I have indeed made for them harvest crops of every description. We shall indeed continue to think highly of that. Verily you will continue to bless them. That is why I tell you.

"When you have blessed them this way then we shall thereby continue to smoke. But you shall not continue to bless them blindly: he only is the one whom you shall continue to bless who continues to fast earnestly. That is why I tell this to these your grandfathers, my grandchild. So they also please me in blessing you. And so I too bless you quietly. This verily is what I think of you. Verily in this way you will only continue to live righteously. That is how I think of you. As for that which they placed last for you, it does not apply to me. It is too terrible. This which I think of you to-day is indeed the same. In this way you will always live rightly. You will continue to live carefully. That is what I think of you, my grandchild.

"Oh, moreover, this: I think of all towns as I do of yours. I indeed think of you alike. Verily, my grandchild, whoever lives carefully is the one who will live as far as life is considered useful (?).

"And whoever does not live rightly he is the one who will continue to live a life that is not useful. Also I shall not think of one who does that, my grandchild. And more so, who does this, whoever instead ruins his own people. I shall not, my grandchild, think of him. "Pä'cigwi'ku'ime'to'säne'niwita 'ī'na nī'na nä'ä'nemag*a'. Ma'ni nā'ka'dte'.

"Wī'umī'cā'miyan änä'neme'ki mā'a'gi kātemi'nō'kigi nīdtcimanetowagi kwīyenadtcā''megu'u ä''cime'k īni'megu'u wī'anemi'cipeme'-5 namani ma'ni ke'mī'cām''. Ke'tena' man a'sāmi'megu ke'tci'kī'sādtci keme'tci'megu'ukanō'negōgk'. Mā'a'gi keme'tci'megupe'seta'wāwag ä''cime'k'. Ā'gwidtcā', no'cī''i, a'ce i'ci'i'ci'me'kin''. Ke'tenamegu'u kekī'cowānegōg ä''cime'k'. Ma'n änemimanetowit ä'tāta'ci'megu'ukī'cowānedtci wī'anemi'cime'to'säne'niwidtc'. Īnid-10 tcā''megu'u ä'cime'tcimegu'u ä'cime'tcin''.

"Kīnaiyō' ma'n īni'megu'u wī'i'ca'wiyan ä'ci'meneg^k!". Āgwigā'' mani nō'ta man a'kwänemenegin änäne'meneg^k!". Ma'ni kī'wāwītamāgōp a''k'',nōte'n^w!',kī'ce'g^{kw}!',me'ce'wä'emegō'na'!',kägō''!',ma'na kī'ce''s^{wa}'. Ī'n änäwe'niwidte aiyō'' änemita'ciketemina'we'sit īni'-

15 megu'u. Ā'gwi kī'na me'tenō'' ī'n inäweniwī'yanin¹'. Īni'megu'u pyädtci''cimedtc änemiketemi'nāgut anemimane'towan¹'. Manigä'' megu ä'ci'a''penädtci'inäwenī'wiyānigä'' nīn¹a'. Ä'ciwītamāganī'wiyān¹'. Ma'n ä'cinana'imäwe'niwidtci me'to'sä'nenīwa 'īni'megu'u i'cimāwa'dtcā'ko'wiketemi'nawag*'.

20 "Īnugi' mā'agi kī'ci'megu'utcā'gika'nōne'k ī'n ä'cikanō'nenān¹¹'. A'penä⁴tci'megu ī'n ä'ca'wiyān¹¹'. Māwa⁴tcā'kowi'megu'u nī'kanōnä'i nīn¹³'. Ma'ni wä'dtc anemiketeminōnagōwe nīn¹³. Man aiyō''megu'u wī'anemi'sa''kowädtci wī'anemikaka'nōtaga mamā'tomōn¹¹'. Mämye'tci'megu ma'ni pwāwiketeminō'nagōw awi't aiyō'-

25 'i ka'cki'sa''kowä'sa'. Īnidtcā'' nīna wädtci'megu'u a'penädtci'megu aiyō''i ta'cigä'nīnakanōnenagōwe'. Nīnanä''i wī'pe'se'tawidtci mana'a pämā'gwapita ma'netōwa'. Wä'dtc ādtcimoyāni'megu' änemi'inäneme'nagōwe'. Āgwigä'i 'me'ce' na'etugwä'igki',' inäneme'nagōwe'.

30 "Mā'agi'dtcā'i kātemi'nō'kigi 'Wâpa'nowagi' inäwenī'wiwag^{k1}.

Īnidtcā'i wī'ino'wäyani wäpimamātoyanin'i. Kī'wâpanowite'kātāni kīgä'nowen'i. 'Kī'wâpanowe'gāpen'a',' ī'ni wī'anemi'nowädtci wī'aneminānīmī'kōnugwän'a'. Mana'ka'megu'u ma'n a''ki nā''inā' ä'ku'känetāgwatenigwän ī'ni ne''ki wī'aneminānīmi'dtc'. 'Mani'-

35 ku'i wī'anemi'udtciwī''cigyāgi keme'to'säneniwiwenenān''i,' ī'ni wī''inadtcigä'' kīna wī'anemime'to'säne'niwita'. Ma'kwādtcigä''megu'u.
Āgwigä''i wī'kugwikanō'nadtcin''. Āgwi' nā'ka'dtci wī'ne'cki'madtcin'': ma'kwādtci'megu'u.

"'Ö' nā'ka kuta'gi wīnwā'wa mā'a'gi Wâpa'nowag änä'neme'k'.

40 Ā'gw a'ce'megu'u: ä'kī'cāgutwäwägi''tōyanigä' kīna kīya'wi; īnidtcā'i ma'ni wä'dtc änä'neme'k'. Äyīgi'megu'u nāta'winōni ketenänemegōgi wī'ke'käne'tamani wī'udtcidtcā'imenwime'to'sänenī'wiyanni,

"The one who lives a truly upright life is the one whom I like, my grandchild.

"As these my fellow manitous who blessed you blessed you to have a sacred pack, you will accordingly continue to take care of this your sacred pack exactly as they directed you. Surely this is too much of a nuisance, yet they spoke plainly (i. e., in person) to you. You have plainly (i. e., in person) listened to what these have said to you. Verily they have not, my grandchild, merely talked to you. Surely they decided what they would tell you. Now the one who continued to have the nature of a manitou was the one they decided was to continue to so live. That verily is what he was told whenever he was told.

"As for you, the same will happen to you as you have been told. And you were not blessed to have your blessing end prematurely when you were blessed. This earth, the wind, the sky, anything, this sun was mentioned to you. That is what those who have continued to be blessed here have been told. You alone have not been told it. That is what they who were blessed in the past were told by the present manitous. And it is as I have always been told. It is how I have been instructed. Now the way the people have been blessed is the way I blessed them lastly.

"As soon as these all had spoken to you then I spoke to you. That always is my way. I shall speak the very last. This is why I bless you all. Now the one who will continue to speak about the worship will continue to ask favors here. Surely if I did not bless you he would not be successful in his prayers. So that is why I always speak to you here. The manitous who sit around will also listen to me. That is why I tell what I think of you. And I do not think of you, 'let them go any how.'

"These verily who bless you are called 'Wâpanowagi.' That verily you will say whenever you begin to worship. You will call that gens festival a Wâpanōwa-one. 'We shall dance the Wâpanōwa dance,' that is what the one who will continue to dance vigorously for you will say. Until yonder time whenever there is thought of changing this earth they will continue to dance vigorously. 'This indeed is how our lives will continue to be strong,' that is what you will say to those who will live in the future. And it must be quietly. And you will not speak sharply to them. Moreover, you must not scold them: it must be quietly.

"Oh, they, these Wâpanowagi, think of you in another way. (They did so) not merely for fun: it was because you wailed so sorrowfully; that verily is why they bless you this way. They also bless you to know medicine so that you thereby will indeed live in

wī'i'ci'meguna'e''ckāgwidtci wī'anemimāmī'ke'dtci'ata'. Ī'n änä'neme'ki'. A'cedtcā''i kewī'tamōnne'. Neme'kwinawä'māwagki'. Ī'ni wädtc īni 'i'nenānni', no'cī''i. Īnidtcā''i wī'ādtci'mo'e'ki nawa'dtci wī'neno''tawadtci'. Wī'me'tci'megu'ādtci'mo'e'ki','' ä''inidtci Ke'scāmanetowanni'.

"'Au'," ä'inedtc".

Ō'nip', "Aiyō'i tcītapin'," ä'inedtc'. Tcä'wīne'k ä'mawinana''apidtc'. Kī'cinana''apidtcin', "Tcāgi'megu'u i'ci nāta'winōni
kī'ke''käneta mä'nwikegk'. Kägō' ä'cimyānetenigi kä'känetaga
10 kī'ne'ciwi'tawāwa'megu unāta'winōn'. Nä'īni'megu āwa''si wī'iciwä'wenetw''," ä'inedtc'.

Ī'nip ä'kī'cikaka'nōnedtci', "Na'i', no'cī'i, aiyō''megu'u kī'udtcināgkwa'. Mani'gä'i kī''awatu mī'cā'm''," ä''inedtci'. "Ä'a'cki'megu'unana'i''setōg ä'kwā'tämeg a'tō'p''. Ä''ci'segidtcā''megu keke'-

15 känet^A. Īni^dtcā'i wī'i'ci'se'tōyani kīgäno'yaninⁿi. Nyäwawa'ī'-miga'k ī'ni nā'ka wī'wīta'mōnāge wī'i'ci'tci'gäyani kīgäno'ī'yaninⁿi','' ä''ine^dtc¹'. "Īni^dtcā''megu'u kī'i'cipōniwä'ciwä'cī''u kekī'-cäwⁿi','' ä''ine^dtc¹'. "Īnugigä''megōni wī'kī'cigi''eneg^ki'. Cewä'na kā'ta wī'mī'keme'kwä'wäyanini nene'käne'taganⁿi','' ä''ine^dtc¹'.

20 "Me'ce'megu'u ma'kwā'dtci kī'kīkīwīta'," ä'inedtcl'. Ö'nipi ä'sagigā'ckawudtc ä'cipa'tenedtcl'. Ke'tena'megu ä'kī'ci'gi'idtcl'. "Ī'ni wī'a''kwiyan''," ä'inedtcl'. A'se'ni wäwene'tenigkl'. "Ma'ni wâ'patan''," ä'inedtcl'. Ma'n ä'ciwâ'patag aiyō''tcā' ä'näwuti'sudtcl'. "Ī'n ä'cināgu''siyan'', ä'kī'cinä'tamani kīya'w''," ä'ine-25 dtcl'. Ä'nawänineni''ä'idtcl'. Ke'tcinenīgi'megu ä'ci''cimudtcl'.

'Ō'nip ä''penudtc''. Ä'anemimī'cātä'nemudtc ä'kī''cigidtc''. Tepe''k ä''nāgwādtc''. Īyā'' pyäyādtci kwīyena'megu'u ugyän ä'pyānidtc ä'pwāwigä''megu'une'nāgudtci wī'na wī'n ä'ke'kä'nemādtc''. "Anä''e," ä''inādtc''. Cä''ck ä'ke'tciwâpa'megudtc''. Ä'wäpi'-

30 ādtci'mo'ādte ä''cawidte''. "Ī'n ä'ca'wiyānni". Ī'n ä'kī'citcāgwīta'-mōnānni"," ä''inādte ugyä'nni". Adteā''megu ä'ne'nāgudte''. Ä'pwā-wi'meguwī'cā'penädte''. Ä'menwi'megu'upemā'te'sidte''. 'Ō'nip änedtei'megu ä'i''cawidte'', ä'pwāwimī'keme'kwäwädte''. Ä'ke'tei'megumīnawi'megudte āne't uwīdteime'to'säne'niwa' ä'kegenikī''cigidte''.

35 Ä'ādteimo'ādtei nī''ewi neniwa'', "Īnu'g aiyō' mani nyāwawa'ī'm āgwi' nanā''e u'wīyā'a wī'nepō''idtein nyāwawa'īm ā'gkwi'. Anigemā'teā'i me'ee na'ina' ā'tōwagwānni'. Īninā'kā' mō''tei wī'mamā'tomagi manetōwwa'. Nyāwawa'imagateg īnina''megku'. Īnidteā'i wī'udtei'megu'u''wīyā'apwāwine'pō'idte'. Kī'eimamātomoyāni me'-

40 cena''ina' ä'cawī'wagwänⁿ¹'. Mäme'ci'ka'megu'u ī'ni wī'wäpinänepō''iyag^{kwe'}. Ī'nⁿ¹'," ä''inā^dtc¹'. "A'cegä''i wī'u^dtcipwāwinänepō''iyagwe wī'me'sōtäwīke'känemigi ma'netōw ä'kī'ciketemi'- health, and so (your medicine) thereby will (beneficially) affect whom you will doctor in the future. That is how they bless you. Verily I merely tell you. I remind them of it. That is why I tell you it, my grandchild. Therefore they will instruct you so that you will understand them. They will instruct you plainly (i. e., in person)," said the Gentle Manitou.

"Very well," he was told.

Then, it is said, (the hero) was told, "Sit down here." He went and sat down comfortably in their midst. When he was comfortably seated he was told, "You will thus know every medicine that is good. You will indeed destroy the medicine of the one who knows evil (medicine). It also indeed will be much better."

Then, it is said, after he had been addressed at length, he was told, "Well, my grandchild, you will depart from here. And you will take away this sacred pack. When it is first laid down properly it is placed at the far side. You verily indeed know how it is placed. That verily is how you will place it whenever you hold a gens festival. Four years from now I then shall again instruct as to what you shall do whenever you hold a gens festival," he was told. "So in this way you will cease always painting yourself with charcoal," he was told. "And you are now made to be full grown. But do not think of courting (women)," he was told. "You may live quietly any way." Then, it is said, they stepped on his foot and he was stretched. Surely he was then full grown. "That is how tall you will be," he was told. (They showed him) a pretty rock. "Look at this," he was told. As he looked at this, verily here he beheld himself. "That is how you look, as you have seen your body," he was told. He was a handsome young man. His voice was like that of a large man.

Then, it is said, he departed. He was proud on his way that he was full grown. He departed at night. When he arrived yonder exactly when his mother came he was not recognized, though he knew her. "Mother," he said to her. She merely looked at him intensely. He began to tell her what happened to him. "That is what happened to me. I have now told you all," he said to his mother. Then indeed he was recognized. He was not hungry. He was in good health. Then, it is said, he did what he was told, and he did not court (women). He was strongly reminded by some of his fellow people that he became full grown suddenly. He instructed two men, "For four years from now no one will ever die, not for four years. Verily further on we will leave it to fate. And at that time I shall even pray to the manitou. When it is four years, that is the time. Therefore no one will die. When I have prayed, we may leave it to fate. Surely then we shall begin to die. That is all," he said to them. "And we shall merely cease dying when all know that the manitou has blessed me. That is what will thereby

nawidte! T'ni wī'udtei'ca'wiyagkwe', wī'udteipwāwinānepō''iyagkwe'. I'ni wädte ādteimo'e'nagōwwe'," ä''inādtei nī''ewi neniwa'! "Īnidteā' wī'i'eināgatawänetamägwe 'ī'n ä'ine'nagōwe nī'naiyō'. 'Īni,' ne'-'s''," ä''inādte!.

5 'Ö'nip ä'wäpi'megu'u'ādtcimo'etīwādtci ne'niwagki'. "Manetō'-wītuge wīna'megu'u wā'wu'sa'i'," ä'igudtci neniwa'i'. Ä'a'sa'a'-

sāwanagīgwädteigä".

'Ō'nipi nyäwawa'īmagatenig ä'mawinane'gowādtc uwīdtcī'ckwe'wāwa'l'. Māne'megu ä'me'cenemedtc uwī'kānwāwa'l'. Wīnagä' 10 ugyä'n ä'me'ce'nemedtcl'. Āgwipi'megu'ukägō'li ä'i'citä'ädtcinl'. Me'to'säne'niwagi wī'n ä'ke'tcimai'yōwādtc unīdtcāne'swāwa' ä'me'-

Me'to'sane'niwagi wi'n a'ke'tcimai'yowa'tc uni'tcane'swawa' a'me'-ce'nemedtc'. Āne't utāne''swāwa' ä'me'ce'nemedtc'. Me'cemegō'-na'i' cä'cke'sī''ä'a' ä'ke'tcimawi'māwādtc'. Ōnip īn ä'me'kwä'-nemedtc ä'mawimamā'tomedtc ī'n u'cki'nawä' a'sä'mäwan ä'awate-

15 na'mawudtc'. Ä'na''kunādte ä'ādtei'mo'edte', "Mani'ku'i wä'dte me'kwäne'menāgke': mā''iyäga äwatō'nagwigi 'aiyāpami wī'kudtea'-wiyani wī''pyāwādte'. Īnidteā' ä'einene'käne'menāgke'. Āgwigä'' nī'na ne'ei''ka me'kwäneme'nānin''. Kegime'si'megu mana'a mä'eenā''sonit unīdteāne'san īn ä'eime'kwäneme'k'," ä'inedte'.

20 Kä'nōnāt^A', "'Au'," ä''inedtcl'. 'Ō'nipl', "Mä'kwi''sutcigi kīwā'dtcimo'l'. Aiyō''megu'u kī'ke'ka'amo'wāwag^{kl'}. Aiyō'' ä'uwīgā''iyāni kī'ke'ka'amawāwagi mō'cagi'megu'u mä'kwi''sutcig^{kl'}." Ī'n ä''i-

nedtc14.

Ō'nip ä'kīwa'tomedtci mä'kwi''sutcigkl', nā'ka'dtc i''kwäwagi 25 me'cewä''megōna'i' cä'cki'megu mä'kwi''sutcigkl'. Wīnagā'' īna wī'cku'pāpōw ä'a''ci'tōdtcl'. "Wī'ta'ke'pyäyāwwl'," ä'i'dtcl'. Ke'tena'megu'u ä'kī'cāgudtci'megu'uta'ke'pyäyāg ī'ni ne'pl'. Ō'n änemi'megupyānidtcin ä'anemi'ādtcimo'ādtcl', "Ma'ni wī'na nepi me'nugku'," ä'inādtcl'. "'Au'," ä'aneminidtcl'. 'Ō'nipi kī'ci'megu'u

30 ke'gime'si māwadtcinidtc ā'ko'w ä''pyānidtc ī'niyāna änö'kā'nādtcini kīwimamī'cī'u'sā'nidtcin'i. Ä'ādtci'mo'ādtci mene''ta īni'ni ne'niwan'i. "Ma'n ä'ca'wiyani kīnamegōn a''penädtci wī'anemimamī'cama'wiyan'i'," ä''inādtc'i'. "Īnugidtcā'' kīna'megu'u kī'nīgāni'canō''kānen a''penädtc'i'," ä''inedtc'. "Mani' mā'agi wī'ina'ināgwa'-35 piwādtci kī'pene kīyu'sä'yanin'i'," ä''inādtc'i'. "'Au'," ä'i''ciwädtc'i'.

Ōn īni'i wī'kīgāno'nidtci' īna''i, "Īnu'gi ma'ni kemāmāwadtcīpw aiyō''i. 'Kemāwadtcitīpenna',' ke''sipenna'. Manidtcā'i wä'dtci māwa'dtciyägwe 'īnu'gki'. Wâpa'ge wī'māwadtciwe'tōyägw aiyō''i kägō'' ä'tō'ī'wägwäni wâpa'ge kī'cināwa'kwägke'. Tepe''ki kī'kīgā'-

40 nopenⁿ," ä'inādtc¹. "Kī'nātwäwä'i'gäpenⁿ," ä'inādtc īni'¹.
"'Au'," ä'igudtci'megu. "Kemamāto'megōpena wī'kudtcipyänagwäwatō'nagwig^k. Kī'kudtca'wipenadtcā'¹," ä'inādtc¹. "Manidtcā'i ma'netōw änä'nemidtci kī'nātā'kwä'ci'nepenⁿ. Īn äne'nagōw^w. Kī'mamāto'māpenⁿ," ä'inādtc¹. "Me'cedtcā'megōna'i

happen to us, that we thereby will not die. That is why I tell you," he said to the two men. "Therefore you will carry out what I now tell you. 'That is all,' I say," he said to them.

Then, it is said, the men began indeed to instruct each other. "He probably indeed has the nature of a manitou," the men said of him. And he indeed had brown eyes.

Then, it is said, when the four years came they were attacked by their foes. Many indeed of their friends were captured. And his mother was captured. It is said he thought nothing of it. Now the people wept bitterly because their children were captured. The daughters of some were captured. They wept bitterly over the young maidens. And, it is said, when he was remembered they went and besought that young man and he was fetched tobacco. When he accepted it he was told, "This really is why we remember you: (we desire) that you endeavor to bring it about that those whom they took away from us shall come back. That is what we wish of you. And I do not alone remember you. Indeed every one of these whose daughters were captured remembers you the same way," he was told. The one who addressed him was told, "All right." Then, it is said (they were told), "Go and tell members of the Bear gens. You will tell them to come here. You will tell them to come here where I live, (but) only members of the Bear gens." That is what they were told.

Then, it is said, they went about summoning members of the Bear gens, also women, any of them, (but) only members of the Bear gens. And he made some sweet fluid. "It will be cool water," he said. And sure enough that water was extremely cool. And whenever they continued to come he said to them, "Drink this water," so he said to them. "All right," they continued to say. Then, it is said, after all indeed had gathered then the one he had sent out and who walked about as a ceremonial attendant came the last. First he talked to that man. "You indeed will always continue to serve as a ceremonial attendant to me as you are doing now," he said to him. "I shall always send you out first as (I do) to-day," he was told. "Whenever you walk around this is the way these will always sit," he said to him. "Very well," he said.

Then (he said to) those who were to hold the gens festival there, "Now you are gathered here. We say, 'We have gathered each other.' This verily is why you are gathered to-day. To-morrow you will collect and bring here anything which you may have, to-morrow afternoon. We shall hold a gens festival at night," he said to them. "We shall make (the enemy) come by beating our drum," he said to them. "Very well," he was told. "We are besought to try to bring back those whom they took away from us. Verily we shall try," he said to them. "We shall lean our heads on this verily, the way the

kä'gō'ä'i kī'anemi'pyätōpwa wī'kīgänō''iyägkwe'," ä''inādtci'. "Āgwikägö''megu'u wī'sa'sā'kwä'yagwinni'. Me'cemegōna kägō'i kī'māwadtciwe'tō'ipwae," ä''inādtcie. "'Au'," ä''inidtcie.

Ä'mamā'tomādtci māmaiya'megu'u wī'kī'cimāwa'dtcīnidtci. Ä'ci-"Tepe"ki kudte îni wî'mamāto'moyagkwe'," ä'inādte!". 5 mādteic. "Pwāwigā'i'u'wīyā'akāgō'i'ute''tenag aiyō''megu'u wī'pyāwwa'. Āgwi' kudtci wī'ute'tenamō'idtcinni'. Ka'cki'uwīpadtci'gä'i'ute'tenamō'-'iyagwe māne'megu'u kī'pōtā'kwāgō''ipenna'. Āgwi'megu kägō'i wī'i'ciwāwani'keginni'. Wī'a'ckwatātäwi'megu'u me'cena'i'," ä'in-10 ādteit.

'Ō'nipi wâ'panigi me'to'säne'niwag ä'nawadtciwe'tōwādtci wī'se'niweni wī'kīgā'nowādtci. Āneta'gā'i cā'cki'megu'u ā'mī'cī'wāwādtc uwī'senī'wenwāwwi'. Me'to'säne'niwag ä'a'semi''āwādtci wī'mamātomonidtci'i. 'Ö'nipi wī'n ä''nāgwādtci'. Ä'mawike'ta'agi nāta'-

15 winon". Äyīgi'megon ä'anāpo'samowādtci mamī''cī'agkl'. 'Ō'ni kī'cāpō'tänigi kegime'si'megu'u ä'pemi'sīga'amowādtci kīgä'nōnegkl'. 'Ō'ni kī'ci'sīga'a'mowādte ä'ā'dteimudtel', "Wī'pwāwima'nimāme'-'cunagwe 'ī'ni ma'ni wī'udtci'ci'tci'gäyāgke'," ä'inādtci'. "Āgwigä'-'megu kägō'megu'u wī'i'cikanakanawī'yagwinnit. Āgwi wī'kīgänowi-

20 kanakanawi'yagwinni. A'gwi ku'dtci ma'n a'ce'megu'u kigano'i'yagwinnie. Ä'mamāto'menagkwee. Ī'ni wä'dtci ma'n i'ci'tci'gäyagkwee. Nā'ka'dtci naga'monan āgwi'megu nä'i 'ādtci'muginni'," ä'inādtci'. 'Ō'nip ä'ādtcimudtci kī'cipe'kutä'inigkl', kī'cikwā'ckwinā'sonidtel',

kī'cimāwa'dtcīnidtci me'to'säne'niwa'l, "Na' īnugi ma'n ä'mamāto'-25 miyāgket. Āgw A'ce'megu'u i'ci'tcigä'yāginalt. Āgwigä'i mämī''cigini

naga'mōnannit. Kī'cigā'imī'cige wäpi'megu'unānaga'mo'kā'a'. Mani wī'nānug āgwi'kwanāgwa wī'naga'moyānni'. Wāwu'sa'i'wägä'i nano''ckwe nī'i''cināgket. Ā'gw īni wī'i'cawī'yānini nano''ckwet. Īnugidtcā'i ma'ni māmātomiya'medtcig aiyō''megu'u wī'utāgwa'piwagi

30 wätāgwa'piyāgket. Īni'megu'u wī'utāgwa'piwādtci me'tō'dtci mä'cenā'so'nitcigi tcīnawāmāwādtci'i. Ā'penegā'megu'u wī'ina'piwagki'. Wī'udtcīgwanāpiwagkl'. I'kwāwagigā' īni'megu wī'ina'piwādtcl'. Wī'tepikī'ckidtcīgwanä'piwagkic. 'Ö'ni me'tenō''megu'u nāwitepe''kīnig ī'ni wī'nawadtcino'wīwādtcit. Kī'ci'megu'uno'wīwāt ä'ci'-

35 megu'umenwapī'wādtcin ī'ni wī'ina'piwādtc1'. Cewä'nāni wī'pwāwi'megu'u'āwādtci'se''kwiwādtci'. Se'kwite'gä'u'wīyä'akenādtci'megu'u wī''se'kwīwwa'. Kīmōdtci'megu'u ī'ni wī'i'ca'wiwādtci', kī'cināwite-

pe'kīnigki'," ä'inādtei'.

Ä'wäpinana'āgwa'pinidte', ōnip', "Na'i', mamī'cī''etigke', kī'ana'ō-40 dtcigäpwa'ku''', " ä'inādtc'', "näneguti'megu'u ä'ci''soyägwe kī'pemi'utenetīpwa', " ä'inādtc''. Ōni'megu ä'i'ca'winidtc''. Näneguti'megu'u ä'ci''sonidte ä'pemi'utene'tīnidte äna'odtei'gä'a'i'. Kī'ci'Ana'ōdtciganidtel, "'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtci wī'mawi'awi'ī'wäyägwe' cī'cī'gwamanitou thinks of me. That is what I say to you. We shall pray to him," he said to them. "You will continue to bring any little thing, whatever it may be, so that you may hold a gens festival. Nothing indeed shall be against our rules. You shall gather and bring anything at all," he said to them. "Very well," they said.

He besought them to have gathered early. That is what he told them. "For we shall worship at night," he said to them. "And any one who is not able to bring anything, he must (nevertheless) come here. For (he can not help it) if he gets nothing. And if we are successful in obtaining much, it will be placed in the kettles for us. There will not be anything wrong about it. There will be indeed some left over in eating," he said to them.

Then, it is said, the next day, the people carried over food so that they might hold a gens festival. And some merely gave away their food. The people helped those who were to worship. Then, it is said, he departed. He went to dig up medicine. The ceremonial attendants also boiled it. And as soon as it was boiled, they poured it into every offering. And after they had poured it, he said, "We are to do this so that we be not shot," he said to them. "And we shall not give a speech in any way. We shall not give the speeches of a gens festival. Yet we shall not merely hold a gens festival. It is because they have asked us. That is why we do this. Moreover, I have also not been taught the songs," he said to them.

Then, it is said, after it was night, after (the things) had boiled, and after the people had gathered, he gave instructions, "Well, to-day you have besought us. We do not do this just for fun. And I have not yet been given the songs. And if I had been given them I should have begun to sing. But now it is impossible for me to sing. It can not be that I shall sing any old way. I shall not do that blindly. Verily to-day those who besought us will sit here, on the side where we are seated. It seems as if they whose relatives were captured will sit that way. And they are seated all alike. They will sit on their knees. And the women shall sit the same way. They shall sit with their knees in a row. And only when it is midnight may they go out. If they have gone out, (when they come back) they must sit just as they had been pleasantly seated. But indeed they must not spit at all. And if any one spits he must spit quietly. He should do it secretly, after it is midnight," he said to them.

When they began to sit down comfortably in clusters, then, it is said, (he said), "Well, ceremonial attendants, you will indeed fill the drum," he said to them, "you will pick each other out from the various gentes (to be the fixers of the drum)" he said to them. And they indeed did so. They started to select the fixers of the drum from the

nanⁿ¹', " ä''inādtc ä'mawi'awi'ī'wäwedtci' cī'cī'gwananⁿ¹'. Ä'kī'cip-yä'tawudtc ōnip în ä'näne'cki''setōdtci mī'cām^m¹'. Kī'cāgwa'piwādtc ä'peminī'si''sa'udtc¹', "Ane'kī''i nī'ādtci'mo'āwa mana''a keme'-cōme''senāna wī'inādtcimwi''tōnagkwe'. Kī'wīgädtcidtcā''megu'upe'-5 setawipwa ma'nⁿ¹'. I'cimamātomenagwe kwaiyā'ci'megu'u wī'inādtcimoyägkwe'," ä''inādtc¹. "Īnidtcā' wä'dtc¹', 'ke'kinō'sugku',' ine'-nagōwwe'," ä''inādtc¹'. "Kī'pe'setawipwa netōtämetigke'," ä''inādtc¹'. Ä'wäpetu'nämudtc¹'.

"Ī'nni', wī'na nō'dtci', yātugegā'', kī'n ā'cime'ke'e na'ina'i kī'cowā'10 ne'ke'e kīdtcimane'towagki'. Īnidtcā' neme'cōme''senāte', nō'dtci',
ā'cinatawānetamōnāgke', nō'dtci', wī'wīgātādtcimwi'ta'wiyāgke', nō'dtci', wī'inādtcimo''agedtci', nō'dtci', 'ō' kīdtcimanetōwāwagki'. Manidtcā', nō'dtci', ä'cinatawā'netamāgke', 'ō' nō'dtci', māni'iya'medtci'i',
nō'dtci', nīdtcī'ckwe'e'nānagki', nō'dtci'. Mā'agidtcā', nō'dtci', kō'ci''-

nō'dtcl', nīdtcl'ckwe'e'nānagkl', nō'dtcl'. Mā'agidtcā', nō'dtcl', kō'ci'-15 semagkl', nō'dtcl', ā'pe'ne', nō'dtcl', äna'pitcigkl', īmi'giku'', nō'dtcl', ägāwānādtcigi wī'nä'wāwādtci tcīnawämā'wādtci'l'. Īni'megu'u' cä'-cki wī'inādtci'mo'adtc a'peme'g äpi'ta mana''ka wätāpanig udtci ke'tci Me'ckwiwâ'panōwwa'. Ī'ni wī'inādtcimo'adtcl', nō'dtcl', neme'-cōme'senā'te', nō'dtcl'. Nā''ka', nō'dtcl', A'ckutäwiwâ'panōwwa',

20 nō'dtcl', îni'megu'u äyänīw ä'cinatotā''sagedtci wī'inänemī'yamedtcl'. Wī'ute'tenamāgāyāge'megu'u, nō'dtcl', nete'ciwī'cāmāpenna'. Īnidtcā' wī'inänemī'yamedtcl'. Kī'kī'ki'megu mā'a''i pämāgwapi'nidtci'i käteketemāgitä'ānidtci' ī'n ä'cimamāto'megudtcl'. Īnidtcā'i wī'i'-'cimadtcl'. 'Ō'ni nā''ka', nō'dtcl', mana''ka', nō'dtcl', A'ckipipagi-

25 wâpanōw^{**}, nō'dtc¹, wä'dtc¹, nō'dtc¹, pagi''cimug äpi't ā'pene'megu ä'cimamātomagedtc¹; nete'cimamāto'māpen^{na}. Īn ä'nagedtc¹. Wī'keteminawāwādtci'megu'u mā'a'i me'to'säneniwa'i pämāgwapi'nidtci'. Ī'n ä'ci'megumamāto'magedtc¹. Āgwigā' neguti wī'keteminawāwādtcinⁿ, kegime'si'megu'u, "ä'i'dtc¹.

nawāwādtcinni, kegime'si'megu'u," ä'i'dtci'.

30 "'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtci mana''k udtci wä'dtcike'ī'yānigi Ta'ci'sīgadtciwâpanōwa'. Īni'megu, nō'dtci', ä'nagedtci'. Wī'inä'nemādtci mā'a'' īnugi kätemāgitä'ānidtci'i', nō'dtci'. Ä'ci'megu, nō'dtci', wī'cigi'magedtci', nō'dtci', ä'mamāto'magedtci'," ä'inādtc A'ckutänä''siwanni'.

35 "Īni'megu, nō'dtc', wī'i'ci'meguwī'ci'gimadtci kīdtcimane'towagk', nō'dtc', neme'cōme''senāte', A'ckutänä'sī'wenōna'," ä'inādtc'. "'Ō' kī'naku', nō'dtc', keke'ka''wäweniwi, wī'na nō'dtc', wī'anemi, nō'dtc', wīdtcitä'amadtc', nō'dtc', kō'ci''semagk', nō'dtc'. Īnidtcā', nō'dtc', wī'tci, nō'dtc', wīdtcitä'a'miyāgke', nō'dtc'," ä'inādtc A'cku-

40 tänä'siwanni'. "Neme'cōme'senāte', nō'dtcl', medtci'wägä', nōdtcl', nīnāna, nōdtcl', nete'citä'äpenna', nō'dtcl', ma'ni wī'inanō'kyä-

various gentes. As soon as they had fixed the drum, he said to them, "Now you will also go and borrow gourds (i. e., rattles)," and they went and borrowed the gourds. When they had been brought he then, it is said, spread open the sacred pack and placed it (properly). As soon as they were seated in clusters then he started to jump down and (he said), "I am going to explain a little which this our grandfather will tell for us. You will verily listen carefully to me. When they beseech us (again) you may go ahead and speak like this," he said to them. "That verily is why I say to you, 'learn by observation,'" he said to them. "You will listen to me, my clansmen," he said to them. He began to make a speech, saying:

"That, so be it, is what they said to you at the time your fellow manitous came to a decision with respect to you. Therefore, our grandfather, so be it, we desire of you that you carefully interpret for us, so be it, what we shall say, so be it, to your fellow manitous. This verily, so be it, is what we desire, so be it, those whom our foes, so be it, captured from us, so be it. These, verily, so be it, your grandchildren, so be it, who sit alike, so be it, are they indeed, so be it, who desire to see those to whom they are related. That indeed is only what you are to tell to the great Red Wâpanōwa who sits above toward the east. That is what you are to tell him, so be it, our grandfather, so be it. Likewise, so be it, we ask of the Fire Wâpanōwa, so be it, the same thing, that is, that he bless us. We implore him that we may get back, so be it. That verily is how he will bless us. Nevertheless that is how he is besought by these who sit in clusters with humble thoughts. That verily is what you must say to him. And again, so be it, we beseech the Green Wâpanōwa, so be it, who sits yonder, so be it, in the west, so be it, the same way; we so beseech him. That is what we say to them. They must indeed take compassion upon these people who sit in clusters in a row. That indeed is what we beseech them. And they are not to take compassion upon one but all," he said.

"And moreover, with regard to the Freezing Wâpanōwa toward the north. We indeed, so be it, say the same. He will bless these who have humble hearts to-day, so be it. That is, so be it, why we speak loudly to him, so be it, in worshiping him," he said to the Spirit of Fire.

"Indeed, so be it, you must speak loudly in the same way to your fellow manitous, so be it, our grandfather, Spirit of Fire, so be it," he said to him. "Oh, you truly have been named, so be it, to continue to have the same heart as (i. e., favor) your grandchildren, so be it. Therefore, so be it, you accordingly, so be it, have the same heart as (i. e., favor) us, so be it," he said to the Spirit of Fire. "Our grandfather, so be it, we did not, so be it, so be it, think in our hearts, so be

yāg^{ket}, nō'dtc^{1t}. 'Ō'ni nīnā'na mata', nō'dtc^{1t}, ä'citä'āyāg^{ket}, nō'dtc^{1t}, kuta'g^{klt}, nō'dtc^{1t}, āmi'ino'ino'wäyāg^{ket}, nō'dtc^{1t}. Ma'n^{nlt}, wī'na nō'dtc^{1t}, īni'megu, nō'dtc^{1t}, ä'ci'megu, nō'dtc^{1t}, ka'cki''oyāg^{ket}, nō'dtc^{1t}, wī'inādtcimo''enāg^{ket}, nō'dtc^{1t}. Nā''kat, nō'dtc^{1t}, neme'cōme''senātet,

5 nō'dtc', mā'an¹', nō'dtc', naga'mōnan¹', nō'dtc', nanō'ckwe'megu, nō'dtc', nī'ina'ina'amō'ipena naga'mōnan¹'. Āgwigä''mä'i ke'käneta'māgin¹', nō'dtc', ke'te'n¹a', nō'dtc', wī'kīgänowi'megu'unaga-mōniwig¹'. Nī'naga'mopenaku'megu' wī'na nä''nīnān¹a','' ä''inādtci me'to'säne'niwa''. "Ī'ni,''ä'i'dtc''. "Ke'tena'dtcā'i kä'känemigwäna

10 ma'netōw aiyō' nāmegi wī'ta'ciwāwāwāga'a'mwa pyädtcināneno'-wagwänna'. Kī'cidtcā'iwāwāga'gini wī'menwipyāgimegwa 'īniy äwanādtci'','' ä'i''ciwädtci'. "Na' īni wī'i'cike'ki'nō'sudtci mana''a ma'mī'cī''a'. Kā'cke'ta'wādtcin īni'megu'u wī'wāwāga'agi kī'kānenāna''. Īnigigä''megu wī'ādtcimo'e'nagwigi kīgä'nāwagi wī'i'cawī'-

15 wagwänⁿ'," ä''inādtcl'. "Ma'na mamī'cī'' aiyō''megu'u wī'ke'-gapīw änwäwä'ā''so'anⁿ'. Ä'a'pinidtei wī'teī'tapīw^{wa'}," ä'i'dtei kī'gänut^{a'}. Ōn īna nīgā'nimamī'cī''a 'īna''megu'u ä'ke'gapidte''. Ä'wäpināgänidte ä'cinā'gänidte':

Wa la nwi ne gi se wa A la ne gi se;
20 Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se;
Wa la nwi ne gi se wa A la ne gi se;
Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se;
Wa la nwi ne gi se;
A yo ki de ko ki ne gi se;

25 Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se; Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se.

Īnipi'ci' negu't ä'yōnidtci na'gamōn''. Īnigä'' ip ä'wäpiwāwāga'a'minidtc īni'n A''cā'an''. Kī'ciwāwāga'aminidtcin ä'menwipyāginidtc ī'niyä'a kīgänāwa'''. Īnipā'pe'e mamī'cī'' ä'ke'tciwāwā'-

30 ga'agk'. Īnigä' ipi'megu i'ci'negu'ti na'gamōn ä'yōwādtc', neguti'-megu'u. 'Ō'nipi negu'ti nīmiwa' igann'. Ī'nipi nāwitepe' kīnig ä'no'-wī'edtc īni'gi māme'cene'metcigi tcīnawāmāwādtci'. 'Ō'nip ä'pīti'gäwādtci kī'cita'kā'ci'nowādtci sāgi'dtc'. "Na'i', me'cemegōna'i kī'ina'-i'napipw ä'ci'megu'umenwapī'wägwän ī'ni wī'ina'ina'piyägkwe',"

35 ä'inādtc'. "Wīgā'sigu'dtcā'. Mō'tci'megu ā'gwi wī'mage'sā'kwā'-wādtcin'. Ī'n'," ä'inādtc'. Ā'wāwīgāta'piwādtc'. Ä'ci'megu' umāmenwapiwādtcin ī'n ä'i'cimenwa'piwādtc'. "Mani'megu wī'ina'-piyāgkwe'. Me'tenō''megu kī'ce''swa kī'cikedtcīte 'ī'ni me''cen' ä'cawī'wägwäni wī'i'ca'wiyägkwe'. Cewä'n ā'gwi wī'nepaiyägwini

40 nō't^', "ä''inedtc''. "Nōtagā' u'wīyā'a nepā'te 'īni'megu wī'a'sāmegwāmegk'. Wī'nepō'idtci'megu'u. Ī'ni wā'dtci ne'ckimenagōwwe', "ä''inādtc''. 'Ō'nip'', "Ma'ni nā' kī'cinaga'moyāge 'ī'ni wī'me'siwäwi'megu'uwī'se'niyagkwe', "ä''inādtc''. "Kī'kegene'sipena'megu," ä''inādtc''. "'Au', "ä''inidtc''. "Cewä'na pe'ki'megu'u kī'wīgādtci'-45 senyāpwa', "ä''inādtc''. Ä'nagamowādtc''.

it, of doing this, so be it. And if we had thought, so be it, (of doing this), we would have contrived to speak, so be it, in a different way. Indeed, so be it, this, so be it, is (all) that we are able, so be it, to say to you, so be it. And, so be it, our grandfather, so be it, as to these, so be it, songs, so be it, we shall sing the songs blindly, so be it. And really we do not know, so be it, whether they are positively, so be it, gens festival songs. Yet we shall sing," he said to the people. "That is all," he said. "Surely whatever manitou knows me, whoever has come to fetch us will whoop, below here. Verily as soon as he has whooped those whom (our foes) carried off will shout with joy at him," he said. "Well, that is how this ceremonial attendant will learn by observation. Whenever he hears our friends he will whoop. And indeed they, the captives, are they who will tell us confidently what we shall do," he said to them. "This ceremonial attendant shall sit here with the drum. He shall sit down where it lies," said the celebrant of the gens festival. And the leading ceremonial attendant sat with it there. He began to sing, and (this) is how he sang:

It is daylight, my son; Here in the sky, my son; It is daylight, my son. 1

That, it is said, was the single song they used. And then, it is said, the Sioux began to whoop. Whenever they whooped those captives shouted with joy. Then, it is said, the ceremonial attendant would whoop loudly. And, it is said, that was the only song they used, indeed one. And, it said, there was one dancing song. Then, it is said, at midnight, they whose relations had been captured were made to go out. And, it is said, they entered as soon as they had been cooled off by the breeze outside. "Now then, you may sit any way, you will sit in whatever way is comfortable," he said to them. "Verily you are to be careful. You must not even spit in large quantities. That is all," he said to them. They sat very carefully. Whenever they sat down comfortably they sat down comfortably. "This indeed is how you will sit. Only when the sun has come up you may do as you please. But you must not sleep before," they were told. "And if any one sleeps before he will oversleep. He indeed will die. That is why I forbid you," he said to them. Then, it is said, he said to them, "As soon as we have also sung this we shall then all eat. We must indeed hurry," he said to them. "Very well," they said. "But you must eat very carefully," he said to them. Then they sang.

¹ See pp. 63, 149, and the corresponding Indian passages.

Kenādtci'megon ä'naga'mowādtci':

Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se;
Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se;
Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se;
5 Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se;
A yo ki de ko ki ne gi se;
Wa la A ne gi se;
Wa la nwi ne gi se wa la A ne gi se

Ī'nip ā'me'sōtāwi'megu'ādtcimo'e'gowādtc īni'i nāme'g ā'tanwā'10 tami'nidtci' a''ku'kōgk'', "Wâpa'g aiyō''megu'u nī'udtcitō''kīpenna'.
Tcā'wīne'kidtcā''megu'u nī'nepāpenna'," ā''inidtc''. "Ī'ni wī'i'cike'-kinō''soyāgkwe'," ā''inedtc''. "Kī'tcāgi'āpwaku''megu. Cewā'na kī'nawadtci'megunā''cipenna'. Āgu'wīyā'a wī'nāwu'nāgwini kīdtcī'-ckwe''wāwagk''," ā''inedtc''. 'Ō'nip'', "Ä'kī'ci'megumāmādtcigi'15 meguneno''tawāgwe mā'a'gi kī'kāne'nānagk''," ā''inedtc''. "Ä'ā''e," ā''igudtc āne'ta'. Ō'nip'', "Ī'ni wi'nīmiwa''amānn'. Kī'nīmipwa''dtcā''," ā''inādtci me'to'sāne'niwa''. "Cewā'na kā't u'wīyā'a wāwāga''agidtc''," ā'i'ciwā'dtc''. "'Au'," ā''inedtc''. Ä'nīmī'-wa'agk''.

20 Ni na ne gi se ke wi to se me ne ni na; Ni na ne gi se ke wi to se me ne ni na; Ni na ne gi se ke wi to se me ne ni na; Me no ta na ni ke wi to se me ne ni na; Wi a ya ni ke wi to se me ne ni na; 25 Ni na ne gi se ke wi to se me ne ni na.

Ä'i'cināgādtc'. Kī'cinagamudtc īna nenīwa 'ō'nip igi pāmitepikī'ckāgwa'pitcigh', "Mā'a'gi wī'n aiyō''megu'u wī'api'a'piwagh'. Mā'a'g ā'gwi wī'mīwe'ci''wagin''," ä'inādtc'. "Na'ī', ne'nītighe', nana'ī'tāgō'megu'u. Ketā'kwa'tōmwāw aiyō''megu'u wī'māwadtci-30 we'tōyāghwe'. Aiyō''i wī'udtcimawinanā'ghwe'. Cewā'na kī'nawadtcinānāpena kī'kāne'nānagi wī'pwāwimegu'ukāgō''ipe'tci'aghwe'. Ī'ni wī'udtcinānaghwe'," ä'inedtc'.

Īnigā' ipi kī'gānōni māne'megu'u ā'a'ckwata'mowādtc'. "Manigā''megu'u wī'mī'dtciwādtc ā'kwi'i'cipyānā'wägwänn'. Aiyō'kä'' mani 35 kema'ckutā'menāgi wī'nepāwādtc'. Ne'kanitepe'kwi wī'peme'käwagh'. Ōni katawiwâpanige wī'pege'cānigh'. Āgwi wī'utetāpatāniginn'. Āgwi mō'tci ke'tcinā'e wī'a'kwâpatāniginn'," ä'idtc'.

Īnipi kī'cetunāmudtcl', "Na'i', me'cena'ina'i māmawinepā'etīgu nōmagāw i'kwätigke'. Mā'agi wīna neniwag īni'megu'u wī'i'ci'-40 anemipyädtcipe'nowagi ne'niwagkl'. Āgwigā'i wī'nātamo'wādtcini wīgī'yāpyännl'," ä'i''ciwädtcl'. "Īnidtcā' āmi'ta'i me'ce'na'i natawinō'magāwinaga''ciyāgke'," ä'inedtci me'to'säneniwagkl'. 'Ō'nip ä'pe'nope'nowādtc īniyāga äpi'apitcigkl'. Īni'megu'u ä'inapiwādtc ä'medtcimāne'mowādtci wī'māta'piwādtcl'. Ä'wī'cāwigā''megu'u'-45 agāwāta'mowādtci ne'pi ke'gime'sl'.

Indeed they now sang softly:

It is daylight, my son; Here in the sky, my son; It is daylight, my son. It is daylight, my son; It is daylight, my son; It is daylight, my son; It is daylight, my son;

Then, it is said, they were all told by those shouting inside the drum, "To-morrow we shall wake up from here. Verily we shall sleep at the same time," they said. "You will learn that by observation," they were told. "You will truly kill them all. But you must come after us first. None of our foes will see you," they were told. Then, it is said, they were told, "you have certainly indeed heard our friends." "Yes," he was told by some. Then, it is said, he said to the people, "Now I am going to sing a dancing song. Verily you are to dance. But let no one whoop," he said. "Very well," he was told. He then sang a dancing song.

I walk with you, my son;
I walk with you, my son;
I walk with you, my son;
The foe from without, I walk with you;
Wherever you are going, I walk with you;
I walk with you, my son.

So he sang. After that man had sung, then, it is said, those who were sitting in a row were told, "These will continue to sit here. I shall not drive these away," he said to them. "Well, men, dress up indeed. You will gather and bring your weapons here. You will attack them from here. But we must wait and first go after our friends so that we will not accidentally injure them in any way. Now we shall go after them from here," they were told.

And, it is said, there was much of their feast offering which they did not eat. "Now this is what those will eat whenever you bring them in. And they will sleep here on our prairie. And when it is nearly daylight it will be smoky. Nothing will be seen distinctly. Nothing will be seen even if close by," he said.

Then, it is said, as soon as he had spoken, he said, "Well, now you are to put each other to sleep for a short time, women. As for these men, they will come right back. They will see no wickiups. So you had better leave us for a while," the people were told. Then, it is said, those who had remained seated went to their respective homes. They disliked to move from where they were sitting. All desired water very anxiously.

¹⁸ See p. 61 and the reference cited.

'Ō'nipi ne'niwag ä'māwadtcīwādtci'. "Na'i', ine'nītige kegimes'i'-megu'u kī'me'tciname''ckäpenna'. Cä'ckidtcā'i kī'utā'siyā'nipenna'," ä'inedtci neniwaga'. Ānetapi' säge'siwagimegu'u wī'me'tciname'-ckäwādtci'. Kegime'si wīnamegu'u ä'me'tciname'ckäwādtci'. Ka-5 bōtw ä'pege'cänigk'. Ä'pōnimegu'u'utetäpātāninigk'. "Ma'kwādtci na'i," ä'inādtc'. Ä'ma'kwādtci'api'apiwādtc'. Ä'pōnimegu'u'wīyä'-akägō'ä'i'i'ci'ci'i'cikanawidtc'. Ma'kwādtci'megu'u. Ä'me'sōtäwiyugä''megu'ādtci'ādtci'mo'edtci kutagagi me'to'säneniwagki'. "Ma'-kwādtci'megu'u īn inapigku'," ä''inādtc īna nenīwwa'. 'Ō'nip ä'pwāwi'-10 megu'u'wïyä'a'ikägō''megu'u'i'cikanawinidtci'. Ōnipi mani'megu'u ä'cipā'ka''wānig ä'māmō''cinidtci näpānidtci'i'. Tcäwīne'ki'megu'u

ä'näwāwādte ä'kawâ'piteigki'.

'Ō'nipi negu'ti nenī'w ä''penudtc ītep''. Kīmōdtcimegu'u ä'tō'-'kenādtc ä'papa''ke'cagi' sōgi'sonidtci''. Ä'pa'sepa'se'gwīnidtc''. 15 Ä'tcāgimegu'u pyänādtc''. Kī''citcāgipyä'nāwādtc ä'wāwāga'a'mawā-

wādtci. Īnigā ipi'megu'u ä'wäpene'tīwādtc īni'gi ne'niwagki. 'Ō'nipi me'cena''megu īni' ä'tcāgata''wāwādtci; ä'pwāwimō'tci'megunegu'ti'a''ckwī'edtci ne'nōtäwwa'. Ī'niyägagā'i kīgānāwag ä'tcāgi'megu'upagi'sapi''sowādtcl'. Ōn īniya kī'gänōn ä'ckwata'mowedtc

20 ä'mī'dteiwādte'.

Īnigā''ip ī'niyāga tcīnawā'mādtcig ā'pa'sepa'se'gwīwādtci kī'kī'cipīti'gānidtc īni' āpikīgānāwi'nidtci''. Me'cena'me'gup ī'n ā'tcāgata'mowādtci na'nōpe'ka kī'gānōn''. Kī'cimī'dtciwādtc ā'kī'cā'kī''cāgudtcimenwimenwipemāte''siwādtc''. Ī'nip'', "Na'i', penopenugku'," 25 ā'i'gowādtc īni'ni kīgānonidtcini yōwe'. Tāpikī'ckāgwapi'nidtci''. Īni'p īnig ā'wāwītā'māwādtci tcīnawāmā'wādtci'i yōwe'. Ä'mī'cātäne'mowādte īni'gi teīnawä'māteig āpikīgänāwi'nidteidie.

Ōnip I'n adtcāmegu ä'ādtci'mo'edtci nā'inā'i wī'kī'gänudtc'.
"Īninā''megu'u," ä'inādtc'. Īninā'ī'winig ä'kudtcinā'ka'dtci-30 mudte". Īniyane'megu'u a'ādtei'mo'ādtei mamī'eamā'gudteinnie. Ä'anō''kā'kyädtel'. 'Ō'nipi kī'ci'pyānidte ä'ādtei'mo'ādtel', "Na'ī'-niyāpi nā'ka'dtei wī'kīwimamī'cī'u''säyani mämī'cama'wadteigi wī'kīwi'adtci'mo'Adtci'," ä'inadtci'. "Au'," ä'inedtci'megu'u.

Ä''penu^dtc ä'kīwā'^dtcimu^dtc¹. 'Ō'nipi kegime'si'megu'u māmī'-35 cama'wā^dtci'i kī'ci'megu'uke'gime'sipyāni^dtci negu't ä'pemipa'-'segwī^dtc¹. ''Maniku'' mana wä^dtci'megu'u nato'menag^{kwe'}, wī'kī-gänō''iyag^{kwe'}. Ī'ni mana'a wä^dtci'megu'u peminato'menag^{kwe'}. Īni ma'n īnugi kemāwa'^dtcīpena 'īnugi^dtcā'^{'1}' upyäni'megōni wī'ka-kanōne'tīyag^{kwe'}. Ma'ni' cwā'ci'ga ta''sōguni kī'ke'ka'i'gäpen^{na'},'' 40 ä''inā^dtc¹'. ''Upyäni^dtcā''megu kī'cī'ca'cī'cāpen^{na'}. Āgwi wī'ta'-

Then, it is said, the men gathered. "Well, men, we are all to be naked. Verily we will only have our breech cloths," the men were told. Some, it is said, were afraid to be naked. Yet they were all naked. Soon it was smoky. Everything ceased to be plainly visible. "Now quiet," he said to them. They remained seated quietly. Every one ceased saying anything. (They sat) quietly. And all the other people were instructed. "Now sit quietly," that man said to them. Then, it is said, no one said a thing. Then, it is said, as soon as it cleared off a little, many lay asleep. Those who watched saw them in between.

Then, it is said, one man started over there. He secretly woke them up, and severed that which bound them. They all arose to their feet. He indeed brought them all back. As soon as he had brought all back they whooped at them. And then, it is said, those men began to fight each other. And, it is said, they went so far as to strike them down; not even a single Indian was spared. And those captives were all made free from their bonds. Then they ate the festival offering which was left over from eating.

And then, it is said, those who were related to them one by one rose to their feet as soon as those prisoners of war had entered. It is said that they indeed ate all of the festival offering which was bountiful. As soon as they had eaten they were in as excellent health as possible. Then, it is said, they were told by the one who formerly was celebrating the gens festival, "Well, go to your respective homes." Those who were seated in a row (were told this). Then, it is said, they accompanied those to whom they were related. They who were related to those who had been prisoners of war were proud.

Then, it is said, that one was just then told when he was to hold a gens festival. "At that very time," he said to him. When that time had come he again tried to tell him. He told the one who formerly had acted as his ceremonial attendant. He sent word for him to come. Then, it is said, as soon as he came, he told him, "Well, eventually you must walk around again as a ceremonial attendant, and you will go about telling those whom you serve as a ceremonial attendant," he said to him. "Very well," he was indeed told.

He departed and went about telling (his errand). Then, it is said, as soon as all had come for whom he served as a ceremonial attendant, one started to rise to his feet. "This truly is why this person summons us, that we celebrate a gens festival. That is why this one summoned us in order. Now we are gathered here to-day to slowly talk with each other. We shall now agree upon eight days," he said to them. "Verily we shall hunt slowly. We shall not be vexed in walking while

cime'ckwime'ckwigitäwu'sä'ī'yagwini' cī''caiyagkwe'. Upyäni'megu'u kī'i'ca'wipen na','' ä''inādtci'. "Ne'cwā'ciga'dtcā'i ta'sōgu'naga'ke

me'cemegō'na'i wī'n nat."

Kī'cādtci'mo'cādtci', ä''āmīdtci'. Ä'mawi'cī'cāwu'sädtci'. 'Ō'nip 5 ä'kanōnä'we'sidte'. Ä'kanō'negudtei mane'towan'', ä'ci'tä'ädte'.

Naga'mōnan ä'ke'ka'a'mawudtei wī'anemi'i'ci'nāgädte'. Ä'mī'cātänemudtei'megu'u. Ä'ke'ka'a'mawudtei kīgänowi'ica'wiwen''. "Ā'gwigä' a'ce'megu'u nanō''ckwe ma'ni'i wī'anemi'ci'teigä'yanin''," ä''inedtc''.

10 Ö'nipi na''ina'i ke'ka''igädtci pyädtci''sānig ä'kī'cāgudtcimānätenigi menā''ckunōn''. Ādtcipanagidtc ä'ci'ci'genigki. 'Ō'n īniya'-megu ä'nīgānimamī''cī'idtci mämī'ca'māgāta'. Ä'kī'cāgudtci'megu'-ume'ciwā'gwatäg ādtcipanagidtc i'ci'nāgwatwi menā''ckunōn''. "Cī'iwī'," ä'citä''äwādtcit.

- 15 'Ö'nipi wâ'panig īniyapit, "Wītkudtcito"kīmadtci mämītcamawatcigki', "ä'inedtci'. Ä'kwāgō'kwāgō''ōtagki'. Māmaiya'megu'u ä'tō''kīmādtci'. Īni'megu'u ä'anemi'ci'ītepi'ānidtci wī'ta'cikīgā'nowedtci'. 'Ō'nipi kegeni'megu'u ä'kī'cimāwa'dtcīnidtci wī'kīgāno'nidtci'i'. Ä'kī'cigä'meguma'nikata'wipōtā''kwäwedtci kägō'i kī'gänōnni.
- 20 Ī'ni'i wītāgwapi'mādtci' ä'ādtci'mo'ādtci', "Na'i', īnu'gi ma'ni wī'ina'inādtcimo'e'nagōwwe'. Pe'ki'megu'u kī'wīgädtci'megu'uke'kinowi''tawipwa'. Tā'ni ma'ni wī'i'ca'wiyāgwe kī'cinepō''iyānni'.
- Āgwigä'i ma'ni nī'na wī'anemi'megu'uwī'tcime'to'sänenita'mānin''. Kabō'twe nä'nī'na nī''a'cen'u. Īni'megu'u wī'i'ca'wiyagwe

 25 ta''swi ma'ni kī'cikī'ci'giyag***,'' ä'inādtci'. "Īnidtcā'' wī'udtci'megu'u 'wī'cigike'ki'nō'sug**,' ī'ni wä'dtcine'nagōw**. Mā'an'i'
 nā'ka'dtci nagamōnan'i, īni'megu'u āmi'cawī''iyäg***. Wī'cigi'megu'uke'kinō'so'kägo'a'. Īni wī'i'cimenwa'wiyägwe'i'cawī''iyäg***,'' ä''inādte''.
- 30 "Kātaga'i päwäne'moweni nene'känetagäg^{ku}". Kī'kī'kī'kitä'äpwa'-megu wī'ke'käne'tamägwe ma'ni wī'n^{na}". Päwäne'moyägwe 'īniku'-'megu'u wī'inä'inänemegwiyäg^{kwet}. Āgwigä'i wī'wāwanänemegwiyägwin ä'citä'äwägwänⁿ'. Ī'ni wä'dte īnu'g ādteimo'e'nagōwe 'īnu'g^{kl'}. Nā'ka'dtci ma'ni i'ca'wiwen ī'n āmi'cike'kinō'sō''iyäg^{kwe'}. 35 Īyā'' mana''ka kabō'twe kī'cine'cipemā''tōyägw āgwi'megu'u kä-
- gō'i wī'i'ciwāwaniwä'sī'yägwinnit. Aiyäniwe'megu'u mani'i kī'i''cawipwa'. Āgwidtcā''megu kägō''i wī'i'cikīwādtcinawä'ägwini me'to'sä'nenīwwa'. Ma'ni wī'na pwāwi'megu'ukägō''ike'känetamō''iyägwe 'înī'yätuge wī'anō''kānāgwe kä'känetamowänemä'īwägwänna'. Pwā-
- 40 wina'ina'ikägo'ike'kä'netage 'āmi'cawī'wägwän īna''? Ī'nini' sä'naga'k äne'nagōwwe'. Ī'ni wä'dtc aiyīgwāmīme'nagōwwe', 'pena 'īnu'gi kī'pe'se'tawipwa',' ī'ni wä'dtc ine'nagōwwe', 'mā'a'ni wī'aiyō'iyānini

we hunt. We shall do it slowly," he said to them. "At any rate it will be eight days."

As soon as he told them, he moved. He went walking about hunting. Then, it is said, he was spoken to. He was addressed by a manitou, so he thought. He was told how he should continue to sing the songs. He was indeed proud. He was told how to perform the gens festival. "And you are not merely to continue to do this blindly," he was told.

Then, it is said, when the time came which he had set there was abundant meat. It was of every sort and description. And the one who had acted as his ceremonial attendant before was the head ceremonial attendant. There was indeed an enormous pile of meat and it appeared to be of all sorts. "Good gracious," they thought.

Then, it is said, the next day that same person, it is said, was told, "You must try to wake up those whom you serve as a ceremonial attendant by calling them." He shouted out at the top of his voice. He woke them up very early with his calls. Then indeed they continued to go thither so that the gens festival would be held. Then, it is said, those who were to celebrate the gens festival had gathered in a hurry. Indeed every offering had nearly been boiled.

He instructed those with whom he sat in a cluster (i. e., members of the same ceremonial organization as himself). "Well, I am now going to give you full instructions. You must observe very carefully what I do. For you will do this as soon as I die. And I shall not continue to live with this. Soon I shall disappear. Indeed that will happen to as many of us as are full grown," he said to them. "That verily is why I say to you, 'learn firmly by observation.' And as regards these songs, you should contrive to do the same. You might learn them firmly by listening. If you do that you will do well," he said to them.

"And do not think of being discouraged. You must think of learning this in spite of it. If you are discouraged it indeed will think of you. And it will not fail to know what you think. That is why I instruct you to-day. Moreover, you should learn this ceremony by observation. At yonder distant time when you soon have begun to manage your affairs yourselves, you will not be handicapped in any way. You will go on and do the same things as now. You shall not indeed make the people feel lonely in their hearts. Now this, if you do not know anything about it, then, it seems, you will employ whoever knows it. If he does not know it what will you then do? I tell you that which is difficult. That is why I urge you to do your best, saying, 'you will please listen to me to-day,' it is why I say to you, 'listen to these gens festival songs which I shall use.' That is all,

kekīgānowinagamō'enānanni'.' Ī'ni, inenitigē," ä'inādtel. Ī'nip ä'-

peminī'si'sa'udte a''ckutäg ä'mawipa'ginādte a'sä'māwanni'.

Ma'nip ä'dtcl', "Neme'cōme'senāte', wī'na nō'dtcl', aiyō'', nō'dtcl', kepagi'tamōnne', nō'dtcl', neta'sä'mānān ä'tane'cäwä''cinannl', nō'dtcl'. 5 Ke'kyäwenidtcā', nō'dtcl', wī'inäne'miyāgke'. Aiyani'gä'mä' ä'natota''senānnl'," ä''inādtcl'. "Kīnadtcā', nō'dtcl', ī'n äne''ge'e kīdtcimanetowagkl'. Īnidtcā', nō'dtcl', wī'inādtcimwi'ta'wiyāgke', nō'dtcl'.

"Mana'kadtcā', nō'dtc¹, wädtciwätāpanigk¹, nō'dtc¹, äpit^, nō'dtc¹, nō'dtc¹, ma'netōwwa', nō'dtc¹, mämātomageta 'Wâpe'ckiWâpanōwa' 10 änäwe'niwit^, nō'dtc¹, nō'dtc¹. Mā'a'ni nene'sämā'nānani nīgānime'ckinedtcä'tawageta ä'a'sipōne'kä''cināgke', nō'dtc¹, negu't¹, nō'dtc¹, mī'sō'n änegi'ku''ckamāgke', nō'dtc¹. Īnidtcā''megu wī'inänemī'yamedtc¹. Ī'n ä'wī'cā'magedtci kī'kī'ki täyä'tagwi keme'cōme'se'nānagk¹.

15 "'Ö'ni mana''ka', nō'dte'', wä'dtei, nō'dte'', nāwa''kwänigk'', äpi'ta', nō'dte'', nīgāni Kī'ckō'iWâpanōwa, nō'dte''. Ī'ni wī'na nä''ä'cimidtei Kī'ckō'iWâpanōwa, nō'dte'', 'keketeminōnne'.' Ä'i'ci'dte''. Ä'cimidteidteā'i nā'inā'i känō'ci'dte ī'ni pe'ki'megu'u näne'känetama-

wägwe. Wī'inäne'menag^{kwet}, nō'dtc¹t. Īnigä' ma'nnat, nō'dtc¹t, 20 A'ckutä'nä'sīwa wī'i'cigä'wīnawī''cāmādtc¹t. Wī'i'ci'megu'uwīdtcitä'amenagwe keme'cōme''senān A'ckutä'nä'sīwat. Ī'ni wī'i'cimādtci

Kī'ckō'iWâpa'nowan a''pemeg äpi'nidtcinnit.

"'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtei mana''ka', nō'dte'', äpi'ta', nō'dte'', wädteipagi'ci'monig A'ckipagiWâ'panōwa, nō'dte''. Īnidteā''megu, nō'dte'',
25 änagkwe', nō'dte''. 'Ō' wī'wī'cigi, nō'dte'', me'to'sänenī'wiyagkwe',
nō'dte'', nō'dte'', negu't'', nō'dte'', mī'sō'nn'', nō'dte'', ä'negi'ku''ckamagwe 'ī'ni wī'inäneta'mōnagwe wī'cāmagkwe', nō'dte''. Nā'ka'dte
ape'no'a'i wī'i'cimenwikī'ciginidte ī'nn'', nō'dte'', äyī'gi nā'ka'dte'',
nō'dte'', i'kwäwa''', nō'dte'', wī'i'ci, nō'dte'', menwime'to'sänenī'30 winidte''. Ī'nn'', nō'dte'', ä'ci, nō'dte'', wī'cigika'nōnagwe wī'inäneta'-

monagkwet, no'dtcit, kene'sämänänannit.

"Ō'nn', nō'dtc', wä'dtci ke'siyāwana'kwa'tenigk', nō'dtc', äpi'ta', nō'dtc', Tō'kāniWâpanōwa. Īni'megu, nō'dtc', äyī'g ä'ciwī'cā-magwe 'īte'p ä'cime'ckinedtcä'tawagkwe'. Nā'kadtci mani'i kekī'-35 cetä'menān'', nō'dtc', ī'ni wī'inänetamōnagkwe', ä'nīgānena'mawagwe ke'ta'sān ā'kwänetamowādtc'. 'Ō'nā'ka', nō'dtc', wī'na nō'dtc', īn

ä'cita'gwimagkwet, wī'na nō'dtc't.

"Ke'cäma'netōwa, wī'na nō'dtclt, ä'āte'cimagkwet, nō'dtclt. Na''ega'ce me'to'sänenī'wiweni wī'i'ci'megu'umenwime'to'sänenī'wiyag40 kwet. Ī'n ä'cika'nōnagwe wī'na Ke'cäma'netōwa wīna māwa'dtci
a'pemegi'megu'u äwi'ta'. Ape'no'annlt, nō'dtclt, ma'kwā'dtclt, nō'dtclt,
wī'i'cimenwime'to'sänenī'winidtc ī'ni, nō'dtclt, ä'ci, nō'dtclt, mamā'tomagkwet, wī'na nō'dtclt. Nā''ka', nō'dtclt, i'kwäwannlt, nō'tclt,
nīgāni, nōdtclt, täpānādtcinnlt, nō'dtclt, īninnlt, nō'dtclt, ma'kwā'dtci

men," he said to them. Then, it is said, he started to jump down and he went to cast tobacco in the fire.

This, it is said, is what he said, "Our grandfather, so be it, I cast for you, so be it, our tobacco here, so be it, where you lie blazing, so be it. Verily you will bless us with old age, so be it. Verily a little further ahead is what I ask of you," he said to him. "Verily that is what you were told by your fellow manitous. Verily you must tell them, so be it, that, so be it, for us.

"Verily the manitou, so be it, who sits, so be it, yonder, so be it, in the east, so be it, the one who is called 'the White Wâpanōwa,' so be it, is he whom we worship. He is the one to whom we first extend this our tobacco as we lie with our hands close together, so be it, we who belong, so be it, to this single, so be it, gens, so be it. Verily he must bless us that way. That is what we nevertheless (also) implore our grandfathers collectively.

"And the leading Kī'ckō Wâpanōwa, so be it, who sits, so be it, yonder, so be it, in the south, so be it. That indeed is what the Kī'ckō Wâpanōwa, so be it, said to me, 'I bless you.' That is what he said to me. Verily the time when he spoke to me is indeed what you must think about. He will bless us, so be it. And that is what this, so be it, Spirit of Fire, shall implore him (to do). That is how our grandfather the Spirit of Fire will cooperate with our hearts. That is what he must tell the Kī'ckō Wâpanōwa who sits above.

"And again, as regards the Green Wâpanōwa, so be it, who sits, so be it, yonder, so be it, in the west. That indeed verily is what we say to him. Oh, let us live, so be it, so be it, strongly, so be it, who belong to this one, so be it, gens, so be it; that he bless us that way is what we implore him, so be it. Moreover, may the children thus be fully grown in good health, so be it, and also, so be it, may the women, so be it, in this way live in good health. That, so be it, is how we firmly ask him, so be it, to bless us, so be it, because of our tobacco.

"Then, so be it, as regards the Tō'kān Wâpanōwa, who sits, so be it, whence come the cool clouds (i. e., north). We also implore him in the same way, so be it, as we extend our opened hands to him. Moreover, he will bless us that way because of this cooked food and corn dumpling which (the manitous) prize highly and which we extend to them first. Oh, moreover, so be it, so be it, that is how we mention him collectively with the rest, so be it.

"We mention, so be it, the Gentle Manitou, so be it, separately. We shall thus indeed live quietly and well. That is what we ask of the Gentle Manitou who dwells indeed especially on high. That the children, so be it, will thus quietly, so be it, live in health, so be it, is what we beseech him, so be it. And, so be it, that he quietly bless, so be it, the women, so be it, of whom he is especially, so be it, fond, is what we ask of him, so be it. May he so bless them that in this way,

wī'nä'nemādtc'', nō'dtc'', ä'ci, nō'dtc'' natotama'wagedtc'', nō'dtc''. Wī'i'ci, nō'dtc'', a''penädtci mämenwitō'kīnidtci ape'no'ani 'ō'n i''kwäwan īnidtcā''megu'u wī'inä'nemādtc''. Pe''k'', nō'dtc'', wī'-inādtci'mo'adtc'', nō'dtc'', neme'cōme''senāte', nō'dtc'', A'ckutä'nä'-5 sīw'', nō'dtc''. Ī'ni, wīna ma'ni, nō'dtc', äna'g*we', nō'dtc'', Ke'cäma'netōw'', nō'dtc''.

"Wīnwāwadtcā", nō'dtci, nā'ka'dtci, nō'dtci, Wâpanowagki, ke'kyäweni, nō'dtci, ä'ci, nō'dtci, natotā'sagkwe, mō'tci'megu, nō'dtci, nana'wi kīwi'āta' cīgwatagki. Ī'n aiyani'gämä'i wī'i'cinato'-

- 10 tā'sagwe me''sōtāwi wī'ināne'menag*we'. Ī'n ä'ciwī'cāmagwe wī'i'-cināpā'ku'kōnag*we'.'' 'Ō'nni', "Ai'yā'kowi wī'n ä'udtci'setōnagwe wī'nāpā'ku'kōnag*we'. Īnni', wī'na nō'dtci', medtcai'yā'kwidtci', aiy-ani'gāmā'i nato'tā'sagwe wī'nāpā'ku''kōnag*we'. Ī'ni wī'ināne'miyāg*e', neme'cōme'senāte', ī'n ä''inag*we'. 'Ō'ni ma'n a''ki kī'ce'gwi
- 15 nā''k ä'kwine'ciwanātāneta'mugwān ī'n aiyani'gāmā' ä'cinato'tā'-sag^{kwe'}, wī'anemi'a'kwiwī'cigānetāgwa'ki ma'ni wī'na manetōwa mī'-nenagwe ma'ni mī'cā'mi. Īnina'i yō 'wäna ke'ka'a'mowādtci wī'-mawikīwagwa'tānīw^{wi'}. 'Ma'ni, nō'dtc', änānemenāg^{ke'}, nō'dtc', ä'ciwādtc', nō'dtc', īnidtcā', nō'dtc', änādtci'mo'ag^{kwe'}, nō'dtc',

20 wī'na ma'na'a keme'cōme''senānna'.'' Ī'n ä''inādtci wī'dtcikīgänomādtci''.

Ä'pwāwi'megu'u'ute'tci''tōwādtci ne'niwagk!'. Ī'nip!', "Ma'ni na'ina ä'kwinepō'iwānä'ni nā'ka'dtc ī'n a''penädtci wī'tcīpetcīpeku'kwäyägkwe'. A'penädtci'megu'u; ī'ni wī'anemi'inanō''kyäyägkwe',"

- 25 ä''inādtcl'. 'Ō'nn', "Nā'ka'dtci mā'a'ni naga'mōnann': ä'cinegwä''sāwādtcigä'megu kīwi'sā''itcig ī'ni wi'inā''käyägwe mā'a'ni' cī'cī'gwanann'. Ma'na nā'ka'dtci wī'anwäwä'wägw änwäwä''ā'sō'a':
 ma'kwādtci'megu mä'to'sänenī'wigwäna 'ī'nānāna wī'anwäwä'wāta',''
 ä'i'dtcl'. "Īnina''ku' ä'pemi'megu'utanāto'tātägi me'to'sänenī'wi-
- 30 weni wī'na manetōw^w. Īniku''megu'u wī'pemi'ute'namani wī'u^dtci'anemipemāte'sinu'tamanⁿ. Īni^dtcā'i wä'^dtci me'cena''kä' nīna 'ī'n
 ine'nagōw^{we}. Īni^dtcā' mägwä'' ä'kī'cī'yätugenīnawe'ta'wiyäg^{kwe}:
 mā'a'ni' cī'cī'gwanan ā'gw ä'na'inā'kä^dtci kākī'gänut ā'gwi wī'inā'käyagwinⁿ!'. Ma'kwā^dtci'megu kī'ā^dtcimo''etīp^{wa}','' ä''inā^dtc!'.
- 35 'Ō'nip¹', "Negu'ti ke'tena'megu'u ine'nītigke'. Kewīgädtcimegu'u-mämädtcigādtcimo''enepwa'. Ā'gwi kägō''megu'u i'cikyātamōna-gōwwe'. Īnidtcā'' mani wī'natawi'megu'uwäpināgäyagkwe'," ä''inādtc¹'.

Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki; Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;

40 Ma ma ya ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Ma ma ya ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki.

so be it, the children and women always wake up in good health. You must tell him that, so be it, forcefully, so be it, our grandfather, Spirit of Fire, so be it. That, so be it, is what we now, so be it, say, so be it, to the Gentle Manitou, so be it.

"What we verily ask from them, so be it, also, so be it, the Wâpanowagi, is old age, so be it, even, so be it, that which is left over by one who went on (in this life) for naught. We shall ask that he bless us (to take us) all a little further. That is how we implore him to replace our kettle." And then (he said), "They have placed last for us that they replace our kettle. That, so be it, is what we ask of them, that they replace our kettle a little further, to the very top. That is what you must think of us, our grandfather, what we say to them. Now we ask that this sacred pack which the manitou gave us shall continue to be thought firm a little beyond whenever he thinks of destroying this earth and sky. May it lie about at whatever time they select. 'This, so be it, is what we think of you, so be it,' is what they said to me, so be it. That verily, so be it, is what I say, so be it, to this, our grandfather." That is what he said to those giving the gens festival with him.

The men did not remember (the speech). Then, it is said, he said to them, "At whatever time I die then you shall always hold ghost feasts. You will always continue to do that." And (he said), "Moreover, as regards these songs: As those who fly about (i. e., birds) shake their wings when flying, so you must shake these gourds (i. e., rattles). Moreover, as regards this drum which we shall beat: whoever lives quietly is the one who is to beat it," he said. "Indeed that is where life is said to be according to the manitou. That verily is whence you will receive that with which you will continue to live. That is why I have gone so far as to tell you it. Therefore perhaps you have listened attentively to me: we are not to shake these gourds (i. e., rattles) as (any other) who celebrates gens festivals with solemnity. You shall tell each other quietly," he said to them. And, it is said, he said to them, "Truly one thing indeed, men. I have told you with care and certainty. I have not concealed anything from you. Therefore we now should proceed to begin to sing," he said to them.

Ghost, I tell you to-day; Ghost, I tell you to-day; Early, I tell you to-day; Ghost, I tell you to-day; Ghost, I tell you to-day; Early, I tell you to-day; Ghost, I tell you to-day;

The meaning is when the one blessed is in war his enemy can not detect him as he will be in the form of a ghost. See p. 3 and the references given

Ki ma ma to me ga; Ki ma ma to me ga; Ki ma ma to me ga; Me ma ko te si ta ki ma ma to me ga; 5 Ki ma ma to me ga; (Repeat five times.)

Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o; (Repeat three times.)

A ne mo te sa me dko na a ma wi no o; 10 Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o;

Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o.

Wi i ne wi ya ne; (Repeat 11 times.) Wi i ne wi ya ne wi i.

15 'Ō'n ä'kī'cinā'gäwādtc'.
"'Ō'ni wī'nīmiyagkwe'," ä''inedtc i''kwäwagk'.

Ne nye ma wa wa; (Repeat four times.) Yo me no ta i gi se;

20 Ne nye ma wa wa; (Repeat three times.)

> A gi nika lo no we ya ni ni; (Repeat five times.) O a ye i i i i i i;

25 A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni; (Repeat three times.)

Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no; (Repeat four times.)

A ne mo te sa wi a ko ta wi no;

30 Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no;
(Repeat once.)
O a ye i i i i i.

Ke ka ya i A ne mi le di A o ne le mi ni wi to se ta mo i; (Repeat three times.)

350 Ayeiiiii.

Ä'kī'cinī'miwādte'.

"Mani'megu'u a''penädtci wī'ina'ino'wäyagke', 'A ye i i i i i i.' Īni'megu'u wī'ino'wäyagw a''penädtci','' ä''inādtci wīdtcināgä'mādtci''. "Īni'megu'u āmi'ci'megu'u wī'cigi'megu'uke'kinō''soyägkwe','' He will worship you;
He will worship you;
He will worship you;
One who is greatly in need will worship you;
He will worship you;
(Repeat five times).²

You must paint this body of mine red; (Repeat three times) You must paint the dog red; You must paint this body of mine red; You must paint this body of mine red.³

You will see me; (Repeat eleven times.) You will see me, wi i.4

They then had sung.

"Now we shall dance," the women were told.

I call out for those four;
(Repeat four times.)
Here, the foe without, my son (?);
I call out for those four;
(Repeat three times.)⁵

I can not stop my calling; (Repeat five times.) Oh, already; I can not stop my calling; (Repeat three times.)

This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat four times.)
You will hang up a dog for me;
This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat once);
Oh, already.

Finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water; (Repeat three times.) Oh, already.⁸

They had danced.

"This indeed is what we shall always say, 'Already.' That indeed is what we shall always say," he said to those with whom he was singing. "You should contrive to learn that firmly by observation,"

² Those of the war party who are wounded and are sick will become well if they pray to the one blessed. Such is the significance of the song. See pp. 81, 89, 101.

¹ The esoteric meaning is the poeple who give the gens festival paint their faces and bodies red; and they paint the little dogs red. See pp. 81, 89, 101.

⁴ The meaning is no one could see the hero in war time. See pp. 81, 89, 101.

^{*}The one blessed never strikes any one; he only makes motions with his war club toward his enemy or the enemy's village, thus slaying them. See pp. 81, 89, 103 (and 155 partially; see the Indian text).

⁶ After he has slain all his foes no one can say anything. He says to his slain foes, "You can not live any longer." See pp. 83, 89, 103, 157.

⁷ A little dog is painted red to be hung on a tree as an offering to the manitou who conferred the blessing. See pp. 83, 91, 103 (and 159, 161 approximately).

^{*} The one blessed says, "If you go with me, the enemy will all flee, so go with me." See pp. 83, 91, 103, 159.

ä'inādte'. "Tagwa'ā'ni wī'sīga'i'gäyägkwe'," ä'inādtei mamī''eī'a''.
"'Au'," ä'inidte', ä'sīga'i'gänidte'. "Na'i' mämī'ea'mōnāgke',
īniyāpi' mā'ag ä'teāgi'megu'ukī'ei'sīga'iga'wagedte'," ä'i'nāwādtei
mämī'eamawāwādtein'. "'Au'," ä'i''eiwädte īna nenī'wa kī'gänuta'.
5 'Ō'n ä'wäpika'naka'nawidte'.

"Na'ē, īnidtcā' ā'cinīgānenamawagedtci mani'i ta'gwa'ānni. Wīnwā'wa kana'wiwagi mani'i wī'ā'kwäneta'mowādtci ta'gwa'ānni. Kī'cu'tamōgki. Īnidtcā', nō'dtci, wä'dtci nīgānenama'wagedtci, nō'dtci. Mana'kadtcā''megu, nō'dtci, ä'ke'kyäwenī'wenig ī'n ā'cinalototā''sagedtci wī'a'kwime'to'säneniwä''iyagkwe'. 'Ō', nōdtci, negu'ti, nō'dtci, änegi'ku'ckamagwe kemī'sō'nenān īnidtcā' ā'cinatotā''saged-

tc1e.

"Wīnadtcā" mana"ka wätā'panigi pyätā'sa'mapi'ta', ī'na nā'ka'-

dtc1 Wâpanōwa mäyāwi'maget1.

15 "'Ō'ni mana''ka', nō'dte'', wä'dtei, nō'dte'', nā'wa''kwänigi pyätā'samapi'ta Wâ'panōwwa', nō'dte'', ī'n ä'tagwi'magedte'', nō'dte''. "'Ō'nn'', nō'dte'', wä'dtei, nō'dte'', pagi'ci'mongi pyätā'sa'mapi'ta',

nō'dte', äyī'gk', nō'dte', ī'n ä'ciwāwītagedte'.

"'Ō'nn't, nō'dtc't, wädtcike'sī'yānigi ta'ciWâpanōwwa', īni'megu, 20 nō'dtc't, ä'ci, nō'dtc't, tcāgi'magedtc't, nō'dtc't. Wīnwāwadtcā'', nō'dtc't, kī'co'wäwagk't, nō'dtc't, wī'ā'kwänetamawī'yamedtc't, nō'dtc't, ma'ni ta'gwa'ānn't. 'Kī'ā'kwänetamōneku', nō'dtc't. Īni'megu, nō'dtc't, a''penädtc't, nō'dtc't, wī'nīgānenamawiyani ma'n ä'cime'kwänemī'yanin't.' Ī'nn't, nō'dtc't, ä'cimiwādtc't, nō'dtc't. Īnidtcā',

25 nō'dtc', wädtc', nō'dtc', mann', nō'dtc', i'ci'tcigäyān', nō'dtc'.

Manidtcā', nō'dtc', ä'ci, nō'dtc', me'kwänemagwin', nō'dtc', manetōw', nō'dtc', aiyänīw', nō'dtc', pemāte'siweni kenatawänetamawāpen'. Āgwigä', nō'dtc', kägō', nä'satawānigi natawänetama-

wagwini manetōwwat, nō'dtc't, man ä'cime'kwänemagwinnit.

30 "Īnidtcā", nō'dtcl, ä'nagedtci wīnwā'wwa, nō'dtcl, Wâpa'nowagel, nō'dtcl. Āgwiku', nō'dtcl, nīnā'na, nō'dtcl, ne'cinatotā'sa'-gedtcini me'to'sänenī'wiwenal. Man änegi'ku''ckamāge keme'to'säneniwe'nenān īnimegu änegi'kwi'magedtc ä'me'to'sänenī'wiyagwe ma'n ä'ta''ciyagwe 'ī'n änegi'kwi'magedtc aiyō', mani' ä'utōtäwe'-

35 niyag^{kwet}. Mana'dtcā'', nō'dtc'', 'pe''ki wī'nene'kä'nema'dtc'', 'ä'ci'-mage'dtc'', 'ape'no'an i''kwäwa''. Ī'ni'i pe''ki wī'cigima'ge'dtci'i kanā'' kenwä'ci wī'me'to'sänenī'winidtc''.' Ī'n ä'nage'dtci wī'inä'-

nemādtci kanā' īni'.

"'Ō'nni', nō'dtci', nā''ka wī'nna'. Ä'manetōwidtci', nō'dtci', ai'yā'-40 kow"', nō'dtci', i'ci''setōwa negu'twāpyägki'. Īnidtcā'', nō'dtci', aiyani'gä'mä' inätawänetama'wagedtci wī'inänemī'yamedtci'. Āgwigä', nō'dtci', nīnā'na ne'ci''ka', ta'swi'megu'u ä'inenī'wiyagw ä'ta'-ciyagkwe', ī'n ä'nagedtc'e. Ī'nni', nō'dtci', wī'inäne'menagw aiyō''i ta''sw ä'nenī'wiyagkwe'.

he said to them. "You will serve the corn dumpling," he said to the ceremonial attendants. "Very well," they said, and served it. "Now ceremonial master, we have now served all," they said to the one for whom they acted as ceremonial attendants. "Very well," said the man who was celebrating the gens festival. And he began to speak at length.

"Well, we first extend this corn dumpling to them. They said that they would highly prize corn dumpling. They have decided upon that. That verily, so be it, is why we extend it to them first, so be it. That we live as far as yonder old age is what we ask of them. Oh, so be it, we who belong to (this) one, so be it, gens verily

ask it of them.

"Verily he who sits facing (us) yonder in the east, he moreover is the Wâpanōwa whom we chiefly name.

"And we mention with him, so be it, the Wâpanōwa, so be it, who sits facing (us) yonder, so be it, in the south, so be it.

"And, so be it, we mention in the same way also, so be it, (the Wâpanōwa) who sits in the west, so be it, facing (us), so be it.

"And, so be it, as we mention them all, so be it, and in the same way (we mention) the Wâpanōwa in the north. Verily they, so be it, have agreed, so be it, to think highly of us because of this corn dumpling, so be it. 'I think highly of you indeed because of it, so be it. You will always, so be it, offer that, so be it, to me first whenever you remember (i. e., worship) me.' That, so be it, is what they said to me, so be it. That, verily, so be it, is why, so be it, I act, so be it, this way, so be it. Verily, so be it, we remember, so be it, the manitou, so be it, this way, we desire from him always, so be it, life. And we do not, so be it, desire from the manitou anything that is harmful whenever we remember the manitou, so be it, as now.

"That verily, so be it, is what we say to them, so be it, the Wâpanowagi, so be it. We alone truly do not, so be it, ask them for life. Those of us who now have life ask the same of them; and as many of us who are now living and have this town here, ask it of them. Verily we told this one, so be it, 'you must indeed remember the women and children. They are those whom we especially think ought to live long.' That is what we told him, that he ought to think of them.

"And, so be it, again with respect to him. As he is a manitou, so be it, he has placed last, so be it, one slice. That verily, so be it, is what we especially desire him to bless us with. And not, so be it, us alone, but as many of us who are men, say that to him. That, so be it, is how he must bless us here who are men.

"Ī'n änagedtci wīnwā'wa Wâpa'nowaga'. Ā'gwi nīnā'na ne'ci''ka'. Ä'ci'megu'ukanō''ciwādtc', nō'dtc', wī'inäne'menagwe 'ī'n aiyanigā'mä' ä'cinatotā''sagedtc'. Īnidtcā', nō'dtc', ä'ci'ādtci'mo'adtc', nō'dtc', yātu'ge wī'na ma'n A'ckutā'nā'sīwa'. Wī'naiyō' ke'ka'-5ā'sōwa wī'anemi'aiyādtcimwi'tōnaga'. A'cawedtcā', nō'dtc', yātu'ga', nō'dtc', kī'citcāgādtcimōtuge wī'na ma'na'a A'ckutā'nā' sīwa'. Wī'wīdtcitā'amenagwegā' mō'tc i''cigīwa', nō'dtc', keme'-cōme''senāna'. Īnidtcā', nō'dtc', ma'ni wī'udtcimī'dtciyāgwe ta'-gwa'ān', i''kwätiga', ine'nītiga'. Wī'senigu!'' ä''inedtc', ä'wī'se'-10 niwādtc'.

Me'cena''megu'u ä'tcātcāgi'se'nyäwādtc1'.

'Ō'nip ä'aiyādtci'mo'ādtc uwī'dtcimä'kwi'so'a'i', "Na'ī', ma'-ni kīnā'n änäne'menagwe käteminōnagwa ma'netōw ā'gwi ma'ni neguta''i myāne'tegin''. Āgwigä' äyīg u'wīyä'a wī'ne'ci'ādtci'-

15 ādtci'moʻagkit. Kemeʻsōtäwi'meguʻādtcimoʻene'pwaʻ. Māʻanigä'i nagamōnan īni'meguʻu äʻcimeʻsōtäwime'nagōwweʻ. 'Tānī'na'i māʻa'ni me'ʻsōtäwi'meguʻu keʻkäneta'mowāteʻ,' äʻinäneme'nagōwweʻ. Āgwi'gäʻit, 'tānīna' manaʻa neguti'meguʻu keʻkä'netagkeʻ,' āʻgw iʻcitäʻa'yāninai. 'Tānī'na'i me'sōtäwi'megu keʻgime'si keʻkäneta'mowāte

20 ma'n ä'ci'tcigäwenī'winigi kekīgänōnä'enān'', ketenänemene'pwa'.

A'dtcā''meguyugä' man ī'n ä'wäpikīgäkīgä'noyagkwe'. Āgwigä'i mani'megu'u i'cine'gutenwi wī'kīgäno'yagwin''. Īni'megu'u ai'yō' u'dtciwäpi wī'wäpi'megu'ukākīgä'noyagkwe'. Īni'megu'u me'tō'dtc ä'wäpu''säyagkwe'. Ma'n a''k ä'kwi'megumenwike'nugwäni me'-

25 to'dte ä'vaivagkwet.

"Ku'känetage manetōwa ma'n u'tō'kim ī'ni ma'ni'i wī'a'kwimigategi mani'i mī'cā'm^{mī'}. Ma'ni kīnā'n ä'ma'kwi''soyagwe me'tō'dtci ketumyä'mipen^{na'}. Me'tō'dtci wī'na Wâ'panōwa 'ma'ni mägwä'e mā'a'g āmi'citäpime'to'sänenī'wiwādtci mana''ka ma'n a''k

30 ä'ke'kyäwa'kyä''senig^{kit},' ī'n ä'inäne'menag^{kwet}. Ma'ni^dtcā' īnini me''tenō' īte'pi wī'täpipyänegwī''iyagw änäne'menagwe ma'netōw^{wat}, ä'cikātänemenag^{kwet}. Ī'n ä'ci'maniwītamō'nagōw^{wet}. Īnu'gi nī'na wä'^dtci nō'magäw ā^dtci'ā^dtcimo'e'nagōw^{wet}. Kenā'^dtcigä''megu'u kī'anemine'no'tāpwa mani'i änā^dtcimo'en'agōw^{wet}. Me'tenō''megu 35 u'wīyā'a nepwā'kā'we'site ke'tc ī'ni wī'kegeni'megu'une'no'tagi

mani''i ka'nawīn änādtci'moyānnie.

"Mā'a'ni nā'ka'dtci kenagamōne'nānān", īni'megu'u äyä'miga'-k'. Wī'aneminagamōniwigk'. Ā'gwi nō't u'wīyä'a wī'ku'kenagin'. Īni'megu me'tō'dtc änwäge''siyagkwe'. Kemai'yōpena yō' ma'n 40 ä'mamā'tomagwe manetowagk'. Ma'n āne'ta ma'ni kekī'ci'megu'-u'uni'unīdtcā'ne'sipwa'. Īnigidtcā'i nepō''iwāte kī'maiyōpwa'megu'u. Ā'gwigā'i wī'upitā'ayägwin'. Kī'myā'citā'apwaku''megku'. Tcīnawämägwa nā'ka'dtci ne'pō'it īni'megu wī'i'cimyā'citā''ayägwe pänāpatīyägwin'. Īnidtcā''i wä'dtci 'kemaiyōpena' ine'nagōw''. 45 A'ckamimegu wī'anemimānā'niwan ā'ko'wi mā'to'sāne'niwita

"That is what we said to them, the Wâpanowagi. We were not the only ones. We asked them to bless us a little further than what they said to me, so be it. That verily, so be it, is what you told, so be it, it seems, this Spirit of Fire. He has been appointed to continue to interpret our prayers to them. Verily, long ago, so be it, it seems, so be it, he, this Spirit of Fire, has already told all, it seems. And our grandfather is even of such a nature, so be it, as to cooperate with our hearts. Therefore, so be it, for that reason you are to eat this corn dumpling, women, men. Eat!" they were told, and they ate.

Then indeed they ate everything.

Then, it is said, he instructed his fellow members of the Bear gens, "Well, there is in no manner evil in this with which the manitou who took compassion upon us, blessed us. Also I am not to tell this to merely one person. I tell you all. And I tell you all about these songs. 'Would that they all knew these (songs),' is what I think of you. And I do not think, 'would that this one person knew them.' I thus think of you, 'would that every one indeed knew the performance of this our gens festival.' We have indeed just started to give gens festivals. And we shall not give a gens festival this single time. From here on indeed we shall begin to hold gens festivals with solemnity. It seems as if we were beginning to walk. It seems as if we were going as far as this earth is good.

"This sacred pack will stop when the manitou thinks of changing this, his earth. It seems as if this was the road of us who belong to the Bear gens. It seems as if the Wâpanōwa thinks of us thus, 'this perhaps is how these people contrive to live to yonder distant time when this earth is old.' Verily this with which the manitou has blessed us is the only thing which will bring us over there, that is he has pushed us with his thought. That is how I tell you this. It is why today I have instructed each one of you for a short time. And you will gradually continue to understand what I have told you. Only indeed if some one is very wise will he indeed quickly understand this word which I have spoken.

"Moreover, as regards these our songs, they are going there. They will remain as songs. No one will change them prematurely. It is the same, it seems, as if we cried them. For we weep when we worship the manitous. And this, some of you now have children. Verily if they die you indeed will weep. And you will not be joyous. You truly indeed will feel badly. Moreover, if one to whom you are related dies you will in the same way feel badly whenever you lose sight of each other. That verily is why I say to you, 'we weep.' The one who lives the last will continue to lament the many who

wī'anemimawimawi'mādtcinni'. Kīnā'naiyō kī'mawimegu'nānag ā'ko'wi wī'anemime'to'sänenī'witcigki'.

"Īnidtcā' mā'a'n ä'ciwä'pikegi mī''cāman äta'megin''. Negu'ti penā'we nī'ce'nwi wī'mawitamagwe kī'yānān''. Ī'ni wä'dtci 'ma'-5 kwā'dtci' ine'nagōwe'. Wä'dtci 'kā'ta mī'keme'kwäwä'kägu' inenagōwe 'īnu'g aiyō' ä'ta'cikīgānō'ī'yagwin''. Ā'gwi wā'wutami wī'ta'cimī'keme'kwäwäwitä'ä'iyägwini nepō'kä'yägwin''. Ā'penāwiku''megu'u kī'myā'ci'tä'āpwa'. Ī'ni ma'ni wä'dtci ne'ckime'nagōwe wī'pwāwigä'ikägō'i'i'ciwâpa'sänetamägkwe'. Mō''tci kutaga'g ä'ci'-

10 sowādtci wī'pwāwi'megu'uwâpa'säneta'mawägw umamātomōnwā-wwi'. Ma'ni wä'dtci ne'ckime'nagōwwe'. U'wīyä' nepō'käyägwe 'ī'n ä'ciwâpa'säne'menāgw awi'ta na'imenwinawä'enwā''s^', awitagä'i 'na'īnidtcā' nī'n ä'ca'wiyān'', awi'ta na'i'citä'ä'kägo'a'. Īnidtcā'i 'kā'ta' wä'dtc ine'nagōwe nī'na. Wī'kegye'tenāmi'megu'inänetamā'-

15 gäyägwe mamā'tomōnnit. Īni mä'nwikegkit.

"Āgu'wīyā'a kāgō''megu wī'i'cine'ckinawāgwini mane'towagi kāteketeminā'gātcig^k'. Ā'penāwiku''megu'u kī'myā'cimyā'cina'wā'āpw ī'n ä'ca'wiyāgwe kāteketeminā'gātcig^k'. 'Ō'ni me'cena'ku' 'megu'u wī'ketemi'nōnāgwe keteminōnwā's^'. Īni'megu'u āmu^dt-20 ciketemi'nōnāgwe mane'towag ī'n i'ca'wiyāg^{kwe'}. 'Ma'kwā^dtc'''

wä'dtc ine'nagowwet.

"Kägō''tcā' i'cinepō'käyägwe nōmagä''megu'u īnāmi'ta'i kī'cike'-käne'tamägw āmudtci'cawī'wägwänn'. Ī'ni wī'na pwāwimegu'ukägō'i keteminā'tīweni pwāwikägō'änetamägwe. Īnā'mi'ta' ānawi'-

- 25 'oyagwe kagō'' i'cawite ketapenō'emwāwwa', panā'te'site'. 'Nī'ke'-ka'nemāwwa',' i'cita''ayagkwe', awi'ta kudtci kagō'anetamāga'kago'a mamā'tomōn awi'ta' pa'ci nene'kaneta'gago'a'. Ī'n awitadtcā'' u'wīya'a 'ma'netōwa' anawe'niwita wapa'menwā'sa'. Ä'cimenagōwega' i'ca'wiyagw ata'megu'u. Māne'megu'u ma'netōwa wapa'-
- 30 menwā'sa. Īnidtcā'i wä'dtci kena'amōnagōwe wī'pwāwi'a'sāmiwâpa'-säneta'mawägwe mamā'tomōn'i. Nīnadtcā' ä'cime'nwikegi ketenepwa'. Āne'ta ma'na kätemina'we'sita wīna'megu'u käsi'p u'wī-yaw'i. Ā'gwi ke'gime's ī'n änäne'megudtcin'i: ne'ci'ka'megu'u ī'n änäne'megudtci'. Kīnā'na wī'na ma'n ā'pene'megu'u kegime'si'-
- 35 megu'u ma'nagä'i pämä'gwapita 'īni'megu'u ä'cinä''wīnanatotā''soyag^{kwet}, wī'menwime'to'säne'niwidtcit. Āgwi' kīnāna ne'ci''k
 a'kwiyā''megu'u a'penō'a nā'ka'dtc i'kwä'w äyī'g^{kl'}: ī'n āwa''s
 änäne'meguta mane'towan i'kwä'w a'penō'a'. Īni'' āwa''s
 ä'cinene'känemādtci'i 'manetōwa' änäwe'niwita'. Kīnā'na ma'n
- 40 ä'nenī'wiyagw ā'g^{kw1}, ketenenī'wipena ku^dtcī' kīnā'n^{na}. Ī'na wī'n i'kwä'w ā'gwi kanā'gwagä'i wī'ā'kwä^dtci kanāgwa nā'ka'^dtc ā'ci'-ā'kwa'tenigi wī'i'cimī'gātī^dtc¹. Apenō'a nā'ka'^dtc īni'megu'u ā'pī'-'tcānig u'wīyaw^{w1}, a'kwiyā'^dtc īn^{na}. Ā'gwi penō'^dtcimā' ā'gwi a'kwime'to'sänenī'wi^dtcinⁿ¹. Ke'tcinā'e'megu'u a'kwime'to'säne'-

45 niwīw^w. Āgwi^dtcā''imä''i ke'känetagin ä'ci'genig ä'me'to'sänenī'-

will come increasingly. As for us, those who will live in the future as the last, will mourn us.

"That verily is how these things which are called sacred packs begin. In one summer we must wail twice. That is why I say, 'quiet,' to you. It is why I say to you, 'do not court women whenever we are giving a gens festival here.' You must not uselessly think of courting women whenever there is a death in your families. You will indeed alike feel sad. That is why I now forbid you so that you will not make sport of anything. Even you must not make sport of the worship of other gentes. This is why I forbid you. If you had a death in your family and some one then made sport of you, they would not please you by so doing, and you would not think, 'that is indeed what I would have done.' That verily is why I say 'don't' to you. You must indeed think sincerely of worship. That is what is right.

"You must not in any way bring hatred into the hearts of any of the manitous who blessed us. You will make those who bestowed blessing all sorrowful alike. Now (if it is their desire) to bless us, they would bless us. In that way the manitous would contrive to bless you if you did so. That is why I said, 'quiet' to you.

"Verily if in any way you had had a death in your family in a short time you would know what had happened to you. That indeed is a kind of a blessing of which you think nothing. Then you could not help it if something happened to your child, if it died. If you thought, 'I shall find out about him,' yet you would not, for you would not think anything of our religion, nor would you even think of it. So no one of those called 'manitous' would look at you. And if you did what I told you, it would be the case. Many manitous indeed would look at him. That verily is why I forbid you to make too much sport of worship. Verily I tell you that which is right. Some of these blessed (were blessed) for themselves alone. They were not blessed for all; they were blessed themselves alone. And as for us, we ask indeed the same for every one seated around here, namely, that they live in health. It is not for ourselves alone, but more so for the children and women too: a woman or child is more thought of by the manitou. They are the ones whom the one called 'a manitou' thinks more of. It is not so as regards us men, for we are men. For it is impossible for a woman to be angry and fight in a way which hurts. And as regards children the same holds true as long as their lives are, even more so. It has not lived very long. He has lived for a short time. He does not know what life is like. And as for these men, if they end, they might have killed all their foes. Certainly it might be that he would not be shot down for a long time. Indeed no one would easily sneak upon us and so get the better of us. We should

wiwe^dtc¹. Ma'na wī'na nenī'wa me'cena''megu'u a'kwi'te mā'ne tcā'gi'ā's uwī^dtcī''ckwe'anⁿ. Mäme'ci'ka'megu'u awi't a''cita'i ka'ckikāwenawunä'a'. Awita'megu'u cä''cäkam inā'pena'negu's u'wīyä' ānawi'megu'u. Ku^dtcawi''kago'a wī'nanā''kwiyag^{kwe'}. Ī'n 5 āmi'ca'wiyag^{kwe'}. Īni^dtcā''i wä'^dtci nene'käne'megu^dtc a'penō'a manetowanⁿ. I'kwä'wa nā'ka'^dtc īni'megu wä'^dtci ke'tci'megu'unene'känemegu^dtc¹'.

"Īnidtcā' wä'wītepi wī'pōnādtcimo'enagōwe'. Īni nā'ka'dtci wī'natawiwāpināgāyagke'. Īniyānegā'megu'u naga'mōnani wī'aiyō'-10 yagwin', ā'gwi kutaga'n'. Cewä'na metā'sw a'wa'īne wī'pemikī'kī'migatōni mā'a'ni kenagamōne'nānan''," ä'inādtc'. "Īnidtcā' wī'wāpinagamoyāgke'," ä'inādtc'. Ä'wāpinā'gāwādte':

Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne e i no ki;
15 Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne e i no ki;
Ma ma ya ke wi ta mo ne e i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;
Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki;

Ki ma ma to me ga; Ki ma ma to me ga; Ki ma ma to me ga; Ki ma ma to me ga;

25 Me na ko te si ta ki ma ma to me ga; Ki ma ma to me ga; (Repeat six times.)

Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o; (Repeat three times.)

30 A ne mo te sa me dko na a ma wi no o; Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o; Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o.

Wii ne wi ya ne; (Repeat 13 times.)

35 Wi i ne wi ya ne wi i.

Kī'cinā'gäwādte1, "Wī'nī'miyagkwet," ä'inādte i'kwäwa'1'.

Ne nye ma wa wa;
(Repeat six times.)
Yo me no ta i gi se;
40 Ne nye ma wa wa;
(Repeat twice.)

try to defend ourselves. That is what we should contrive to do. That verily is why a child is remembered by a manitou. Moreover, it is exactly the same reason why a woman is greatly remembered.

"And so I shall cease instructing you for a short time. And we are going to start singing again. The songs which we shall use will be the very ones we used previously, no others. But these our songs shall nevertheless continue to grow for ten years," he said to them. "So indeed we shall start singing," he said to them. They began singing:

```
Ghost, I tell you today;
Ghost, I tell you today;
Ghost, I tell you today;
Early, I tell you today;
Ghost, I tell you today.

He will worship you;
He will worship you;
He will worship you;
One who is greatly in need will worship you;
He will worship you;
```

You must paint this body of mine red; (Repeat three times.) You must paint the dog red; You must paint this body of mine red; You must paint this body of mine red.¹¹

You will see me; (Repeat thirteen times.) You will see me, wi i.¹²

(Repeat six times.) 10

Ghost, I tell you today;

As soon as they had sung he said to the women, "We shall dance."

```
I call out for those four;
(Repeat six times.)
Here, the foe without, my son (?);
I call out for those four;
(Repeat twice.)<sup>13</sup>
```

Ompare p. 3 and the references given there.

¹⁰ Compare pp. 73, 89, 101.

¹¹ Compare pp. 73, 89, 101.

¹² Compare pp. 73, 89, 101.

¹³ Compare pp. 73, 89, 91, 103, 159.

A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni;
(Repeat five times.)
O a ye i i i i i;
A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni;
5 (Repeat twice.)

Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no; (Repeat four times.) A ne mo te sa wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no; (Repeat twice)

10 (Repeat twice.)

Ke ka ya i Ane mi le di A o ne le mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; (Repeat three times.) Ke ka ya i Anemi le di A o ne le mi ye ni wi to se ta mo; O Aye i i i i i i.

15 "Ī'ni ma'n ä'kī'cinā'gäyag^{kwet}. Īni'megu'u kegime'si' mā'an āmimegu'u a''penädtc īna' ina''amäg^{kwet}. Ī'ni nī'n ä'ci'megu'u'i'cike'tciwī'cāwäneme'nagōwe wī'wī'cigike'kinō''soyäg^{kwet}. Kudtcī''i metā'swiwa'īmiga'ke 'ī'ni wī'ke'käne'tamagwe wī'ta'se'nugwäni kekīgänowi kenagamōne'nānan^{nīt}. Ä'ciwītamō'nagōw^{wet}. Mā'anigä'i

20 nīmiwa'i'ganani mā'nätōnⁿ¹°. Nī'na nete'cike''käneta'. Newāwīnwāta'māgōp ä'mā'näteg^k¹°. Cewäwīnānu'g ā'g^{kw}¹°. Me'tenō''megu mäme^dtcinā'i nīmiwa''amagwe 'ī'ni māne'e wī'ai'yōyag^{kwe'}; īnugi wī'n

a'gkwit.

"Īni'megu'u mā'a'gi wī'wī'se'niwādtci tagā'wi kī'kāne'nānagk'.

25 Nyäwe'nw ä'nema'tänigi menā''ckunōnn', ī'ni wī'mī'dtciwādtc'.

Īni wī'i'ca'wiwādtc'. Na'ī', mamī''ci ka'nō'ci kīdtcimamī''cī'agi wī'pa'ku'nāwādtci nyä'wi' cä'cke'to'a''," ä''inedtci nīgānimamī'-cī'a'. Ä'kakā'tonādtci wī'pa'ku'nānidtc'. "Na'i', sīga'igä'gku'," ä''inādtci mamī''cī'a'', ä'sīga'i'gäwādtci mamī''cī'agi mämī'camāgā-30 tcigk'. "Upyäni'megu'u' sīga'igägku'," ä''inādtci mamī''cī'a''.

'Ō'nipi wī'n ä'wäpi'ādtcimo'ādtc īni''i wītāgwapimegudtci'i. "Pe'-kiku'' nī'ka wī'na neme'tcimegu'ukanō'negōgi mane'towagki. Man-idtcā' ä'na'inādtcimo'e'nagōw ä'na'inādtcimowādtci wī'na'ine'nagōwwe'. Īni'megu'u änemi'cikakanōne'nagōwwe'. 'Kenādtci kī'anemi'aiyād-35 tcimo''āwagi wītāgwapi'madtcigki',' ne'tegōp'','' ä'inādtci'megu'u.

"Änemi'ci'ca'wiyānⁿⁱ. Kenādtci'megu'u ketane'mi'ādtcimo''enepwa'. Āgwi nanā''ci wī'na'satawe'tawī'yägwinⁿⁱ. Mani'megu'u wī'anemi'ine'ine'nagōw^{we'}. Kenādtci'megu kī'anemiwīta'mōnepwa'. Me'cegā'megō'na' uwīyä'agā'i wī'pwāwipe'seta'wigwāni āgwi wī'pe'setawī'-

40 'idtcin'. Pä'setawī' igwäna 'ī'nāna wī'me'nwawit'. Ā'penegä''megu'u nī'anemimāmamātawādtcimu mīnamīnawipe'seta'wiyäghwe'.

I can not stop my calling; (Repeat five times.) Oh, already; I can not stop my calling; (Repeat twice.) ¹⁴

This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat four times.)
You will hang up a dog for me;
This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat twice.) 15

Finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water; (Repeat three times.)
Finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Oh, already.¹⁶

"We have now sung. That is the way you always sing all these songs (which belong there). That indeed is my greatest wish, that you firmly learn them by listening. Yet in ten years then you will know how many our gens festival songs will be. That is what I tell you. And these dancing songs are many. I know them to be so. They have boasted to me that there are many. But not now. Only when we give dancing songs for the last round shall we use many; but not now.

"Indeed these, our friends, will eat a little. They will eat the meat which hangs in four kettles. That is what they will do. Well, ceremonial attendant, say to your fellow ceremonial attendants that they are to take four kettles off (the fire)," the head ceremonial attendant was told. He urged them to take (the kettles) off. "Well, serve (the contents)," he said to the ceremonial attendants, and the ceremonial attendants who acted as ceremonial attendants served (the contents). "Serve (the contents) slowly," he said to the ceremonial attendants.

Then, it is said, he began to talk to those who were seated with him. "Indeed the manitous have spoken, by gad, very plainly (i. e., in person) to me. Verily the way I have always talked to you is the way they told me to tell you. Indeed that is how I continue to speak to you. 'You will continue to instruct those quietly with whom you sit,' I was told," he indeed said to them. "That is how I continue to do. I continue to instruct you quietly. You will never hear me speak harshly. I shall always continue to say this to you. I shall continue to tell you quietly. Indeed it will be merely any way, if some one does not care to listen to me he does not have to. Whoever listens to me he is the one who does well. And I shall always con-

¹⁴ Compare pp. 73, 89, 103, 157.

¹⁵ Compare pp. 73, 91, 103 (and 159, 161 approximately).

¹⁶ Compare pp. 73, 91, 103, 159.

Upyänigä''megu'u wī'kīgä'kīgänoyag^{kwet}. Āgwigä''i wī'kegenikīgä'noyag^{kwet}. Kenā^dtci'megu. Ī'n āmi'ci'megu pwāwiwanī''käyäg^{kwet}.
Īnugiyu' mani mā'a'gi mamī''cī'agi 'upyä'n^{nit}' nete'nāwag^{kit}. Ī'n
äna'g^{kit}. Āgwi kägō''megu wī'i'cikege'nime^dtci'i'ci'kegin^{nit}. Kīnā5 namā' ī'ni wī'i'cawī''iyag^{kwet},'' ä''inā^dtc^{it}.

Ī'nip ä'ādtcimo'edtcit, "Ī'n ä'kī'ci'sīga'i'gäyāgket." Ä''inedtcit. "'Au'," ä'i''ciwädtcit, "wī'pe'seta'wiyägwe ma'ni ka'nawīnnit," ä''inādtci ne'niwa'it:

"Nō'dtc', tcāgānāgōme'nagōwe', nō'dtc', nō'dtc', nekī'cikwāpen10 amo'wāpen', nō'dtc', keme'cōme'senā'n', nō'dtc', A'ckutā'nā'sīw', nō'dtc', ma'n', nō'dtc', nene'sä'mānān', nō'dtc'. Kemene'tāmi, nō'dtc', sa'ka'amō'nepen', nō'dtc'. Īnidtcā', nō'dtc',
ä'ci'a'pänemonutōnāg', nō'dtc'. Wī'wīta'mawa'dtc', nō'dtc', mämātoma'getcig', nō'dtc', Wâpa'nowag', nō'dtc'. Näneguti'megu,

15 nō'dtc', ä'tane'tänigi ma'ni wī'se'niwen ä'a'pime'ckinedtcä'ta'wagedtc'. Cewä'n'', nō'dtc', mā'a'ni nene'sämā'nānani nīgānime'ckinedtcä'tawa'gedtcin''. Mana''kadtcā' wä'tāpagi ta''ciWâ'panōwa 'īnā'nāna nīgānime'ckinedtcä'ta'waget', nō'dtc'. Äyänīw'', nō'dtc', me'to'sänenī'wiwen ä'natawänetamawagedtc', nō'dtc'. Wīnwā'w'',

20 nō'dtc', ä'ketemina'wāwādtc i'kwäwan ape'no'an''. Īnidtcā' ä'nagedtci 'pena ketemina'w a'penō' ō'ni nā'ka'dtc i'kwä'w'. Kekī'co'we 'äneno'wānäni 'īni'megu'u wī'anemi'inäne'menān''. Ä'ciwādtc'. Ō'ni nā'ka'dtc i'kwäwan äyī'g ä'ketemina'wāwādtc'. Īnidtcā' ä'cikī'ciwītama'wagedtci ma'na'a A'ckutä'nä'sīw''.

"Mana"ka nā'ka"dtci wädtcinā'wa'kwägi ta'ciWâ'panōwwa'. Īni'-megu ä'nagedtc'. 'Ma'nna', nō'dtc', nene'sä'mānānna', ke'kyäwenegi'megu, nō'dtc', inänetama'wināgke', ī'n ä'nagedtc'. Kegime'si'-megu ma'ni negu'ti mī'sō'n änegi'ku'ckamāgke', ī'n änegi'kwi'magedtc', ma'ni nekī'cetä'menāni nā'ka'dtci nene'sämā'nānan'. Ma'ni

30 nā'ka'dtc ä'cinatotama'wagedtc': wī'menwikī'ciginidtc apeno'a''.

Ī'n ä'ci'megu, nō'dtc', aiyādtcīdtcī'magedtc', nō'dtc', mā'a''', nō'dtc', kete'kwaiyōmenā'na' äyī'gi wī'menwimegu'ume'to'sänenī'winidtc'.

Ī'n ä'ci'aiyanigämä'inatotā''sagedtc'. Wī'täpwä'tawiyamedtci'megu'u ä'cikī'kī'ki'magedtc'. Kenādtci'megu'u kakādtcidtci'megu'u, nō'-35 dtc', ī'ni wī'inänetamawī'yamedtc ä'cimagedtci'megu'u, nō'dtc'.

"'Ö'ni nā'ka'dtci mana''ka wädtcipagi'ci'monig äpi'ta Wâ'panōwwa'. Ī'ni'megu'u ä'nagedtc'. Neme'cōme''senāte', nō'dtc'', kenīgāni'megunato'tā'sene wī'ke'kyā'idtcidtcā''megu ä'cinatawäneta'mawdtc apenō'a', wī'täpa''ku'ckag upemāte''siwenni', wī'pwāwinō'tane'-

40 pō'idtc'. Āgwigä' nīnā'na mā'ma'kādtci mō'ca'gi ma'n ä'ci'soyāge me'cemegōna'i cä'cki'megu neme'sōtäwowäpena 'ape'no'ä'a' ä'iyāgke'. Nā'ka'dtc i'kwä'wwa'. Īni'megu ä'cime'sōtäwowäyāgke'.

And indeed we shall always hold our gens festivals slowly. And we shall not hold gens festivals hurriedly. It is indeed quietly. In that way you should contrive not to forget. Even today I said this to these ceremonial attendants, 'slowly.' That is what I said to them. Indeed they are not to be hurried in any way, this is not that way. At least that is what we shall do," he said to them.

Then, it is said, he was told, "We have now finished serving (the food)." So he was told. "Very well," he said, "you may listen to this talk," he said to the men:

"So be it, ye to whom I am related, so be it, so be it, we have scattered for him, so be it, our grandfather, so be it, the Spirit of Fire, so be it, this, so be it, our tobacco, so be it. We first, so be it, make a burnt offering (of tobacco), to you, so be it. That, verily, so be it, is how we depend upon you, so be it. You must tell them, so be it, those whom we worship, so be it, the Wâpanowagi, so be it. We have raised up our open hands to each one of them, so be it, giving them this food which is cooking here. But, so be it, we first extended our open hands to them with this our tobacco. Verily the Wâpanōwa in the distant east is he to whom we first extend our open hands (with this tobacco), so be it. We alike, so be it, ask, so be it, life from him. They, so be it, bless the women and children. Therefore we say to them, 'please bless the children and women.' You have said, 'I shall continue to bless you in whatever way I have promised you.' That is what they said to me. And moreover they also bless the women. That verily is what they have told this Spirit of Fire.

"Moreover, as regards the Wâpanōwa yonder in the south. We tell him the same. 'Bless us unto old age, so be it, because of this, so be it, our tobacco.' That is what we say to him. We ask the same for all of us who belong to this single gens, because of this our cooked food and our tobacco. Moreover, this is what we ask of him: the children shall become full-grown in health. That is what, so be it, we impress upon his mind, so be it, and may these, so be it, our women also live in good health. That is our extreme plea to him. That he believe us (i. e., grant our plea) is what we insist upon. Nevertheless he will, so be it, think quietly of what we tell him, so be it.

"And moreover, as regards the Wâpanōwa who sits yonder in the west. We say the same to him. Our grandfather, so be it, we first ask of you that which is desired as respects the children, namely, that they indeed obtain old age, that they reach the (allotted) span of their life, that they may not die prematurely. And not only we who belong to this gens, but any one at all, all say it when we say 'children.' Moreover, as regards the women. We all ask the same

Āgwigä'i nīnā'na me''tenō'i 'nete'kwaiyō'menāna' inagedtcinni'.

Me'sōtäweku''megu'u nete'nāpenna'.

"Mana''kadtcā', nō'dtc¹', wä'tapita', nō'dtc¹', wädtcike'sī'yānigi Wâ'panōwa, īni'megu'u ä'nagedtc¹', nō'dtc¹', gä'¹'. Ä'i'cimiyägwe 5 i'nänem¹', nō'dtc¹', mā'a'gi nī'dtcime'to'säne'niwagk¹', nō'dtc¹'. Ä'ci'magedtc¹', nō'dtc¹'. Wīnwā'waiyōwe', wī'na nō'dtc¹', mā'a'g ä'nyä'wiwādtci Wâpa'nowagi kī'co'wäwag i'kwäwa' ape'no'a' ani'gämä' ä'i'ciketemina'wāwādtc¹'. 'Īnidtcā'' inäneme''ku,' ī'n ä'nagedtc¹'.

10 "A'cawedtcā', wī'na nō'dtcl', yātu'ge kī'ciwāpā'dtcimudtci wī'na ma'na'a A'ckutā'nā'sīwa'. Ä'cimagedtcidtcā', nō'dtcl', änādtcimoʻādtcī'yātuge wī'na Wâpanowa'i. Tānidtcā', nō'dtcl', wī'icitā'äwādtci Wâpa'nowaga'? Īni'megu, nō'dtcl', wī'icime'kwinawä'sowādtci mā'a'ni netā'kunāme'nānan'i. Me'sōtāwedtcā'megu, nō'dtcl', ī'ni

15 wī'ināne'menag^{kwet}. Ī'ni, nō'dtclt, ä'ciwī'cā'magedtclt. Āgwigā' nīnā'na me''tenō'i kä'sipimagedtcinlt. Kīnwā'wa kenatotamō'nepena wī'menwinawä'ckā'gwiyägwe ma'ni nemamātomō'nenānlt. Īnidtcā''i wī'udtci'atā'padtci'gäyäg^{kwet}, i''kwätige nā'ka'dtci kīnwā'wa

ne'nītigket," ä'inādtcit.

20 "Ī'ni ma'n āmi'ci'megu'uwī'cigi'megu'uke'kinō''soyägkwe'. Mā'-agi'megu'u wīnwā'wa ke''tcinäwe nä'neguti mā'a' a'ku'kō'i me'tō'-dtc ä'awatena'mawagkwe'. Ī'n ä'ca'wiyagw aiyō'nīna''. 'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtci wī''nawadtci'ādtci'ādtcimo'e'nagōwe wädtci'ca'wiyagkwe'. Ma'n ä'cki'megu'uka'nō'cita Wâ'panōw aiyō''i wätā'panigi wädtci-

25 tanā'dtcimagka'. Ā'gwigä' Wâ'panōwa nenī'wa me'to'sänenīwwa'. Mani'megu'u ä'cime'to'säne'niwidtci'. Kudtcī'i Wâ'panōwwa'. Cewä'nīn ā'gwi ke'te'na wâpanowänemagin a''pemeg ä'witcigi ne'niwägki'. A'cedtcā''megu ī'n ä'cite'kāta'mowādtc uwī'yāwāwwi'. 'Wâpanowagi' wī''inedtci'. 'Ō'ni nī'cō'namegi känō'cit aiyō'' īn

30 ä'uta'pidtei wädteināwa''kwänigki. Īnadteā'i wä''ei'uta wâpī'wenanni. Äyīgi'megu neme'to'säneniwâ'pamāwwa'. Kenwä'eiwä''megu'u neta'ei'aiyādtei'mo'egkwa'. Kī'ei'aiyādtei'mo'idtei wī'i'ea'wiyān ī'ni nā'ka'dtei wä'dteipagi'ei'monig äpi't ä'ka'nō'eidtei'. Āgwikägō''megu i'eiwä'eī''udteinni. Īnigä''megu' ā'pene'megu'u ä'ei'miwādtei'. Ä'-

35 wi'cigi'meguwītama'wiwādtci'. 'Ō'ni kī'cikaka'nō'cidtc ī'ni wä'dtcike'sī'yānigi wä'tapita 'ī'nānān ä'ci'ckiwī'gwänuta'. 'Ō kenwä'ci'megōn
ä'ta'ci'aiyādtci'mo'igki'. Me'ce nī'ka'megu'u neta'itanādtcimo'egōp'i. Mämädtcigi'megu'u neneno'ta'wāwag ä'ci'miwādtci'. Kī'cīna'aiyādtci'mo'idtc ī'ni nā'ka'dtci wīna'megu'u ke''tcinawe Ke'tci-

40 ma'netōw ä'ādtci'mo'idtc änä'nemidtci', ä'ci'gä'imenwinawä'egudtc īni' ä'cki'megu'uketeminawi'nidtci'i. Wī'nanä'i täpi'egwa 'īni'i manetowa' ä'ckikanō'ci'nidtci'i. Ī'n ä'ciwāwī'nwā'sudtci kī'cikaka'nō'cidtci'. 'Ketä'pi'ipwa',' inä'wwa'. 'Īni'ku'i wī'anemi'inä'nemägwe keme'to'sänenīme'nānagki'.' Ī'n ä'nādtc ä'cki'megu'ukanō'ci'nid-

45 tcinnit. Wīnwā'wa mā'a'gi mō'cagi'megu'u i''kwäwa'i ketemina'-

thing. And we alone do not say 'our women.' We truly all say so to him.

"As regards to the Wâpanōwa who sits, so be it, yonder indeed, so be it, in the north, we also say the same to him. Bless, so be it, these my fellow people as you have said to us, so be it. That is what we say to him, so be it. They formerly, so be it, these four Wâpanowagi agreed to bless the women and children the most. 'Bless them truly that way,' is what we say to them.

"Verily a long time ago, so be it, it seems that he, this Spirit of Fire, had begun to tell of this. He, it seems, has told the Wâpano-wagi what we verily said to him, so be it. How verily will, so be it, the Wâpanowagi think? They will be reminded in the same way, so be it, because of this our tobacco. They will indeed bless every one of us, so be it. That, so be it, is what we implore them. And we alone do not beseech them in a group of our own. We ask that this our worship be beneficial to (all) of you. That is why you shall take (this) up in your mouths, women, and ye men," he said to them.

"That is how you should firmly learn this through observation. It seems as if these themselves indeed handed the kettles in person to each one of these. That is what we do at the present time. And moreover I shall take a little time to tell you why we do this. This is the Wâpanōwa who indeed first addressed me here, the one whom I have spoken of as being in the east. And it is not a Wâpanōwa but a man, a human being. This indeed is how he is a human. Yet he is a Wâpanōwa. But I do not think of the men who dwell on high as Wâpanowagi. Verily they merely call themselves that. They will be addressed as 'Wâpanowagi.' And the second one who spoke to me here sits in the south. Verily he is one who paints himself with white clay. I also beheld him as a person. He indeed instructed me for a long time. As soon as he had instructed me as to what I was to do then moreover the one who sits in the west addressed me. He did not indeed paint himself in any way. And they said exactly the same to me. They told it to me earnestly. And as soon as he had spoken to me he who sits in the north, the very one who has mud on his face (spoke to me). Oh, he indeed instructed me a long time. Oh, by gad, I was talked to, and talked to there. Certainly I understood what they said to me. As soon as they had thoroughly instructed me, then also the Great Manitou in person also told me how he blessed me, and how he was pleased by those who first had taken compassion upon me. He also was pleased by the manitous who first spoke to me. That is how he praised them after he had addressed me. 'You please me,' he said to them. 'That really is how we shall continue to bless our people.' That is what he said to those who

wäwagi nā'kadtci'megu'u ape'no'i. Ī'n ä'cigi'i'nidtci'i pe''ki käteminawā'wādtci'i. Īnidtcā' mā'a'g aiyō'nina' ä'āte''cimägkwe'. Īni'megu'u wī'anemi'megu'u'inanō''kyäyagkwe', a'penädtci'megu. Kā'ta pwāwi mā'a'gi āte''cimamātomī'yägägku'. A'penädtci'me-5 gu'u kī'āte''cimamā'tomāpwa'. Ma'ni kī'cipyädtci'inetunä'moyān īni'megu'u wī'inetunä'moyagwe kakanō'tamägwe mämā'tomägkwe'. Īnidtcā'i näwa'dtc inādtcimo'e'nagōwwe'," ä''inādtci wīdtcikīgäno'-mādtci''.

"Īnigā''megu'u a''penādtci wī'anemi'inādtcimo'e'tīyāgkwe'. 'Wā10 gunā'i wī'udtcikyātamātīyāgkwe'? Medtci'wā'gā'i kāgō'' i'cimyāne'twi mani'i kemamātomō'nenānni'? Kāgō''mat i'cimyā'netege
me'cena''megu yātu'ge kīwikā'ckana''sugin i'ca'wi'kā' ādtcimo'e'nagōwwe'. Ma'ni wī'n āgwi'megu'u kāgō'' i'cika'ckika'ki'so'yāninni'. Ke'tcinawe'megu Ke'tcimanetōw ā'ādtcimo'idtc ī'n ā'ca'wi15 yānni'. Īnidtcā''i wī'natawiwāpinagamō''iyagwe nā'ka'dtc'','' ā''inādtc''.

" 'Au'," ä''inidte".

Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki; (Repeat seven times).

- 20 Ki ma ma to me ga;
 (Repeat three times).

 Me ma ko te si ta ki ma ma to me ga;
 Ki ma ma to me ga;
 (Repeat nine times).
- 25 Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no; (Repeat three times).

 Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o;

 A ne mo te sa me dko na a ma wi no o;

 Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na a ma wi no o.
- 30 Wi i ne wi ya ne; (Repeat 13 times). Wi i ne wi ya ne wi i.

Ä'wäpinī'miwādtel'. "Nīmigu," ä'inedte i'kwäwagkl'.

Ne nye ma wa wa;
35 (Repeat eight times).
Yo me no ta i gi se;
Ne nye ma wa wa;
(Repeat three times.)

A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni;
40 (Repeat five times.)
O a ye i i i i i i;
A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni;
(Repeat twice.)

indeed first spoke to me. These, these beings, are alike in blessing the women and children. They are of such a nature that (manitous) bless them. That verily is what we now say to them separately. That is what we shall always indeed continue to do. Do not worship these other than separately. You shall always worship them separately. This way in which I have spoken is the way you must speak whenever you address them in your worship. That verily is why I took the time to tell you," he said to those with whom he was celebrating the gens festival.

"And that indeed is what we shall always continue to tell each other. What is there that we should conceal from each other? How can it be that there is anything wrong in this our worship? If indeed there were anything wrong in it, it seems I should whisper in telling you. As for this, I am in no way able to hide myself. The Great Manitou himself personally told me what to do. Therefore we shall again begin singing," he said to them.

"Very well," they said.

Ghost, I tell you to-day; (Repeat seven times.) 17

He will worship you; (Repeat three times.)

One who is greatly in need will worship you;

He will worship you; (Repeat nine times.) 18

You must paint this body of mine red; (Repeat three times.) You must paint this body of mine red;

You must paint the dog red; You must paint this body of mine red.¹⁹

You will see me; (Repeat thirteen times.) You will see me, wi i.²⁰

They began to dance. "Dance," the women were told.

I call out for those four; (Repeat eight times.) Here, the foe without, my son (?); I call out for those four; (Repeat three times.) ²¹

I can not stop my calling; (Repeat five times.) Oh, already; I can not stop my calling; (Repeat twice.) ²²

¹⁷ Compare p. 3 and references.

¹⁸ Compare 73, 81, 101.

¹⁹ Compare 73, 81, 89, 101.

²⁰ Compare 73, 81, 101.

¹¹ Compare 73, 81, 103 (and 155 partially; see the Indian text).

²² Compare 73, 83, 103, 157.

Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no.
(Repeat five times.)
A ne mo te sa wi a ko ta wi no;
Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no;
5 (Repeat three times.)

Ke ka ya i a ne mi le di a o ne le mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; (Repeat four times.)

"Īniyā'pi wī'me'sōtäwiwī'se'niyagw aiyō'nina'i'," ä'inādtci kī'-gänuta 'īni'i me'to'säne'niwa'i'. "Cewä'na wī'wī'kuwäwa nenīgāni-10 mamī'cī'e'menānna'. Upyä'nigä' megu'u wī'kīwiwī'kuwäwwa'; ā'gwi wī'kīwikegeni'idtcinni'. Nā'ka'dtci māma'kādtci'megu'u tcītapi'nidtci' īni'i wī'kīwiwī'ku'mādtci'i."

'Ō'ni nī''cw äniwi'ci'mutcigi'megu'u ä'kwāgō'ōta'mowādtc!'. "Kī'-tcā'gipitcī'tapi'pwa', kī''ināpwa me'to'säne'niwagk!'," ä''inedtc!'.

15 "Wī''kuwāta wī'kī'yu'säwwa'. Me'tenō''megu'u tcītapi'nidtci'i wī'-wīku'mādtci'i," ä''inedtc!'. Ä'tcāgi'megu'ukwāgō''ōmedtc!'. "'A-'au'." Ä''nāgwādtci wī''kuwāta'. "Kī'tcāgi'megu'utcī'tapipwa'," ä'-'inedtc!'. "Me'tenō'kä''megu'u tcītapi'nidtci'i wī'wī'kumādtci'i," ä''inedtci me'to'säne'niwagk!'. Ä'tcāgi'megutcīta'piwādtc!'. Īnigā'-20 'ipīn ā'kīwī'kumādtc ā'kīwimegupī'tigādtci wīgī'yāpyānn!'. Kegime'-si'megu'u ā'kīwinī'tigādtc ā'ta''senigi wīgī'yāpyānn!'. Kegime'-si'megu'u ā'kīwinī'tigādtc ā'ta''senigi wīgī'yāpyānn!'.

si'megu'u ä'kīwipī'tigädtc ä'ta''senigi wīgī'yāpyän''. Ä'mānätenigiyu'gä'i kīgä'nowedtc'', ä'katawi'megu'utcā'giwī''kumādtc''. Upyänigä''megu'u ä'kīwiwī''kumādtc''. "Kī'wī'kumen''," a'penädtci'megu ä''inādtc''. Me'cegä'megō'na' uwī'yä'an ä'pemī''kumādtc'. Mō''tc

25 ape'no'an äyīgi'megu "Kī'wī'kumen^{ne}'," ä''inādtci me'ce'megu nä'-wādtci'l'. 'Ō'ni kä'kyā'nidtci' äyīgi'megu'u ä'wī''kumādtci me'cemegō'na' uwī'yä'anⁿⁱ'.

Āgwigā'ipi wī'pagō''ci'sīga'i'gawudtci'. Kī'ci'megutcā'gimāwa'-dtcīwādtci wī'ku'metcig ī'nip ä'nanā'tu'cāgi wī'kī''cipyādtci wīna'-30 megu ma'mī'cī'a'. Kī'cipyādtc ä'nanātu''tawudtci', ä'peminā''kawī'-nawâ'pamādtci wī'ku'mādtci'i. Āne't ä'a'ce'nonidtci'. Īni'p īnig ä'a'pwi'edtci'. Kī'ci'megu'utcā'gipyāwādtc ä'wäpi'sīga'i'gawudtci'. Upyäni'megu'u ä'kīwita'citane'gowādtci mämī'cī''itcig ä'sīga'i'gäwādtci'. "Kā't u'wīyā'a' sä'sä'sitä''ä'kidtce wī'sīga'i'gawudtci', "ä''inā

35 dtci me'to'säne'niwa'i'. "Ma'n ä''cikegi keme'to'säneniwenenān'i', i''kwätige ne'nītigke'. Mā'a'gi mämī'cī''itcigi me'to'sänenī'wiweni kīwiwe'tōwagki'. Wīnwāwa'megu'u mā'a'gi kīwiwe'tōwagi me'to'sänenī'wiweni me'tō'dtc'. U'wīyä'a nā'ka'dtci ta''ciwī'cāwi'agā'wātage wī'kege'ni'sīga'i'gawu'dtc īni'megu'u wī'kī'cinene'kä'netagi ne'-

40 powenⁿⁱ. Īni' man ä'cikegi nekīgānonā'enānⁿⁱ. Ī'ni wī'pwāwi'i'citā''äyägwe wä'dtcidtcā' ī'n ādtcimo'e'nagowe'. Ke'kinawādtcigā' īna
nīna'wime'to'sāne'niwit ī'ni wī'anemi'ci'tā'āta'. Wī'sā'sā'si'megu'u'agā'wātamwa wī'kege'ni'sīga'i'gawu'dtc'; nā'ka'dtci wī'pō'simegu'u-

This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat five times.) You will hang up a dog for me; This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat three times.) 23

Finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water; (Repeat four times.) 24

"Eventually we shall all eat at the present time," the one celebrating the gens festival said to the people. "But our head ceremonial attendant shall go about inviting. And he shall go about inviting slowly; he shall not go about in a hurry. Moreover, he must only invite those who are sitting down."

Then two who had indeed strong voices gave out a call. "You will all sit down, you will tell the people," they were told. "The one who is to invite will walk around. Only those who are seated are they whom he will invite," they were told. They called out to all. "'A 'au'." The inviter departed. "You will indeed all sit down," (the people) were told. "Indeed only those who are seated are they whom he will invite," the people were told. They indeed all sat down. And then, it is said, he went about inviting them, entering the wikiups. He went about entering all the wikiups, as many as there were. And the offerings were many, and he invited indeed nearly all. He went about inviting them slowly. "I invite you," he always said to them. He invited any one of them. He said to any one he saw, "I invite you," even also to children. And he also invited old persons, anyone.

And, it is said, they were not served beforehand. As soon indeed as those who were invited had all gathered, then, it is said, it was asked whether the ceremonial attendant had come. As soon as he came, he was asked, and he started to look at those whom he had invited. Some had disappeared. Then, it is said, they waited for them. As soon indeed as all had come they were served. Those serving as ceremonial attendants went about slowly and served (the food). "Let no one desire to be served in a hurry," he said to the people. "This is how our lives are, women and men. These ceremonial attendants go about carrying life, as it seems. Moreover, if anyone anxiously desires to be served there in a hurry, he then has thought of death. That is how our offering is. That verily is why I tell you that you must not think so. And you may know by that sign that who shall continue to think thus is one who has a weak life. He will desire straightaway to be served in a hurry; and he will greatly desire to eat. And his soul is why he does so. It seems he will wish to eat

²³ Compare pp. 73, 83, 103 (and 159, 161 approximately). 24 Compare pp. 73, 83, 103, 159.

'agā'wātamwa wī'wī''senidtc'. Nōgā'nawanigā'' īni'ni wī'udtci'i''cawidtc'. Me'tō'dtci wī'nawa'dtcimī'dtcinidtci kī'gānōn'. Ī'ni
wī'udtci'i'ci'tā'ādtc'. 'Ō'n āne't āgwi'megu'u kāgō''i wī'i'cima'ninene'kāne'tagini ma'ni kī'gānōn'. Me'ce'megu'u ā'ci'sīga'iga'5 wātān'. Nā'ka'dtc ā'gwi wī'kege'niwī''senidtci wī'i'citā'ādtcin'.
Ī'ni wī'i'ci'tā'ādtci me'to'sā'nenīwa pwāwi'megu'ukāgō''i'i'ci'tā'āt'.
Īnadtcā'' 'ī'nāna kenwā''ci wī'me'to'sāne'niwit'. Ī'ni ma'n
ä'' cikeg'."

Ī'nip ä'nādtci me'to'sāne'niwa''. 'Ō'nip ä'upyāni'megu'u'sīga'10 i'gāwādtci mamī''cī'agh'. Kī'ci'megu'u'sīga'i'gāwādtci wīnwāwa'gā'i
wī'mī'dtciwādtc ä'sīga'amāti''sowādtc'. Kī'ci'megu'umāmye''tcikī'cā'wīwādtc', "Ī'n ä'kī'ci'megu'umāmye''tci kegime'si' sīga'igawagedtci me'to'sāne'niwagh'," ä'inedtci kī'gānut'. "'Au'," ä'i'ciwādtc'.

"Nekī'ciwīnakakanō'nāpena mana''a keme'cōme''senān A'ckutā'15 nā'sīw^{**}. A'cawe' wīna kī'ciwāpā^dtcimōtug ä'cimage^dtcⁱ'. Wī'na ku'^dtci ke'ka''ā'sōw aiyō''i wī'ta'ci'ā^dtci'ā^dtcimwi''tōnagwe kāgō''megu ä'cimamātomo'yagwinⁿⁱ'. A'cawe^dtcā'' wīnaiyātugekī'ciwāpā^dtci'mo'ā^dtc uwī^dtcimanetowa'ⁱⁱ. Wīnaiyō' wī'na nekī'cimene'tāmikwâpenama'wāpen ā'ku'nāwanⁿⁱ'. Wī'naiyō' wī'na ke'ka''ā'sōw
20 a''penā^dtci wī'me'ne'tāmitāpe'sinutawā^dtc ā'ku'nāwanⁿⁱ'. Nā''k wī'-

20 a''penädtci wī'me'ne'tāmitāpe'sinutawādtc ā'ku'nāwann'. Nā''k wī'na ma'ni nemamātomō'nenāni wī'cimene'tāminanā'pänetamwa'. 'Ī'-

nidtcā' wī'n ä'citāpe'sidte A'ckutā'nā'sīwwa'.

"Mana''kadtcā'', nō'dtcl', äpi'nidtcini wätā'panigi Wâpa'nowan īni'ni wī'mene'tāmiwītama'wādtcin ä'ci'maginn'. Ä'ci'minidtcl', nō'd-

25 tc¹°, wī'inäne'māni^dtci me'to'säne'niwanⁿ¹°. Ī'n ä'ciwī'cāmagi wī'na mäne'tā'mika'nō'cita Wâ'panōw^{**}. 'Kī'ci'miyani inänemi mā'a'gi me'to'säne'niwag^{*}¹°. Ī'n ä'nage^dtci wī'inā^dtci'mo'ā^dtci mana'a änā'sama'piyagwe ä'ta'cimamā^dtcinawi'tōnagwa A'ckutä'nä'sīw^{**}. Nā'ska'^dtci ma'^dtca'penäweni kīwigāpāmiga'tenige wī'pwāwi, nō'^dtc¹',

30 me'ce'kāgwī''iyāgke'. 'Ī'nni', wī'na nō'dtci', ä'nagedtci wī'inäneta-mawī'yamedtci nene'sämānānanni', nā'ka' mani nekī'cetä'menān

ä'awatama'wagedtci tcāg ä'ci'genigkit.

"'Ō'ni nā''ka', nō'dtc'', mana''ka', nō'dtc'', wä'dtcināwa''kwänig äpi'ta Wâ'panōwwa'. Äyī'g īni'megu ä'cikwâpenama'wagedtci nene'-35 sämā'nānan''. Neme'cōme''senāte', nō'dtc'', kī'cimene'tāmikanō'-'ciyan inänemi nene'sä'mānān''a. Ä'cime'nwikegi yō' wī'na ketenā'-nemipwa na''ina'i känō''ciyägkwe'. Īnidtcā''megu nä''nīnā'na mana'a wī'inä'nemadtci nene'sä'mānān a'pe'näweni wī'pwāwime'ce'kāgwī'-'iyāge ma'ni negu'ti mī'sō'n änegi'ku'ckamō''iyāgke'. Kīnwā'wa yō' 40 wī'n ä'manetō'wiyägwe kekīwikege'ckōte''cipena mā'a'ni nī'sōne'-nānan''. Īnidtcā''i wä'dtci me'cena''megu'u pemiwäpatotā''senān''.

nānanⁿ¹°. Īni^dtcā' i wä'^dtci me'cena' megu'u pemiwäpatotā' senānⁿ¹°. Ī'ni wī'inä'nema^dtci mā'a'gi nī^dtcime'to'säne'niwag^k¹°. Īni^dtcā' megu inänetama' wināge ma'ni nekī' cetä' menāni nā' ka mana'a nene'sä'-mānānⁿa'. Ī'n ä'nage^dtci wī'na ma'na'a A'ckutä'nä'sīwa wī'inā^d-

the offering for the last time. That is why he thinks so. And some will not think anything of this offering. Indeed they serve them the food in any way. Again, one may not wish to eat in a hurry. That is what a person will wish who is not impatient. He verily is the very one who will live long. That is how this is.

That, it is said, is what he told the people. Then, it is said, the ceremonial attendants indeed served (the food) slowly. As soon as they had served (the offerings) they also served themselves (some offerings) to eat. As soon as they were surely all done, the one celebrating the gens festival was told, "Now we have certainly served."

all the people." "Very well," he said.

"We have already spoken at length to this our grandfather, the Spirit of Fire. He must have probably told long ago what we said to him. For he was appointed to interpret anything for us here whenever we worship. Verily a long time ago he has probably begun to inform his fellow manitous. As for himself, we have already first scattered tobacco for him. For he is selected always to first enjoy the tobacco. And he has first thought highly of our worship. That verily is how he the Spirit of Fire is satisfied. "The Wapanowa who sits verily yonder, so be it, in the east is he whom he will first tell what I said to him. He said to me, so be it, that he would bless the people. That is what I implore of the Wâpanōwa who first spoke to me. 'Bless these people the way you have told me.' That is what we told this one, the Spirit of Fire, who is moving for us as we sit facing him. Moreover, if evil disease stands about, may it not, so be it, strike us. That, so be it, is how we told him to bless because of our tobacco and this cooked food of every kind which we hand him.

"And again, so be it, as regards the Wâpanōwa who sits yonder, so be it, in the south. We also scattered our tobacco for him in the same way. Our grandfather, so be it, thinks of our tobacco as when you first had spoken to me. You thought righteously of us when you spoke to me. Therefore you will think of our tobacco so that disease will not strike us who belong to this single gens. For you who are manitous have brought it about that we are possessed of these our gentes. That verily is why I finally begin to ask it of you. You must bless my fellow people this way. Therefore bless us because of this our cooked food and this our tobacco. That is what we told this Spirit of Fire to tell for us, and say it to the Wâpanōwa. Verily long ago, so be it, he must have begun to tell him.

tcimwi'tawī'yämedtci wī'inādtci Wâpa'nowan''. A'cawedtcā'', nō'dtc'', kī'ciwī'nawäpi'ādtci'mo'ādtc''.

"'Ö'ni wī'na nā'ka'dtci mana''ka wä'tapita wädtcipagi'ci'monigi Wâ'panōwa wädtcipagi'ci'monigk''. 'Na'i', neme'cōme'senā'te', wī'n 5 ä'ci'megu'una'ige'nō'ig inänemināgke'. Wī'i'ci'kenwä'cime'to'sänenī'-

wiyāgket, inäne'mināgket.' Ī'n ä'nagedtci wī'nnat.

"'Ö'ni wī'na māmedtcinā a'kanō'nagedtci mana''ka, nō'dtc', äpi'ta wä'dtci, nō'dtc', ke'sī'yānig äpi'ta Wâ'panōw ä'mamāto'-magedtc'. 'Neme'cōme''senāte, wī'na ketemina'wināge kenwä'ci'-

10 megu'u wī'i'ci'anemiwāwīdtcāna/magedtci nīdtcime'to'sānenīnāna'. Ināne'mināge kanā' mani'i änegi'ku'ckawī'iyāge negu'ti mī'sōna'. Kīnwā'wai yō ä'manetō'wiyāgwe kekī'ciwāwīwāwītāpwa mā'a'ni nī'sōne'nānana'. Īnidtcā' wädtci'megu'u wī'cā'menāge wī'keteminu'ta'wiyāge 'īnugi ma'n ä'mamāto'tamāge mī'cī'iyāgwe mī'cā'ma'.

15 Īniyō' wī'n ä'cidtcā'ike'ka''amagwe wī'i'ci'tcigāyānnī'. Īnidtcā''megu'u ä'ci'tci'gāyān ä'cike'ka'ama'wiyāg****. Āgwi negu'ta'i kāgō'-'megu'u i'cikīwāni'tcigā'yāninnī'. Īnidtcā'' kī'inā'nemāpwa mā'a'gi wīdtci'sō'magigi wī'anemi, nō'dtci', nānāta'mowādtc ä'anemikugwā'-kāpātā'ninigi ma'ni keta''kimwāw**. Kīnwāwa yō' ma'n ä'mane-

20 tō'wiyagwe keta''kimwāwwi. Nā''ka wī'na mani''i kekī'cegumwā'w ä'anemikugwä'kināgwa'tenigi wī'anemimämenwinänäta'mowādtcli. Īni'megu'u ä'cipe''kinatawäne'menāge wī'inänetama'wiyāge mana'a nene'sä'mānān ä'nīgānime'ckinedtcä''tōnāg*e. Mani' nā'ka'dtci wī'se'niwen īni'megu'u wī'inänetama'wiyāg*e. Īnidtcā''megu'u mani''i

25 kī'inā'netāpwa'. Kāta pwāwinene'kāne'tagāgu ā'ta'ciketeminawī'"iyāgwe ā'ci'miyāgwedtcā'i'. Ī'ni wī'wâpa'tamāgkwe'.' Cī' nā'pe
wī'na ma'n āna'gkl'. Ke'te'na kī'i'ci'tā'āpwa'. Īnidtcā'' wī'na
mana''a wī'i'ci'ādtcimo'ādtc A'ckutā'nā'sīwa tāyā'tagwi, wī'na nō'dtcl', keme'cōme''senāna'. Īnī'yātug ā'ciwī'nawīta'mawādtc uwīdtci-

30 manetowa''. 'Ma'ni wī'n ä'ci'miwādtci wī'ine'nagōwe kō'ci'seme'-nānagki'.' Īnidtcā''yātug änādtci Wâpanowa' A'ckutä'nä'sīwwa'.

"Ma'ni nā'ka'dtcl. U'gimāw utō'täweni wī'menwi'genigkl. Ī'n ä'cinatotā''sagedtcl. Mana'ka'megu'u wī'anemimämenwi'genigi ma'ni pämāme'ki''senigi, na'ī' ä'ku'känetāgwa'tenig īninā'' ä'cina-35 totama'wagedtci wī'inänemī'yamedtcl. Wī'ka'cki'magedtci'megu'u ketōgimāmenānani wī'täpa'kwi'anemiwīdtcime'to'sänenīmemaghwe'.

Ī'n ä'cinatotā''sagedte!'.

"Ma'ni nā'ka'dtc¹. Mā'a'i kete'kwaiyōmenā'na'i wī'menwime'to'sānenī'winidtc¹. Ī'n ä'ciwī'cā'magedtc¹. Nā'ka'dtc apeno'a'i
40 wī'māmenwi'megu'ukī'cikī'ci'ginidtc¹. Ī'n ä'ciwī'cā'magedtc¹. Ā'gwi wī'nōte'kanawā''cinidtc¹, wī'tāpa'kwi'megume'to'sānenī'winidtci
wī'ināne'māwādtc¹. Ī'n ä'ci'megu'ukī'kī'ki'magedtc¹. Wīnwā'wa
yō wī'nāni'i kä'tcinene'känemāwādtci'. Īnidtcā'i wī'inä'inäne'mäwagi wī'anemiku'kwä'kāpata'minidtci ma'n utō''kimwāww¹. Wī'-

"And moreover, with respect to the Wâpanōwa who sits yonder in the west. 'Now, our grandfather, bless us in a way which is right. Bless us so that we may thus live a long time.' That is what we say to him.

"And lastly we address the Wâpanōwa who sits, so be it, yonder, so be it, in the north, as we worship him. 'Our grandfather, bless us so that for a long time we continue to play with (i. e., associate with) our fellow people Bless us, especially us who belong to this single gens. For you who are manitous have already mentioned these our names (i. e., gentes). That, verily, is why we implore you to hear us with compassion to-day as we worship this sacred pack which you have given us. For that verily is how you directed that I should conduct the ceremony. Verily I perform it as you directed me. I have not done this wrongly in any way. Therefore you will bless these my clansmen so they may continue, so be it, to see this your earth as it continues to change its appearance. For this earth is yours who are manitous. And may they continue to happily see this your sky as it continues to change its appearance. That indeed is what we strongly desire of you, that you so bless us because of this our tobacco which we first extend to you with open palms. Moreover, bless us in the same way because of this food. Therefore you will think of this. Do not fail to remember where you blessed me and what you said to me. You must look at that.' Yea, that is what I truly said to him. Surely you will think so. That verily he, this Spirit of Fire, must tell them so collectively, so be it, he who is our grandfather. That, it seems, is what he has told his fellow manitous. 'This is what our grandchildren told me to say to you.' That indeed is what the Spirit of Fire has told the Wapanowagi.

"Moreover, this: May the chief's town be in security. That is what we ask of them. May this earth rest in great security till yonder distant time, and we ask from them that they bless us at the time when there is thought of changing it. May we indeed persuade them that we continue throughout to live with our chief. That is what we ask of them.

"And this: May these our women live in good health. That is what we implore them. Moreover, may the children all grow up safely. That is what we implore them. They must bless them so that they do not perish prematurely, but (on the contrary) so that they may live their full span of life. That is what we insist upon. For they are the ones of whom they think especially. Therefore they will bless them so that they will continue to see this (the manitous')

pwāwinā''kakägō'na'ikīwitanamadtci'e'gwinidtcī'ni wī'inäne'māwādtc

Apeno'Annit.

"Īnidtcā' ānādtci'mo'ādtci wīnai'yātuge mana''a keme'cōme''senāna tā'yā'tagw A'ckutā'nā'sīwa'. A'cawe'dtcā'i kī'ciwāpādtcimo''ātugke'. 5 Nā'ka'dtci mana''a 'A'nenāgi Tāyāpī'gwā'ciga' ānāwe'niwita wī'na nā'i ke''ka'ugw uwīdtcimanetowa'i nāmitā'ā'āgani wī'ke'kā'netag änemi'megu'u'i'citā'atamo'wagwāni keme'to'sāneniwiwenenān''. Īna'megu'u wī'pwāwiwāwanāne'menagkwe'. 'Ō' nā''ka mā'a'n A'ckutānā''siwani kāgō' i'ciwanādtcimonite 'īna'megu'u kā'ka'wäweniwi'ta

10 wī'wīgātā'dtcimudtc'. Wīnwā'w ano'kānegōg uwīdtcimanetō'wāwa'i wī'ta''ciwāwītawā'kwāpa'menaghwe. Wī'na ma'na'a wī'anemiwāwīgātātota'mōnagwe kāgō' ä'cipe'tādtcimo'yagwin'. Mana'dtcā' wī'wīgātādtcimwi''tōnagwe A'ckutā'nā'sīwa'. Āgwi' kāgō'i wī'i'ciwāwane'ckā'inu'tō'nagwin'i. Ānemi'āmiga'tenigi'megu'u mī'cā'-

15 mika'nawīn ī'ni wī'inā'totag^{klt}. 'Ō'ni wī'na kägō'' i'ciwanī'käte mā'a'n īni wī'ādtcimwi''tāgudtc A'nenägi Täyäpīgwä'ci'nidtcinnlt. Ī'n ä'caiyāne'käwi'anō'kāne'gowādtci winwā'w uwīdtcimanetō'wāwa'l'. Īnidtcā''yätug ä'kī'cimämenwiwītama'wāwādtci mämātomema'gedtci'i Wâpa'nowa'l'.

"Nā''k ī'n ai'yā'kow ä'udtci'se'tōwādtci 'negu'twāpyägki',' ä'ita'-mowādtci'. Aiyanigämä'i nätotama'wagedtci wī'pwāwikīwimäne'cīgwägā'pā'inidtci nekwīye'sä'emenā'na' īna''i täpa'kwine'to'sänenī'-winite na''ina' ä'kwiwäpänetamu'gwä'igi ma'n utō''kimwāwwi', wīnwā'wa 'īna'tcā' tane''sinite', wa'nimōdtc ä'kwimane'senowäneta-

25 mu'gwä'igi kīnāgwi wī'pyä^dteimāmī'cā^dtei'oni^dte uwä'cī''ōnwāw^{w1}.

Ī'n aiyani'gä'mä'i nätotā''sage^dtei wī'inänemī'yame^dte¹. Īni^dteā''yätuge wī'na mana'a ai'yā'kowi wä'^dteika'nōnā^dte A'ckutä'nä'sīw^{wa}'.

Ā'kowī' yō u^dte ī'n nekanōta'māgōg^{k1}'.

"Mani' nā'ka'dtcl. Ā'co'wi meno'tanwe wāwudtci māmyā'cika-30 nōnenowagwāna nānō'tadtcā' wī'na wī'pōnānene'menagkwe. Ī'n ā'ci'miwādtcl. Īnidtcā' äyī'g ä'cinatotā'sagedtcl. Medtci'megu'u pō'si pwāwipōninene'känemeno'wagwāna naiyānenwi'megu'u wī'n u'wīyawi wī'āwatagkl. Īnidtcā', äyīgi nātotā'sagedtci wī'ināne'menagkwe. Wī'tāpwā'tawiyamedtci'megu'u. Ī'n ā'cimagedtcl.

35 "Nā''ka wī'na neguta" i'cina'pi''saiyāgke', wī'na nō'dtc'', wītāmagete natu'panite nenīwa'megu wī'ne''sagedtc''. Ī'n ä'cinatotā''sagedtc''.

"'Ō' nā''k', wī'na mā'a''l', nō'dtcl', äyī'g ā'dtcimāwa nāna'inedtcātamāgudtci'i māmātomāweniwidtcl', pāgā''tawudtci nāna'e'sami'-40 nidtci'l'. Īni'' äyī'g änemimāmenwī'kamāgugwāni wī'tāpa'ku'ckaminidtci'megu'u me'to'sānenī'wiwen'l'. I'cika'nōnāw''. Īnidtcā'', wī'na nō'dtcl', wī'inā'nemādtcl'.

earth as it changes its appearance. Also they must bless the children

so they are not pained by anything.

"That verily is what he very likely, our grandfather, this Spirit of Fire, told them collectively. He probably has indeed begun to tell long ago. Moreover, this one who is called 'He who lies with his eyes bulging in the smoke hole' also has been named by his fellow manitous to know the inmost thought of us as we indeed continue to think any way whatever of our lives. He indeed will not fail to think of us. Oh, also if this Spirit of Fire in any way makes a misstatement he is the one designated to carefully tell (exactly what we said). They are employed by their fellow manitous to watch us from both sides. He, this one, shall continue to very carefully tell us if we make an error in what we say. Verily this one, the Spirit of Fire, shall carefully report for us (what we say). He will not thereby hear from us anything which is evil. As (this) sacred pack speech is, he will tell it. And if he forgets anything this one, He Who Lies with His Eves Bulging in the Smoke Hole, shall then tell it for him. That is how in turn they are employed by their fellow manitous. That verily, it seems, is what they have well told to the Wâpanōwagi whom we worship.

"Again, they have placed as the very last that which they call 'one slice.' A little bit more than that is what we ask from them so that our boys may not stand about with shamed faces if they live long enough to reach the time when they (the manitous) begin to think of this their earth, and if they are present indeed whenever by chance (the manitous) plan war for (this earth), may they confidently highly decorate themselves with their paint. That is how we ask them to bless us a little more. That verily is probably why this Spirit of Fire told them that the very last thing. They too have told me that as the last thing.

"Moreover, this: Whoever from the other side shall talk evilly of us shall verily cease thinking of us prematurely (i. e., so his plans will miscarry). That is what they told me. That verily also we ask of them. And whoever does not cease thinking too much of us shall instead curse himself. That verily is also how we ask them to bless us. Indeed they must believe us (i. e., grant our prayers). That is what we say to them.

"Again, if we should fill some one's place, so be it, if we accompany a person on the warpath, may we kill a man. That is what we ask of them.

"Oh, he also mentioned these also who handle (the offerings) for him whenever he is worshipped, and who cook the food which is boiled for him. Also whoever continues to take the greatest pains shall attain his (allotted span of) life. That is what he said of him. Therefore, so be it, he will bless him that way.

"Nā'ka'dtci neguta' i'ci wīdtcä'wänite me'to'säneniwani'megu'u wī'ne''sānidtc''. Ī'n ä'cinatotā''sagedtci wī'inänetamawī'yamedtci kīwi'anō'kānemagedtei''. Wī'na ku'dte ī'n ä'cika'nōnādte'.

"Nā'ka'dtci mā'a'i' cāga'sai'yāgin änemi'atamā'nānidtci'i wī'inā'-5 nemādtc1'. Īnidtcā'i wī'i'ciketemina'wāwādtc1'. Ō'ni pemāgwapi'-

nidtcin i''kwäwan äyī'gi pemāte''siweni wī'inä'nemäwwa'.

"Nā'ka'dte īnu'gi mani'i ä'ta'cinānīmī'kami'nidtei'i ma'n änäne'miwādtcie, äyīgi'megu'u īni'ei wī'täpa'kwi'megu'u ä'ke'kyäwenī'winigi wī'aneminānīmī'ka'minidte". Ī'ni wī'inä'nemādte". Me'ceme-

10 gō'na'i ta'swi'megu'u nīminīmi'nidtci' ī'ni wī'inäne'māwādtci'. Ī'n ä'cinatotā''sagedtc'. Īnidtcā''yätuge kī'cinādtci'mo'ādtci wī'na ma-

na"a A'ckutä'nä'sīwa Wâpanowa'1'.

"'Ō' wī'na wī'na Wâ'panōw a''cigan udtc mane'senowigīwwa'. Īnidtcā a'cinatotā sāwādtci mā a'gi anemime to saneniwagki. Ī'ni-15 dtcā' wī'inā'nemāgwe mā'a'gi kō'ci'seme'nānagkit. Ī'n ä'ciwī'cā'menāgwe mana'a käteminawägkwat. Īnī'yätug änādtci mana'a keme'come'senan A'ckuta'na'siwa Wapanowa'i. Iniku'i winwawa'dteā'i wī'i'citä'ā'sowagi mā'a'n ā'ku'nāwawani wāpipa''tapa'tā'pwātet. Īni'ku'i yō'w ä'nagedtcit. Ke'te'na wī'i'citä''äwagkit.

20 "Mani' nā'ka'dtci wī'se'niwen īni'megu wī'inäneta'mowādtci nekī'cetä'menānnie. Nā'ka'dtci nä'kwāpetamāgo'wādtci'i mani'i äwatenama'wagedtc ī'ni kenā'dtci wī'i'cinene'käne'māwādtci. Ma'ni ne'ki wī'anemimāmī'dtcīwa mana'ka'megu'u ume'to'sänenī'wiwen ä'kwāpyä"senigkit. Wītanemimāmīdtcī'wa ma'ni mämātomī'namegkit.

25 Ī'ni wī'inā'nemādtci. Ī'ni wī'na mana'a wī'inādtci'mo'ādtci kemetcome''senāna'. 'Ī'ni inänemā'kana',' wī''inādtci Wâpa'nowa' A'-ckutä'nä'sīw'. Īnidtcā''i wī'inäne'menagkwe'. Īnidtcā''i wī'udtcikenādtciwapi'ata'ata'pata'magwe keme'come'se'nānag awatenama'wagedtci Wâpa'nowagki. Ī'nidtcā'kä' kīnwāwa wī'icimenwinawä'-

30 ckā'gwiyāgw äwatenamā'gäyāgket. Wītudtciwītse'niyägkwet, i'tkwätige nā'ka'dtci nenīti'gket. Wī'seni'gkut!'' ä'tinādtc īna nenīwwat.

"Iniga" megu wīnana" kīnāna wī natawiwapinā gayag kwet. Aiyō'nina'i nīmiwa'i'ganan āwa''sīmä'i wī'ta''sō'segkit. Wī'menwi'meguta'sō'senōnni. Medā'swawa'ī'maga'ke 'ī'ni wī'kīci'megu'u wī'ta'-35 sōne'nugwäni ta''so'segkl'. A'cka'dtci wī'mānō''senōni wī'cā'wi 'ō'me'cegä' ini'megu. Na'i', wäpināgä'itāwwet,'' ä'inādtcit.

Tti la ve ke wi ta mo ne i no ki; (Repeat four times.) Ma ma ya ke wi ta mo ne i no ki; Tti la ye ke wi ta mo ne i no ki; (Repeat four times.)

"Moreover, if they go along anywhere with (a war party), may they indeed slay a human being. That is how we ask them to bless those whom we ordered about (i. e., the ceremonial attendants). For that is how he spoke of them.

"Moreover, he shall bless these who have continued to smoke what we smoke. Therefore he shall so bless them. And he also shall bless the women who have been seated in clusters with life.

"Moreover, those who have been dancing to-day for this with which they (the Wâpanowagi) blessed me, also they shall attain old age so that they will continue to dance for it. That is how he shall bless them. They will bless that way just as many as danced steadily. That is what we ask of them. That verily he, this Spirit of Fire, must have told the Wâpanowagi.

"Oh, he the Wâpanōwa, to be sure, is of such a nature that one side of him is for war. That verily is what these future (i. e., living) people ask of him. That verily is how you will bless these our grandchildren. That is how this one whom you blessed implores you. That, it seems, is what this our grandfather said to the Wâpanowagi. Verily indeed they will be reminded of (this) by this tobacco when they begin to puff it. That indeed we told him formerly. Surely they will think so.

"Moreover, they must think the same way of the food which is cooked. Moreover, they must gradually think the same of those who received and transmitted to them this which we offer them (i. e., the ceremonial attendants must be blessed the same way). He shall continue to eat this as far as his life lasts. He shall continue to eat what is offered in prayer. That is what he must think of them. That is what this our grandfather shall tell him. 'You had better bless them that way,' is what the Spirit of Fire will say to the Wâpanōwagi. That verily is how they will think of us. That verily is why we gradually take up into our mouths that which we extend to our grandfathers the Wâpanowagi. And that verily which we have offered will in this way benefit you. It is why you will eat, women, and men. Eat!" that man said to them.

"And now we also had better begin to sing. At this time there will be more dancing songs. There will indeed be just the right number. In 10 years there will be as many as there ever will be. Later on there will be may of them perhaps or they may be the same. Well, let us begin singing," he said to them.

Ghost, I tell you to-day; (Repeat four times.) Early, I tell you to-day; Ghost, I tell you to-day; (Repeat four times.) ²⁵

²⁵ Compare p. 3 and the references cited

5

Ki ma ma to me ga;
(Repeat three times.)
Me ma ko te si ta ki ma ma to me ga;
Ki ma ma to me ga;
(Repeat six times.)

Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na ma wi no o;
(Repeat three times.)

A ne mo te sa me dko na ma wi no o;
Ma ni ni ya wi me dko na ma wi no o
(Repeat.)

Wii ne wiya ne; (Repeat 14 times.) Wii ne wiya ne wii.

"Īni ma'n ä'kī'cinā'gäyag*we'. Awiyātuge'megu'u pemi'se'nyäwagi 15 mā'a'gi kī'kāne'nānag*i'," ä'inādtc'. "Āgwigä'i wī'kege'nimagwe wīnwāwa'megu. Ä'pī'tci'senyä'gwä'igi wī'a'pī'tci'se'nyäwag*i'," ä'-'inādtc'. Awiyātugägä''megu ä'pemi'se'nyäwādtc'. "Īni'ku' ä'-cime'nwikeg*i'. Ī'n ä'ci'agāwānagi wī'i'ca'wiwādtc'. Ā'gwi wī'sä'-sä'sikīgäno'yägwini kī'ci'a'cenō''iyānni'. Āgwigä'' mani wī'ta'ci'-

20 aiyō''ikāgikāgigäneniwī'yānin''. Me'cena''megu kabō'twe nī''a'-cen''. Me'tō'dtci nō'magäwe nī'me'to'sänenīw''. 'Ō'ni ma'ni mana'kamegu kī'anemipemipemenāpwa'. Äyīgigä''megu kī'anemi'-a'pä'a'pä'nemupwa'. Me'cena''megā'pe' kabō'twe kī'a'pänemō'nutāpwa ma'ni''. Āgwi'gä' u'wīyā'a mani''i nanā''ci wī'me'tcikanōne'-

25 gwidtcinⁿⁱ. 'Ī'niyāp ä'ketemi'nōnānⁿⁱ,' ā'gwi wī'i'gwidtcin u'wīyä'. Wī'ā'pedtci'megu'unene'käneta'mugwäna 'ī'nānāna wī'ketemi'nāgwita mani'i mī'cā'mⁿⁱ.

"Āgwigā' nī'na ne''ci 'umī'cāmeta'mānini ma'ni mī'cā'mi kegi-'kwäwe'megu'u ketepänetāpena nā'ka'dtci kega'peno'e'. Mō'tci'me-30 gu'u pwāwina'etu'nāmuta mani' äyīgi'megu'u umī'cāmetamwa'. Wīna'nä'i kī'gänu'sa kägō''i'. Me'ce'na' āgwi'gä'i mā'ma'kādtci kī''cigita wī'na'ikākīgä'nudtcinni'. Me'ceku'megō'na'i'. Īni' man ä'cikegi kemī'cā'menānni'. Wī'pwāwiku'se'tamägkwe', ī'ni wädtc īn ine'nagōw''. Me'cemegō'na' u'wīyā'a 'nī'kī'gännu' ä'citä'ägwäna 35 wī'kī'gänōw''. Wīnagä''megu'u wī'tä'pi'tōw u'wīyaw''. Segi'känetag u'wīyā'a wīna'nā'i wī'segi'känemegwi'megu'u ma'ni mī'cā-

"Ā'gwi nī'na me''tenō'i wī'ta'ci'segi'segi'känemegwī'yāninⁿ. Me'-cemegō'na'i'. Aiyīmīgwāmīgu'dcā''megu'u wī'nene'känetamägwe na-40 ga'mōnani nā'ka''dtci kanaka'nawīnⁿ. Mānewiyu'megu'u ma'ni kete'ci'tcigā''ipenⁿ. Ā'gwi me''dtci pō''si wä'dtcinowi'tcigā'ī'yagwinⁿ. Īni'megu'u āmu'ciwī'ciginene'käne'tamägwe mā'a'ni kenagamōne'nānanⁿ. Ma'nigā' wä''dtc' 'a'cka'dtcimä''. ä'ci'gk'. Īnu'-

He will worship you;
(Repeat three times.)
One who is greatly in need will worship you;
He will worship you;
(Repeat six times.) 26

You must paint this body of mine red; (Repeat three times.)
You must paint the dog red;
You must paint this body of mine red; (Repeat.) ²⁷

You will see me; (Repeat 14 times.) You will see me, wi i.²⁸

"We have now finished singing. Indeed these our friends are still eating," he said to them. "And we are not to hurry them. They may eat as fast or as slow as they wish," he said to them. They were still eating. "That is the right way. That is what I wish them to do. You are not to hold gens festivals hurriedly whenever I disappear. And I am not going to live here forever. Indeed I shall be gone sometime. It seems as if I shall only live a short time. And you will continue to take care of this far into the future. And also you will continue to depend upon it. At any time you may suddenly have to rely upon this. And this will not speak plainly ever to any one. It will not tell anyone, 'Eventually I bless you.' Whoever shall always remember it is the very one this sacred pack will bless.

"And I alone do not own this sacred pack; we all own it, including women and children. Even one who can not talk also owns this sacred pack. He also might offer something. And one who is full grown will not be the only one who will hold gens festivals with solemnity. It may be any one. That is how our sacred pack is. You must not be fearsome toward it; that is why I tell you. Any one who thinks, 'I shall hold a gens festival,' may hold a festival. And he will benefit himself. If any one sincerely and constantly thinks of it, this sacred pack will also think sincerely and constantly of him.

"I am not the only one of whom it will think of sincerely and constantly. It will be any one. Verily indeed do your best to remember the songs and the speeches. We have indeed performed this many times. Our ceremonies are not so easy to conduct. That is the way you should contrive to think seriously of these our songs. And this is why I was told, 'Later on indeed.' I was instructed by all of

²⁶ Compare p. 81 and the citations.

²⁷ Compare p. 81 and the citations.

²⁸ Compare p. 81 and the citations.

gi nīna'megu'u tcāgi'megu'u ke'ka'a'mawige māme'ci'kaku''megu awita mō''tci negu'ti ke'känetagägo'a'. Inugi wī'na mā'a'n ä'nyäwe'nō'igkit, kekī'ci'megu'uke'känetāpwatugket. 'Ō'ni menō''kamīg āwa'sī'mä' îni ta'swi wī'ai'yōyag kwe'. Kī'anemidtcā''meguna'kwike'-

5 känetāpwat," ä'tinādteit.

Ī'nip ä'kī'ciwī'se'nidte". "Na'ī', īni' mā'ag ä'kī'ciwī'se'piwādtci wī'ku'metcigkit. 'O' wī'nī'mi'agwe mā'a'gkit. 'O' me'ce wīna'megu'u u'wīyā' i'ci'tā'āta wī'nīmīwwa'," ä'i'dtc!". "Mamī'cī''etig a''kanani māwate'namugkut," ä'inīdtci mamī'cīta't. "Nana'gutäg aiyō'i

10 kī'pe'kwā'gwatōpwa'," ä'i''ciwädtci'. "'Au'," ä'ī'yowādtci mamī''cī'-Agkit. 'Ö'nip ä'māwatena'mowādtcit. Kī'cimāwatenamowādtci nanagutä'g ä'pe'kwāgwa'tōwādtc". Īnigä'me'gup ä'wäpinana'igāpāwādtci wī'nī'mitcigkie. 'Ōni mamī'cī''at, "Na'i', i''kwätige nā'ka'dtci ne'nītigke', aiyō' mani mane'towag ä'ta'cike'kake'ka'udtc'. Īnu'-

15 gi nīmigu'dtcā't. Ke'gime'si nīmigu'megu'u," ä'i'ciwädtct. Īnigä'-

ipi'megu ä'wäpināgäwādtelt.

Ne nye ma wa wa; (Repeat six times) Yo me no ta i gi se; 20 Ne nye ma wa wa; (Repeat three times.)

> A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni; (Repeat five times.) O A ye i i i i i i;

25 A gi ni ka lo no we ya ni ni; (Repeat twice.)

Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no; (Repeat four times.) A ne mo te sa wi a ko ta wi no;

30 Ma ni ye yo wi a ko ta wi no; (Repeat three times.)

Ke ke ya i Anemi le di A o ne le mi ye ni wi tose ta mo i; (Repeat five times.) O A ye i i i i i i.

35 Ni de nwi lya ta ma ne to wa e no ta wo ta; (Repeat three times.) Nye we nwi lya ta ma ne to wa e no ta wo ta; Ni de nwi lya ta ma ne to wa e no ta wo ta; Ni de nwi lya ta ma ne to wa e no ta wo ta.

them now, certainly you would not know even one. As it is, there are but four of them, and you probably have learned them. And in the spring we shall indeed use more. Verily you continue to know them after the next generation," he said to them.

Then, it is said, they had completed eating. "Well, those who were invited have finished eating. Oh, we shall make them dance. Oh, any one who so desires, may dance," he said. "Ceremonial attendants, gather the bones," he said to the ceremonial attendants. "You will pile them up here in the center of the fire," he said. "Very well," the ceremonial attendants said among themselves. Then, it is said, they gathered them. As soon as they had gathered them they piled them up in the center of the fire. And then, it is said, those who were to dance began to stand in position. Then a ceremonial attendant said, "Well, women and men, right here is where the manitous are named. Verily you must now dance. Indeed all of you are to dance." And then, it is said, they began to sing.

I call out for those four;
(Repeat six times.)
Here, the foe without, my son (?);
I call out for those four;
(Repeat three times.) 29

I can not stop my calling; (Repeat five times.) Oh, already; I can not stop my calling; (Repeat twice.) 30

This is what you are to hang up for me; (Repeat four times.)
You will hang up a dog for me;
This is what you will hang up for me; (Repeat three times.) 31

Finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water; (Repeat five times.)
Oh, already.³²

The manitou who comes twice is he who is imitated; (Repeat three times.)

The manitou who comes four times is he who is imitated;

The manitou who comes twice is he who is imitated;

The manitou who comes twice is he who is imitated.³³

²⁰ Compare p. 81, etc.

²⁰ Compare p. 83, etc.

¹¹ Compare p. 83, etc.

¹² Compare p. 83, etc.

[#] The manitou who comes the second time will bless me. Such is the import.

A gi ta ka mi ki ne ki wi ki wi ka la;
Wa ge i ne te na;
(Repeat three times.)
A ye i i i i i.

5 Wi wa na ki me wa; Wa na ki me wa; Wi wa ni ki me wa; Wa ni ki me wa; Wi wa ni ki me wa;

10 Wa ni ki me wa;
Wi wa ni ki me wa;
Yo me no a ya tti me ta;
Wi wa ni ki me wa;
Wa ni ki me wa;

15 Wi wa ni ki me wa; A ye i i i i i i.

> De we na na i ni ko ta a no ko ta a no; De we na na i ni ko ta a no ko ta a no; Ko ta a no ko ta a no;

20 A ye i i i i i i.

Lya ya ni
O ma o ma tti se wa ke ma ne to wa ki;
(Repeat three times.)
Ni ka ne,

250 ma o ma tti se wa ke ma ne to wa ki.

Ä'kī'cikīgā'nowādtc1'. "Ī'ni. Ä'kī'ci'megu'umenwikīgānō''iyagkwet," ä'tinādtelt. "Ini'megu'u wītanemitinatinanō'tkyäyagkwet. Mana'kaku''megu'u ma'ni kete'cime'tō'dtcimyä'kā'gwipen ä'ke'kyäwe'niwigki. Mō"tci kīnā'na ma'ni ke'gime'si kemyä'kā'gwipennat. 30 Īni'megu wī'anemi'cime'to'sänenī'wiyagkwet. Īnigä''megu äyādtci me'sõtäwe me'to'sä'nenīwwa'. Āgwigä' u'wīyä'a pai'yā'kidtci wī'a'kwime'to'sänenī'widtcinnic. Nā'ka'dtc ā'gwi pai'yā'kidtci wī'anemi'cime'to'sänenī'widtcinnit. Ini'megu ä'cināgu'sidtci'megu'u kä'kyāta 'īni'megu'u wī'anemi'cināgu'siyagkwet. Nī'naiyō' ke''kaiyāne īni'-35 megu wī'i'cike''kyäwināgu''siyānnit. Ma'nigä'i mī'cā'm aiyänīwe'megu'u wī'a'pī'tcināgwa'twi'. Ā'gwi nanā''ci wī'ke'kyämiga'kinni'. Me'tenō'ku''megu'u mani''i a''ki na''ina' ä'ne'ciwanādtcāgwän ī'ni wī'ne'ciwa'nādtcāgi ma'ni kemī'cā'menān't. Ī'ni nā'ka'megōnini naga'monan ītepi'megu nä' īnini wī'anemi'megutepa'kwi'unaga-40 mō'netāpi'. Āgwigä'i mā'a'ni me'cemegō'na'i': īni'megu'u wī'i'cinīpe'nä'segkit. Ā'gw ādtcipanagidte īna'i wī'a'täginnit. Mani'megu īnu'g äna'ama'gwe 'īni'megu'u wī'anemi'ina'ina'a'mowādtci wī'ane-

minānaga'mutcigki. Uwī'yä'a'gä'i kuta'g ina'ina'a'ge nōtamegu'u

I keep on standing about on the surface of the earth;
(?) if he should be told;
(Repeat three times.)
Already.34

He will call them to arise;
He will call them to arise;
He calls them to arise;
He will call them to arise;
Yo, the one who is spoken of as being good;
He will call them to arise;
He calls them to arise;
He will call them to arise;
Already.35

But you must feel it, feel it; But you must feel it, feel it; Feel it, feel it; Already.³⁶

When I come
The manitous will give sudden jerks;
(Repeat three times.)
My friend,
The manitous will give sudden jerks.³⁷

They had finished celebrating the gens festival. "This is all, We have now well celebrated a gens festival," he said to them. "Indeed you must continue to always do it the same way. It is as if this were building a road for us far off vonder, where old age is. This will even build a road for every one of us. That is how we are to continue to live. And every one of the people travel it. And no one will end his life differently. Moreover, no one will continue to live differently. We shall continue to look exactly as an old person looks. And this sacred pack will look the same. It never will be old. Only indeed whenever this earth is destroyed will this our sacred pack be destroyed. And so these very songs will be owned up to that time. And these will not be sung merely any way: they will be in the same order as they now are. They will not be placed in different places. Those who will sing in the future will continue to sing them just as we have sung them to-day. And if any one sings them differently, his life will end prematurely. That will happen to him as they are manitou songs. That is the nature of these our songs. We shall be afraid to make sport of them just for fun. And that is

 ⁴⁴ I am standing about on this earth. Well, well, I said to the one who had blessed me. Such is the sense.
 45 If his war party has all been slain, the manitou who had blessed him will appear on the earth and make them all come to life. Such is the import. Compare p. 173 (partially).

MAfter coming back to life, they will all slay their enemies. This is the esoteric meaning of the song.

When the hero was about to be blessed, the manitous did not lie still, they kept on moving about.

wī'a'kwime'to'sänenīwwa'. Īni'megu'u wī'i''cawidtc ä'manetōwina-gamō'niwigk!'. Ī'ni wī'i'cikegi mā'a'ni kenagamōne'nānann!'. Wī'-ku''tamagwe me'cemegōna'i wī'pwāwi'ciwâpawâpa'ci'tōyagkwe'. Īnigä''īni wä'dtci wī'i'cikegk!', wä'dtci me'tō'dtci ku''cku'ckwāgk!'. Uwī-5 yä'agä'mä'i wīgädtci'megu'u ä'ci''senig i'cike'kä'netage wī'udtci'megupemāte'sī'nutamwa'. Īnidtcā' ä'ciwītamō'nagōw aiyō' nīnānna'.

"Nā'ka'dtci pe'ki'megu'u kī'wīgā'dtci'megu'upe'se'tawipwa wī'i'cikana'wiyān'i'. Mā'a'gi kī'kāne'nānagi wīta'mawage 'īni'megu'u a'penā'dtci'megu'u ī'ni wī'anemi'i'ci'tci'gāyāg^{kwe'}. Kā'ta kāgō''i 10 wī'i'ciku'kā'kuna'mawägwe 'inänetagāg^{ku'}. Īnigā'i wī'anemi'i'cimā-

gwe kwiye'sä'agki'.

"Īnidtcā' wīnai'yātug ā'cikī'cāgudtci'megu'umenwina'wā'agwe ma'netōw ā'kī'cimenwī'ka'mawagw āwatena'mawudtc'. Īni'ku' i'citā'ätugedtcā''. Me'cena''megu'u mā'a'g aiyō' ā'ta'cimamāto'miwādtc

15 äwitcigi wī'tāpa'kwi'megu'uke''kyāwaga'. Īnī'yātuge mā'me'ci'k

ä'cine'wā'agwe ma'netōwa' Ä'ci'megu'umenwi'genig īnī'yātuge

ä'cina'wä'agwe ma'netōwwa'. Ä'ci'megu'umenwi'genig īnī'yätug änäne'menagkwe', täyä'tagwi keme'cōme'se'nānagi Wâpa'nowagki'. Wīnwāwa'ku'i keme'cōme'se'nānagi manetō'wiwagki'. Ā'gw a'ce'-

megu'u papī'wimanetō'ä'ī'wādtcinnit.

"Īnugidtcā" i nīnāna'nä'i nemī'cātäne'mopen änō'kāna'getcig ä'pwāwimīwe'kwä''tawägkwe'. Ä'pemato'menāgw aiyō''megu'u ä'pyädtcita'itane'kwäpi'tōyägwe kī'yāwāwwi'. 'Īni'ku'i,' nete'citä''äpenna'. Mā'a'gi nā'ka'dtci mämī'camawiya'metcig īni'megu'u ä'ci'megu'ukī'cāgudtcitäpi'ī'yamedtc ä'pwāwi'āno'magedtci". Īnidtcā' ā'mi'ta'i

25 nata'winaga''ciyāgket, i''kwätige nā'ka'dtci ne'nītigket.''

"Au'," ä''inidte'.
Ä'kwi'dte'.

why they are like that, and that is why they seem to be dangerous, And if any one carefully knows how they are used, indeed he will receive life from them. That verily is what I now have to tell you.

"Moreover, you must listen very carefully to what I shall say. If I inform these our friends (of anything), you must always continue to do that very thing. Do not think of changing anything. That is the way you must always tell the boys.

"Therefore, it seems, we have greatly pleased the manitou by handling carefully what is offered him. That indeed he probably has thought. Finally, those who are here and beseech me will attain old age. In that way, it seems, we surely have pleased the manitou. It seems that our grandfathers, the Wâpanowagi, have collectively thought of us in a good way. Indeed they our grandfathers are manitous. They are not merely minor manitous.

"Verily at the present time we are proud that you did not refuse those whom we employed. When they went about summoning you, you came and seated yourselves here. 'That truly is the way,' we think. And these who serve us as ceremonial attendants have pleased us very greatly by not refusing us. Therefore you had better contrive to leave us, women and men."

"Very well," they said. The end.

Stofferion Astarbata Coman of the Company of the Co

SECOND INDIAN TEXT

Ka'cinā'gw ī'niyā'pi tagā'wi wī'āte'sō''käyān änā'piyāni nā'ka'dtc äne'tā'gäyān ä'kīgä'nowādtci mä'kwi''sutcig ä'ne'ta'mawudtc utaiyī'-wāwa' ane'mo'a''.

Ä'cki'megu'u mene'tāmi'megu kī'ci'ā'dtcimut ī'n ä'ckipāpagata'-5 mawut'. Pāpagamāt anemo'a' A'cā'ikwī'ye'sä'. Cä''ck īn ä'keg-

yänena'mawudtcit.

Īna'i tā'cipā''siwita, mā'kwi'suta'megu. Nā'ka'dtci pyāne'medtcin ane'mo'a' īna''megu nāwa'dtcike''cāmuta', nā'ka'dtci nawadtci'megukaka'nōnāw ā'wīta'mawādtc ā'cinatawānetama'wānidtci wäta-10 iyi'megudtcinal'.

Nā'ka'dtc āne'tae pagō'ci'megupyänäwagi wī'tagō'su'medtci'i me'-

sī'gwa'it. Ī'n ä'ca'wiwādtcit.

Ō'n ī'ni' änemi'cimegukakanōnādtcin ä'anemi'cine''semedtci'. Ä'pāpagame'medtci'. Me'tegwi'megu ai'yōwagki'. I'ce'megu kī'ci'-15 tātäwi wī'anemi'aiyōgki'. Kī'citcāgata'wādtcini' sāgidtcigä''megu

wätā'panig u'dtci'ckwāt ä'tana'ta'udte'.

Ō'ni neguta''megu ä'tagunamegini ke'piwan ä'mawi'ciwāwī'si-gäwādtc''. Īna'kä'megu udtciwe'tōwagk''. A''ckutäwi neguti'megu'u mamī'ci'' a'watōwwa'. Īyā'' īn ä'ke'tcipe'ta'wäwādtc''. Kī'ci'-

- 20 Aniwe'cä'nigin îna'' în ä'pagi'nāwādtci nā'wa'ckute'. Aiyā'pī''-tcina' ä'nawadtci'agwā'nāwādtc ä'nawadtci'anemikā'kā'cka''wāwādtc''. Kī'ciwīgādtciwāwī'swā'wādtcini 'ō'n ä'wäpipō'kedtcä'nāwādtc'', ä'kedtcinage'cä'nāwādtc''. 'Ō'n în u'nage'c ä'a'ka'sa'mowādtc''. Tcāgi'megu ma'kānowä''cwäwagi nā''ka kedtcinīgwä''cwäwagi nā''ka
- 25 mame'cä''cwäwag^{k1}'. Äyīgi'megu mametunä''cwäwag^{k1}'. Kī'cäwīwā^dtcin īn ä'awa'nāwā^dtci wī'ta'cikīgänowe^dtc¹'. Cä''ck īn ä'wīgä^dtcike'kinō''sowā^dtc a'kwita'āganān ä'a''sāwā^dtc¹'. Me'tenō''megu ā'pe'n ä'ināpatā'nini^dtc¹'. Cä''cki keginīgwä'ci'mäwagi wī'pwāwitāta'gipe'tca'wiwā^dtc¹'.
- 30 Īni'megu nīgā'nimamī''cī'agi nī''cw ä'a'ci''tāwādtci kekā''kwi'ann''.
 Ä'kīwī'ku'wäwādtc''. "Kī'pagō'ci'megunatotama'wipena nete'ckwä'sä'e'menāna wī'pyädtcinīmidte'; māmaiya'megu wī'pyä'wwa'. Nā'ka'dtci kī'ādtci'mo'āpwa' Cī'cī'gwanä'sa wī''pyätōdtci nepepigwä''ckunān'', nā'ka'dtci kī'kagā''tōnāpwa näwa'se'kawägwigi kīdtci-

35 mamī'cī'wāwagi māmai'ya wī'wäpipōtā''kwäwādtci'. Me'cena''megu äyä'pāwiwī'se'niwādtci pyädtcipe'nowā's aiyō'' udtci ta'ciwī'se'niwā'-

ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF SECOND INDIAN TEXT

Well, eventually I shall relate a little of what I have seen and what I have heard of what Those Named After the Bear do when they celebrate their gens festivals, and when their pets, dogs, are slain.

(The dog of) him who first had made the proposal is the one which is first clubbed to death. Sioux Boy is he who clubs the dogs to death. (The dogs) are held for him only.

The one who is the boss there is a member of the Bear gens. Moreover, when the dogs are brought he is the one who first stops to pet them there, and he stops to speak to them and he tells them what they, whose pets they are, desire of them.

And some bring in advance corn which will be cooked with (the dogs). That is what they do.

Then these (dogs) are cooked in the order he spoke to them. They are clubbed to death. They use a stick of wood. Whenever they have struck them all down, then they are struck down outside indeed at the east door.

Thereupon oziers are gathered somewhere and they go to singe the dogs. They take (the twigs) from there. One ceremonial attendant fetches fire. Yonder then they kindle a great fire. As soon as there is a large blaze there then they throw (the dogs) in the middle of the fire. Once in a while they stop to take them out and they stop to scrape (the dogs) in order. As soon as they have carefully singed them then they begin to disembowel them, taking out the guts. And they burn the guts. They cut off all the tails and they cut out their eyes and they cut off their ears. Also they cut away their mouths. Whenever they have finished then they fetch (the dogs) to where the gens festival will be held. They place them on top of the scaffolding, only they then keep carefully in mind (the order in which the dogs were slain). (The dogs) only are deemed alike. They lay (the dogs) down with their eyes (still) in them (and take them out in the morning), so that they may not possibly make a mistake.

Then indeed two leading attendants make inviting sticks. Then they go about inviting. "We must ask our girl in advance that she come and dance; she must come early in the morning. Moreover, you must tell John Jones that he must bring our flute and you must ask your fellow ceremonial attendants whom you asked to help you, to begin to boil (the dogs) early in the morning. Well, before they have eaten they may start to depart and they may eat here. Like-

s^A'. Nā''ka kī'kīwi'awī''iwäpwa' cä'cke'to'ag^k!'. Ana'ōdteigani nā''k u'wīyä'a nāte''s^A'! Nōtenō'kä'' ä'uwī'giwādtei yō'we ta''cai-

yopit."

'Ō'ni wâpanig ī'n ä''pyāwādtci mamī''cī'agi kegi''ceyāp īni'megu 5 ä'wäpinī'se'nāwādtc ane'mo'a' ä'wäpi'meguwīnani''āwādtc''. Nā''k ä'nāpi'megupagitama'wāwādtci pe'ku''sī'a''. Ānetagä'' ōn ä'wäpi'awa'tōwādtci ne'p ä'pagō'ci'megupa'sāpō'sa'mowādtc'. Āne'ta nā'ka'dtc ä'kīwi'awi'ī'wäwādtci' cä'cketo'a'i nā'kadtci mäme'cānigini 'anā'ganan''. 'Ōnigä''megu āne'ta' ä'wäpiwīgädtcī'ka'wāwādtc ä'wīlogädtci'megukā'ckā'cka''wāwādtc'. Nepi'megu ai'yōwagi pä'sāpō'-'tänigk'.

Īna'kä''megu awīwa kī'gänuta tä'cinanā''owāt upa'cito'e'mwāwa-

ni mä'kwi''sō'agi Ma'kwipana''cā'anni'.

'Ō'ni nīgānimamī''cī'an¹', "Ō'ni kī'na wī'ana'ōdtci'gāyan¹'. Kī'15 nawa'se'ka'wāwagi kīdtcimamī''cī'agk'." Ä''nedtci Kemetō'gimāwwa'. Ä'nawa'se''kawādtci ne''sw ä'wäpi'megu'ana'ō'nāwādtci täwä'i'ganan¹'. A'saiyani'megu ā'wäwagk'. 'Ō'ni ne'p ä'a'tōwādtc
ane'kī'megu. 'Ō'ni me'tegōni'megu äyō'wādtcin ä'pyämi'ckupyä'a'mowādtc a''sapāp'. Na''ina'i kī'cana'ō'nāwādtci nā'kadtci'megu
20 ä'ādtcimo'edtci Kemōtō'a, "Managä'i nenōtäwī' īna''i kī''a'sāwa
tcä'wīne'ki täwä'i'ganegd'', "ä''inedtc''.

- (1)¹ Manigä' ä'ta'cipāpagata'mawudte utaiyīwā'wa'i mä'kwi'-'sutcigk¹'. Manigä'megōn ōtäwe'nigān ä'ta'cikīgä'nowādtei Wīya'm ä'uwī'giwādte¹'.
- 25 (2) Manigä' ä'a'sedtci tepe''ki kī'ciwāwī'swāwādtci a'kwita'ā-ganne. Wâ'pagin ä'näyāpinī'senedtc!.

(3) Manigä'i nā'ka'dtc ä'mawinā'ka'a'se'dtci na'ina'i wī'wäpiwīnani'ā'wādtcin anemo'a''. Apa'kwaiyani'megu'u ana'cka'i'gäwag

ā'pe'e'. Īnigä''megu äyī'g ä'ta'cikōge'nāwādtc'.

- 30 (4) Mā'anigā'i kegeni'megu pōtā'kwā'wādtcin'i. Neguti'megunana'ī'kawāw īni'n anemo'an āpe'ta'cawanāwa'megu; nā'ka ta'gu'swāwa me'sīgwa''. Āte'sa'kata'wudtcini wī'na kātemina'we'sita kī'ci'nōtaga mamā'tomōn'i. Īnidtcā'i wī'nawā'dtci tcīpe'ku'kwawudtc a'penädtci'megu mā'kwānetātā'nigin'i: änänetā'gu'sidtc'i.
- 35 (5) Manigä' ä' apidtei kī cana ō'nedtein änwäwä' ā sut . Pāgwa'- igan īna' megu 'a kwi'dte a tä'w . Wädteike' siyāg i eigumä sen . Wädteike'.
 - (6) Manigä' ä'täg a'k āpināte'gi negu'ti mamī cī' 'a'. Neguta'-'megu i'ci āpō'ta amwa'. A'sämāwani'megu īyā' i pa'gināwa wä'ta'agki. Aiyō'tcā ä'a'tōdtc a'wa'īn a'ci'tātäwi wanā'tāganni. We'-

¹ These numbers refer to Figure 1, p. 113.

wise you shall go about borrowing kettles. And some one may fetch a drum. It was used last where Sam Peters (and his family) live."

Thereupon the next day the ceremonial attendants then come early in the morning and begin to take down the dogs and to butcher them. And they cut off and throw away the glands. And some begin to fetch water and heat water in advance. Moreover, some go about borrowing kettles and very large bowls. And indeed some begin to carefully attend to (the dogs) and scrape them carefully. They use hot water.

Now, he who is celebrating the gens festival, the director there, the old man of Those Named After the Bear, Young Bear, is there.

Then (he says to) the leading ceremonial attendant, "Now you must tie and fill the drum. You will ask your fellow ceremonial attendants to accompany you." That is what Jack Bullard is told. Then he asks (three men) to accompany him and they begin to tie and fill the drum. They use a hide, then put a little water in it. And sticks are what they use when they twist and tighten the rope. As soon as they have attended to the drum Jack Bullard again is told, "You will place this Indian tobacco there on the middle of the drum," so he is told.

(1) ² Now this is where the pets of Those Named After the Bear are clubbed to death. And this is the very summer house where they hold the gens festival, where William Kekequemo (and his family) live.

(2) Now this is where the dogs which they have singed are placed the night before on the scaffolding. The next day they are then

taken down.

(3) And this is where they go and place them whenever they begin to butcher the dogs. They are accustomed to use a reed mat and

then they also wash (the dogs) there.

(4) And this (dog) is one which they boil in a hurry. One (ceremonial attendant) attends to that dog and he pokes the fire; and he cooks corn with it. The one blessed, the one granted (this) religion is cooked for separately. That verily is why he is always given a ghost feast whenever the ceremony is held; such is the report concerning him.

(5) And that is where the drum is whenever it has been prepared.

And a drumstick is there on top of it. It points to the north.

(6) And there is where the earth is which one ceremonial attendant has gone and fetched. He forked it up somewhere. And he throws tobacco yonder from where he obtained it. Verily here where he

The numbers within the parentheses refer to the place on the diagram, Figure 1.

nātāw^{*1}. 'Ōni nō'kīpiwāga'ag īna'inā'. Ma'nipi wādtcinā'wa'kwäg uta'ka''sowagi mā'cku''sitcig^{k1}', 'ō'ni wädtcike'siyāg udtci wâpe'cke'sitcig^{k1}'. Nyā'w āwā''sowagi ketīwinō'kīpiwāga'ag^{k1}'. Ī'n ā'ca'wiwādtci'.

^{5 (7)} Maniga'me'g äyī'g ä'ta'ci'āpina'a'mowādte mäyāwinīgāne''-siteigi mamī''cī'agk''. Kī'ci'āpina'amo'wādteini māgwai'y ä'nawadtei'megunō''samegk''. Ī'n ä'ca'wiwādte änō'kānā''suteigi Ke'mōtō'a, Wī'caga''kya'.

places it this mound of earth is made. (The earth) was fetched. And down feathers of an eagle are on it. Now it is said red (feathers) are on the south side and white ones on the north side. They use four downy eagle feathers. That is what they do.

FIGURE 1.-Diagram showing the public performance of the Wapanowiweni

(7) And this indeed is where the leading ceremonial attendants unwrap (the sacred pack). As soon as they have unwrapped it then they stop to fumigate the headdress. That is what Jack Bullard and John Jones, those hired, do.

(8) Aiyō'kä' ä''a'tägi pe'pigwä'ckwi nā'ka īni'megu ä''a'täg īn mämātotamegi māgwai'y1t. Wīgädtci'setōpi'megu. A''penädtci'megu nō'sā'p1'. Nyäwe'nwi wī'nō''samegi ne'kani'kī'cegwe pe''ki tāta'gk1'.

(9) Aiyō'kä' ä'a'tägi wī'kutī'wā'kōnnit. Ā'gw änä'keginnit. Mā-

5 ma'kādtci'megu ä'ta'swāpyäge''siwādtc anemo'ag īn ä''ta'segkl'.

- (10) Aiyō'kä'i neguti'megu mä'kwi'suta'megu ä'kīwipaginādtci nenōtä'wi'anni'. Tetepi'megu ä'nematä'nigini wīgiyā'pā'kōni tcīgā'kw ä'kīwipagi''senādte', ketā'gana' äyī'g ä'nema'sonidteinni, ōni mämedtcinä"megu a"ckutäg ä'tcāgipaginādtc ä'cku"wädtcini kī'cäwīd-10 tcinnit.
 - (11) Īnigā' a'apidtci ca'cki wā'te'nigaga 'anemo'a'a': watapag i'cīgwä'ci'nwa'. Kegime'si'megu u'kātegi' sōgi'so'niwan ā'ku'näwannit, nā'tka nāpi'ta'āpit. 'Ō'n ä'me'ckwite'pänedtc upe'kwaneg āgkwit. 'Ö'n ä'pāpagā'ckatä''cimedtclt. Neguti nā''ka nāwa''kwä-
- 15 nig īni'megu ä'ci''cimedtcit. 'Ō'ni nā'ka'dtci wādtcipagi'ci'monigi wī'ine'kwä''cimedtcit. 'Ō'ni wädtcike'sī'yānig äne'kwä''cimedtcit. Nā''ka nyä'winegi anemo''ä'agki': ā'pene'megu i'ci''cinōgi nā''ka wä'cī'āpi'megku'. Ke'gime'si' cä'cki' tāta'gi wā'teni'gägi päpīwe'cī'idtcigi'megu: īn änā'kunā''sutcigkl'. Cä''cki wī'a'piwādtcl'. A'pe-20 nädtci'megu tagwi'giwag īna'ti kīgā'nuginnit.
 - (12) Managä'i nīgāna'ka'suta', a'nemō'a mäyāwinīgānī'ta tātagkit.
 - (13) Ā'ne'kōdtci pō'tā'kwäga 'anemō'a', 'ō' nā'kadtci'megu kuta'-

25 (14) Ne'sō'namegi nä'ma'suta' cä'cketō' ä'tane''suwādtci 'a'nig-

wagi me'sīgwa'''; ta'gu'swāp äyī'gki'.

(15) 'Ō'ni ma'na nā''ka negu'ti nīgāna''ka'suta' cä''cketō'a'; tä'netäg īna'i ta'gwa'ānnit; neguti'megu ta'cī'kamwa mamī'cī''at, ā'pedtci'meguna'tā'amwa wī'pāwitātagi'agō'sä'kwädtc". Me'tenō'-30 'megu na'ina''megu ä'kī''ce'sug ä'nīmä'gōnādtci tagāwi'megupimä' īnigā''nä' adtcā''megu kegyä'tciwī'ckupana'ag ī'nni'.

(16) Manigä" ä'tcī'tapidtc ä'ta'cinana'imāt īni' umamī'cī'emwāwa'i wī'anemi'ca'winidte". Cä'ck ä'anemi'ādtci'mo'ādte'. Kī'citcāgikī'cā'wīnidtci na'ina'me'g äyī'gi kwā'ckwinā'so'nidtcin anemo'-35 a'l', tcīga'cku'täw ä'mawinawadtci'megume'tami'a'ka'swäwa papagā'tagwani tāta'gki'.

(17) Aiyā' īn ä'nana''apidtci wī'ka'nonāt A'ckutänä''siwani nā''ka 'Anenägi Täyäpīgwä'ci'nidteinnic. Wī'na Ma'kwipa'na'cā' ä'nowädtcidtcā'i, "Na'i', A'ckutänä'sīwwe, kī'na ma'nna, nō'dtci, kenīgāni,

40 nō'dtc', me'kwänetā'gu'si wī'nīgāni, nō'dtc', atamä'enāgke, nō'dtele, nā'ekae, nō'dtele, aiyō'e ä'tane'cäwä'ecinannie, nō'dtele, pagisenamawāpit, nō'dtcit, A'nenägkit, nō'dtcit, Täyäpī'gwätcigkat, nō'dte1, wī'nīgāni, nō'dtc1, tāpe'sinutawādtc1, nō'dtc1, ā'ku'nāwann1, no'dte 1. Īnidteā' īnug ä'ca'pänemono'ka'tonāgke, no'dte 1, wī'wīgä-

- (8) And this is where the flute is laid and in the same place where the headdress which is worshipped is. It is placed carefully. It must be thoroughly fumigated four times throughout the day.
- (9) And here is where the inviting sticks are. There is no extra one. There will be as many as there are pieces of the dogs.
- (10) And here one member of the Bear gens goes about casting Indian tobacco. He goes about casting it in the circle where the dwelling poles stand, at their base, and also where the upright poles stand, and then at last whenever he is finished he casts into the fire all that remains over.
- (11) And this is where one, a puppy, is which is to be sacrificed: he lies facing the east. Indian tobacco is tied to all his legs, and it is also tied on his neck. Thereupon his head is painted red but not his back. Thereupon he is laid upon his belly. And one in the same way is laid toward the south. And moreover (one) shall be placed facing the west, and (one) is placed facing the north. Moreover, there are four puppies: They are placed in the same position and they are painted. All are very small (dogs) which are to be sacrificed. That is how they are regulated. They merely must be (present). They are always to be together there whenever the gens festival is held.
- (12) And this is the first kettle; and the dog is the leading (head) one.
 - (13) The next dog which is boiled, and also another.
- (14) The third kettle which hangs is where squirrels and corn are cooked; they are also cooked together.
- (15) And this again is one leading kettle; crushed corn is cooked there. One ceremonial attendant takes care of it, and he always stirs it so that it will not adhere in cooking. Only when it is done does he hang it a little higher, so it is said, and then indeed for the first time he sweetens it.
- (16) And this is where (the man) sits who there directs their ceremonial attendants as to what they shall do in (the proper) order. He only speaks to them in (proper) order. As soon as they have finished their tasks, and also when the dogs are boiling, then he goes and stoops to burn evergreen leaves at the edge of the fire.
- (17) Now here is where the one sits who will address the Spirit of Fire, and He Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging in the Smoke Hole. What he, Young Bear, verily says is, "Now Spirit of Fire, you thus only, so be it, are first, so be it, remembered, so that we may give you, so be it, so that we shall give you a smoke, so be it, first, so be it, here where you lie in ashes, so be it, He Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging, so be it, so be it, in the Smoke Hole, so be it, is granted, so be it, that he shall first, so be it, enjoy, so be it, the tobacco, so be it. That

tādtcimu'ta'wiyāgke', nō'dtcl'. Kī'na ku'dtcl', nō'dtcl', aiyō''i kepagi'-sā'kwi'megōpwa', nō'dtcl', na''ina', nō'dtcl', ä'kī'ci, wī'na nō'dtcl', tepowā'nägo'a', nō'dtcl', keme'to'sänenī'mwāwagkl', nō'dtcl'. Cä'-'ckl', nō'dtcl', wī'anemi, nō'dtcl', wīgätādtcimwi''tawägkwe', nō'dtcl',

5 kō'ci'se'mwāwagki', nō'dtci', mā'kwänemā'wādtcinni', nō'dtci', kīdtcimanetōwāwa'i, nō'dtci'. Cā''cki', nō'dtci', kīnagä' äyī'gki', nō'dtci', pemāte'siwenni', nō'dtci', wī'ta''ci, nō'dtci', inäneta'mawadtci', nō'dtci'; nā''ka', nō'dtci', wī'ta'ci, nō'dtci', nō'käneta'mawadtci', nō'dtci', une'sämā'wāwanni', nō'dtci', wī'pāwi, nō'dtci', pāwikägō''ini-

10 dtc le, nō'dtc le, uwīdtcītckwe'wāwa'le, nō'dtc le. Īniyātu'gkee, nō'dtc le, äne'ke'ee, nō'dtc le, kīdtcimanetowagkle; nā'kae, nō'dtc le, kägō', wī'na nō'dtc le, i'cipanādtci'moyan le, nō'dtc le, wī'na nō'dtc le, Täyäpīgwä'cigkae, nō'dtc le, wī'ta'cipe'kādtcimādtc ā'ku'näwan le, nō'dtc le, nā'kae, wī'na nō'dtc le, tägwā'kuna'mawomedtc le, nō'dtc le, mä'kwänetāgu'si'-

15 nidtcinnit, nö'dtcit, kätemināgā'nidtcinnit. Ī'ni nö'dtcit, īnu'gi nīnā'n ä'ci'a'päne'moyāge kī'yāwāwi wī'pe'cigwādtci'mo'ägkwe', nō'dtcit, maiyā'wi, nō'dtcit, mā'kwänemetcigkit, ā'ku'näwannit, nō'dtcit, nā'k anemu''te'sannit, nīpete''siwannit, nō'dtcit, ä'tagwāpō'sa'mawu'dtcit, nō'dtcit. Īnidtcāt, wī'na nō'dtcit, ä'cimenwī''kānudtc ä'nīgāniwī'na-

20 me'kwä'nemādte', nō'dte', Wā'senenwa', nō'dte'. Wätā'panigk', nō'dte', tanādtei'māgwäni, nō'dte', wī'na nō'dte', wī'na nō'dte', wī'na nō'dte', nepa'cito'e'menāna', nō'dte', käteminā'gudteina', nō'dte', wī'na 'Ma'ma'sā'a' wī'n äne'ta', nō'dte'. Āgwidteā''yätugke', nō'dte', wä'wītep'', nō'dte'', inänemegu'te'e', nō'dte''. Pā''ci wī'n ā'ko'wi

25 wī'anemi wī'pemime'to'sänenī'wigwänna', nō'dtcl', wī'anemi, nō'dtcl', me'kwänetaminidte ä'cī'yätugemedteitwäte'e'yätugke'. Wīnwā'wadteā' ä'ta'sō'kwäpī'tawā'gwä'ig ä'ketemina'wāwādte änegi''kwimedte a'sä'māwanni', nō'dtel', nā'ka', wī'na nō'dtel', anemu''te'sanni', nō'dtel', ä'tagwāpō'sa'mawudtel', nō'dtel', nīpete''siwanni'. Īnidteā''

30 ä'citcā'gowädtc', nō'dtc', ä'ta'sō'kwäpī''tamāgke, nō'dtc', nemamātomō'nenān', nō'dtc'. Tcāgi'megu wī'n ugimāwan ī'i'ciwī'cigāwagi'se'nigwän upe''tawān ä'cinato'tā'sudtc', nō'dtc'. Īnidtcā', nō'dtc', kī'inādtcimm', nō'dtc', neme''cu, A'ckutä'nä'sīwe, kī'na nā''ka Täyäpīgwä''cinan', neme'co''etigke! Tāni'wä', nō'dtc', wī'i'ci-35 kegk', nō'dtc', wī'pāwipe'cigwādtci'moyan'?''

(18) Aiyō'' în ä'udtciwäpinō''sigädtci Kemōtō'gimāwwa'. Ä'kīwinō'-swā'dtci pämāgwapi'nidtc'i tätepi'megukīgänonidtci'ime'g äyī'gkl', 'ō'ni nā''ka wädtcike'sī'yānigi wätāgwapinidtci' ä'pemi'nō'swādtc'. Cä''ck īte'p i'cinōnō'a'mawäwa päge''cänigi wâpa'cka'tenigi menā'-

40 gu'ckī' äyō'dte'; āgwi'gä'i papagwā'tagani 'ā'wādtcin'. Cä'cki nī'ce'nw ī'n ä'cawidtei ne'ka'ni kī'ce'gwe': kegi'cäyäpa na'ina'i kī'cāgwa'pinidtei kīgäno'nidtei', 'ō'ni kī'cināwa'kwä'nigini nā'ka'.

verily is how we depend upon you to-day, so be it, to carefully interpret for us, so be it. You were here accorded full permission, so be it, at the time, so be it. You took council over your fellow people, so be it. You will only, so be it, continue, so be it, to carefully interpret for, so be it, your grandchildren, so be it, whenever they worship, so be it, your fellow manitous, so be it. And you also, so be it, shall merely, so be it, bless them, so be it, with life, so be it; moreover, you will here, so be it, think tenderly of them, so be it, because of their tobacco, so be it, that, so be it, their foes shall be, so be it, as naught, so be it. That, it seems, so be it, is what, so be it, your fellow manitous, so be it, said to you, so be it, and, so be it, when you in any way, so be it, make an error in interpretation, so be it, so be it. He Who Lies with his Eyes Bulging, so be it, shall there correctly report the tobacco, so be it, and, so be it, whatever is offered with it, so be it, whenever, so be it, the one who bestowed blessings is worshipped, so be it. That, so be it, is how we to-day depend upon you to truthfully report to us, so be it, to those who are chiefly, so be it, worshipped, the tobacco, so be it, and dog, and harvest crop, so be it, which is collectively cooked as a soup for them, so be it. Therefore, so be it, Jim Old Bear, so be it, has done well in first remembering them, so be it. Our old man, so be it, the one called 'Mama'sa'a,' so be it, must have mentioned, so be it, so be it, the one in the east, so be it, the one by whom he was blessed, so be it. Verily, it seems he was not, so it seems, blessed, so be it, for a short time, so be it. Even whoever in the future shall in due order exist as mortal, so be it, shall continue, so be it, to remember what message (the one who bestowed the blessing). it seems, he sent. For as many as participated in conferring the blessing upon him, a prayer is offered, and tobacco, so be it, and a dog, so be it, and the harvest crop which was simultaneously cooked as a soup for them (are offered), so be it. That verily is what he asks for, so be it, as many as sit down to (participate in) our worship, so be it. That the fire (i. e., village) of every chief may rest securely is what he asks, so be it. That verily, so be it, you shall so report, so be it, my grandfather, Spirit of Fire, and you Who Lie with your Eyes Bulging, O, my grandfathers: How pray, so be it, may it be, so be it, that you will not truthfully interpret (for us)?"

(18) Now from here Jack Bullard begins to fumigate. He goes about fumigating those who are seated in a row (i. e., smokers), and those seated in the circle as givers of the gens festival, and also he in due order fumigates those seated on the north side. He merely fans the smoke toward them, using white sage; he does not use evergreen leaves. He merely does that twice in the course of a day; very early in the morning after those celebrating the gens festival have sat down, and also whenever it is afternoon.

(19) 'Ō'n ä'pa''kunedtci kī''ce'sudtc anemō' ä'sī'ga'udtc anā'gā'-

egkit. 'Ō'n ä'mawi'a'tōgkit.

(20) 'Ö'n ä'nana'āgwa'piwādtci ne'tawi'megu mamī''cī'agki'. Kī'-cāgwa'piwādtc ī'n ä'ka'nawidtci Ma'kwipa'na'cā'a', "'Ö'nidtcā' ä'-5 cimenwī''kānudtc ä'āte''ci'ādtc u'taiyäni wī'na Ta'kamadtcī''a', nō'dtc'', nepa'cito'e'menānann', nō'dtc'', 'Mama'sā'a' ä'nātänn'. 'Ī'nigä''yätug änādtcimu'te'e', 'kā'ta wī'na wanī'kā'ci'kägu, nō'dtc'', ä'ite'e'yätugke', nō'dtc'', 'änemime'kwäneta'mägwini netenänetāgu'-'siweni nī'n äyī'gi kā'ta nanā''ci wanī'kā''ci'kägu, nō'dtc''. Äyī'gi 10 nī'na kī'anemime'kwänemipwa'. Äyīgi'ku' ī'ni wī'ane'minenamawagi

pemāte''siwen''; nā''ka neguta''megu' sanaga'pinaiye nī'kīwitcīta'-p'', a'ce'ku' ā'gwi wī'näwī'yägwin'',' 'ī'yugwän'', nō''dtc'', nīnā'na neke'te'sī'menān''. Īni'dtcā'', nō''dtc'', wī'u'dtciwī'se'niyägwe ne'-

nītigket."

15 Kī'citcāgi'se'nyāwādtc', "'Ō' ä'apī'yāgwini nāyā'pi 'api'gku'. Nā'ka'dtc īni'n a''kanan a''ckutāgi kī'a''ka'sāpwa'. Kī'natodtcā'-'swāpena wī'n ā'co'wi me'nōtan ä'tanā'dtcimeta'."

"Na'i', natawī'na'i pyätenama'wināge pe'pigwä'ckwit. Nī'nata'wi-

wäpinā'gäpena, ī'n ä'tcāgikwā'ckwinā'si'gäyägkwe'."

20 (21) Cī'cīgwanā' ānwāwā''tcigāt^'. Me'ta'mi' cō'ckwāwā''tcigāwa wātā'panig utā''kwe', 'ō'ni wādtcināwa''kwānigki', nā''ka wādtcipagi'-ci'monigki', nā''ka wädtcike'sī'yānigki'. Ā'ko'w ī'n ā'nenegwāwā''tcigādtci nāyāpi'megu. Nā''ka kī'citcā'gikī'cwāwā''tcigādtci nī'ce'nw a'kī'g ā'canwāwā''tcigādtci'. Änowādtci', "Tō tō tō tō." Äno'ta'-25 wādtcini tāta'gi penā''tōwan".

"Na'i', pyätenamawi na' a''ku'kōn änwäwä''igāta'." Tcāgä'ne-

mä'a Kī'ckō'a'.

- (22) Ä'tcī'tapidtc änwäwä''igāta'. Ne'ka'nikī'cegwe'megu wī'-pāwi'nowīdtc i''cigīwa'. Nyäwe'nwi nawa'dtcipa'gamäwa'. Kī'ci'-30 īni'i'ca'widtcin ä'wäpwäwä''igädtc'. Īnigä''megu ä'pemikādtci'pitōdtci' Cī'cī'gwanä'sa negu'ti mäyāwi'nāgāta 'ō'ni Kä'kä''kwimō'a'. Ta''sw ä'yōwādtc'; nyä'wi ai'yōwag ä'ke'ka'amawinā'gäwādtc'.
- (23) Ä'tcī'tapidtc i'ckwä'sä''a tcä'wīne'ki wä'tegāta', Pete'gu'sä'-kwa', mä'kwi'suta'megu pāwigä''megukī'cimyānōtāta'. Ī'n ä''cawita'. 35 'Ō'ni pōni'megu'sāgi'dtci nā''ka kä'tcigita'megu. Me'cena'me'g äyī'gi nenī'w ī'n i''cawi'sa': wī''aiyōdtci māgwai'yi.

"Na'ī', ī'niyāp ä'kī'cinā'gäyāgke'; wī'nata'winīmi''enāgke'," ä'-'inedtci Kemōtō'a Wī'ciga''kya. "Na'i'!"

(24) Wī'ta'negādtci Wī''ciga'kya'. Wīnagä''megu nawa'dtci 'änwä-40 wä''tcigāta'. Cä'ki'megu nī'ce'nwi wätā'panig i'cinenegwäwä''tci-

(19) Thereupon the dog which is thoroughly cooked is taken off and served in the bowl. And it is placed (here).

(20) Now the ceremonial attendants separately are seated comfortably in a cluster (here). As soon as they are seated in a cluster then Young Bear speaks, "Now verily she, Ta'kamadtcī'a, so be it, has done well in separately offering her pet (dog) to our old man, so be it, the one called 'Mama'sā'a,' and what it seems he said was, 'Do not forget me, so be it,' was what he said, it seemed, so be it, 'whenever you continue to remember my blessing and also never forget me. Also you will continue to remember (i. e., worship) me. I also shall continue to bless (such a one) with life; and I shall go about between the benches somewhere yet you shall not see me, so be it,' so he, so be it, our venerable one must have said. That verily, so be it, is why you shall eat, men."

As soon as all have eaten (they are told), "O, be seated exactly wherever you sat. Moreover, you shall burn the bones in the fire. We shall seek to destroy with fire the body of him who is said to be the foe from without."

"Well, you may now hand us the flute there. We shall try to begin

to sing for now your cooking is all boiling."

(21) John Bear is he who blows the flute. First he blows a smooth blast toward the east, then south, also the west, and also the north. At last he blows it with a trembling note in the same way. And after he has blown it all (these ways) he blows it twice toward the ground. (This) is how he sounds, "To - to - to - to." The rain crow (cuckoo) is the one whom he imitates.

"Well, hand the drum to the drummer." John Bear (the drummer)

is a Kī'ckō'A.

(22) (This) is where the drummer sits. He is supposed not to go out all day long. He first beats (the drum softly) four times. Whenever he is done then he begins drumming. And then indeed John Bear, one head singer, begins to start an air, and Kekequemo. (And) the number (of the songs) they use; they use four (songs) which they select to be sung.

(23) Where a little girl, Petegu'sä'kwa, sits, a member of the Bear gens, who has not (yet) arrived at puberty (and) who dances in the middle. She is the one who does so. And a woman of advanced years, one who is past menopause (also) does so. She might, if neces-

sary, act as a man: she could use the headdress.3

"Well, eventually we have now finished (merely) singing; we wish you to dance," Jack Bullard and John Jones are told. "Come!"

(24) Where John Jones will dance. And he is one who stops to blow the flute. He blows a trembling note only twice toward the east.

¹ See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., and the references cited.

gäw^{w,*}. Kī'cwäwä''tcigä^dtcinⁿ, "'Öni'megu wī'na wī'ku'menāge wī'nī'miyäg^{kwe'}; āpi yō'we wä^dtciku'menāg^{ke'}. Pemāte''siweniku'i kī'nato^dtcä'ckamāti''sopenⁿ. Wīnwā'wa pyä^dtcimene'tā'mita''cī'-kagig^k, mani^dtcā'' īnugi mämī'cama'wagwig^k, wīnwā'wa wī'cigiwī-5 tō'kamu'gwä'igi ma'ni mamā'tomōnⁿ. A'ce mō''tci wīnwā'wa kī'cikunagwīwenegwi'gwä'ig ä'sanagi''tōwā^dtci na'ina'' wīnwā'wa kepu'ckāgowā'te'e me'to'säne'niwa'i wī'tcāgi'egowā'te'e'. Īni^dtcā'-yätu'ge ma'ni^dtcā'' īnug ä'ta''ciwī'name'tänetage' i'ce'megu pämā'-te'sit ä'ke'tena''inig ä'u^dtcikuna'gwīwā^dtci'. Īni^dtcā'' yätuge wä'^dtci 10 wī'cigitäwāte'e'yätug^{ke'}. Īni^dtcā''nā' kīnāna 'īnug āmi'ci'anwā^dtci-nō'kata'mawagwe mā'a'g umamātomōnwāw^{wi'}, tcā'g änāgōme'na-gōw^{we'}."

(25) Ä'tanegādtc i''ckwä'sä''a mä''kwi'suta nīgā'negāta'.

Wädtcināwa''kwänig inā'same'gäwagki': ā'gwi tetepegā'wādtcinni'.

15 Cä'cki'megu pe'kwe'gäwagi nī'mitcigki'. Ā'pene'megu inā'same'-gäwag i''kwäwagki'. 'Ō'ni ne'niwagi' cä''cki tätanegāwādtcini ta'-cike'tcinī'miwag āpe'e'.

(26) Ä'tanegādtci Ke'mōtō'a nīgā'nimamī'cī''a'. Wī'n aiyā'pī''tcina'i wā'ītamwa, ä'nowädtcl', "Yo', yo', 'wi'i, 'wi'i." Ini ātowa'20 amo'wedtcinn', cä''ck ā'gw a''penädtcl'; tcatcawi'megu. Wīna'megu
tepä'netamwa wī'wā'itagkl'. Aiyā'cō''ka nā''k anwäwä''tamōgi
pe'pigwä'ckwl'. Aiyā'cō'kame'g äyī'gi wīnwāwa'megu amāgwä''äwagi wītegämā'wādtcinnl'. Ā'gwi nā''ka ka'ckinana'a'cka'eti''sudtcinnl'. Nā''ka wīnwāwa'megu näyāpi'se'tōwag ī'ni māgwai'yl'.
25 Ī'nnl'.

(27) Ä''a'tägi' sī''sepā'kwi'. Me'kwä'nemedtci kīyōtä'neniwagki', tcāgi'megu ä'ina'tage''siwādtc ä'i'cita'tagwiwā'wītedtci nā''ka ne'sä'-māwan ä'pa'kwā'kuna'mawudtci'.

(28) Aiyō' nā'ka'dtc ä'a'tägi me'sī'wäyā'. Wīna'megu wī'n 30 änwäwä'wāta täwä'i'ganan ume'si'wäyā'emⁿ!. Wīna pyädtci'megu pete'gi pyä'dtc īna' änwäwä'igānidtci'i wī'na mä'kwänemādtci'i 'ä'natawäneta'mawādtci me'to'sänenī'wiwenⁿ!.

(29) Ä'tanatamegi' sī'sepā'kwi'. Äwatena'mawudtci kīyōtäne'niwagki'. Me'cemegō'na' uwīyä'a negu'ti pa''kimāpi'. Kī'ciwī'kuwe-35 dtcin īn ä'nana'a'piwādtci me'cemegō'na'i'. Kī'āgwapī'wādtcin ä'ā'dtcimudtci näna''owāta kī'gänuta', "Na'ī' nekī'ci'ku'iwītama'wāpena keme'cōme'se'nānag A'ckutä'nä'sīwa nā'ka'dtc A'nenägi Täyäpī'gwä-'cigka', nekī'cinīgānipagi'senama'wāpena ne'sämāwan ä'a'päne'mo-yāgke'. Īnidtcā'' wī'n ä'cimenwī''kānudtci wī'na Mä''cenä' ä'pa'käyā'-40 kuna'mawādtc utā'ku'nāmani nā''k u'sī'sepā'kumi me'tegu'gi wäd-

tcike^dtci'gānig^k¹°. Īnigā''yātuge wīnwāw ä'cimāwāte'e Mama''sā'ani wī'anemi'ci'ā'kwänetama'wāwā^dtci wī'cku'panig^k¹°. Īni^dtcā'' ä'citcā'gimā^dtci tcā'g ä'ina'tage''sinini^dtci kīyōtäne'niwa'¹°. Pemāte''siweni-

As soon as he has blown it (he says), "Now, indeed, you whom we have invited must dance. That is why we formerly invited you. We shall seek life, indeed, by our stamping. They who formerly concerned themselves with (this), they whom we this day truly serve as ceremonial attendants, must have strongly followed this worship. It even took them through (their) hard (times), at the time when they were surrounded by the peoples (i. e., foes), so that they were all threatened with destruction. Verily, at that time, it seems even the common people knew clearly that (this religion) was true and that through it they were pulled through (i. e., saved). That, verily, it seems is why they felt (so) strongly (about it), it seems. And so verily even we this day shall contrive to willingly do our best for the worship (religion) of these persons, all you to whom I am related."

(25) Where a little girl dances, a member of the Bear gens, and a leading dancer.

They dance facing the south; they do not dance in a circle. The dancers merely dance in a cluster. The women dance all facing the same direction. And whenever the men dance there they merely are accustomed to dance vigorously there (in one spot).

- (26) Where Jack Bullard, the leading ceremonial attendant, dances. Once in a while he blows the flute, sounding, "Yo -yo-, wi hi wi hi." That (occurs) whenever a verse is repeated, yet not always; occasionally. He has control of blowing the flute. And they alternately blow the flute. Also they alternately put on the headbands with which they dance. And a person can not take off his own (headdress). And they place that headdress exactly where it was. That is all.
- (27) Where the sugar is. Reptiles (snakes) are remembered, and (reptiles) of every color are collectively named, and they are offered tobacco.
- (28) And here is where the sugar cake is. The sugar cake belongs to the one who beats the drum. Now those who formerly were drummers there are they whom he remembers (i. e., worships), and life is what he desires from them.
- (29) Where the sugar is eaten reptiles are offered it. Anyone is given charge of it. Whenever they are invited then they sit down, anyone. Whenever they have sat down in a cluster then the director, the one celebrating the gens festival, says, "Now, we have indeed spoken to our grandfathers, the Spirit of Fire and He Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging in the Smoke Hole, and we have first granted them tobacco as we depend upon them. Therefore he, John Pete, has done well in offering his tobacco to them and his sugar which has dripped from a tree. And that it seems is what they (the manitous) promised Mama'sā'a, namely, that they would continue to think a great deal of his sweet foods. That verily is why he names all the

dtcā'i wāwītamawā'gwä'igk'. Īnidtcā'i nätawäneta'mawādte īnu'g ä'me'kwä'nemādte'. Ä'citcā'gowädtei negu'ti mī'sō'n änegi'ku''ckamāge nīnānānugk'. Īnidtcā'' īnugi wī'udteiwī'se'niyägkwo'. Wī'seni'gku'!''

5 Kī'ciwī'senī'wādtcinni', "Na'i', ä'apī'yägwin api'gu näyā'pi, ne'-

nītigket, i'kwäti'gket."

- (30) Ä'ta'ci'sī'ga'udtci nīgāna''ka'sut anemō'a'. Uwī''ci pä'ki'-metcigi nīgāne'gātcigk'. Papā'si'gi pa''kimāp''. Wī'nī'cō'kamowādtci wī'nna'.
- 10 (31) Ä'mā'wa'tōg ī'n uwī'ci pä'kimedtci nīgānimamī'cītagkit.
 - (32) Ä'pemāgwa'piwādtci wī'ku'metcigki'. Mäne'tā'mapitagä''megu ä'cki'sīga'a'mawut ane'mo'anni'. Ī'n ä'cinīpenwi'sīga'i'gäwādtci'. Me'cena''megu wā'wīyāg i''kwäwagi ta'gwī'kumāpi'.
 Ā'gwi māma'kādtcikeginni'. Kī'ci'sīga'udtci', "Ī'ni" ä'ī'yowādtci'.
- 15 " 'Au'," ä'inedtcl. "Na'ī', wī'senigku. Nekī'ciku'ādtcimopen ä'cinatawäne'tamāgke. Wī'seni'gku, ne'nītigke, i'kwätigke!" Kī'citcāgi'se'nyäwādtc ä'pemimāwadtciganä'nigädtci negu't!.
 - (33) Aiyō'' în ä'mawi'sīge''ckānag anemo'a'kananⁿⁱ'. Ä'pe'kwāg-watōgi teīgiketāgan^{ne}'.
- 20 (34) Ä'tcīta'piwādte änwäwä'sa'tōteigi' eī'eī'gwananni. Näga'-muteigi nenegi'sa''tōwag änwäwä'sa'tōwādteinni.
 - (35) Ä'tcīta'piwādtci kīgänowa'pitcigki, i'kwäwagi pe'ki'megu kegi'apenō'e'megu.

(36) Ä'tcīta'piwādtci nī'mitcig i'kwäwagkit.

25 (37) Manigä' äne'gāwādtci nīmiwa'amo'wedtcin i'kwäwagi wīnwā'wa tāta'gki'.

(38) Manime'g äyī'g ä'pemāgwa'piwādte i''kwäwagi nī'miteight, nā'ka' cä'cki'megu īna'' ä'tane'kwäpi''tōteight, nā'ka'dtei' cä''ek ä'einā'kuwäwa'piteight. Ä'eitä'āta'megu īna nā''kuwāta': ā'gwi 30 māma'kādteikeginnt. Ī'n ä''eikeght.

(39) Ne'tawi'megu ne'niwag ä'tane'gāwādtci nīmiwa'amowedtcini-

mā'it.

(40) Aiyō'' āne't ä'tane'gāwādtc i''kwäwagki'.

(41) Mamī''cī'ag ä'tane''siwādtc ä'pī'tcipāwikī'ce'sä'kwäwādtcinni'.
35 Me'cemegōna'i kīwitcīta'piwagki'. Wī'tcīta'piwagi wīnwā'wa nā'-ka'dtc ä'anemi'anō'kāne'gowādtci kīgänonidtci'ipi'.

(42) Ä'pemāgwa'piwādtci ne'niwagi nī'mitcigkit.

(43) Ä'pemāgwa'piwādtci ne'ka'nikī'ce'gw ätamäwa'pitcigki. Me-'cemegōna'i wāwīyāgāgwa'piwagi Tō'kā'na'i Kī'cko'a' ä'ta'ciwāwī'-40 se'niwādtc ä'camedtcinimā'ā'pe'e'. reptiles of every color. They must have mentioned indeed life to him. That verily is what he (John Pete) to-day desires of them when he remembers (i. e., worships) them. That is how he prays for (this) single gens to which we belong. That verily is why you shall eat to-day. Eat!"

Whenever they have eaten (they are told), "Well, men and women,

sit exactly where you were seated."

(30) Where the dog is served, that is, the one first cooked. The head dancers are they who are given the head. One half is given to each. Two must take charge of it.

(31) Where the head which was given the leading ceremonial

attendants is placed.

(32) Where those who are invited sit in a cluster. And the one first seated is the one to whom the dog is first served. That is the order in which they serve. Women also are invited intermixed with (men). There is no bar (against them). After the attendants have served (all the food), they say, "That is all." "Very well," they are told, "now eat. We have indeed spoken of what we desire. Eat, men and women!" As soon as all have eaten then one (attendant) starts to gather the bones.

(33) Here is where he goes and dumps the dog bones. They are

placed in a pile by the main pole.

(34) Where those who rattle the gourds sit down. The singers shake (the gourds so as to produce a) trembling (sound) whenever they shake them.

(35) Where those sit as givers of the gens festival, both women and

children included.

(36) Where the women dancers sit down.

(37) And this is where the women dance whenever a dancing song

is sung.

- (38) Also this a spot where women dancers also are seated in a cluster, and only those (women) sit down to (i. e., participate in) the gens festival (there), and those (women) who merely sit as hummers. Whoever so desires hums: it is not compulsory. That is how it is.
- (39) Where the men dance separately whenever a dancing song is given.

(40) Here is where some women dance.

(41) Where the ceremonial attendants are whenever they are not cooking. They go about and sit down any place. They must sit down and continue to be ordered by those celebrating the gens festival, so it is said.

(42) Where the men dancers sit down in a row.

(43) Where all day long those who sit as smokers sit in a cluster in a row. The Tō'kāns and Kī'ckōs sit mixed when they eat there whenever they are fed.

- (44) Ä'ʿaʿtōgi meʿsiwäyāʿ¹ʿ. Kīʿcinanaʿiʿse'tōgin äʿpa'ʿkimedtci neʿtawi'megu kīʿciʿanaʿō'nātcigi täwäʿi'ganan¹¹ʻ. Īni'gi neʿta'wi päʿki'metcigʰ¹ʿ. Kīʿcinanaʿapī'wādtcin¹¹¸ "ʿŌ' wīnaku'ʿ ma'n āteʿciʿse'tawäwa ma'na Tcāgā'nemāʿa meʿsī'wäyāʿi pyādtcidtcāʿanaʿanwä-5 wäʿigānidtciʿ äʿcamādtciʿi wī'na nā'ʿkānug änāpapīʿta'mawādtc äʿapini'teʿe ʿapinaiyy¹¸. Cāʿckidtcāʿ änemiʿcinaʿigenigi meʿtoʿsānenī'wiwen ā'ʿcitami wīʿināne'megudtc äʿcimamā'tomādtc¹¸. Īnidtcā'ʿi wīʿudtcimī'dtciyāgw īni me'ʿtegugi wä'dtcikedtcigāgʰ¹¸. Wīʿseni'gʰu¸¹!''
- (45) Manime'g äyī'g ä'tcīta'piwādtc i''kwäwagki', cä''ck ä'ta'-10 citātagi'ātamäwapitcigki'.

(46) Aiyō''meg āne't ä'tcīta'piwādtc i''kwäwagi nī'mitcigkit. Nā'-'ka ne'niwag ata'mä'ag āne't äna'piwādtc aiyō'' ä'tana'kiwinigi

wīgī'yāpegkit.

- (47) Aiyō'kä''i me'tenō' ä'tcīta'piwādtci wī'swi'ā''sutcigi ma'15 kwimī''sōnan'', äyō'egutcig ugī'wāwa''. Mä'kwi''sutcig i''kwäwagi
 tcatcawi'megu wī'swi''äwagi wīnwā'wwa', āgwigä''i me'ce'megu.
 Tcatcawī'' īnu'gi nenīw ä'unīdtcā'ne'sidtc īni me'ce'na' ä'wī'swi'tci'gäwādtc''. Tcatcawī'' īna''megu ä'ta'cikī'gänugi ta'ciwāwīta'mawāpi wī'i'ci''sowādtc''. Īnigidtcā'' īnigi wädtci 'udtcinawe tcīta'pi20 wādtc''.
 - (48) Ä'ʿaʿtōgi kīʿcai'yōginiʿ cīʿcī'gwanani wä'wītepi pōnināgä'wād-tcinimāʿi me'ʿtenōʿ¹ʿ.
- (49) Ä'tcītapidtci Ma'kwipa'na'cā'a wī'nawadtcikanakana'widtcin
 "". Ä'nowädtcidtcā' ä'a'cki'meguwäpetu'nämudtch: "Kekī'sādtcime25 gu'wāwag änō'kāna'getcig ä'peminato'menāgwe kägō'i wī'ta'cī'kamāti'soyägo'a negu'ti wâ''säyāw ä'utami'menāg ä'nenī'wiyane
 kīnwā'wa nā''k i''kwätigke'. Āgwidtcā'', nō'dtch, nīnā'nna', nō'dtch,
 pīnō'cime'kamāginnh, nō'dtch. Wīnadtcā''yätugke', nō'dtch, Ke'tcima'netōwwa', nō'dtch, ä'cī'yätuge, nō'dtch, mīnawänemā'te'e', nō'dtch,
- 30 ä'a'sāmī'yätuge, nō'dtcl', tca'kwā'kunamōnago'a', nō'dtcl', kepemāte'siwe'nenān'', nō'dtcl'. 'Wäna' yä'apa wäpipanāpata'mowāte', nō'dtcl', wâ''säyāw īninā'' yä'apa wī'ke'tci, nō'dtcl', mī'taminawä'miwādtcl', nō'dtcl'. Kudtcī' nī'na nekī'cimamādtci''āwagkl', nō'dtcl'. Īnī'yätugke', nō'dtcl', ä'citä'äte'e'yätugke', nō'dtcl', wī'na
- 35 nā''k', nō''dtc'', Ke'cāma'netōww', nō''dtc'', tcāgiyu''megu, nō''dtc'', wī'inatā'mowagk'', nō''dtc''. "Awitai'yā'apa ma'netōwa kī'ci'ī'wā'-s''." Īnn'', nō''dtc'', nīna'dtcā''megōni nī'igōgk'', nō''dtc''. Nāpi'dtcā'-'megu, nō''dtc'', wīta'mawage nī'dtcimanetowagk'', nō''dtc''.' Īnī'-yātugke', nō''dtc'', ä'citā'āte'eyātu'gke', nō''dtc'', wīna 'īyā''', nō''dtc'', 40 maiyā'wikī'ce'gkwe', nō''dtc'', äpi't', nō''dtc'', nīgā'ne'sit', nō''dtc'',

- (44) Where a sugar cake is placed. As soon as it has been properly placed then those who filled and tied the drum are invited separately. They are the ones who are invited separately and whenever they have sat down comfortably the following is said: "O, he, this one, John Bear, indeed dedicates the sugar cake separately to those who drummed in the past, they are the ones whom he feeds and he is seated to-day where they sat (—?). That in return he be blessed with a good way, life, is what he beseeches of them. That verily is why you shall eat that which has dripped from the tree. Eat!"
- (45) And this also is where women are seated, only indeed those who are seated there as smokers.
- (46) Here indeed is where some women dancers sit down and here is where some men smokers are seated during the ceremony in (this) dwelling.
- (47) And here only persons are seated who were given Bear gens names, those given them by their mothers. Once in a while women who belong to the Bear gens name (their children), but not often. Once in a while to-day when a man has a child and then (the women) do the naming. Once in a while when a gens festival is held (the children) are named there so as to be named (Bear gens names). It is indeed why they sit down (here).
- (48) Where the gourds which have been used are placed whenever they stop singing for a short time only.
- (49) Where Young Bear sits down whenever he stops to make a speech. Verily what he says when he first begins to make his speech (is): "Those whom we have hired have troubled you in inviting you in succession when you could have been busy with some business of your own this one day when we inconvenienced you, men and women. Verily, we did not, so be it, found, so be it, (this). He verily, it seems, so be it, the Great Manitou, so be it, it seems, so be it, thus realized, so be it, that he had determined, so be it, our lives, so be it, to be, it seems, too short, so be it. 'Why, when they begin to lose sight of (this) daylight at that time it will be that they will greatly, so be it, vex me for that reason, so be it. Yet I have made them to move (i. e., given them life), so be it.' That, it seems, so be it, is what he thought, it seems, so be it, and, so be it, the Gentle Manitou also (thought), 'they all indeed, so be it, will wail, so be it. "A manitou surely could not have made us. That, so be it, verily they will say of me," that very thing, so be it, they will say of me. Verily it will be better, so be it, for me to tell my fellow manitous, so be it.' That, it seems, so be it, is what he, so be it, who sits, so be it, in the middle

Normally Fox men name their children; these belong to the gentes of their fathers (and have since at least 1827, according to documentary evidence). If children are named by others than their fathers they will be given names suitable to the gentes of their namers, yet those children will belong to their fathers' gentes unless otherwise stipulated at the time of naming.

wīna ma'ni kī'ci'tōta', nō'dtc', ma'ni, nō'dtc', pemāme'ki''senigk', nō'dtc', nā''ka', wī'na nō'dtc', mani pämāna'kwagō'tänigk', nō'dtc', nā''ka', nō'dtc', tcāgi' kägō'i kī''ci'tōta', nō'dtc'.

"Īninā'tcā''yätuge negutī'yätugke', nō'dtc'', ä'anō'kānā'te'e', nō'dtc'', 5 wī'pemimāwa'dtcinatomego'wādtcin', nō'dtc''. Nā'inā''meguyätuge tcā'gi māwa'dtcīnidtc'', kī'cī'yätugke', nō'dtc'', menwapi'nidtciniyätugke', nō'dtc'', īninā''yätug ä'pemipa'segwī'te'e wī'n'', nō'dtc'', Ke'tcimanetōwwa'. 'Wī'wītamōnagōweku'i wä'dtci pwāwikī'sātänemenagōwe', nō'dtc'': mā'agidtcā'', nō'dtc'', me'to'säne'niwagki',

10 nō'dtc'. Ā'gwi nī'na ne'ci''ka me'to'sänenīmī'yānin'', kudtcī' nī'na nekī'cipagi'se'nāwagk', nī'na nā''ka', nō'dtc', nekī'cimamādtcī''-āwagk'. Ä'a'sāmitca'kwāpyä'setawag upemā'te'sī'wenwāwi na'ina''i yō'we'. Pyänutamowā'te', nō'dtc', unepō'wenwāw'', nō'dtc', īnina''tcā'i wī'ke'tcimītami'miwādtci nī'na ku'dtcī'i ke'te'na wäwī-

15 gi'etīgini netōta'wāwagi nā''inā' ä'a'ckikī''ci'agki'; negu'ti wī'na ma'ci''cki netawatenamawāwagki', nō'dtci', īyā'', nō'dtci', wī'ta'cikī'-cigenamāti''sowādtci'. "Ā''kunäwa," kī'itama'wāpenna'. Kā'tadtcā'i pemāgwa'nāwāte me'ce'megu kā'ta pemi'atā'penamawī'yägägku': me'tenō'' atamā'e'nagwin ī'ni me''tenō'i wī'udtci'ata'maiyagkwe',

20 "manetōwa" ä'i'nenagwe kī'agāwātama'wāpenna". Nīnaitō' mō'tc ā'gwi mō'tci negutō'pwāga' a'ckunamāti'so'yāninni. Nā'ka'dtc ä'unanagutā'miwādtci nepagi'senama'wāwag anemu'te'sani wī'ta'ci, nō'dtc', kege'cā'mowādtc'. Kāgō'', wī'na nō'dtc', inānetamowādtcin uwī'yāwāwi wī'pemi'atā'pe'kwā'nāwagki'. Tepa'dtcidtcā' ume'to'sā-

25 nenī'wenwāgi kī'a'pī'tänetama'wāpena mä'kwäneme'nagwinⁿⁱ.

Īnigä'i me''tenō'i wī'u^dtci'anemitäpe'sinu'tawagw anemu''te'sag^{ki}.

Nā''ka wī'na tcā'gi nete'cināgwi'ta'wāwag ä'kegipagi''senagi nīpete''siwanⁿⁱ'. Kāta^dtcā'' īnini pemāgwa'nāwāte wa'nimō'ckwe pematā'penamawiyägägu kō'ci'seme'nānag^{ki}'. Me'tenō''tcā' äyī'gi mä'kwäne-

30 menagwin ī'ni wī'atā'pena'mawagwe me'tenō''. Nā''ka tcāgi'megu nete'cināgwi'ta'wāwagi wīnwā'wa mīdtci'pä'ani nā'inā' ä'kī'cimamā'dtci'agk'. Īni nī'n ä'ciketemi'nawagk'. Me'tenō'tcā''megu pyätenamō'nagwini wī'täpe'siyagkwe'. Kīnwā'wadtcā'i wädtc īnugi mamātome'nagōwe'. Kīnwā'w äyī'gi tcatcātapenawe kekegapi'pwa

35 inäne'dteigani me'ce'na'i wī'inänemāwägwänⁿⁱ. Ketemi'nawagwe 'īni'megu wī'anemi''eigen^{wī}. Īni^dteā'i wä'dte ā^dteimo'e'nagōwe wī'käketemi'nawägw anemime'to'säne'niwagi kō'ci'seme'nānag^{kī}. Cewä'na mā'a'gi nī''ew īyā'i wī'mawiwī^dteime'to'sänenī'mäwag^{kī}. Ma'na wī'na "A'ckutä'nä'sīwa" ī'ig^{kwa}. Änā'sama'pini^dtei wī'ma-

40 wita'cimamādtcinawi'tawäwwa', nā'ka wī'anemiwīgätādtcimwi''tawādtci wäpime'kwänemenagkwe'. Manidtcā' wī'n a'k änegi'kwāme'ki'senigi wī'inegi'kwi'tawagw unä'moweni wī'pāwikīwinōte'kwātowāmenagwe mä'kwäneme'nagwinni'; nā'ka wī'udtcike'kä'nemagwe kägō' inäneta'mowāt uwī'yāwāwwi'. Wī'na nā'ka'dtci ma'na
45 kō'ci'semenāna' ä'utanenäminidtci wī'mawitane'sīwa wä'dtci nōwā'-

of the sky, so be it, the leading one, so be it, he who created this, so be it, earth, so be it, this sky which hangs, so be it, and, so be it, he who created everything, so be it, thought.

"Verily at that time it seems he employed, so be it, one being, it seems, so be it, who was to summon and gather in succession (the manitous), so be it. Indeed it seems when all were gathered at the time, after, it seems, so be it, they were comfortably seated, it seems, so be it, at that time it seems, he, so be it, the Great Manitou, started to rise to his feet. 'I really shall inform you why I, without difficulty, call you, so be it: verily this, so be it, people, so be it (are the cause). I alone do not possess a people, though I have blest them (down there), and I, so be it, have made them to move (i. e., given them life). (But) at that time, formerly I determined their lives to be too short. When they came, so be it, to their death, so be it, verily at that time they will greatly vex me with what they sav. Yet I surely gave them a place to live at the time that I first made them: I gave them, so be it, a certain weed for them to raise for themselves yonder, so be it. "Tobacco," we shall call it. Verily if they merely strew it in a cluster you must not start to take it from them: only, whenever they offer us a smoke, then only shall we smoke. We whom they call "manitous" shall desire it of them. Formerly I did not even save a single pipeful for myself. Moreover, I gave them a dog to pet, so be it, where their hearths are. Whenever, so be it, they think anything of their lives they shall take it up by the head. Verily in return we shall think of their lives whenever they worship us. Then indeed only shall we in the future be satisfied with the dogs. Moreover, I made a harvest crop of every kind and granted it to be with them. Verily, if they strew it carelessly in a cluster, do not start to take it from our grandchildren. Also, verily only whenever they remember (i. e., worship) us, then shall we receive it, only then. I made for them game animals of every kind for them when I made them (the people) to move. Verily indeed only whenever they make offering to us shall we be satisfied. Verily that is why I beseech you this day. You must individually possess a blessing, so that you may bless whomever you please. If you bless them then (your blessings) shall come true. That verily is why I told you to bless each of the future people, our grandchildren. These too shall go yonder and dwell with them. Now this one shall be called "Spirit of Fire." He shall go there and shall be moving as they sit opposite him, and he shall continue to carefully interpret for them when they begin to remember (i. e., worship) us. Verily we shall make his breath the size of this earth so that he will not fail to go about and make us hear whenever they worship us; and we shall thereby know if they think anything of themselves. Moreover, these only shall go and be where our grandchildren have their smoke holes, from whence (the smoke ku'ugōnidte ā'ku'nāwan''. "Tāyāpī'gwā'ciga" ī'i'gkwa'. Wīnwā'wa wī'nīgānitāpe'siwag ā'ku'nāwan'', wī'mene'tāmiwīnwāwa'ata'māwagi nā''ka kāgō''i pyātenamōnagwini wī'nīgānitāpe'sinu'tamōgi kāgo''i. Wī'nadtcā' mana Tāyāpī'gwā'ciga wāwītaiyā'kwā'pata-5 mawāw ume'to'sānenī'wiweni wī'aneminā'kake'ka'wā'nigwāni kīdtcimanetōnā'na'i. Tcāgidtcā' wī'na nāmitā''āgani wī'kegapīwwa'. Nā'ka'dtci kāgō' wī'na mā'a'ni A'ckutānā''siwani kāgō' i'cipanādtcimonite wī'wīgātādtcimōwwa'. Wīnadtcā''nā'i ma'ni kekī'cegu'menān ānegi'kwāna'kwagō'tānig ī'ni wī'inegi'kwi'tawagw unā'moweni wī'na nā''wīnwā'wa ā'gw ā''penāwi wī'ā'penāwita'citātāpe'sī'wādtcin''.

10 wī'pāwikīwinōte'kwātowā'menagwe mä'kwäneme'nagwinⁿl'. Cewä'na nä''wīnwā'wa ā'gw ā''penäwi wī'ā'penäwita'citätäpe'sī'wā'dtcinⁿl'. Wīnwā'w äyī'gi me'ce'megu kega'piwagi me''ce wī'aneminena'mawā'dtci kō'ci'semenā'na''l. Wī'na ma'n A'ckutä'nä'sīwa tcā'gi wī'na kō'ci'semenā'na' umane'senō'nwāwani wī'ta'cinō'käneta'ma-

15 wādtci wī'pāwikāgō'inidtc uwīdtcī'ckwe'wāwa'i. Mā'a'nidtcā' A'ckutānä'siwani wī'wanāpānō'kata'wāgwān ä'cīgwike'cāwä''cinidtci wīwā'cī''ugwāna nanā'wä'kami wī'kīwitanwäwägi''tōgwāna 'u'wīyaw ī'na äne'nagōwe wī'käketeminawägkwa'.

"Īnī'yātuge nā''k ä'ādtcikī'sādtci'setō'nago'a keme'to'säneniwen20 enān''. Īnidtcā''yātugke', nō'dtc'', ä'cimāmīnawä'netagi wī'na 'Ma'ma'sā'a' änātän ä'pāwiwī'nake'känetamā'ti'sudtci wī'a'kwime'to'sänenī'wigwän''; nā'ka'dtci wī'n ä'cā'pedtcī'kā'gwiwādtc a'pe'näwen'', nō'dtc', nā'ka'dtc', nō'dtc', ä'pāwinīgānike'käneta'mawādtc', nō'dtc', utōgimāmani nīgā'ni wīn'na', nō'dtc', wī'anemi'cime'to'-

25 säneniwinigwänⁿ¹°, nō'dtc¹°, utō'ckinawäma'i nā''k utō'kwaiyōma'¹°, nō'dtc¹°, utapenō''sema'¹°, ä'natawä'netagk¹°, wī'na nō'dtc¹°, ke'käneta'mugwän¹¹°, īnina''tcā' yätu'gke', nō'dtc¹°, kegaiyā'¹°, nō'dtc¹°, ä'ka'ckimīnawâpamā'te'e mā'a'n¹¹°, nō'dtc¹°, keme'cōme'se'nānan A'ckutänä''siwan¹¹°. 'Manigä'' wīna me'cena'' āmudtcike'känetam-

30 āti''soyān änemi'cike'nugwäni neme'to'sänenī'wiwennit, nō'dtcl'.' Īnī'-yätugke', nō'dtcl', ä'citä'äte'e', nō'dtcl'. Īninā'tcā''yätuge pemi'ce'-cowīgwänute'e', nō'dtcl', wī'na 'Ma'ma'sā'a' ä'nātänna'. Nīnā'nagä'i nepa'cito'e'menānna', nō'dtcl'. Wīnai'yätugke', nō'dtcl', na''ina'l', nō'dtcl', wī''nowīdtcl', nō'dtcl', ä'nawa'dtcī'yätugepapīwenamawā'te'

35 utā'ku'nāmanⁿ', nanō''ckwe wī'n ä'tanādtcimo'ā'te'e ta''swaiyag^k', wī'na nō'dtc', wī'kīwi'utwäwä'gi'tōdtc'. Kī'cidtcā' yätug^{ke}, nō'dtc', nowīdtci nanawä''kamig ä'kīwitanwäwägi'tōt'e'e wī'na 'Mama'sā''a' äne'ta'. Ä'kīwinanātwäwä'tag u'wīyawi nanō''ckwe wī'n ä'kīwi'ina'ina'tāmudtc', nō'dtc', wī'ke'känemä'wä'gä'i peminani'-

ä'kīwi'ina'ina'tämu'dte', nō'dte', wī'ke'känemä'wä'gä'i peminapi'-40 nigwän'i. Nanō'ckwe', wī'na nō'dte', ä'kīwikegime'ckine'dteämu'dte utā'ku'näman'i, nō'dte'. Kākabō'twe yätu'gke', nō'dte', ä'maiyā'ckawā'dtei me'te'gwineniwa' ä'ta'ciwīna'sa'ka'amawā'te'e', teā'gi wī'n ä'inā'kwigā'pānidte', nō'dte'. Pāpe'gkwa', nō'dte', ä'tanātota-

of their) tobacco passes out. He shall be called "He Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging." They (the Spirit of Fire, and He Who Lies With His Eyes Bulging) shall be the first to be satisfied with the tobacco, and they shall first smoke, and whenever (the people) offer them anything they shall be the first to enjoy it. Verily, he, this one, He Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging, shall be opposite and watch their lives and (shall note) whomever of our fellow manitous they continue to name (in their sacrifices). Verily he shall have the power of (knowing) every inner thought. Moreover, if this Spirit of Fire in any way fails in his interpretation He (Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging) shall carefully explain. Verily we shall make his breath to be the extent the sky hangs, so that he will not fail in going about to make us hear whenever they shall worship us. But indeed they shall not merely be continuously happy there. They also have the power of blessing our grandchildren in the future. He, this Spirit of Fire, shall soften the wars of our grandchildren so that their foes shall be as naught. Verily, whosoever has courage with respect to this Spirit of Fire as he lies in spent ashes, whosoever shall paint himself (with charcoal), whosoever shall go about wailing over himself in the wilderness, he is the one whom I tell you to bless.'

"And then it seems he (the Great Manitou) placed our lives anew in a difficult position. Then verily it seems, so be it, ever since, so be it, he, the one called 'Mama'sa'a,' thus realized that he did not know how long he would live; moreover, they were very troubled with disease, so be it, and moreover, so be it, he did not know how his chief's young men and his women, so be it, and his children, would continue to live in the future, and he sought, so be it, to learn (this), at that time. Verily it seems, so be it, eventually, so be it, he was able to contemplate (this), so be it, our grandfather, the Spirit of Fire. 'Now, indeed this is whereby I may learn how my life shall be in the future.' That, it seems, so be it, is what he thought, so be it. Verily, it seems at that time, he, the one called 'Mama'sa'a,' started to paint his own face. Now he is our old man, so be it. Now it seems, so be it, at the time, so be it, he was to go out, so be it, it seems he stopped to crumble his tobacco, and blindly there told as many objects, so be it, for which he was to go about wailing. Verily, it seems, so be it, when he had gone out in the wilderness, he, the one called 'Mama'sa'a,' went about wailing. He went about seeking his life, wailing, blindly as he went about, so be it, wailing, since he did not know where (the manitous) were located. Blindly, so be it, he went about with his tobacco in his open palms, so be it. Very soon, it seems, so be it, he came to Tree Spirits, and there made an offering to all of them as they sat about, so be it. Suddenly, so be it, he there told them why he went about wailing, so be it, so be it. And it seems he explained what he did not know, so be it, and of what verily he was demawā'te'e kīwi'utwäwä'gi'tōdte', nō'dte', wī'na nō'dte', yätu'g ä'wīta'mawādte ä'pāwike'kä'netagk', nō'dte', ä'natawidteā'ike'känetamā'ti'sudte', nō'dte'. Ä'ciwīta'mawādte', nō'dte'. Tcā'gi, nō'dte', ä'maiyā''ckawādte', nō'dte', A'senāpäne'niwa'i pāpe'gkwa', nō'd-

5 tc¹, a'kwi'^dtcite'pe nō'^dtc¹, ä'ta'cī'yätug^{ket}, nō'^dtc¹, ä'ta'cipāpagigawānagīgwä'tawā'te¹, nō'^dtc¹, une'sä'māwan¹, nō'^dtc¹, papīwenamawāte'e'yätug ä'wīta'mawā^dtc¹, nō'^dtc¹, kīwi, nō'^dtc¹, 'utwäwä'gi'tō^dtc¹. Ā'penemegu'yätug ä'pemi'inā^dtcimute'e'. Tcāgī'yätuge me'ce'megu kägō'¹, nō'^dtc¹, ä'manetowä'netag^k, nō'^dtc¹,

10 ä'pemi, nō'dtc', sa'ka'wä'tō'te'e', nō'dtc'. Tcā'gi ne'pi mä'ku'cka-gin äyīgimegu'yätug ä'paginā'te'e', nō'dtc', kīkegatä'mudtcin'', nō'dtc', utā'ku'näman'', nō'dtc'. Īnī'yätugke', nō'dtc', ä'cawi'te'e', nō'dtc', wī'na 'Ma'ma'sā'a' äne'ta'. Īninā''yätuge kätawi'megu, nō'dtc', pāpagi'täpenä'tō'te'e', nō'dtc', īnī'yätug ä'ka'cki, wī'na

15 nō'dtc', mīnawä'tāgu'te' ä'a'sāmi, nō'dtc', pō'swäwä'gi'tōdtc'. Īnī'-yätugke, nō'dtc', ä'keteminu'tāgu'te'e, nō'dtc', Wâpa'nowan'i, nō'dtc'. 'Na'i', no'cī'i, keketeminōn'e, nō'dtc', kī'utwäwägi''tō-yan'i, nō'dtc', ä'pāwi, nō'dtc', ke'käne'taman'i, nō'dtc', keme'to'-sänenī'wiwen'i. Īnidtcā', nō'dtc', ke''tena ma'n īnug ä'ketemi'nō-

20 nānⁿⁱ, nō'dtcⁱ, wī'tāpa'ku''ckamani ke''kyāwenⁿⁱ, nō'dtcⁱ'; nā'ka'd-tcⁱ', nō'dtcⁱ', ä'cī'kāgwiyāg^{kwe}', nō'dtcⁱ', a'pe'nāwenⁿⁱ', nō'dtcⁱ', äyī'-g^{ki}', nō'dtcⁱ', ī'ni ketenānemen^{ne}', nō'dtcⁱ', wī'anemi, nō'dtcⁱ', māmī-wāneta'mōnānⁿⁱ', nō'dtcⁱ'; nā''ka', nō'dtcⁱ', ketōgimām^{ma'}, nō'dtcⁱ', ä'pāwi, nō'dtcⁱ', ke'kāneta'mawa'dtci nīgā'ni wī'anemi'cime'to'seneni-

25 wigwänⁿ¹', nō'dtc¹', äyī'g ī'ni ketenä'nemen^{ne}', nō'dtc¹'. Mō'tci'megu, nō'dtc¹', tä'cipegi'ckutamōnugwäna 'ugi'māwan utō'täwenⁿ¹', nō'dtc¹', na''ega'ce', nō'dtc¹', wī'anemi, nō'dtc¹', a''kowädtc¹', nō'dtc¹'. Pāwi, nō'dtc¹', pōni'tä'atage ketōgimäman upe''tawāni wīna'megu, nō'dtc¹', wī'anemi, nō'dtc¹', ā'wutamwa 'u'wīyaw ā'co'wime'notane

30 kägö'i tä'cino'wägwänna', nō'dtc'. Nā''ka', nō'dtc', ä'ci'ā'ko'wi'udtci'se'tōnänn', nō'dtc', täpā'tamānn', nō'dtc', "negu'twāpyägk'' ä'i'tamānn', nō'dtc', ä'manetō'wiyānn', nō'dtc'. Ī'n änänemenānn', nō'dtc', īnu'gk', nō'dtc', ä'ketemi'nōnānn', nō'dtc'. Āgwidtcā' īnugi'megu' cä''ck', nō'dtc', ī'n änänemenānin', ā'pe'ta'kamme', nō'd-

35 tc¹⁶. Na'ina''megu, nō'dtc¹⁶, ku'känetamo'wāgānⁿ¹⁶, nō'dtc¹⁶, ma'nⁿ¹⁶, nō'dtc¹⁶, netō'ki'menānⁿ¹⁶, nō'dtc¹⁶, ī'ni ne''ki wī'anemi'a'kwitāpwä'-miga'k¹⁶, nō'dtc¹⁶; nā''ka', nō'dtc¹⁶, nekī'cegu'menānⁿ¹⁶, nō'dtc¹⁶, ä'mawiku'känetamo'wāgāni ne''ki wī'anemi, nō'dtc¹⁶, a'kwi, wī'na nō'dtc¹⁶, tāpwädtc¹⁶, wī'na nō'dtc¹⁶, wī'anemi, nō'dtc¹⁶, anemimāme'kwä-

40 neta'mugwäna ā'ko'wwit, wī'na nō'dtclt, ī'anemime'to'sänenī'wigwännat, nō'dtclt, wī'pāwi'wanī'kāta'mugwännat, nō'dtclt, änäne'menānnit, nō'dtclt. Āgwidtcā', nō'dtclt, ne'ci''kat, nō'dtclt, keteminō'nāninnit, nō'dtclt. Negu'tidtcā'' wī'na mī'sō'n änegi'ku''ckamannit, nō'dtclt, änegi'kwiketemi'nōnānnit. Īnidtcā'' wī'na wī'anemi'ci'genig

sirous of knowing about himself, so be it. That is what he explained to them, so be it. Upon, so be it, the heads, so be it, of all Rock Spirits which he met, so be it, he suddenly, so be it, there, it seems, so be it, shed his tears, so be it, and crumbled his tobacco, so be it, for them, it seems; and informed them, so be it, why, so be it, he went about wailing. He started to say exactly the same thing, it seems. It seems that he thought everything, so be it, was a manitou, so be it, and started to make an offering to it, so be it. Upon all waters also which he met he also, it seems, cast, so be it, his tobacco, so be it, which he had with him in his wailing, so be it. That it seems, so be it, is what he, the one called 'Mama'sa'a,' did, so be it. At the time, it seems, when he had nearly, so be it, starved himself to death, so be it, then it seems he was able, so be it, to be observed as he had wailed altogether, so be it, too much. Then it seems, so be it, he was blessed, so be it, by a Wâpanowa, so be it. 'Now, my grandchild, I bless you, so be it, as you have gone about wailing, so be it, because you do not, so be it, know, so be it, about your life. So verily, so be it, I truly bless you, so be it, this day so that you will attain old age, so be it; moreover, so be it, as you (pl.) are afflicted with disease, so be it, also, so be it, I so bless you, so be it, that I in the future shall continue, so be it, to will it away from you, so be it; and, so be it, as you do not know how your chief's people will continue to be in the future, so be it, I also so bless you, so be it. Even, indeed, so be it, whosoever shall speak against the chief's town, so be it, shall slowly, so be it, in the future, so be it, end his words, so be it. If, so be it, whatever foe from without there may be who speaks there anything against your chief's fire (i. e., village), so be it, does not cease speaking against it, he shall, so be it, continue to curse himself, so be it. And, so be it, as a very last boon I grant you, so be it, that which I love, so be it, what I who am a manitou, so be it, call, so be it, "One slice." That is how I think of you, so be it, to-day, so be it, when I bestow a blessing upon you, so be it. Verily indeed not merely to-day, so be it, do I bless you (but) forever. Until, indeed, the time, so be it, whenever we think of changing, so be it, this, so be it, our earth, so be it, shall (my blessing) continue to be valid, so be it; and, so be it, until whenever we think of changing our sky, so be it, for so long shall he, so be it, whosoever shall continue, so be it, in the future to remember it, whosoever shall exist as mortal in the future, so be it, whosoever shall not forget, so be it, the way I have blest you, so be it, shall be successful in his prayers. Verily, I do not, so be it, bless, so be it, you alone, so be it. Verily I bless the single gens to which you belong, so be it. Verily it shall continue to come true if (anyone) continues to ask, so be it, for life. But now, my grandchild, as I am but one in blessing you, so be it, it is not suitable, so be it.

ane'mi, nō'dtc', nato'tā'sute', nō'dtc', pemāte''siwen''. Cewä'mā-nugk', no'cī'i, ä'negutī'iyān ä'ketemi'nōnān'', nō'dtc', ā'gwi täpi'-kegin'', nō'dtc'. Mana'kadtcā', nō'dtc', kī'mawitanāto'tāpen'', nō'dtc', wätāpa'gk', nō'dtc', äpi'ta', nō'dtc', käta''kyäpita', nō'dtc'.'

5 "Īnī'yātug īte'p ä'ciwenegu'te'e kāteminā'gudtcinni, nō'dtci. Īyā' pyä'negudtc ä'wäpātota'minidtci, nō'dtci, ta'sōnagki, nō'dtci, kīwi'utwäwä'gi'tōdtci, nō'dtci. 'Ī'nni, nō'dtci, netenä'nemāwa kō'ci'se'menān ä'a'sāmi, wī'na nō'dtci, pō'swäwä'gi'tōdtci. Āgwidtcā'i wä'wītepi wī'inäne'maginni. Ma'ni, nō'dtci, keta'ki'-

10 menānⁿⁱ, nō'dtc', newāwīta'mawāw ä'mawi, nō'dtc', ku'känetamo'-wāgāni nā'ka', nō'dtc', ma'ni kekī'cegu'menān äyī'gk', nō'dtc'.'

"'Ōnidtcā', wī'na nō'dtc¹', ä'ci, wī'na nō'dtc¹', tä'pi'adtc ä'keteminu''tawadtci kō'ci'semenāna'. Īni kudtci wī'naiyōw änena'gwe yōwe wī'na kī'cimamādtci'āta'. Wädtci yō'we mamātomena'gwe 15 yōwe'. "Me''ce wī'aneminänemā'wägwäna'," ketegunānaiyōwe'. Īnidtcā'' īnugi kīna kwīye'naa'. 'Ō' nīnagä'nä' ā'gw a'te'tci wī'inänetamō'nānina'. Ta'sōnō'gk¹', nō'dtc¹', änä'nemadtc īni nä''nīna wī'i'ciketeminamōnān äyī'gi nī'n ane'mi'ata'maiyān ā''kunäwwa'. Cewä'nānugi ma'n ane'mime'to'sä'nenīwa kō'ci'se'menān ā'gwi 20 täpi'kegin ä'nī'cī'iyagkwe'. Cāwanōgi'dtcā' äpi'ta käta''kyäpit ä'awi'dtc ī'ni wī'mawitanātota'mawagkwe'.'

"Īniyātu'ge nā''k ä'wāpiwenā'te'e'. Īte'pi'c īyā' pyānā'dtc ä'wāpātotamā'tīnidtc änāne'megudtc', nō'dtc'. Nāyāpi'megu nā''k änādtcimoni'te'e', wī'na nō'dtc', ä'ckiketeminā'gudtcin''; nāyāpi'-25 megu nā''k ä'inānetamāgu'te'e'. 'Cewä'na kīnānānug ä'ne''siyagwā'gwi tāpikegin''. Mana'kadtcā' nā'ka'dtci wādtcipagi''cimug āpi't ä''awidtci nā''ka kī'mawitanātotama'wāpen''a', ätīni'te'e', nō'dtc', kāteminā'gudtci'', nō'dtc'.

"Īyā" nā'ka' pyänādtci näyāpi'megu. Ōnī'yätuge nā'kadtci'megu 30 ä'kī'kīwene'te'e', wī'na nō'dtcl', 'Ma'ma'sā'a' ä'nātäna wädtcike'sī'yānig äpi'nidtcini kägyä'kinawātapi'nidtcin ä'mawi'nā'kadtcipītigane'te'e'. Tcā'gi wī'na nāma''kamig ä'pemi'ciwene'te'e nā''ka Me'tegwineniwa' ä'kwānagigā'pānidtcl'. Īnī'yätug ä'peminātotamāgu'te'e wī'na myāna'ō'nādtci'i manetowa'i', nō'dtcl', pā''ci wīn

35 āpe'tawikī'ce'ghwe'. Ā'penedtcā' yātuge wī'n änänemegute'e'yātughe'. Pā'ci'megu yātuge Ke'tcimanetowan ä'a'pinidtc ä'pagamiwenegu'te'e'. Äyīgidtcā' wīna kī'ciwīta'mawudtc änänememedtci Mama'sā'ani wīnagā'yātugān ä'kanawi'te'e Ke'cāmanetōwwa', ''ōnidtcā', wī'na nō'dtc', ä'citāpi'iyāghwe', nō'dtc', ä'tāpwä'tawiyāghwe', nō'dtc'. Īniku'

40 wī'naiyōwwe', nō'dtcl', wä'dtci wī'cigime'nagōwwe', nō'dtcl', wī'anemi, nō'dtcl', ketemi'nawägkwe', nō'dtcl'. Īnidtcā' wī'na nō'dtcl', ä'tä'pikegkl', nō'dtcl'. Tānidtcā', nō'dtcl', wī'ici'genigkl', nō'dtcl', wī'pāwi,

Verily we shall go yonder, so be it, and tell, so be it, the one who is, so be it, in the east, so be it, who has a fixed place, so be it.'

"Then it seems he was led thither by the one by whom he was blessed, so be it. As soon as he was brought yonder then the other began to relate, so be it, the number of objects, so be it, for which he went about wailing, so be it. 'So, so be it, I blessed our grand-child because he wailed altogether too much, so be it. Verily I shall not bless him for a short time. I mentioned that whenever we think, so be it, of changing this, so be it, our earth, so be it, and, so be it, this our sky also, so be it, (my blessing would be valid until then).

"'Verily, now, so be it, in blessing our grandchild you have pleased him, so be it. For that indeed is what he who made him to move (i. e., gave him life) formerly told us. That is why he formerly besought us. He said to us, "You shall continue to bless whomsoever you desire." So verily to-day you (have done) exactly right. Oh, I also shall not bless him for your sake any differently. In as many ways, so be it, as you blessed him, I also shall bless him for your sake, that I also may continue to smoke tobacco. But now as far as this our grandchild, the future person is concerned, as we are (but) two it is not suitable. Verily we shall go and relate (his story) to the one who lives in the south, who sits fixedly.'

"And then it seems he began to lead him (yonder). As soon as he brought him there they began to tell each other how he was blessed, so be it. The one by whom he was blessed said exactly the same thing, so be it; and he was blessed again in the same way. 'But as we now are three it is not suitable. We must go also indeed yonder where one resides in the west and inform him of it,' they by

whom he was blessed, so be it, said to each other, so be it.

"And as soon as he brought him there the same (happened). Then it seems he whose name was 'Mama'sā'a' was again led about, so be it, and was brought inside where one who has a well-known seat sits in the north. And he was led in succession to where all (the manitous) under the earth (are) and to the tops of the Tree Spirits. Verily it seems he was blessed the same way, so it seems. He was even taken, it seems, to where the Great Manitou dwells. Verily also as soon as he (the Great Manitou) had been told how 'Mama'sā'a' was blessed, it seems that then he, the Gentle Manitou, spoke, 'Now verily, so be it, you, so be it, have pleased me in obeying me, so be it. That indeed is why, so be it, I formerly told you, so be it, to continue, so be it, to bless them, so be it. Therefore, so be it, it is suitable, so be it, remember us, so be it? In accordance, so

nō'dtc', me'kwänemenagkwe', nō'dtc'? I'ni, nō'dtc', wī'anemi, nō'dtc1', ata'maiyagkwe', nō'dtc1', wī'na nō'dtc1', ä'cawidtci kō'ci'se'menānat. Ā'gwi nī'n a'te''tci wī'inänemaginat. Ta''sonog änä'nemägw äyī'gi nī'n ī'ni ketenänetamonepwat, no'dtelt.'

5 "Ininā'tcā''yatuge wī'n a'peminī'siwene'te'e'. Aiyāpami, nō'dtc', pyäyädtci kī'cidtcā''yätuge nānagadtcimeguyätu'g änänemedtci kī'citcāgi'nätagki', nō'dtci', 'neketemināgōgki',' īninā'tcā''yätugke', ä'wäpiwītamawā'te'e', nō'dtc'', tcīnawä'mādtci'i, tcāgānāgōmādtci''. Negu'tidtcā'i mī'sō'n ä'wītamawāte'e'yätugke', nō'dtci', wī'na nō'dtci',

- 10 'Ma'ma'sā'a,' nō'dtc', ä'nātänna'. 'Ā'gwi nī'na ne'ci'ka keteminawī'wādtcinnit. Wī'a'nemiyā'piwī'namäme'kwäneta'mugwäna ma'n änänetägu''sivän ī'ni wī'na wī'u'dtciwī'na'anemi'cika''ckowädtc aneminato'tā'sute pemāte''siwennit. Nā''kat, nō'dtcit, wī'anemi'cinä'negutenwipane'ckāgwidte a'pe'näwennic. Nā'ka'dte īni wī'udteipā-
- 15 wika ckitä emegunidte uwī ya an ā co'wi me'notanne, kago i ta cigute ketögimāmenāna, anemi'cinato'tā'sute. Wīnwā'wadtcā'i kätemina'witcigkit, no'dtcit, ma'ni newāwīta'māgōg uta''kimwāw ä'mawiku'känetamu'gwä'igki': ī'n ä'kwi'seta'wiwādtci wī'a'kwi'ane'mitäpwämiga'tenigi man īnugi neketeminawe''siwennit. Wī'anemi, nō'dtcit,
- 20 a'pä'nemudte ā'ko'wi, nō'dte', wī'anemi, nō'dte', me'to'säneniwigwänna". Nā''ka", nō'dtci", kī'ce'gwi newāwīta'māgōg ä'mawi'äyīgike'kyäwagō'tōwādtc ä'kwänetamawiwādtci ma'n īnugkit, nō'dtcit. Nā''ka', nōdtc'', ī'ni wī'anemi'ciwīnaka''ckowädtci negu'twāpyägi manetowannie, no'dtcie, ä'kwī, wī'na no'dtcie, mane'senowanetami'-
- 25 nigwän u'tō'kimmit, wī'pāwine'ci''cāpwä'cimäne'cīgwägāpādtci'. Pā'c', wī'na nō'dtc', ugi'māwan utōtä'wenegki, nō'dtc', āmi'cipyädtcimāmī'cātādtcimegu'si'dtci, no'dtci, anemi'cinato'tā'sutet, no'dtcit.

"Inidtca" inugkit, wi'na no'dtcit, nene'känetagetet, no'dtcit, pyäd-30 tcinādtcimoni'te'e, nō'dtc', ma'nigä' wīnai'yätugke, wī'anemigä'wīname'kwäneta'mawudtcit. Ä'nänetā'gu'sidtcit. Inādtci'mugwännit, no'dte', wi'pāwinanā''ciwanī'kāta'mawudte', no'dte'.

"Inidtca", no'dtc1, 'ni'i'cime'kwäneta'mawawa",' ini yätu'gket, nō'dtc', ä'citä'ä'te'e, nō'dtc', wī'na nō'dtc', Wā'senenwa, nō'dtc'. 35 Wä'dte', nō'dte', kīnā'gwi peminana'āgwa'tawā'dte utā'ku'nāman'i, nō'dte', īte'p', nō'dte', ä'i'cikegime'ckinedtcä'tawādte', nō'dte'. utai'yī'an ä'ta'gwiwī'napōtā'kwawādtcit, nō'dtcit, nīpete'siwanat, nō'dte', ä'tagwāpō'sa'mawādte', nō'te'.

"'I'cenä'i yōw ä'ketemi'nawägw ä'cika'nönägwe pemāte''siweni 40 wāwītama'wägwännit. Ta'tsonogi tca'g äna'wägwännit, i'n a'ci'tam ä'cinatawänetamõnagõw īnu'gi nī'n aiyā'ko'w ä'me'to'säneniwä''iyānni, a'pāwinīgānike'kānetamān a'kwike'nugwānni. Kīnwāwadtcā'

be it, with the way our grandchild has done we shall continue, so be it, to smoke, so be it, so be it. I shall bless him no differently. In as many ways as you blessed him I also bless him for your sake, so be it.'

"Verily it seems at that time he (Mama'sā'a) began to be led downward. As soon as he came back, so be it, verily as soon, it seems, as he had seen exactly all the ways in which he was blessed, so be it, (then) he thought, 'They blessed me,' and at that time it seems he began to tell, so be it, those to whom he was related, all those to whom he was related. The one called, so be it, 'Mama'sa'a' spoke of (this) single gens. 'They did not bless me alone. Whosoever indeed shall continue to remember this, the way I was blessed, will continue thereby to be successful in his prayers if he continues to ask for life. And, so be it, each time disease will continue to miss him. Moreover, in that way none of the foes from without shall be successful if he in any way speaks against our chief, that is, if he (the chief) continues to so pray. Verily, they who bestowed the blessings upon me, so be it, mentioned (the time) whenever they thought of changing their earth: such is the limit they set, for this blessing of mine (given) this day shall continue to be valid. Whosoever, so be it, shall continue, so be it, to exist in the future as mortal, so be it, as the very last, shall continue to depend upon (my blessing). And, so be it, they mentioned that when they also hung the sky old (i. e., when the sky is old) is the extent of my blessing this day, so be it. And, so be it, in that way (any one) shall continue to be successful in his prayers for one slice when the manitou, so be it, plans war on his earth, so that he (the person praying) shall not stand alone with shamed face. He even, so be it, shall contrive to be mentioned with great pride, so be it, in the chief's town, so be it, if he continues to pray for (this), so be it.'

"So verily to-day (Jim Old Bear), so be it, recollected, so be it, what (the manitou) had formerly said, namely, that this (blessing) of his, it seems, so be it, should continue indeed to be remembered. Such is his reputation. He must have mentioned, so be it, that his (blessing) should never be forgotten, so be it.

"Verily, therefore, so be it, Jim Old Bear, it seems, thought, so be it, so be it, 'I shall thus remember (his blessing), so be it.' It is why, so be it, he freely strives to properly pile up his tobacco for him, so be it, and he extends his open hand toward him, so be it, and boils for him his pet (dog), so be it, together with the harvest crop, so be it, which he boils together as a soup for him, so be it.

"'Now formerly when you blessed him you must have mentioned life, when you spoke to him. In all the ways you promised him in return I, who am a person of the last generation, to-day desire of you, for I do not know in advance how far (my life) extends. Verily I

na'ina' ä'ta'sō'kwäpīnō'katawāwägwän ä'ketemi'nawägw ī'n ä'citcā-gime'nagōwe netā''kunäma wī'ta'tagwitäpe'sinu'tawäg^{kwe'}, nā''ka netai'y ä'pōtā'kō'nagōw^{we'}.' Ī'nⁿ', wī'na nō'dtc', änā'dtci wī'na Wā''-sänen^{wa'}, nō'dtc', kätemināgā'nidtci'', nōdtc'. 'Negutidtcā'' wīna

5 mī'sō'n ä'citcāgōnedtcā''cināgke', nō'dtcl', wī'inäne'miyāgke', nō'dtcl', pemāte''siwennl', nō'dtcl'. Nā''ka', nō'dtcl', wī'pāwi, nō'dtcl', maiyā'-ckā'gwiyāgke', nō'dtcl', madtci'a'pe'näwennl', nō'dtcl'. Nā''ka', nō'dtcl', wī'pāwika'ckitä'e'megudtcl', nō'dtcl', kägō''i tä'cita'ita'-māgute', nō'dtcl', upe''tawānnl', nō'dtcl', wī'pāwi, nō'dtcl', tä'pwänidtci

10 wīna'megu, nō'dtc', wī'ane'mi'āwuta'minidtc u'wīyawwi', nō'dtc'. Nā'ka'dtc', nō'dtc', negu'twāpyägk', nō'dtc', ä'cinatawänetamō'nagōwwe', nō'dtc', wī'i'ci, nō'dtc', nāpā'ku'kwa'wiyägkwe', nō'dtc', wī'na nō'dtc'. Tcā'gk', wī'na nō'dtc', nī'dtcī'ckwe'a', nō'dtc', āmi'ci, nō'dtc', pe'cku'nawidtc', nō'dtc', wa'nimōdtc', nō'dtc',

15 wāwā'dtcipemu'tīyānnet, nō'dtci'.' Ī'nnit, wī'na nō'dtci', änā'dtci Wā''sänenwa wī'nnat. Ā'penedtcā'' wīnān ä'cinatawänetamawādtci kägō'i pyätō'dtcit.

"Wīnwā'wa nekī'ciwītama'wāpen aiyō'i tänādtcimäweniwitcight, A'ckutä'nä'sīwa nā'ka'dtc A'nenägi Täyäpī'gwä'cigha'. Wīnwā'wa 20 nīgāni'ata'mä'āp'i. Īnidtcā'' īnu'gi kīnā'na wä'dtci nōmagäpī''enāg ä'nenī'wiyanne', kīnwā'wa nā''k i''kwätighe'."

Ä'a'kwā'dteimudte".

"Ō'ni wīna'megu wī'wī'se'niyägkwe'. Wī'tcāgi'megu'sīga'i'gäyägkwe'.
'Ā'kowidtcā'' īn aiyā'ne'kī'i kī'pemi'sīga'a'mātīpwa ta'gwa'ān''.

25 Ī'ni pe''k aiyō'' ä'yōtägkl'. U'wīyä'a myā'cipemā'te'site wī'na'e'ckā-gwidtci'megu, inātota'mugwänn'.''

Na''ina'i kī'citcāgi'sīga'amātī'wādtcinn', "Wī''senigku'. Nekī'ci'-ku'i'ādtci'mopen änenamā'gäyāge nemamātomō'nenān'. Wī'senigu', ne'nītigē, i''kwätigē."

30 Īnigā'me'g äyīg ä'wä'pinā'gäwādtcl'. Cä'cki'megu nyāna'nw ai'yōwagi naga'mōnan ä'wī'se'ninidtcl'.

"'Ōniyā'pi wīna'megu ä'kī'cinā'gäyāgke'. Mäme'dtcinä' ī'ni

wī'nīmi''enāgke', kī'cimā'imāwadtci'ganänigäyägkwe'.''

'Ōni neguti'megu mamī'cī'' ä'kīwimāwa'tenag a''kananⁿ¹'.

35 Ke'tcanāganimegu aiyōw^{wa}'. Ō'ni kī'cimāwa'tenagi ketā'ganeg ä'mawi'sīge''ckānag^k¹'. 'Ō'ni nā''ka negu'ti nīgāninamī'cī'' ä'anō'-'kāne^dtc¹', "Na'ī', nawa'^dtci'cī'ka'wi'cimi neta'ku''kunān^{na'}. Īni^dtcā''i wī'nīmi'enāg^{ke'}. Kā'kami'megu wī'a'mäwā^dtci wī'kumā'-gwig^k¹'. Kā'kami yāpi'megu nī'anwā''tōpen^{na'}."

40 'Ō'n ä'nawadtci'anwäwä'tcigädtci Kemōtō' ā'citammi'. Cä'cki'-megu nī'ce'nwi nenegwäwä'tcigäwwa'. Ō'ni, "Nīmigu wī'kumenāgke'," ä'i'dtci'.

name my tobacco for all of you, as many as at the time were seated when you blessed him, so that you collectively shall enjoy it, and I boil my pet (dog) for you and I boil a harvest crop with it as a soup for you.' That, so be it, is what he, Jim Old Bear, so be it, says to those who bestowed the blessing, so be it. 'Verily you accordingly will bless us, so be it, who have our hands in (i. e., belong to) this single gens, so be it, with life, so be it. And, so be it, evil disease, so be it, shall not, so be it, strike us, so be it. And, so be it, if (the chief's) fire (i. e., town) is in any way there spoken against, so be it, that he shall not be overpowered, so be it, (and), so be it, (the foe) shall not, so be it, be successful, so be it, and he shall continue to curse himself, so be it, so be it. Moreover, so be it, we desire of you, so be it, one slice, so be it, so that in this way, so be it, you will replace our kettle, so be it. Each, so be it, of my foemen, so be it, shall thus contrive, so be it, to miss me, so be it, if by chance, so be it, we exchange shots at each other, so be it.' That, so be it, is what Jim Old Bear says to them. Verily anyone who brought anything to the feast desires the same of them.

"We have spoken to those who are said to be here, the Spirit of Fire, and He Who Lies with His Eyes Bulging in the Smoke Hole. They indeed are given a smoke first. That verily is why we have had you seated here to-day, ye men and ye women."

He then finished his speech.

"Now indeed you will eat. Verily as the last thing you shall begin to serve each other a very little corn meal. That is especially used here. If anyone is in ill health it will have a good effect upon him; that is what is said of it."

At whatever time they all have served each other (the following is said): "Eat. We have indeed told how we extend our worship. Eat, men, women."

Then indeed they also begin singing. They use only five songs

when eating.

"Now indeed we have finished singing. Now we shall have you dance for the last time; that is, after you have gathered the bones."

Then indeed one ceremonial attendant goes about gathering the bones. He uses a very large bowl. And as soon as he has gathered them he goes and empties them by the main pole. And one ceremonial attendant is ordered, "Now stop to dampen our drum. Then we indeed shall have you dance. Let those whom you have invited straightway move. Straightway indeed we shall start with good songs."

Then in turn, Jack Bullard stops to blow the flute. He blows only twice, making a trembling sound. Then he says, "Dance, you

whom we have invited."

'Ō'n ä'wäpinīmiwa'a'mowādtci'. Ta'swi kutwā'ciga'ne'sīwe 'ai'yō-wagi nīmiwa'i'ganan'i'. Ä'nīmiwa'a'mowādtci' cā'ga kī'cai'yōwādtci 'ō'n ä'ā'petwäwä'i'gäwādtci', ä'pwāwi'megunanā''cinagwäwä'i'gäwādtci nō'i'ga naga'mōnan'i'. Ä'neguti'meguwä'pi'segki'. Ta'ta'-5 gwidtcā' medā''swi negu'twā'cig äyō'wādtcin'i'. 'Ō'ni mämedtcinā'-'megu aiyōgki'. Pe'ki'megu ä'me'ckwigitä'wi'segki'.

Ōnā'pe' nī''cwi mamī''cī'agi pāwinī'mitcig ä'anō''kānedtci wī'āpi-'ckwi'sa''āwādtci täwä'i'ganan''. Ä'tanwäwä'igäwādtci'megu āpi'-'cku'näwag īnigä''megu. Me''tenō' ä'cipōnwäwä'i'gäwādtci ne'ki'-

10 megu pwāwi'āpi'ckunamo'wātänⁿi'. Īni'megu āmitanwäwä'i'gäwād-tc¹', me'cena''megu nä' nōdtci'megu wâpane'miwā's^'. Wâpanōwe-gä'tcigäwagi kudtc¹'.

Ōnime'g äyī'g ä'pemikedtcinedtcä'sa''āwādtci nāgamo'nidtci' änwäwä'sa'tō'nidtci'i cī'cī'gwanan'i. Kī'citcāgimani'āwādtci ä'yō-15 nidtc ä'nīmiwa'a'minidtci'. Ä'pōne'gāwādtci'. Ōni'megu ä'nawadtci'megunō'sa'mowādtci nīgā'nimamī''cī'agi māgwai'. 'Ō'n ä'näyāpimatagwapi'tōwādtci'.

Kī'cāwīwādtein on a'ka'naka'nawidtei Wâ''kaiya', "Kīgā'nuteigki', teā'g änāgō'magigki', nā''ka wī'na mamī''eī'agi teā'gi! Na'i' 20 änāgōmagigki', nā''k a'sā'māwani' cāge'semedtein ā'pa'tā'tamā'-gāteigki'; teāg änāgō'magigki'."

Näyāpi'megu nā'ka'dtc inādtcimōw änādtcimonidtci'megu kīgāno'-nidtci''. Me'tenō''megu ä'ta'cipe'kī'nowädtc''. Ä'idtcidtcā''i', "'Ō'ni nā''k ä'me'kwä'nemagi käteminā'gātcig ä'keteminawāwā'te'e

- 25 Mama''sā'anni', nīna'gā'i me'to'sānenī'wiwen ā'nene'kānetamāti''soyānni'. Ma'n ā'itamegki', 'anemipepyä'ta'ōmo'kidtce',' wī'ine'ta'wiwādtci'. 'Nāpigā'' wīna wī'nāpātotamātīgini ta'cine'tā'gu'sīwa
 kō'ci'se'menānna'.' Wī'ine'ta'wiwādtci kāteminā'gātcigi Wâpa'nowagki'. Īnidtcā'' ta'swi wī'tanetunā'moyānni', tcāg ānāgōme'nagōwe'.
- 30 'Ōnidtcā' wī'na kwīye'n ä'ci'anemimäwitä' äyagwe kī'cimenwitcā-gatamātīyagwini mä'kwänema'gedtcigi ta'ta'gwi keme'co'e'nānagkl'. Īnidtcā' nä' anemi'cikegke': änemiwanawanāpa'tamagwe wī'na menetowag ä'anemikugwä'kināgwi'tōwādtc uta'kimwāwi wī'na nā'ka'dtci wīnwā'w ukī'ce'gumwāw āmi'ci'anemina'ega'cewâwâpata'-
- 35 mawag^{kwe}. Pā'ci mana''k ä'ke'kyäwe'niwigi ka'cko'wäyāg ä'mamāto'moyāg^{ke}. Īni^dtcā' ā'mi'ta'i natawinaga''ciyāg^{ke}, ä'nenī'wiyan^{ne}.''

Īnigā' adtcā''megō'n ä'awatena'mawudte umī''cāmwāwi kīgā'nutcigk''. Ä'wīgādtci'setōgi pī'cāganimu'tä'egk''. 'Ō'ni kīgā'nutcigi' 40 sāgi'dte ä'mawipagi'nāwādtei nā'ina'i nwä'wīwādtei nenōtā'wī'and'' kegime'si'megu kīgā'nutcigk''. Nā'ka'dtei mamī''cī'ag ä'anō''kānedtei Then they begin to sing dancing songs. The number of dancing songs they use is 16. When they sing the dancing songs, as soon as they have sung nine then they beat the drum regularly and never stop beating it for seven songs. One song is begun, collectively 16 are the songs which they use. Then they use indeed the very last song. It is very long and tiresome.

Thereupon usually two ceremonial attendants who are not dancing are ordered to untie the drum. While they are beating the drum they untie it. As long as they do not untie it they do not cease beating it. They could keep on beating it, so be it, until dawn might

come on them. For they dance the Dawn Dance.

Then indeed they begin to jerk the gourds (i. e., rattles) out of the hands of the singers and the rattlers. As soon as they have taken from them all the (gourds) which they used then they give a dance song. Then they stop dancing and the head ceremonial attendants stop to fumigate the headdress. Then they bundle it up carefully as it was.

As soon as they have done their work then Wâkaiya speaks at length, "Those celebrating the gens festival, all to whom I am related, and all ceremonial attendants! Come, those to whom I am related and those who lit the smoking tobacco; all to whom I am related."

Moreover, he says the same thing as those celebrating the gens festival said. Only indeed he speaks differently. Verily what he says is, "And now as I remember those who bestowed blessings, who took pity upon 'Mama'sā'a,' I also recall my own life. Verily if this is said, 'he might continue to make mistakes in his prayers,' nevertheless they will hear me. 'And indeed our grandchild will be heard whenever there is to be translation (of prayers).' Those who bestow blessings, the Wâpanowagi, will hear me. That verily is as much as I shall say here, all ye to whom I am related. And so, as soon as we have eaten pleasantly all which was dedicated to our grandfathers collectively, whom we worship, we naturally feel well. Verily may this also be so: As we continue to lose sight of (this earth and sky) as the manitous continue to change the appearance of their earth and their sky may we continue to slowly see them (the sky and earth change). Even to you old age may we be successful in our prayers (i. e., have them answered) when we worship. So verily, ve men may contrive to leave us."

And then for the first time those celebrating the gens festival are handed their sacred pack. It is put away carefully in the parfleche. Then those celebrating the gens festival go outside to cast Indian tobacco whenever they go out, all those celebrating the gens festival.

wī'pagita'mowādtc a''kananni', wäta'a'mowādtc a''ki wī'mawi'sīgi'-sa''tōwādtc''; nā''k anemō''ä'a'i näyāpi'megu änāgwa'soni'te' wī'i'ci'-ci'māwādtc''; mīgu'nä'a'i nā''k ä'cigāpānite'e'megu ä'ina'kanāwādtc''. Ī'n ä'ca'wiwādtc''.

Moreover, the ceremonial attendants are ordered to throw away the bones and to go and deposit the earth from where they got it; and they must place the puppies exactly as they were; and they erect the little feathers as the (little feathers) were standing. That is what they do.

Manufaction of topicton with a "division to a state of the state of th

THIRD INDIAN TEXT

'Ō' ka'ō' ma'n īnug ä'wâ''säyāg ä'anepyä'i'gäyāni' ce'megu nī'kugwätā'dtcim īy a''cawaiy ä'cawiwāte'e'yätuge me'ne'tami mä'to'sänenī'witcig ä'a'ckiwäpinatawänetama'wāwādtc ume'to'sänenī'wenwāwi, mā'a'gidtcā' Mä'kwi''so'ag ä'cimene'tāmiketeminawe'-5 'siwādtci'.

Ma'na Mä''kwi'sō' ä'ma'ka'täwīdte ä'natawäneta'mā'sudteigä' wī'na negu'ti mī'sōn änegi'ku'cka'mowādtei wī'anemi'eike'nigwäni nā''ka wī'anemi'cina'ime'to'säneniwi'nigwän ume'to'sänenīmwāwa'l'. Ä'wäpima'katäwīte'e'yätug ä'kākīwäge'sidtei wā'ku'näwan äkīkeg-10 wäge'sidte'. Ä'kīwinanātwäwä'tagi wī'anemi'eina'ige'nigwän uwī'yāwāwi negu'ti mī'sōn ä'ai'yōwādte'.

Me'cena''megu nā'ta'swawa'īn ä'pemimāma'ka'täwīdte'. Īyā' me'cena'' ne'gutenwi pe'pōnig ä'ketemina' we'sidte'. Ä'pyänu'tāgudtei negu't', "Na'i', pyā'nnu'," ä'igudte'. Ä'wäpipemī'wenedtei wätā'-15 panig ä'i'cī'wenedte', ä'pyätewä'netag u'wīyaw ä'a''tänigi wī'giyāp'. "Aiyō''yätuge wädtei na'tomigk'," ä'ci'tä'ädte'. "Aiyō''ku'i," ä'inedte', "wädtei nato'menegk'," ä'inedte'. Ä'pī'tigädte'. "Aiyō'i nana''apinnu'," ä'inedte'. "Na'i', manidteā' ä'ciketemi'nōnān īnu'gk'. Nī'na manidteā' māgwai'yi ketawate'namōnne'. Cewä'na ma'ni wī'i'ca'wiyan'i', mana''ka wädteinā'wa'kwäg īn ä'awidtei 20 mani'megu ä'ca'wiyan ä''cawita', ī'na wī'wī'tamō'ka nā''ka pe''k''," ä''gudte''. "Ītepidteā' kī''a," ä''inedte'.

Ä'nowī'wenedtc ä'wäpī'wenedtci nā''k īyā'' nā''k ä''pyänedtci' Ä'pī'tigādtc ä'nana''apidtci'. "Na'ī', no'cī''i', ceku''megu ketenāne25 megōgi manetowagki'. Ma'n īnug änä'neme'ki'. Manidtcā'' änä'neme'k īnugki', īni'megu nā''nīna wī'inäne'menān'i'. Tāni 'wä'na' wī'i'-ca'wiyān ī'ni wī'pwāwi'ca'wiyān'i'? Īnidtcā''megu nā''nīna wī'inäne'-menān ä'inäneme'nugwän'i'. Na'i', āgwi'ku' wīna wä'wītep inäneme'nagin'i'; pā'ciku''megu ä'ke'kyäwa'kyä'cinidtci Kō'kume'se'-30 nānan īni''ku' ä'kwāpyä''setō'k änä'neme'ki','' ä''igudtci'. "Na'i, mana''kadtcā' nā''ka', kī''a ä'pagi''cimugki', īni'ku' äneminänetā'gu-'siyani wī'anemita'citamōnegki'. Āgwiku'' wīn īn ä'nī'cinī'cī'yāgin'','' ä''inedtci'. "Īnidtcā' nā''ka wī''aiyan''; īni nā''ka wī'ta'ciwīta'mōneg ī'ni pe''ki wī'ādtcimo''enegki'; ī'ni pe''ki wī'wīta'mōnegki'. Kanā'gwa 35 nī'na wī'ne'ci'inänemenān ä'ci'kegin''. Īnidtcā' nā''ka keme''cōmes'

ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF THIRD INDIAN TEXT

Well, now to-day in writing while it is daylight, I shall try to tell what the first people probably did a long while ago when they first began to know about their life, (and) how those belonging to the Bear gens were first blessed.

This fellow belonging to the Bear gens was fasting as he desired knowledge whereby he might benefit this one gens so that it would exist in the future and that its people should continue to exist as mortals. He began to fast more earnestly and went around wailing with tobacco in his hand. He went around calling (for knowledge to know) what would happen to the bodies of those who use this one

name (i. e., those belonging to the Bear gens).

Well, he continued to fast earnestly for several years. It was yonder once in winter that he was blessed. (Some) one came and spoke to him, "Come, now." And he began to be led away. He was led toward the East so he knew he had come where there was a wicki-up. "Here is probably the spot from whence I was summoned," he thought. "Here truly," he was told, "is from whence you were summoned," he was told. "Sit down here," he was told. "Now this verily is why you were summoned to-day," he was told. "This," he was told, "look at this," he was told. "Now this verily is what I desire you to do to-day. This verily is how I bless you to-day. I hand you this headdress. But this is what you are to do. Yonder in the South there is one who is even as I am, he who will likewise give full information to you," he was told. "Verily you will go there," he was told.

He was led out and he began to be led and was brought yonder. He entered and sat down. "Now, my grandchild, the manitous really have blessed you. This day is when they blessed you. This verily is how they bless you to-day, and I shall bless you in the same way. How, pray, may I act so as not to do so? So I too will bless you in whatever way they bless you. Truly they give you no mean blessing; even as long as our Grandmother (the earth) exists is the extent of the blessing they bestow upon you," he was told. "Well, you must go likewise yonder to the West, so that you will continue to be blessed in the same way, (and) so that you continue to be given instructions there. Now there are not (merely) two of us," he was told. "So you must go again; then you will again be given instructions; then you will be thoroughly informed; then you will be given thorough

ä'awidte īnidteā' nā'ka wī'ādteimo''enegki. Āgwiku''wīna papai'-yā'kidtei wī'inänemenāgin'i. Ī'ni wī'i'ea'wiyan'i. Na'i', manidteā' wī'i'ea'wiyan'i. Īyā''megu kī'ei'pyaiyani kī'awatena'mawäwa ne'sä'māwan'i. 'Na'i', ma'nagä' wīna pyätönāna wī'ata'maiyan'i','

- 5 kī'ināwa," ä'igudte'. "Īnidteā' cä'eki nī'n änādteimo'enānnie.
 Āgwiku' wīn ai'yā'te'tei wī'inäneme'nāginnie," ä'igudte'. "Īniku''megu ā'pe'ne wī'i'ei'se'tōnāg ä'nenāge nā'ka mene'tā'mi wī'tamō'ka'," ä'igudte ume'cō'me'sannie. "Īnidteā' nā'ka wī'aiyannie,"
 ä'igudte'.
- 10 Ä'nāgwādtci nā'k ä'inä'netag u'wīyawi. Me'cena' nā'ka kabō'twe īyā' ä'pyätewä'netag u'wīyaw ä'pagi'ci'monig ä'pyänu'tawādtci nā'k ume'cō'me'san'. Ä'pyänu'tawādtc ä'pemipī'tigädtci. "Ä'pyaiyan', no'cī''," ä'igudtci. Ä'awatena'mawādtci wā'ku'näwan'. "Na'i', neme''cu', ma'naku' wī'na pyä'tōnāna ne'sämāwwa',"
- 15 ä'inādtci', "wī'ata'maiyanni'." Ä'na'kuna'māgudtci'. "Īni'ku'i no'cī''i', ä'igudtc ume''co'anni', "no'cī''i'," ä'igudtc ume''co'an ä'ata'mānidtci'. Nōmagäwi'ka'mānidtci', "Īni'ku' no'cī' ä'cime'nwikegi kīnān ä'inenī'wiyagkwe'. Ā'gwi wädtcinowi'setō'nagwini ma'netōwa kī'yānānni'. Me'tenō'ku''megu ma'n īnug ä''cawita
- 20 wī'anemika''ckowāta ma'n īnug änäne'menāge ma'n īnugki'. Wī'i'ci'-menāgke': āgwidtcā'' aiyō'ninā' a'kwāpyä'setōnegin änäneme'ki'. Manidtcā' änä'neme'ki mā'a'gi keme'cō'me'sagki'. Ma'n īnugi manidtcā' negu'ti mī'cāmi kī'wīta'māgōpi wī'inä'inänetamani wī'ina-'inanō'kyäyanni'. Manidtcā' änä'neme'ki mā'a'gi 'Wâpa'nowagi'
- 25 ä'nedtcigki. Manidtcā wī'i'ca'wiyanni. Māgwai'yi ketawatena'-māgōp'i'," ä''inedtci. "Aiyā'pī'tcinā'tcā kī'me''kwänet'. Na'i', man īninā''tcā wī'me'kwäne'tamanni, ä'ckimenō'kamīginni. Īninā'tcā wī'mamāto'taman a''penädtc īninā'ī'wigini wī'me'kwäne'tamanni. Nā''k ä'a'ckimegunī'pegini nā''inā' īninā' nā''k īni wī'i'ca'wiyani
- 30 wī'me'kwäne'tamanⁿⁱ','' ä''ine^dtcⁱ'. "Na'i', no'cī''i, ī'ni ta''swi wī'wīta'mōnānⁿⁱ','' ä''igu^dtcⁱ'. "Aiyō'me'g u^dtci nā''ka kī''a wä^dtcike'siyāg^{ki}','' ä''ine^dtcⁱ' "īni nā'ka negu't ä''awi^dtci ke'me'cō'a'. Īna'tcā' pe''ki wī'wīta'mōnegi tcāgi^dtcā'; ī'na wī'tcāgiwī'tamō'ka ä'inäne'menāg^{ke}','' ä''igu^dtci nā''kān ume''co'anⁿⁱ'. "Īna^dtcā' tcāgi
- 35 nā'nāgadtei wī'inādteimo''e'ka'," ä''igudtei'. "Īna'teā' wī'ta'eiteāgikī'eäwīyan ä'einatawäne'tamanni'," ä''igudtei'. "Īnidteā' āmi'ta' natawinā'gwaiyanni'. Cī nā'pe'e, na' īnugi ma'n änänemenāge no'eī'', ā'gwi wā'wītep inäneme'nāginni'," ä''igudtei'. "Pā''eiku', wī'na nō'dtei', ä'ke'kyäwa''kyä'eigi ma'na kō''kume'sa Me'sa'kamigu'-
- 40 kwäwa, īniku'' wīna ne''ki wī'anemimäme'kwäneta'mugwäna 'aiyā'pī'tcinā' wī'anemi'citäpwädtci'. Nānegutenwi man īnug änäne'menāgke'," ä'igudtci'. "Kātadtcā' nanā''ci pō'nimäme'kwäne'ta-

understanding. Yet it is not proper for me to alone bless you that way. So you will again be given instructions where your grandfather is. He will not bless you in a different (?) way. That is what will happen to you. Well, this is what you are to do. As you go yonder you will hand him tobacco. 'Well, you are to smoke the tobacco which I bring you,' you must say to him," he was told. "That is all that I tell you. It is not proper for you to be blessed further (?)," he was told. "We shall arrange (our blessing) for you exactly as he who first spoke to you in bestowing his blessing upon you," he was told by his grandfather. "So you must go again," he was told.

That he again departed was what he thought of himself. And finally he soon thought that he came yonder in the West and that he came to his grandfather. When he came to him he entered. "You have come, my grandchild," he was told. He handed tobacco to him. "Now, my grandfather, I have truly brought you this tobacco," he said to him, "so you may smoke." It was accepted by him. "That is right, my grandchild," he was told by his grandfather, "my grandchild," he was told by his grandfather as he smoked. When he had smoked a little while (he said), "That indeed, my grandchild, is a good way for us men. The manitou did not plan our lives to be easy. Indeed only the one who does (as you have done) this day is he who will be successful in his prayers (or have us bless him) as we bless you this day. 1 We shall tell you (this): the way they have blessed you is not for a short time. This verily is how these your grandfathers bless you. This day you will be given instructions pertaining to this single sacred pack so that you will always think of it and always perform the (suitable) rites. This verily is how these who are called 'Wapanowagki' bless you. This verily is what you must do. You have been given a headdress," he was told. "Once in a while you will remember it; this is the time when you will remember it, in the early spring. At that time you must worship it and you must always remember it whenever it is that time. And at early harvest time, at that time you will perform the ceremonies again and will remember it," he was told. "Well, my grandchild, that is as much as I shall tell you," he was told. "You must go from here to the North again," he was told, "that is where another of your grandfathers stays. There verily you will be thoroughly instructed as to how we bless you. Then you will be given full instructions for the last time; he will be the one to instruct you in all the ways we bless you," he was told again by his grandfather. "He indeed is the one who will tell you precisely all (the details)," he was told. "There indeed you will complete all your desires," he was told. "So you had best depart. I say, the way we

¹ Free rendition.

gin¹¹','' ä''igu^dtc¹'. "Īniku'', nō'^dtc¹', wī'anemi''cigenwi ä'anemimäme'kwäne'taman¹¹','' ä''igu^dtc¹'. "Na'i', natawi'nāgwānu ke'me-'cō' ä'awi^dtc¹','' ä''igu^dtc¹'.

Ä'nāgwādtci nā'ka ke'sī'yānig äwi'nidtcin ume'co'annic. Īyā' 5 nā''k me'cena' kabō'tw ä'pyädtcipī'tigädtci'. "'Au'." ä''igudtc ume''co'anni'. Ä'watena'mawādtc ā'ku'näwanni'. "Mana' neme''cu', wī'atamaiyanna'," ä'inādte ä'pemiku'ka'pinidte'. Nomagäwi'kamānidte". "Na'ī', no'cī'i, nī'naku' ketenänemennet. Ma'n īnugi wädtci'ca'wiyanni'. Na'i', no'cī''i, ī'niku' pyädtci'cikegki': ke'kinawâ'-10 tapidtei ma'na 'Wâpanōwa' äne'ta wätā'panigi wädteināwa''kwänigi wädtcipagi'ci'monigi wädtcike'sī'yānigki'; aiyāwina'piyāgke'," ä''igudtc1. "Na'ī', ī'nidtcā'' īnug änänemenāgke; mani' negu'ti mī'cā'mi wī'i'cite''kātäwi 'Wâpanōwa Mä'kwi'sō'a'.' Wī'i'cawidtc": manidtcā'' māgwaiyi kī'nānī'mī'kāpwa mämātota'mägwinni. Cewä'na kīnwā-15 wa'megu ä'ma'kwi''soyägkwe'; ketō'kwaiyōmwāwa wī'nī'mi'tōwwa': wīna'megu wī'amā'gwägäwa mä'kwi'so''i'kwäwwa'," ä'igudtc'. "Agwigä' ma'ni nanā''e ī'ni wī'pōninanō'kyäyaninnit," ä''igudteit. "Ne'ki'megu wī'anemime'to'sänenī'wanän ī'ni ne''ki wī'anemime-'kwäne'tamanni', nā''ka pā'ci'megu ä'ke'kyäwa''kyä'cigi Me'sa-20 'kami'gu'kwäw în ä'kwāpi'se'tōnānni'," ä'igudtel. "Īnidteā' i'ca'wi-'kanni'," ä'igudtci'. "Na'i', manidtcā' wī'i'ca'wiyani mā'kwäneta'maninnit. Ma'nadtcā' wī'nanā'inedtcā'tamō'ka Mäge'sī'wi'sutat, nā''ka Näneme'kī'wi'suta'. Īni wī'nī''ciwādtcle," ä''igudtcle. "Manidtcā' a''penädtci wī'nīgāninema'tōyani ke'ta'sānni', ka'ō'n ane'mo'agi 25 nyä'wi, ka'ō'ni me'cemegōna'i wâpi'gunana'. Wī'nanā'esa'mowādtci kemamī'cī''emagi tcā'gi ta''sw änemipyätō'wanänni'. Ka'ō'ni nā''ka wī'anō''kānedtci wī'ana'ō'dtcigāt a''ku'kōni wī'anwäwä'omadtcinni'. Nyäwaiyag ä'ci''sowādtci Wämigō'a Mäge'sī'wi'suta Mä'wä'wi'suta Wāgu'cā''i'suta'. Ī'ni wī'ta''ciwādtci wī'ana'o'to'kigi keta''ku'koni 30 wī'anwäwä'o'madtcinnie. Kī'ci'ana'o'nāwāte wāku'näwani tcä'wīne'ki wī'a''sāwādtc a'ne'kī," ä''igudtc'. "Ka'ō'ni negu't anemo-'ani wī'sä'sä''sikī'ce''swāwādtci'; kī'ce''sonite mamī''cī'agi wī'amwāwādtci. 'Ö' netcīpe'ku''kwäpennat,' wī''iyannit. '"Mama'sā'at'' ä'ci'sut ä'ckiketemina'we'sita neta'ca''camāpenna',' wī''iyannı',''

35 ä''inādte'. "Wī'a'mwāwādte īnini' me'tami'megu. Kī'camwāwāte wī'anō''kānadtei mamī'eī'a pepigwä''ckwi wī'pyätenamō'k''. Wätā-

bless you to-day is not for a short time," he was told. "Whosoever shall continue to remember it often, even indeed, so be it, until this your grandmother, Mother-of-all-the-Earth, is old, shall continue to have his prayers answered once in a while. It is once at a time that we bless you this day," he was told. "Verily never cease to remember it," he was told. "Then indeed, so be it, when you continue to often remember it, (your desires) will come true," he was told. "Well, you had better depart to where your grandfather is," he was told.

He departed again toward the North where his grandfather was. When he finally again came there he entered. "Hello," he was told by his grandfather. Then he handed him tobacco. "You will smoke this," he said to him as the other started to turn where he was seated. He smoked for a little while. "Well, my grandchild, I indeed bless you. (I am) why you are doing this to-day. Now, my grandchild, the way it has truly been is: this one who is called 'Wâpanōwa' sits and represents in the East, South, West, and North; we are seated separately," he was told. "Well this verily is the way we bless you to-day: this single sacred pack shall be called 'Wâpanōwa Belonging to the Bear Gens.' (This) is what (the Bear gens) must do: verily you must dance for this headdress whenever you worship it (the pack). But (it shall be only) you who belong to the Bear gens; your womenfolk shall dance with it; a woman who belongs to the Bear gens shall put it on her head," he was told. "And you must never cease doing this," he was told. "As long as you shall continue to exist as mortal, so long must you continue to remember it (i. e., perform the ceremony and worship), and I have planned it for even even till Mother-of-all-the-Earth is old," he was told. "So do so," he was told. "Now this verily is what you are to do whenever you remember (the worship).3 This person who belongs to the Eagle gens is he who will carefully handle it for you, and one belonging to the Thunder gens. So there will be two of them," he was told. "This is what you must always boil first: cracked corn, then four dogs, and then anything else, such as pumpkins. Your ceremonial attendants will carefully attend to the cooking of everything which you may bring.4 And also one will be hired who shall make a drum which you will beat. There will be persons of four gentes,5 the Feathered (Thunder) gens, the Eagle gens, the Wolf gens, the Fox gens. That is the number of those who are to make for you your drum which you will beat. After they have made it they shall place a little tobacco in the center," he was told. "Then they must cook one dog in a hurry; when it is cooked the

¹ The sense of the passage, even if rendered very freely.

That is, whenever you perform the ceremony appurtenant to this sacred pack.

⁴ That is, your gens.

⁴Rendered rather freely, but such is the sense of the passage.

pagi wī'i'ci'anwäwä'tci'gäyanni', wī'ku'ke'namani wädtcināwa'kwägi wī'ine'namani nā''k ä'pagi''cimugi wī'inenamani nā''ka wädtcike''siyāgki'; ka'ō'ni nā''ka näyā'pi nā''ka wä'tāpagi wī'inenamani wī'nenegwäwä''tamanni'; nā''ka wädtcināwa'kwägi wī'ine'namani

5 wī'nenegwäwä''tamanni'; nā''ka wädtcike'siyāgi wī'ine'namani wī'nenegwäwä''tamanni'; nā''ka wädtcike'siyāgi wī'ine'namani wī'nenegwäwä''tamanni'. Īnidtcā' wī'awatena'mawadtci kemamī''cī'ema wī'na'i'setōdtci'. Manigä' māgwai'yi nana'gutägi kī'a'nā'ka'a', wī'a''tōyani ne''sämāwwa', wā''kunäwa wäna'īna' kī''a'sāwa

10 nī'ce'nwi','' ä''inedtci'. "Kī'cawatena'mawate kemamī''cī'ema wī'-atā'pe'namani' cī'cī'gwananni'. Mamī'cī''a nā''ka', 'mamī''cī pyätena'mawinu nā''k a'ku''kwa',' kī''ināwa kemamī''cī'emma'. Wī-'pyäte'namō'k'. Nyäwenwi wī'pa'gamadtci'. Kī'ci'nyäwenwipagamate wī'wäpwäwä'sa''tōyani' cī'cī'gwananni','' ä''inedtci'.

15 Kī'ciwäpwäwä'sa''tōwādtci' cī'cī'gwanan ä'kādtcinā'gäwādtci':

Wa la ne gi se;
Wa la A ne gi se;
Wa la ne gi se;
Yo, me no ta A ni;
25 Wa la A ne gi se;

Yo, me no ta A ni; Wa la A ne gi se; 35 Wa la ne gi se; Wa la A ne gi se; Wa la gi se.

Wa la A ne gi se; Wa la ne gi se;

Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne i no ki i i;
Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
40 Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
Ma ma ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;

ceremonial attendants will eat it. 'Oh, we are celebrating a ghost feast,' is what you must say. 'We are feeding the one called "Mama-'sā'a," the one who was first blessed,' is what you must say," he said to him. "They must eat that (dog) first. After they have eaten it you must employ a ceremonial attendant to hand you a flute. You will blow it to the east, you will turn it and point it to the south, and you will point it to the west, and to the north; and then you will again point to the east, and blow a tremulous sound; and you will point it to the south and blow a tremulous sound; and you will point it to the west and blow a tremulous sound; and you will point it to the north and blow a tremulous sound. Then you will hand it to your ceremonial attendant so that he will put it away. And you will spread this headdress in the center, you will place tobacco, native tobacco, on it in two spots. As soon as you have given it to your ceremonial attendant you will take up gourds (rattles). And you will say to the ceremonial attendant, your ceremonial attendant, 'ceremonial attendant, hand me also the drum.' He will hand it to you. You must strike it four times. After you have struck it four times you are to start to rattle the gourds," he was told.

As soon as they started to rattle the gourds they began to sing:

```
Dawn, my son;
Dawn, my grandson;
Dawn, my son;
Yō, the foe from without;
Dawn, my son;
Yō, the foe from without;
Dawn, my son;
Dawn, my son;
Dawn, my son;
Dawn, my son.5a
Ghost, I speak to you now;
Early I speak to you to-day;
```

⁵a See pp. 61, 63, and the corresponding Indian passages.

```
Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
   Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
   Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
   Ma ma ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
 5 Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i;
  Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e i no ki i i i;
  Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e e i no ki i i i;
  Tti la ya ke wi ta mo ne e e e.
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a a ma wi no o o;
10 Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a a ma wi no o o;
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na A A ma wi no o o o;
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na A A ma wi no o o o;
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o;
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o;
15 Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o;
   Me di ke na ga me ko na A A ma wi no o o o;
   Me di ke na ga me ko na A A ma wi no o o o;
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o;
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o;
20 Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o:
   Ma ni ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o;
```

ki ya wi me ko na a ma wi no o o o.

Ka'ō'ni nā''ka kī'cinaga'mowādtci', ä'nawadtcikanaka'nawidtci Pa'citōnīgkwa': "Ā'gwi kīnānānug ai'yā'kowime'to'sänenī'wiyagwe 25 pīne'cime'ka'magini wī'aneminanō''kyäyagkwe', tcāg änāgōme'nagowe. Winwā'wadtcā' me'ne'tami mä'to'sänenī'witcig äyä'pyädtcipäpe'cigwita'cī'ka'mowādtci ma'katä'wīwennit. Īnī'yätuge wä'dtc anemiwītamāgowāte'e manetowan īyā''megu kī'katawipa'ki'täpenä-'tō'wādtcin ä'keteminā'gowādtci mane'towanni. Īnidtcā' īnugi me'-30 kwänetamā'gäyagkwe'. Änänä'nemādtci kätemina'wādtcinni', ä'ta-'sō'kwäpī'ta'wāgwänidtcā' wī'n ä'ketemi'nawādtci neke'kyāmenāna'i', ī'n änegi'kwi'magedtc ä'a'sōne'kä'cinō''iyäge negu'ti mī''sōn änegi-'kuckamāgke'. Īnidtcā' wä'dtci nō'magāwi pemi'utamime'nagōwe wī'māmī'kedtcawī'iyago'a tcag anagome'nagowe. Äyīgiga' mō''tci 35 ma'n A'ckutänä'sīwa nemene'tāmikakanōneti''sopenna', nā'ka ma'na 'Anenäg Ä'tanā'dtcimeta Täväpī'gwä'cigka'. Nekī'cidtcā'wītama'wāpen ä'cinatotā'siga'wagedtci täyä'tagwi keme'cōme'se'nānagki'. Nā''k ä'wī'pwāwipītigāgwī'iyāg a'pe'näwen ä'pemawī'yāgin ī'n äyīg natotā''sagedtc''. Nā''ka ketōgimāme'nānani kīmyāmyā'cikanō-40 tama'wāgwān ä'wī'pwāwika'ckitä'ata'mawudtc ä'pe'tawanenagwe ketogimā'menānas; in äyīg ä'cimamāto'magedtci käketemi'nawāta neke'te'sīme'nānanni'. Nā''ka', nō'dtci', 'negu'twāpyägki'' ä''itagi wī'na ä'mane'towidte", īni nō'dte", äyī'gi pō''si natawänetama'wagedtci wī'inänemī'yamedtci'; ä'wī'nāpā'ku'kwawī'yamedtci'. Īni-45 dtca' inu'gi mā'a'gi' nō'dtci', wädtci nā'kwā'peta'mowādtci', nō'dtci',

```
Ghost, I speak to you now;
Ghost, I speak to you now;
Ghost, I speak to you now;
Early I speak to you to-day;
Ghost, I speak to you now:
Ghost, I speak to you now;
Ghost, I speak to you now;
Ghost, I speak to you.5b
Give this your body to me;
Snapping Turtle, give it to me;
Snapping Turtle, give it to me;
Give this your body to me;
Give this your body to me;
```

Give this your body to me; Give this your body to me; Give this your body to me.

And then as soon as they have finished singing Pa'citonigwa stops to make a speech: "We, the people who live last, do not attempt to-day to invent what ceremonies we are to continue practicing, all ve to whom I am related. They verily who first lived still busied themselves very uprightly with fasting. That, it seems, is why they continued to be given instructions by the manitou. Yonder at the time when they had nearly made themselves starve to death is when they were blessed by the manitou. That verily is what we have in mind to-day. What he thought of the one whom he (first) blessed, the manner in which he took compassion upon our ancestors—as many as he had sit at the festival—that is the amount we crave from him, as many of us as have our hands in (this) single gens and belong to it. That verily is why I continue to hamper you a little while in your hard work, all ye to whom I am related. And also we have even spoken for our own benefit first to this Spirit of Fire and to The One Whose Eves Are Said To Be In the Smoke Hole. We verily have told them what we ask from them and our grandfathers. Moreover, we asked that disease enter not wherever we reside. And (we asked) that whoseover went about speaking very evilly against our chief be unsuccessful in his designs against our chief's village; 6 for that also we plead with the one who bounteously blessed our ancestor. And, so be it, what he who is a manitou calls 'one slice,' we especially desire him to bless us therewith; (we pray) that he grant us (this) in return.

3 See p. 3 and the references cited.

⁶ This is the exact sense of the Indian original, which is difficult to translate very closely without violating English idiomatic usage.

nemamātomō'nenānⁿ¹°, nō'dtc¹°, nanō'ckwe nō'dtc¹°, wädtci ta'cina-'a'mowādtc¹°, nō'dtc¹°; nāpiwäna, nō'dtc¹°, wī'na ma'netōwa kätemi'nāgāta' cä'cki tamā'ge'cagi wī'inä'nemäwwa', nō'dtc¹°, nekwīye'se-'emenā'na'i nānanō'ckw ä'ta'cina'a'minidtc¹°. Nāpiwä'na tamā'ge-

- 5 'cagi 'nō'ci''semagi' wī'i'ci'tä'äwwa', pā''c', nō'dtc', ä'ke'kyäwenī'-winigi wī'anemipepyädtcināgä'iwaga', nō'dtc'. Wī'inä'nemäwa nāpiwän ō'ci''sema''. Tāni'wägä', nō'dtc', wī'i'ci'genigigä' wīnwāw uwī'yāwāwi wī'inä'nemäwwa'? Pā'cidtcā' ä'ke'kyäwenī'winiga', nō'-dtc', wī'aneminōdtcipepyä'ta'amōnō'ka'tamōgi nō'ci''semaga', nō'-
- 10 dtc le. Wī'i'citä'āwadtcā'', nō'dtc le, wī'na kātemi'nāgāt le, nō'dtc le. Wīnaiyō kī'cāpyā'se'tawāwwa', nō'dtc le, wī'inā'inā'nemādtc le, nō'dtc le, pā'ciku'', wī'na nō'dtc le, ä'ke'kyāwe'niwigkle, nō'dtc le, 'Īniku'' nō'dtc le, ä'kwāneta'mōnān le, nō'dtc le, ma'n īnugkle, nō'dtc le, änäne'-menān le, nō'dtc le, īniku'' wīna', nō'dtc le, wī'anemi''cigen le, nō'dtc le,
- 15 änemimäme'kwäneta'manin¹¹; ma'ni, nō'dtc¹⁴, änäne'menān¹⁴, nō'dtc¹⁴, nō'dtc¹⁴, 'ä'igute'e'yätuge wī'na nō'dtc¹⁴, neke'kyā'menānagä'', wī'na nō'dtc¹⁴, mane'towan¹⁴, nō'dtc¹⁴. Īnidtcā'' nō'dtc¹⁴, wädte īnug^{k14}, nō'dtc¹⁴, nōmagä'' īnug^{k14}, nō'dtc¹⁴, ma'n īnug^{k14}, nō'dtc¹⁴, ä'wâ''säyāg^{k14}, nō'dtc¹⁴, wä'dtc¹⁴, nō'dtc¹⁴, pe'mi, nōdtc¹⁴, nato'me-
- 20 nāg^{kwet}, nō'dtclt, änō'kā'naget', nō'dtclt; īnidtcā' ä'cimenwipyänutawī'iyāg^{ket}, nō'dtclt, ta'swi peminato'menāg^{kwet}, nō'dtclt, mämī-'camāgāt'. Īnidtcā' īnug^{klt}, nō'dtclt, nīnānugi nānanō'ckwe wädtcitatina'ō'moyān'. Tamā'ge'cagi nī'i'ne'tāgwa 'wänāpi wī'na kätemi'nāgāta ma'netōw^{wat}, tcāg änāgōme'nagōw^{wet}.''
- 25 "Ka'ō'ni yāpi wī'nīmi'wa''amegki'; mamī'cī''etigke', kīnwāwa'gä' i''kwätigke', amä'gku'. Īniku' wī'n äyī'g änātotātägi mamā'tomōni mawita'itanega''tōyane kīya'w äyīgiku'' wīna nene'känetāgwa'ke kemamā'tomōnni', äyī'giku'' wīna kī'udtcinä'tamā'su me'to'sänenī'-wiwen īna''i ta'itanega''tōyane kīya'wwi'. Īniku''yätuge wī'n
- 30 äyīgiyätu'ge kī'pyädtci'ciwītamātī'wāte'e tä'yäpa'kw'. Kekekyāme'nānagi pyädtciwī'cigitī'gwä'igidtcā' wīnwāwa pyädtcimene'tamime'to'sänenī'witcigk'. 'Äyīgi'ku' pemāte''siweni kī'inänetā'gu'sipwa
 pwāwa'ce'noyane nanā''ci mamāto'mōnegk', itī'gwä'igk'. Nīmigu'dtcā' i''kwätigke'."
- 35 Ä'pa'gamedtc a'ku''kw ä'kādtci'pitodtci Ma'kwipana'cā'a':

Ne nye ma wa wa;

40 Ne nye ma wa wa;

Ne nye ma wa wa ke ta ko ko na na;

That verily is why these people, so be it, sit at our worship, so be it; it is why, so be it, they blindly sing here as well as they can, so be it; wherefore may the manitou who bestows blessings, so be it, merely so bless, so be it, our boys in compassion as they blindly sing here as well as they can. Surely he will feel compassionately 'they are my grandchildren,' well, even, so be it, so they will continue to sing as they have been singing even to old age, so be it. Surely he will so bless his grandchildren. How shall it be, so be it, that he will bless them so their bodies will be so? Even to old age, so be it, my grandchildren, so be it, will continue, so be it, to speak about it though they may misinterpret it, so be it. He, verily, the one who bestows blessings, so be it, shall so think, so be it. He indeed has planned how he will continue to bless them, so be it, truly even, so be it, so be it, to old age, so be it. 'That indeed, so be it, is as far as I planned for you, so be it, when I blessed you, so be it, to-day, so be it; it (your wishes) will indeed, so be it, continue to come true, so be it, whenever you continue to fervently remember (this worship); this, so be it, is how I bless you,' is what, it seems, so be it, even our ancestor was told, so be it, by the manitou, so be it. That verily, so be it, is why to-day, so be it, while it is daylight, so be it, why, so be it, the one we employed, so be it, continued to summon you, so be it, for a little while to-day, so be it; so we are glad that you came to us, as many of you as he who served as ceremonial attendant continued to summon, so be it. That verily is why to-day, so be it, that I sing very blindly the best I can here to-day. He, the manitou who bestows blessings, will mercifully hear me indeed, it is said, all ye to whom I am related.

"And now a dancing song will be given; ceremonial attendants and you women, hurry. It indeed is said of this religion if you go and dance there and if you indeed remember your worship you will thereby see life if you dance there. That indeed, it seems, is also what they used to tell each other broadcast. Our old people used to teach each other very earnestly, they who were the first to exist as mortals. 'Indeed you will also be blessed with life if you are never absent from worship,' they must have said to each other. Verily dance, O

women."

Then the drum was struck and Young Bear started a song:

```
I beat it four times;
I beat our drum four times;
```

```
Ne nye ma wa wa;
   Ne nye ma wa wa;
   Ne nye ma wa wa;
   Ne nye ma wa wa ke ta ko ko na na;
 5 Ne nye ma wa wa;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
10 Ke nye ma wa wa;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
                     ke ta ko ko na na;
   Ke nye ma wa wa
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
15 Ke nye ma wa wa
                     ke ta ko ko na na;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
   Ke nye ma wa wa;
20 Ke nye ma wa wa;
     Kutagi nā''ka na'gamōnni':
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
   Ke me no ta
               e gi se;
   Ke me no ta
                e gi se;
25 Ke me no ta
               e gi se;
   Ke me no ta e gi se;
   Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
30 Ke wa wa se a mo ne;
   Ke wa wa se a mo ne;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
35 Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke wa wa se a mo ne;
  Ke wa wa se a mo ne;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
40 Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke me no ta e gi se;
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne;
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne:
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne;
45 Ke wa wa se dka mo ne;
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne;
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne:
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne:
  Ke wa wa se dka mo ne;
50 Ke wa wa se dka mo ne.
```

```
I beat it four times;
 I beat it four times:
 I beat it four times:
 I beat our drum four times;
 I beat it four times:
 You beat it four times;
 You beat it four times:
 You beat it four times;
 You beat our drum four times;
 You beat it four times:
 You beat it four times;
 You beat our drum four times:
 You beat it four times:
 You beat it four times:
You beat it four times:
You beat it four times:
 You beat it four times. 6a
  And another song (is):
You like to hear it, my son;
You like to hear it, my son;
You like to hear it, my son:
You like to hear it, my son;
I beat the light out of it for you:
I beat the light out of it for you;
You like to hear it, my son;
You like to hear it, my son;
You like to hear it, my son;
You like to hear it, my son:
I beat the light out of it for you;
I beat the light out of it for you:
You like to hear it, my son;
I stamp out the light for you;
I stamp out the light for you.
```

sa See p. 73 and the references cited.

```
"Oni pe''k i''kwätigke', nīmigō', nīmigō'. I'niku' wädtci peminato-
   menāgwe wī'nī'miyägkwe', i''kwätigke'."
   A gi ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
         ni ka
 5 A gi
        ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
         ni ka
        ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
   A gi
        ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
         ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
10 A gi
        ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
        ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   No ta wi ta; lo nwe ya ni ni;
   No ta wi ta; lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
15 A gi
        ni ka
               lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
        ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
        ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
        ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi
        ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
20 A gi ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
   No ta wi ta; lo nwe ya ni ni;
   No ta wi ta; lo nwe ya ni ni;
   A gi ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
25 A gi ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni;
        ni ka lo nwe ya ni ni.
     Kutagi nā''ka na'gamōnni':
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka A ki;
   Ki ne we to ke
                   e ki we ka a ki;
30 Ki ne we to ke
                   e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka A ki;
   Ki ne we to ke
                  e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Me to se ne ni A e ki we ka A ki;
35 Me no to A ni;
   Ki ne we to ke
                  e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
40 Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke
                  e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Me to se ne ni A e ki we ka A ki;
45 Me to se ne ni A e ki we ka A ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka A ki;
50 Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki;
   Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka A ki;
```

Ki ne we to ke e ki we ka a ki.

"Now, then, dance vigorously, women, dance. That is why (the ceremonial attendant) went about summoning you, women." I never, egad, cease speaking: I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking: I never, egad, cease speaking: I never, egad, cease speaking: I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking: I never, egad, cease speaking: He who hears me; I (never) cease speaking; He who hears me; I (never) cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking: I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking; He who hears me; I (never) cease speaking; He who hears me; I (never) cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking; I never, egad, cease speaking, 6b And another song (is): He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about: He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees tham in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; The people; when I dance them about; The mystic songs; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; The people; when I dance them about; The people; when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about; He probably sees them in motion when I dance them about.

[&]amp; See p. 73 and the references cited.

Ka'ō'ni nā''ka kuta'gi na'gamōni nā''ka':

Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; 5 Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Yo; me di ke na ga o wi ya wi e ne; Yo; me di ke na ga o wi ya wi e ne. 10 Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; 15 Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Yo; me di ke na ga o wi ya wi e ne; Yo; me di ke na ga o wi ya wi e ne; 20 Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; 25 Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne; Ke ke te mi no ne; ki ke te mi no ne.

Kuta'gi nā''ka na'gamonni':

A ne mi le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; Ke ke ya i le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; ke ke ya a ne mi Ke ke ya i o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; 30 Ke ke ya ke ke va A ne mi le di A le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; ke ke ya A ne mi Ke ke ya le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo; ke ke ya a ne mi Ke ke ya le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; A ne mi Ke ke ya i ke ke ya i le di A ni wi to se ta mo i; a ne mi o ne li mi ye ke ke ya i Ke ke ya i A ne mi le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i; 35 Ke ke ya ke ke ya i le di A o ne li mi ye ni wi to se ta mo i. Ke ke ya i a ne mi ke ke ya i

Kuta'gi nā''ka na'gamonni':

wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; 40 Ma ni wi A ko ta wi no; ni ya wi Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni wi A ko ta wi no; ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi 45 Me di ke na ga wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi wi A ko ta wi no; Ma ni wi a ko ta wi no; ni ya wi Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; 50 Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no;

Then also another song (follows):

I bless you; I shall bless you; Yō; Snapping Turtle's life; Yō; Snapping Turtle's life; I bless you; I shall bless you; I bless you; I shall bless you: I bless you; I shall bless you; I bless you; I shall bless you; I bless you; I shall bless you; Yō; Snapping Turtle's life; Yō; Snapping Turtle's life; I bless you; I shall bless you; I bless you; I shall bless you.

And another song (is):

Finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water;
Finally, finally I shall walk along with the lynx's water.

And another song (is):

This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; Snapping Turtle, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me; This life of mine, hang it up for me;

⁶⁰ See p. 8 and the references cited.

Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; 5 Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Me di ke na ga wi A ko ta wi no; Me di ke na ga wi a ko ta wi no; ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi 10 Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no; Ma ni ni ya wi wi a ko ta wi no.

Kī'cā'wīwādtci nā'ka kī'cinīmi'awādtc ä'wäpetu'nämudtci Pa'ci'tonigkwa": "Ī'n ä'citäpī''kānudtci ma'n ä'me'kwänedtcigädtci mä'kwä-15 nedtcigāta Ma'kwipa'na'cā' ä'mäme'kwänetamawādtcigā' nīnān ä'ciketeminawe'site'egä'yätuge neke'kyā'menānna'. Īnidtcā' īnugki, nö'dtc', wädtci ta'cinäne'ciwanāta'amō'iyāge mā'a'ni naga'mōnannic. Nā'piwana, nō'dteic, wī'na ma'netōwa tamā'ge'cagkic, nō'dteic, nī'inänetamā'gunāna'. Cä'ckidtcā', nō'dtc', tamā'ge'cagi nī'inäne-20 tamā'gunāna nemamātomona''enānnit. Nāpiwa'na kī'ca'nemawa wī'inä'nemādtci wī'na kī'ciketemina'wādtcinni. Īnidtcā' cä'ck āminā'nemādtci mā'a'i ne'niwa' a'pwāwikwīyena'anemine'tāgu''sinidtc16. Tāniwāgā'6, nō'dtc16, īnugi kīnā'na, nō'dtc16, wī'anemi'cipīne-'cikī'ci'o'wagwännit? I'cedtcā' nānanō'ckw ä'ine'ine'tā'gäyagw 25 ä'anemi'ca'wiyagkwe'. Cä''ck ä'kekinawâ'piyagwe pyädtcigä'kīnā'na-'ina'ināpamagwegā' kīnā'na ma'ni pyädtci'ina'inanō'kyātcigki', pyädtcitäpa'kwiwâpamagwigi ma'ni pyädtci'ina'inanō''kyātcigki'. Cä'ckidtcā', nō'dtci', īnugi kīnā'n änā'piyagwe pä'peteg udtc ī'nnie, nō'dtc', cä'ck ä'cawī'iyagwe mä'kwänedtcigä'yagwinnit. Tamā'-30 ge'cagkit, nō'dtcit, kīnā'n ä'pemi'ināpa'tānigi kīyānān ai'yā'kowi me'to'säneniwī''iyagwe tcāg änāgōme'nagōwwet, ine'nītigket, i'kwätigegä" kīnwāwwa"."

Kī'cetu'nāmudtci kānaka'nawit ā'wāpipa'kipa'kigā'mowādtci' sī'sepā'kw'. 'Ō'n unīgānī'mwāwa'i tāta'gi Wāmī'gō'a' ā'mene-35 'tāmipa'ki'māwādtc umamī'cī'e'mwāwa'', ka'ō'ni nā''ka Māge'siwi-'so'nidtci''—īni'i nā''k ane'kō'dtci pā'kimāwādtci'', ka'ō'ni nā''k āna'ōtāgowādtci' a''ku'kōn ā'pa'kimāwādtci'. Kī'cipa'ki'māwādtci', "'Ō', wī'seni'gu! Nekī'ciku'ādtcimo''āpen ā'cimamāto'moyāge ma'na'a A'ckutā'nā'sīwwa', nā''ka ma'na'a A'nenāg Ä'tanādtcimeta 40 Tāyāpī'gwā'ciga āneta nekī'cidtcā'wītama'wāpen ā'cimamāto'moyāge'. Wī''senigku'!"

This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
Snapping Turtle, hang it up for me;
Snapping Turtle, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;
This life of mine, hang it up for me;

After they finish and when they are through dancing, Pa'citonigwa begins to make a speech: "That is how this one, Young Bear, who thought of doing this, has done well in thinking of doing it (and) in remembering seriously how our old man, it seems, was blessed. That verily is why, so be it, we are here spoiling these songs. Wherefore, so be it, he, the manitou, must think mercifully of us, so be it. Verily, only, so be it, mercifully shall he think of our worship. Now he has already decided how he would bless the one whom be blessed. That verily is the only way he should contrive to bless these men though they do not sing and speak correctly. How, pray, so be it, could we, so be it, to-day, continue to found (a new worship) in a similar way? Verily we merely very blindly continue to do as we have heard from time to time. We only have learned by observation in accordance with how we have seen those who formerly constantly conducted this ceremony, those whom we formerly saw throughout the ceremony who formerly practiced this constantly. Verily to-day we only, so be it, do as we saw done in the past, whenever we are mindful (i. e., conduct this worship). (The manitou must) take pity upon us as our bodies are in view, we who are the last generation of mortals, all ye to whom I am related, O men and ye women."

As soon as the speaker has finished his talk then they begin to distribute sugar. Then they have their leaders, their ceremonial attendants, take charge of it, first those who belong to the Feathered (Thunder) gens, and then those belonging to the Eagle gens—they are those whom they had take charge of it in succession, and then they gave those who made (their) drum charge of it. As soon as they had given them charge of it, (they said): "Oh, eat! We have already told this, the Spirit of Fire, how we worship, and we have verily told the one called 'The One Whose Eyes Are Said To Be In The Smoke Hole' how we worship. Eat!"

6d Compare (approximately) p. 73, etc.

⁷ Such is the sense of the passage. It is impossible to translate the Indian original with any degree of literalness.

Ī'n ä'ca'wiwādtci mā'agi' negu'taiyag ä'ci''sowādtci Mā'kwi''so'agki'. Nyāwenwigā''megu wī'na cā''ck anwāwā'i'gāwagki', ā'cā'ckinā'gāwādtci tāta'gki'; äyīgi'megu nyāwe'nwi nīmiwa''amōgki'.
Cī' nā'pe'e', ne'se'nwi kī'cinīmiwa'amo'wādtcin ä'wī'seniwādtci nī'5 mitcigki', me'cemegōna' 'īn ä'wī''senigki', pwāwi'wänakīgānutcigki'.
Kī'ciwī'senī'wādtcini nā''k ä'nīmiwādtci'. Ī'ni nā''k ä'nīmiwa'a'mowādtci'. Īnidtcā' āpe pe''k ä'anwäwä'tägki', kutagani nā''k ä''aiyōgki'.
Ī'n ä'ca'wiwādtci mā'a'gi Mā'kwi''so'agi negutenwi' tāta'g ä'cawiwādtci'.

10 Mämedtcinä ä'nīmiwa 'ameg ä'cinā 'gäwādtc':

Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; 15 Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Me to se ne ni o lye ya ya ni; Me to se ne ni o lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; 20 Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; 25 Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Me to se ne ni o lye ya ya ni; Me to se ne ni o lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; 30 Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni; Ke te ma ga yo se lye ya ya ni;

35 Kuta'gi nā''ka na'gamon ä''aiyog* 1' :

Tta ki wa la ma wo;
Yo; me no ta a ni;
E ki we ka a ki;

That is how this single gens, the Bear gens, does. And they only beat (the drum) and only sing four times (i. e., four parts); they also give dancing songs four times. Why, whenever they have given three dancing songs the dancers eat, any one eats, I mean, (any one) not giving the gens festival. Whenever they finish eating they dance again. Then they again sing dancing songs. Then verily ordinarily it sounds very pleasant, and other (songs) are used. That is what these Named After The Bear (i. e., Bear gens) do when they perform (their ceremonies) one way.

The last time when dancing songs are given (this) is how they sing:

```
Bless us when you come;
The people, when you come;
The people, when you come;
Bless us when you come;
The people, when you come;
The people, when you come;
Bless us when you come.
  And another song which is used (is):
Look at all the people;
Yō, those from without;
When I dance them around; 8
```

^{*} Perhaps "When I dance them backward" is the real sense; the deficient character of the current syllabary does not enable us to decide.

```
Tta ki
           wa la ma wo:
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
 5 Tta ki
           wa la ma wo:
           wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
   Tta ki wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
   Yo; me no ta A ni;
10 E ki we ka a ki;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo:
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo:
15 Tta ki
           wa la ma wo;
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo:
   Tta ki
           wa la ma wo.
     Kuta'gi nā''k ä''aiyōgi na'gamōnni':
   Na i ni
           ka lya ya ni;
20 Na i ni
            ka lya ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lya ya ni;
25 Na i ni
            ka lya ya ni;
   Na i ni
           ka lya ya ni;
   Tta ki
           ki wi sa ta;
   Tta ki
           na o mo i wa;
   Lye ya ya ni;
30 Na i ni ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
           ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lya ya ni;
35 Na i ni
            ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lye ya ni;
   Tta ki
           ki yo sa ta;
   Tta ki
           na o mo i wa;
   Lye ya ya ni;
40 Na i ni
            ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lye ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lya ya ni;
   Na i ni
            ka lya ya ni.
```

```
Look at all the people:
Look at all the people;
Yō, those from without;
When I dance them around;
Look at all the people;
Look at all the people:
Look at all the people.
  And another which is used (is):
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first:
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Everything that flies about;
Sounds all (different) sounds;
When you come;
Now I stand first;
Everything that walks about;
Sounds all (different) sounds;
When you come;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first;
Now I stand first.
```

Ka'ō'ni nā''ka kuta'g ä'ai'yōwādtc'':

- O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; 50 ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; 10 Ma ne to wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; 150 ma o ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; Ma ne to wa ki lya ya ni; 200 ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni;
- O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni;
- O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni; 250 ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni;

O ma ma tti se wa ki lya ya ni.

Ī'n ä'kī'citcāgī'anepyä''amān ä'ci'cinā'gäwādtci Mä'kwi''so'ag ä'cike'kä'nemagki'.

Cī' nä'pe'e, ä'kanaka'nawidtci nā'ka känaka'nawita': "Na'ī', 30 ä'kī'citcāgimenwī'kama'wiyāge nemamāto'mōnenānni'. Īnidtcā' äyī'gi kīnwā'w āmi''cikegi kī'yāwāwi nene'känetāgwa''ke nemamātomōnä'enān ana'sā'kidtcā'l'. Ä'menwitcāgipyanu'tawagwe ano'kā'nageta ä'peminato'menāgwe ä'pwāwimīwe'kwä''tawägkwe'; utami'gu nemenwänetāpen ä'pyänutawī''iyāg ä'mamāto'moyāgke', tcāg änāgōme'-

35 nagowe. Īnidtcā' āmi'ta'i natawinaga''ciyāgke'."

And another song they use (is):

Their bodies shake when you come; The manitous, when you come; Their bodies shake when you come; The manitous, when you come; Their bodies shake when you come.

Now I have written all of the songs of Those Named After the Bear (i. e., Bear gens) that I know.

Why, the speaker again makes a speech: "Now, you have all done well by our worship. So may the same (blessing) be upon you (as upon us) if our poor worship is remembered (by the manitous). You have all done well in coming to us when the one whom we employed went about summoning you and did not turn your heads from him (i. e., refuse him); we are exceedingly glad that you came to where we worship, all ye to whom I am related. So now you had better leave us."

FOURTH INDIAN TEXT

"Mama' SĀ'A'" Ä'CI'SUT Ä'CA'I'CAWI'TE'E

Ka'ō' ma'n īnu'gi nā''ka' cä'cki'megu ma'n ā'dtcimōn ä'ca'i'ca'-wiwādtci mā'a'gi Me'ckwa''kī'agk''. Na'cawai'ye tāta'g ä'ci'citanegowāte'e'yätuge nī''ātota'. Mā'a'gi nī'ādtcimā'wag ä'wītego'e'-gāwādtci Kä'kā'ka'mo'eg ä'tāta'cinī'miwādtc''. Nī'ai'yātota ta''swi

5 notāgä"iyāni nī'na tāta'gki".

Manadtcā'i' "Ma'ma'sā'a'" ä'ci''sugwäna 'ī'na kätemi'nāgut a''ku'kōn"i'. Ke'tena'megu keteminā'gugwäni na'cawaiye'yätug ī'na "Ma'ma'sā'a'" ä'nātän"a'. Ä'keteminawe'si'te'e tcāgi'megu inādtcimāwag ä'pyäpyätwäwägawādtci mīdtci'pā'a'". Tcatcawi' 10 mani mā'a'gi tägwāge''citcigi wī'cāpenäwagipā'pe' ä'pwāwita'gonidtci mīdtci'pä'a'", ne'nu'sō'". Īnipā'pe'äna ä'mamā'tomedtc!" "Ma'ma'sā'a'" ä'ci''sugwäna na'cawai'ye'. Īnipā'pe'e kägō' ä'pa'gā'tōdtc!', ä'wäpwäwä''igädtc ä'na'gamudtc!". Īni'megupā'pe' ä''pyānidtci ke'tcinā'e ne'nu'sō'!". Īn ä'ca'i'cawi'te'e ī'na "Ma'ma'sā'a'" äne'ta 15 na''cawai'e'.

Ka'ōnī'yātuge nā''k a'cki'megu tāta'g utā'ne'sani tāgwāge'ci'nidtci'i ä'wītā'mānidtci'. Tāgwāge''citcig īyā'' ne'guta'i me'cena''
kabō'twe ä'mawinane'te'e'. Nī''cwigamige'si'itu'gä'igki'. Nenīwa'
cä'cki negu't ä''ne'sedtci'. Nāpe' utā'ne'san ä'ādtcimo'ādtci'megu
20 a''penādtci'. "Na'i', ma'ni wī'i'ca'wiyani me'cena'' kabō'twe me'ce'nenegke', wa'nimōdtci pwāwime'cunege' cä''cki me'ce'nenegke',''
ä''inādtc utā'ne'san ī'na Ma'ma'sā'a'. "Kabō'twedtcā' ke'kinawādtci'megu ī'pe'ge'cäwi tepe''ki'; nā''ka kī'kā'cke'tawāwa'megu ma'na
neta'ku''kwa'. 'Īnī'yātug ä'anwäwä'igädtci nō''sa',' kī'i'ci'tä'e'.
25 Īni'megu ä'ta'ciwägwäni wī'saginedtcātīyāgkwe'. Ā'gwi wī'ke'käneme'nāgwin īni'gi mā'cene'nāgwigki': wī'tcāginepäwagi'megu pe''ki'.''
Ī'n änā'dtc ä'ādtci'ādtci'mo'ādtc utā'ne'san ī'na "Ma'ma'sā'a'''
ä'nātänna'.

Me'cena' ke'tena kabō'tw ä'me'cene'te'e 'ī'n i'kwäw utāne' se30 māwa: ä'me'cenegowāte' uwīdtcī'cke'wāwa''; ä'wäpiwene'te'
ä'a'wanedtci'. Mana'gä'i "Ma'ma'sā'a'" ä'nātäna me'cena' megu
kabō'twe—nī'cuguni kī'cime'cene'te' utā'ne'san' —īnī'yätuge
kabō'tw ä'ādtcimo'egu'te'e käteminā'gudtci'; "Ketāne'sāniya

ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF FOURTH INDIAN

WHAT THE ONE CALLED "MAMA'SA'A" DID

And again this day it is merely a story of what these Meskwakies used to do. I shall relate what they used to do a long time ago. I shall tell how they dance the Owl dance when they dance at Kä'kä'kamō'a's place. I shall relate in detail as much as I have heard.

Verily whosoever was the one called "Mama'sa'a," this was the one blessed by a drum. Surely that person, the one who must have been named "Mama'sā'a" must have been blessed a long time ago, it seems. They all tell how he made the game animals come by beating his drum when he was blessed. Sometimes these campers in the fall would be hungry when there were not numerous game animals, such as buffaloes. Then that person, whosoever was called "Mama'sā'a" a long time ago, would be besought. Then he would boil something, begin beating his drum, and he sang. Immediately the buffaloes would come close. That is what the one called

"Mama'sā'a" was in the habit of doing a long time ago.

And moreover, it seems, his first daughter accompanied the campers in the fall. Those who were camping in the fall yonder somewhere were soon rushed with an attack. There were probably (only) two households (in the group). Merely one man was slain. (Mama'sā'a) always kept on instructing his daughter. "Well, this is what you are to do if you happen to be captured soon, if by chance you are not shot, but merely captured," that Mama'sa'a said to his daughter. "Soon verily as sign it will be smoky at night; and you will indeed hear this my drum. You will think, 'now very likely my father is beating his drum.' Straightway as many as you may be shall hold each other's hands. Those who capture you will not know about you: they will all be sleeping soundly.1" That is what he said when the one called "Mama'sa'a" instructed his daughter.

Well, soon that woman, his daughter, was captured; she (and others) were captured by their foes; they began leading them away and they were carried off. And this person called "Mama'sa'a" soon-after his daughter had been captured two days-was informed, it seems, by those who had blessed him, "That daughter of yours

¹ Cf. Jones, Fox Texts, p. 11 (last paragraph).

a'wanāp'', me''cenāp'','' ä'igu'te'e keteminā'gudtcin''. Īnī'yätuge'-megu nyä'wuguni pe'ku'tänig ä'māwadtcimā'te'e 'umamī'cī''ema''. Īnī'yätug ä'mamātomā'te'e käteminā'gudtci' ä'ādtci'mo'ādtcā'ku'näwan ä'awatenamawā'te'e nā'ka'dtci nīpeni'se'niwen''.

5 Ä'wäpwäwä'igädtc ä'cki'megupe'kutä'inigki'. Ma'na wi'na kabō'tw ä'kā'cke''tawādtc a''ku'kōni nägamonidtcin īna'i kwīyena'-megu. Kī'ci'cinowādtci nā'inā, ä'kā'cke'tawā'te'e ō'sa'n'i'. Īnī'yätuge wīdtcime'ce'nedtci'i ä'wītamawu'te'e', "Na'i' īnugi'megu ma'n ä'pe''kutägi kī'nā'gwāpen'a'. Cewä'na mā'a'gi neniwagi

10 nyä'wi kī'awa'nāpenna'; kī'kī'ckīgwä''cwāwaga''," ä'inādtci neguti neniwani wīdtcime'ce'nedtcinn'. "Ā'gwiku'' mā'agi wī'ke-'känemenagwinn'. Wī'ne'päwaga''. Nā'inātcā'i pyä'me'ckāte tepe'kwinenīwa īninā'i wī'wäpu''säyaga''. Nena'tomegwa nō''sa'," ä'inādtc'. Nā''inā'i pyä'se''kānigi tepe''kwi kī'cināwi-

15 tepe''kinigi nyä'wi neniwa' äyä'ci'megune'pānidtc ä'kīck'īgwä ''cwāwādtci nyä'w uwīdtcī'ckwe'wāwa''. Īnī'yätug ä'aiyāne-'kōnetī'wāte'e'. Pe'kigä'megō'ni na'ina' nā'gwāwādtc ä'awate'sī'-winigk'. Ä'saginedtcäne'tīnidtc'. Ä'saginedtcänetīwādtci 'wä'na ä'nī'gānīdtc ī'n i'kwä'wa Ma'ma'sā'a wätāne'si'gwä'in'. Uwī'can

20 īna'i nyā'wi. Me'cena''megu ä'wâ'panig ä'peme'kāwādtci'megu. Ma'na nā''ka "Ma'ma'sā'a' " ä''ci'suta pā'ci'megu ä'nāwa''kwänigi käwagi'megu ä'tanwäwä''igädtcl'. Ma'na "Ma'ma'sā'a' " ä'nātānna'. Nī'cugu'nipi pemi'anwäwä''igäwa ī'na Ma'ma'sā'a'. Īnigä'-'megu ne''ki peme''kāwādtc īni'gi nātwäwä'ka'wutcigkl'. Ī'ni

25 pyä'yāwādtci me'cena' ī'na'i ä'na'gīwādtci ma'cku'tä'egi neguta''megu ne'gutwā'kwe āwa'sī'mä'i ta''swi pane''kīwen'i', ä'kwi'megupe''kike'tci'penugki'. Nā''inā' ä'anō''kānādtc utenenīma' ī'na
i'kwä'wa'. Ä'nana'i'se'tōwādtc īni'ni me'to'sä'nenīwi'u'wī'can ä'nīma'a'mawādtci'. Kī'ci'se'tōwādtc ä'wāwā'ga'agi nenī'wa kägō''megu

30 ä'i'cike'kinawāta''ōmudtc''. "'Ō' ka'cinā'gwa pyänā'petugke'," ä'ī'yowādtci me'to'säne'niwagk'', ä'papāminowā''ckāwādtci nanō'ckwe'megu; ä'cike'tcike'tcipe'nowādtc ä'tane'ta'wāwādtc''; ī'n uwīdtcī'cke'wāwa' ä'pyä'nemedtc äno'wäwādtc ä'ino'wänidtc''. Pe'kime'gup
āne'ta' säge''siwag ä'ne'ciwâpata'mowādtci me'to'sänenīwi'u'wī-

35 'canⁿ¹'. Me'cketunä'ātäniwaniyup¹'. Pe'ki^dtcā'ipi'megu panātā'piwag^{k1}'. Ī'n ä'cawiwā'^dtcip āne'ta pwāwina'imīgā'tītcig^{k1}'. Āneta
nā''kapi pe'kutä'nigin i'nip ä'tcīpenāwi'e'gwiwā^dtc¹': kīkīyōtāwagipā'pe' ä'nänepā'ī'wā^dtcinⁿ¹'. Ī'n ä'ca'wiwā^dtc¹'. Kī'cīni'cawī'wā^dtcin īnī'yätug ī'n ā'wāpinānīmi'e'tīwā^dtc¹': ä'pyänetīwe'gāwā^dtc¹'.

40 Īnipi'megu ā'ca'i'ca'wiwādtci'.

is carried off; she is captured," so he was told by the one who blessed him. Then, it seems, in four days at night he gathered his ceremonial attendants. Then, it seems, he worshiped those by whom he had been blessed, and informed them that he offered them tobacco and harvest crops. Then he began drumming early at night. This (woman) herself soon heard a drum and (some one) singing there at exactly the same time. As soon as they had laid down was the time when she heard her father. Then, it seems, she told those who were captured with her, "Well, to-day, this very night we shall depart. But we shall carry off these four men; we shall cut off their heads," is what she said to one man who was captured with her. "These persons truly will not know about us. They will be sleeping soundly. At the time when it is past midnight is when we shall start to walk off. My father summons me," she said to him. When it came night, as soon as it was midnight they cut off the heads of four men, four of their foes, while they were sleeping. Then, it seems, they held one another's hands in a line. At the time when they departed it was very foggy. Then they held one another's hands. When they held one another's hands that woman, the one who was Mama'sā'a's daughter, was in the lead. There were four heads. Well, the next day they continued traveling. And this person called "Mama'sā'a" was still beating his drum even when it was noon. This person called "Mama'sā'a" did then what he had been in the habit of doing. For two days, it is said, Mama'sā'a continued beating his drum. For that length of time those for whom he was drumming were traveling. As soon as they came there, then they halted in a prairie, somewhere, a hundred or more feet away (from the village), as far away as a very good run. At that time that woman gave instructions to her men. They put those human heads in order and placed them up on poles. As soon as they had placed them (on the poles) a man whooped as if giving some signal. "Oh, why (a person) probably is brought," the people said among themselves as they hastened out blindly; they ran swiftly toward where they heard him; then they uttered such sounds as (people) utter when their foes are brought (as captives). Some were badly frightened at seeing the human heads. For, it is said, their mouths were pried open. Verily, it is said, they looked terrible. That, it is said, is what happened to some who were not fighters. And some, it is said, at night would imagine dreadful things on account of (the heads): they would crawl around in their sleep. That is what happened to them. Whenever they did this (i. e., bring back heads of foes) then they began to have a great time dancing; they danced the Captive Dance. That, it is said, is what they were in the habit of doing.

Ī'na "Ma'ma'sā'a'" ä'nātāna kabō'tw āgwipi'megu pā'ci kāgō' ku''tagin''. Nā'ka'dtcipi me'cena''megu na'anwäwä'wäwa utäwä'i-ganan''. Tcatcawī''i ā'gwipi kāgō'i mā'ma'kādtci pagā''tōdtcini nā'inā'i me'cene'medtcin uwīdtcime'to'sāne'niwa''. Manigā''ip 5 ā'ci'nāgādtci na'gamōn ā''ci'seg*':

Nī'wanā'gimāwa wanā'gimāwa; Nī'wanā'gimāwa wanā'gimāwa; Nī'wanā'gimāwa wanā'gimāwa; Yō menō''ta'āni;

10 Wanā'gimāwa nī'wanā'gimāwa; Wanā'gimāwa.

Ī'n ä'ci''senigi negu'ti'. Nā''ka ku'tagan äyō'ai'yōdtcin aiyō' nī''a'tu':

Wī'ō'nemīwa tcāgina'ō'mugwäni, 15 Wī'ō'nemīwa tcāgina'ō'mugwäni, Wī'ō'nemīwa tcāgina'ō'mugwäni.

Ī'n inā''ka kuta'g ä''ci'seg äyō'aiyōdtcini naga'mōnan''. Nā'ka'-megu kuta'gi nī''ātota'. Māne pe''k aiyo'ai'yōgwän''. Ta'swi 'wä''negu īnu'g äyo'aiyō'dtci Kä'kä'kwimō' īnini'megu ke'gime's''. 20 Ma'ni nā''k ä''ci'segi kuta'gki':

Nī'me'tā'dtcimāwa me'tā'dtcimāwa; Nī'me'tā'dtcimāwa me'tā'dtcimāwa; Nī'me'tā'dtcimāwa me'tā'dtcimāwa: Yō' menō''ta'āni;

25 Me'tā'dtcimāwa;

Nī'me'tā'dtcimāwa me'tā'dtcimāwa.

Ī'n ä''ci'segi kuta'gi naga'mōnä'l. Ke'te'n a'semi''āgwäni me'to'säne'niwa' ī'na' "Ma'ma'sā'a'" ä''ci'suta na''cawaiye. Īnidtcā' ta''swi ke'käne'tamān'l'. Wī'na pe''ki ke'käneta'mōtuge 30 Kä'kä''kwimō'a'. Ī'na 'īnu'gi pä'menaga'; ī'na kākī'gänuta'; mämamā'totag ī'ni Wâpanōwe'gäwen'l'.

Äyīgi'megu ä'pagi'tameg īnin aiyōpi naga'mōnan"; māmedtcinā'' tāta'g aiyō'i wī'ta'negādtcl'. Pe'kīneta'gōtāgā'i tagā'wi i'ci'senō'-'iwani 'ä'paginedtcā'pe'e u'wiyā' äyōgin". Ma'n ä'ci'se'nō'igkl':

35 Tcīpai'ya kewī'tamōne īnu'gi;
Tcīpai'ya kewī'tamōne īnu'gi;
Tcīpai'ya kewī'tamōne īnu'gi.

they began to have a gre

88727-32-12

That person called Mama'sā'a soon, it is said, did not fear even anything. And, it is said, finally he was skillful in beating his drum. And occasionally, it is said, whenever his fellow people were captured he would not even boil anything (to eat). And this, it is said, is how the song goes which he sang:

I shall sing to make him rise, to make him rise; I shall sing to make him rise, to make him rise; I shall sing to make him rise, to make him rise; Yō, the great warrior; To make him rise, I shall sing to make him rise; To make him rise.²

That is how one goes. And I shall put others here which he was in the habit of using.

The whippoorwill will overpower all, The whippoorwill will overpower all, The whippoorwill will overpower all.³

And that is how another of the songs which he is in the habit of using goes. And I shall relate another. There were many which he must have used. As many of them as there were, Kä'kä'kwimō'a is in the habit of using all of them. And this is how another goes.

I shall speak plainly of him, speak plainly of him; I shall speak plainly of him, speak plainly of him; I shall speak plainly of him, speak plainly of him; The great warrior; Speak plainly of him; I shall speak plainly of him, speak plainly of him.

That is how another little song goes. Surely that person called "Mama'sā'a" must have helped the people a long time ago. That verily is as much as I know. Kā'kā'kwimō'a himself probably knows it very well. He is the one who takes care of it to-day; he is the one who celebrates gens festivals with solemnity; he is the one who worships in that Wâpanōwe'gäwen"i (Wâpanōwa Dance).

Those songs are also used when an adoption feast is held; (the one released) shall in a way dance here (on earth) for the last time. When any one is released, whenever the songs which are used are just a little different. This is how it goes:

Ghost, I instruct you to-day; Ghost, I instruct you to-day; Ghost, I instruct you to-day.

² The singer draws his noted enemy of war fame, so he can slay him. See p. 105.

^{*} This song is used when a whippoorwill's power is used in warfare; and this is the meaning.

[·] See p. 3 and the references cited.

Ī'n ä'ci'se'nō'ig ä'pagitamegā'pe' ä'yōgini nagamō''ä'an¹''. Ka'ō'n ä'nī'miwādtci ma'n ä''ci'segkl', na'īni tāta'g ä'nī'mi'edtci pägi'netcigi nā''ka wī'ku'metcigkl':

Ī'ni wā'dtei', ī'ni wā'dtei pyaiyāni;

5 Ī'ni wā'dtei', ī'ni wā'dtei pyaiyāni;

Ī'ni wā'dtei pyaiyāni;

Ā''kunāwa wädtei'pyaiyāni;

Ī'ni wā'dtei', ī'ni wā'dtei pyaiyāni.

Ī'n ä'ci'segā'pe' ä'yōgin ī'ni ä'pagi'tamegki'. Īnidtcā' ta''swi 10 ādtcimoyānni'; ī'ni ta''swi kä'käne'tamāni ma'ni Wâpanōwiwenni'. Ī'ni.

That is how the little songs go which are used when an adoption feast is ordinarily held. And this is how it goes when they dance, when for example the one adopted and those invited are made to dance:

That is why, that is why I come;
That is why I come;
That is why I come;
Tobacco is why I come;
That is why, that is why I come.

That is how those songs which are used when an adoption feast is held ordinarily go. That verily is as much as I (shall) tell; that is as much as I know of this Wapanōwiweni.

in." i. o., "as many of us as are weighters of he all and a want as ". o. i ". o.

That is all.

LINGUISTIC NOTES ON THE INDIAN TEXTS

The following notes are very brief and are only designed to facilitate the understanding of the Indian texts in this volume. They are supplementary to previous papers on the Fox language, and accordingly rarely, unless for some special reason, repeat what is already known. The four Indian texts are referred to by page and line of this volume.

I have not material enough to unravel in detail the analysis of the word i'cina'pi''saiyāgke' (96.35), "if we should fill some one's place." Similarly I have relied on Tom Brown for the translation of wi'-anemipwāwiwāwanetowe'tawī'yamedtci (42.13). The compound pe'kīneta'gōtāgā'i (172.34) is wholly obscure in the posterior portion.

A few rhetorical forms may now be considered:

ā'co'wi meno'tanwe (96.29), "from the other side," i.e., "foes."

ä'a'sōne'kä'cinō''iyāge (150.32), "as many of us as have our hands in," i. e., "as many of us as are members of."

ä'ta'sō'kwäpī'ta'wāgwäni (150.30, 31), "as many as he had sit down at the festival."

ä'ta'sō'kwäpīnō'katawägwäni[i] (136.1), "as many of you as were seated at the time." (See Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 24, 64, and references; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 37, under 'kwä-, and references; Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 646, under -nō'ka-.)

ketō'kwaiyōmwāwa (146.15), "your women folk." (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 496.)

kī'katawipa'ki'täpenä'tō'wādtcin (150.28, 29), "when they had nearly starved themselves to death." (See Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 37.)

[wädtci] nā'kwā'peta'mowādtci (150.45), "[why] they sit at [our worship]" is perhaps an error for [wädtci] ne'kwā-. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 644.)

negu'taiyag ä'ci''sowādtci (162.1), "they belong to (this) single gens."

wäwīgä''itcigk'' (28.26), "campers"; the ordinary wäwīgitcigk'' means "those who dwell."

wī'ana'ō'dtcigāt[a] (146.32), "the one who will prepare the drum." Here also may be noted wā'ku'nāwan[i], "Indian tobacco" for ā'kunāwani (142.9).

A few particles, adverbs, etc., may be here explained: āwādtci (56.36), "at all."

A'kwiyā'dtc[i] (78.43), "more so."

A'cawe (96.4), "long ago."

A'cita'i (30.35; 80.2), "soon"; when incorporated within a verbal compound the independent mood apparently is not used.

A'ckadtcimegī'i (26.35), "a little while afterwards."

Ana'sā'ki (166.32), a participle of undetermined meaning.

äta'megu'u (78.29), "it would be the case."

u'dtci'ckwāt[e] (108.16), "from a certain door"; related in some way to A'ckwātāmi "door," in which the initial A is for original i.

utami'gu (166.33), "very."

aiyani'gä'mä'[i] (74.41), "further on"; "a little more."

kanā'[i] (74.37; 74.38; 94.11), "especially."

kegi''ceyäp[A] (110.4), "early in the morning"; keki'ceyäpa (Bull. 95, p. 110) is a probable error; the initial portion clearly is kegi-, "with."

kegaiyā'i (128.27), "eventually." a mote out and weiv add novel

kwä'kwäwi (38.20), "too much." may no madoga ovad I doidw lo)

cä'cä'kam[i] (80.3), "easily." (Cf. Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 24.) ce'cegā[i] (40.18), "just for fun."

tcatcātapenawe (126.34), "individually." o test flade laids years lo

tāna'kä'i (cf. 30.7, 8), "whether."

tamāge'cagi (152.4, 5; 152.23; 160.18; 160.19, disregarding accent and sandhi), "wretchedly." (See Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 24.) nāpidtcā' megu (124.39, 40), "it is a little better, more decent."

nāpi'megu (110.6), a particle of very weak meaning.

nanōpe'ka (64.23), "plentifully."

medtcai'yā'kwidtc' (70.13), "the very top."

menotane (130.29), "from without," i. e., foes; exact phonetics uncertain.

wī'cādtci (28.45), "at a particular time."

The number of entirely new Fox stems that occur in the four Indian texts of this volume is rather small; but in several cases additional information regarding stems already known is to be obtained. Since it seems desirable to include these, this has been done. A prefixed asterisk (*) indicates such stems.

*-a'ō-, wail; same as -a'ō-, groan, bellow, pray, sing. (See Bull. 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 49; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 111. 152.23.)

awate'si-, be foggy; -wi- auxiliary. (170.17)

*ā'kw-, that which hurts; -at- auxiliary. (Correct Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 73. 78.42.)

*-ā'ckatä-, belly; given because previously only two examples of it have been given. (114.14.)

ātāne-, exact meaning (?) perhaps, "think anew" (?) If so, it is a compound of ā- (postverbal-dtci--t-) "anew." (Reference mislaid.)

- *āte'ci-, exclusive; -m-, instr. (88.4.)
- *ānawi-, sneak upon. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 622. 80.4.)
- *ānawi-, unable; the combination of this and -äne- means "become tired of waiting for." (20.15.)
- *ānō, be unable; with -'si- copula used in the sense of being unable to eat. (44.29.)
- āpe'ta'cawa-, stir the fire; with "changeable" -n- as instrumental participle and animate object; obviously a compound in origin. (Cf. pe'tawä-, kindle a fire, and pe'tawa-, kindle a fire for some one. 110.31.)
- *āpi-, untie, unwrap; the resolution into the component elements at 112.5 is not entirely clear.
- *āpōt-, turn over, fork the fire; -en- -en-, instr.; with -a'- instr.; also with inanimate objects; the evidence of Cree and Ojibwa favor the view that the stem is really āpō- with postverbal -t- (of which I have spoken on various occasions). (110.38.)
- *-āwagi-, meaning (?) earth (?). (See Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 63.) If so, perhaps the sense at 116.31, 32 is "that the village of every chief shall rest on solid ground."
- *A'ka-, hang up (of a kettle), place (of a kettle; also ceremonial feathers); -n- -tō- (-taw- before vowels); -'so-, middle. (See Bull. 85, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 96, under A'ka-; Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 63, under -A'ka-, which is to be corrected; also Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 36, under A'ka-. 110.32; 112.2; 114.21.) Virtually means "kettle."
- Agō-, adhere, cleave to; with -'s-, instr. and inan. obj., weld together. 114.29. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 640 under -'säkwä-.)
- *Agwā-, take off the fire (novel in this sense). (108.21.)
- -A'cka- (or A'cka-?), take off (?), with -'-, instr. for animate obj. (120.23.)
- A'ckwī, remain; the combination is none too clear at 114.9.
- *A'sipō-, in a group; given because rare. (See Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 75.) Related in some way to A'sipi-, cluster. (68.11.)
- *Ana'ō-, put a drum in order; postverbal -dtci-. (110.13; 110.16.)
- Ana'cki-, spread; for the combination at 110.28 see Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 538, bottom, and p. 640 under sīgi-; also Bulls. 89 and 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 27 and 38 (under wā'tenigā-), respectively.
- -Anä-, breathe; -'t-, instr.; related in some way to unämoweni, "his breath," etc. (36.43.)
- Ani-, excel; -'w-, instr. (Cf. aniwi-, p. 626, Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn. 40.14.)

ano-, imitate; -'taw-, instr. with an. obj. before pronominal elements beginning with a vowel. (118.24.)

*-Api-, tie, bind; pagi'sapi- means be free from bonds; pagi- needs no explanation; -'s- is presumably the s-mutation pointed out by Bloomfield years ago. (64.19.)

Amāgwä-, put on a headband; -gä- auxiliary; -'- instr. with an. obj. (120.22; 146.16.)

änä- (?), be extra; with -gen-, auxiliary (and its derivative). (114.4.) -ega-, make dance; -'tō-, instr. (Cf. -egä-, dance. 152.27; 152.29)

-e'ckā-, exact meaning (?); -n- instr. with inan. obj. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 262, line 28, for the combination at 136.36.)

-e'ckōte'ci- meaning (?). (92.40.)

*-itä'a-, favor. (See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 37, 111. 58.39.)

*-itä'a, overpower. (See Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 37; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 86, lines 4, 5; also Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 628, under -itä'a-. 150.40.)

*in-, thus; with -A'- instr., sing. (See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn.,

p. 111, under *in-. 60.6; 152.4.)

ināpapī-, meaning (?). Clearly a compound in origin; the medial portion is obscure. (124.5.)

ina'ckenä-, contain a certain amount; Ojibwa has the phonetic equivalent of this compound, the first member of which is in-; my notes do not elucidate whether a'ckenä- can occur initially or only noninitially. (26.26.)

*inegi'kwi-, of such a size; -m-, instr. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 628, and references; Bull. 89, Bur. Amer.

Ethn., p. 64. 150.32.)

-ī'ku-, invite; -m-, instr.; related to wī'ku- as -āpi- to wâpi-, etc.; mostly replaced by wī'ku-. (90.20.)

-o-, only an apparent stem; really -'o- of the middle voice. (78.25.) *ute-, obtain, etc. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 629; -'tō-, instr. 70.23.)

ute'sagi-, harm; -'-, instr. (44.39.)

*-u'sä- walk; appears as -u'sä- at 54.31. (See also Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 617.

aiyādtcīdtcī-, impress on some one's mind; -m-, instr.; probably the same as aiyādtcīdtci-. (Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 630.) It is possible that the stem should be given as aiyādtcīwith postverbal dtci-t-, the reduplication being fossilized. (See Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 63, under *ādtcī-, and the references cited.)

*aiyīnegwām-, die in sleep (correcting p. 630 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., because of the form aiyīnegwāmwa "he,

she dies in sleep"). As previously pointed out, the evidence of Cree and Ojibwa show this is a fossilized compound. (See also -gwām-, p. 635 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn.) Fox evidence supports -egwām- instead of -gwām-; Cree and Ojibwa are indecisive. (28.28.)

*kā-joke, jest with; with postverbal -t--dtci-; the article kādtci-"joke, jest with" (Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 631), is an error. (22.8.)

kā'ckana'so-, whisper; the stem is also supported by the evidence of Ojibwa. (88.12.)

kāwe-, motion downward; -naw- instr.; given as an initial stem on the basis of Ojibwa. (80.3.)

*kā'cki-, scrape; with the instrumentals -A'w- -A'-; reduplicated kā'ckā'k-. (110.10.)

kagā'tō-, force, compel; "changeable" -n- for the instr. with an. obj. (108.34.)

kä'sipi-, in a group; -m-, instr. (86.16.)

käwita'ci-, diminish in number; surely a compound in origin. (20.29.)

ke'kinowi-, observe what is said; obviously related to ke'kinō- (-'so-middle), "remember, etc."; -'taw-, instr. before pronominal elements beginning with a vowel. (66.21, 22.)

ke'ci'ki-, project; with the auxiliary -'sen-; from my notes.

*ke'cigi-, steadily. (See ke'cigī-, Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 632.) The evidence does not show which is right, for ke'cigī- as far as noted occurs only where under unknown conditions i appears as ī. (32.12.)

*kī'ki-, move; with the auxiliary -migat-. (80.11.)

*kīgā-, make an offering; -no-, middle. (See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 37; 66.19.)

kīgäno-, hold a gens festival; -m-, instr. (70.21.)

*kī'cāgu-, as much as possible; novel with -ā- copula. (38.6.)

*kī'ci-, completion; with -'o-, middle, learn how, know how; the combination pīne'cikī'co- is explained on page 25 of Bulletin 89, Bureau of American Ethnology; combined with -u-, decide. (74.8; 160.24.)

*kīnāgwi-, freely, confidently; -m-, instr. (42.26.)

kugwi-, sharply, meanly; can not combine with ādtcimo-, speak. (50.37.)

*-ganä-, bone; given previously as -kanä-, though with misgivings. (See Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 77, footnote 2.) Since -k-does not occur medially in Fox except as the result of analogy in Fox, either -'kanä- or -ganä- would necessarily be right; Ojibwa shows -ganä- is correct. (122.17; 136.33.) (For -nigä-, cf. kōgenigä-, "wash," etc.)

*-gawi-, tear (substantival). See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 38, under pāpaginīgwä-, and p. 111, with the references cited. The phraseology at 130.6 is slightly different. (See -ānagi-, cavity, Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 622.)

*cege-, smoke. (See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 112.) The combination at 98.4 is obscure; the combination at 138.20 is an

obviative which morphologically presents a peculiarity.

*cegwi-, crush-, -'ckā-, -'ckā-, auxiliary; with the instrumentals -'w-, -'ckaw-. (34.3.)

cī'kawi'ci-, moisten; related to cī'kawi-, moisten (Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 636); -m-, instr. (136.37.)

*tcāgi-, every (rare in this sense). (116.31.)

tcīpenāwi, imagine dreadful things; -'-, instr. with logical an. obj. (170.37.)

tagwāge'ci-, camp in the fall; compound in origin. (Cf. tagwāgi-, be fall, and -e'ci-, dwell. (168.10; 168.16; 168.17.)

sa'kowä-, ask for a favor; a compound of the order of kī'cowä-, etc. (50.23; 50.25.)

*na'i-, know how; combined with -nawä- and the instr. part. -m-means "encourage"; with the instr. -e'ckaw- (-'ckaw-), means "affect." (24.5, 6; 70.34.)

nawa'se-, ask to help; -'kaw-, instr.; demanded by the participle at 108.34; yet it may be the same as nāwa'se- (p. 642 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn. 108.34; 110.15; 110.16.)

-nawi-, meaning (?). Read -nāwi-, "middle" (?). (126.40.)

nā-, fetch; note the rare nāte'sa, he might fetch it, at 110.2, with the

same peculiarity as in nātwa, etc.

*nāpi'tā-, place about the neck; -'- with logical an. obj.; correct the third nāpi- on page 642 of Fortieth Annual Report Bureau of American Ethnology. (See Jones's Fox Texts at 132.13; presumably the text at 114.13 is faulty; Cree and Objibwa show the true stem is nāpi-; but Fox nāpi'tā- is felt as a unit.)

*nāp-, meaning (?). See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 112, and

the references. (138.27; formulaic.)

nā'p-, very much; translated on the basis of Cree. (92.21.)

nāwanōnä-, follow to slay; -'w-, instr. (32.33, 34.)

-na'kwi-, after the next generation. (102.4.)

-nage'cä-, guts; entrails. (108.23.)

natā-, stir (transitive); -'w- -'-, instr. (114.29.)

na'satawi-, wild, startling; -ā- copula. (48.30.)

nanā'kwi-, defend one's self. (80.4.)

nama'kwä-, roar. (40.22.)

*ne'kwāpe-, receive and eat; -t-, instr. (98.21.)

-negwä-, arm, wing. (70.26.)

ne'ci'cāpwä'ci-, alone; obviously a compound of ne'ci-, alone; the posterior portion is unclear; as an independent adverb terminal i is replaced by e; there are parallels to this. (See Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 24; Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 36.)

*ne'ciwanā-, ruin. (See p. 644 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn.) Add -A'-, instr. with inan. obj. (160.17.)

ni'k-, meaning (?). (26.11, 12.)

*nī'cwi-, two; when treated as a verbal stem with the instr. -'k-, nī'cwi- appears as nī'cō-; from my notes.

nīm-, put on poles; -A'-, instr. (170.28, 29.)

*nīmi-, dance; novel with -'k-, instr. (98.7; 143.14.)

pā'ka'w-, clear off (of weather); -ā-, copula. (64.11.)

*pānegwa'ci-, be wide awake. (26.3, 4.)

*pa'kwi-, remove. (See Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 81; correct pa'ku-, p. 647 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn. 82.27; 118.1.)

pagi'sā'kwi-, give carte blanche to; -m-, instr.; compound in origin. (116.1, 2.)

*pagi'sāpa-, take one's eyes off; a compound of pagi- and -āpa-; for -'s- see Bloomfield, Language 1, pages 143, 144. (24.43.)

-pat-, stretch; -en-, instr. (Reference mislaid.)

pata'cki-, be chunky; combined with a- "impress." (46.32.)

*panā-, ruin, etc. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 648, for various meanings, postverbals, and instrumental particles.) The combination of panā- combined with postverbal -t- and the stem -āpi-, see, look, means "appear terrible." (170.35, 36.) *pe'tawa-, kindle a fire for. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 648. 150.40.)

pemā-, manage affairs; -'tō-, instr. (66.35.)

-*pi-, sit down to; -pī-, presumably is a rhetorical form of this. (See Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 38, under -pī-. 122.27.)

*pīgä-, exhausted. (See Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 81; reference to the texts in this volume misplaced.)

-pyāgi-, whoop (at); -m-, instr. (60.11; 60.28, 29.)

*pyä-, motion hitherward; the compound pyä'se'kā- has -'s- in accordance with Bloomfield's explanation, Language 1, pages 143, 144; -e'kā- -e'kä- is explained on page 627 of Fortieth Annual Report Bureau of American Ethnology. The combination means "come" (of time). (170.14.)

pyäme'ckā-, come (of time); the evidence of Ojibwa shows that the original meaning was more general; combined with tepe'kwinenīwa, "man of the night," it means "when it is past midnight." (170.12.)

*pyämi'ckw-, twist. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 650, and the references given, with the auxiliaries -ā-, -'sen-. 110.18.)

matōte'cāwā-, make a sweat lodge; -'tō-, instr. (Cf. matōte'cā-, take a sweat bath, p. 651 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn. 32.27.)

mamātaw-, interestingly (82.41), where triplification occurs.

mame-, cut off, away; -'cw-, instr. (108.25 [twice].)

me'ce-, strike (of disease); -'kaw-, instr. (92.30; 92.38.)

me'ckwigi-, be vexed; probably the same as me'ckwigi-, be discouraged. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 652. 66.1.)

*me^dtci-, send a message (by); with postverbal -^dtci -t-. (Correct Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 652, under me^dtci^dtci-. -m-, instr. 116.26.)

me^dtcimi-, fasten. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 652, under me^dtcimi-.) The present example follows the languages cited there; is it possible that the two me^dtcimi's are distinct? (24.40.)

me't-, shoot and hit; the discussion, page 753, Bulletin 40, part 1, Bureau of American Ethnology, is wrong; probably the true stem is me- and the -'t- postverbal; -A'w- -A'-, instr. (Reference lost.)

*me'sōtäwi-, all; compound in origin; -m-, instr. (76.16.)

menā'ckuno-, have meat; presumably the stem is menā'cku- and the -no- the sign of the middle voice; menā'ckunōni, "fresh meat," is derived from this. (22.23, 24.)

wanīpa-, run away from; a compound of -pa-. Is wanī- merely rhetorical for wani-, lose? (30.39.)

waniwä'si-, be handicapped; probably a compound in origin. (66.36.) wâ'ci-, there is a hole, gap (not piercing through); wâ'ce'sīwa applies to anything animate, wâ'cāwi to anything inanimate; the medial portion is unclear. (26.11.)

*-wäwä-, sound; -gaw-, instr. (168.9.)

*wī-, with; the combination wītāgwapi- (66.20) literally means "sit in a cluster with"; the transitive forms really mean "fellow member of a particular ceremonial (religious) organization."

*wigi-, kindly; novel only in this sense. (See p. 657 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn.) Never initial in this sense.

(32.41.)

wī'cāwi-, disappoint, be anxious; related to wī'cā-, be anxious (p. 657 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn.); -'taw- (or better, -e'taw-), instr. (20.4.)

*wi'swi-, name; postverbal -'tci- and the auxiliary -gä-. (124.17.)

*winwā-, think well; with the -'so-, middle, "praise." (See p. 657 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn. 86.42.)

A few grammatical notes are given as a slight aid toward the comprehension of the Indian text. Since a grammatical sketch of Fox has already been published, and since both Professor Bloomfield and myself have published supplements to this on sundry occasions, only novelties or points of especial interest are treated here. The paragraphs referred to are those of the grammatical sketch of Algonquian (Fox) in Bulletin 40, Bureau of American Ethnology, part 1, pages 735–873.

§5. Note the difference in quality and quantity in utō'ka'nemanⁿ¹ (34.3, 4), "his bones," as compared with a'kananⁿ¹ (with unoriginal initial a for original u) "bones"; negutō'ku'kwe (26.17), "one kettle full," with a'ku'kwa (with original initial a, as shown by the evidence of Cree, etc., but unoriginal medial u for e). As I have stated previously, in part such differences in quality and quantity go back to proto-Algonquian, and in part they are analogical.

§10. It should be pointed out that kewinä'tepigi (46.32, 33), "on your brain," is really a recomposition for kinä'tepigi (in accordance with the principles enunciated by me years ago); but the first form has now become ceremonial.

Why ta'swi and mānwi- appear as ta'sō- and mānō-, respectively, before the inanimate copula -'sen- (and its derivative -'se-) is unknown to me. (See 98.33; 98.34, 35; 98.35.)

At 114.30 ä'nīmā'gōnādtci, "he hangs it (an.) higher," contains a contraction of the stems nīmā- and Agō-.

§12. At 142.10 nanātu- and -wäwä- yield nanātwäwä-. (See Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 39.)

§20. The medial -i- used for emphasis or rhetoric is common enough in the Indian texts. Examples are ä'ci'se'nō'ig^{k1} (174.1), ä'wī'pwāwipītigāgwī'iyāg (150.38), tō'kī''ini^dtcini (20.6), nōtāgā''iyāni (168.5), wä^dtci ta'cināne'ciwanāta'amō'iyāge (160.17), wī'anemipepyä^dtcināgā''iwag^{k1} (152.6), wī'māmī'ke^dtcäwī'iyägo'a (150.34). (See also 20.6; 22.21; 52.16; 56.3; 100.19; 170.38, etc.)

§21. A double instrumental particle occurs at 40.16.; such an occurrence in Fox is rare, though comparatively frequent in some Algonquian dialects.

§24. Observe that keteminā'tīweni (78.24), "pity for each other," is an abstract noun built upon a reciprocal verb.

§25. The whole subject of reduplication in Fox has been inadequately treated. It is not my purpose to revise this section in its entirety, but to cite a few interesting cases from the Indian texts in this volume: A'sA'A'sāw- (54.6, 7), [in ä'A'sA'A'sāwānAgīgwädtcigā' "and he had brown eyes"], inA'inAnō'kyä- (144.23, 24), inä'inäne- (144.23), segi'segi'k- (100.38), nī'cinī'ci- (142.32), pA'tApA'täpwā- (98.18, 19) pepyä't- (138.26; 152.9; the stem is pe-;-'t- is postverbal see a

parallel case explained on p. 39, Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn.), pyä-pyätwäwä- (168.9; the instr. -gaw- is used; the sense is "he made them come by beating his drum"), makama'katäwī- (22.18; durative as opposed to intensive māma'katäwī, 22.19), mīnamīnawi- (82.41). Triplification of a verbal stem occurs at 82.41. Reduplication of adverbs occurs at 144.1, 2; 144.6; triplification of an adverb is found at 152.4; 152.22.

§30. The termination -nagāwā'i at 42.41 is perfectly regular but

sufficiently rare to merit recording.

The phrase awi'ta... nen'käneta'gägo'a (78.27), "you (pl.) would not think of it," is noteworthy, because the verbal termination is not in the table of the grammatical sketch; the ending, however, occurs according to my own knowledge in Kickapoo: see Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 284.

As I have pointed out before, -'kani occasionally occurs in the potential mood; an example is i'ca'wi'kani (146.20, 21); see the above-

named report, loc. cit., and p. 612.

§§32, 34. The obviative plural of -gwä'igi is -nigwäni; an example will be found at 142.8.

§33. I have previously pointed out that some participles take initial ä'- instead of "vocalic change." An example is ä'pa'tä'tamā-gātcigki' (138.20, 21), "those who lit (the tobacco);" per contra see

Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 112.

For the general structure of the participle see Festschrift Meinhof, Hamburg, 1927, pages 407, 408. Forms conforming to the table given on page 828 of the grammatical sketch are to be found at 20.23; 144.33; 144.35; 146.21, 22; 146.29; 150.41, etc. The form -nagwigi in the table when representing the third person animate plural as subject and second person plural as object, is a misprint for -nāgwigi. (See 168.26) For -nāna (see Festschrift Meinhof), note pyätōnāna at 144.14. For -wādtcini as third person inanimate plural, but involved in the third person animate plural intransitive, see 110.18.

§§33, 34. For obviatives of the participle see Fortieth Annual Report Bureau of American Ethnology, pages 346, 493, 495, 538, 612; Bulletin 87, Bureau of American Ethnology, page 39, Bulletin 89, Bureau of American Ethnology, page 26; as well as the Festschrift Meinhof, loc. cit. Note the obviatives -madtcinnic and -inidtcic at 146.30 and 86.44, 45.

§§33, 34, 41. For rare obviatives involving the third person ani-

mate, passive voice, see 108.11; 160.37; 168.33.

§§33, 41. For the participle of the indefinite passive, third person animate singular (-eta), see 150.36. The third person inanimate plural of the very indefinite passive (independent mode -pi, conjunctive mood -gi), ends in -gini. (110.8.) The reference to äyōgini, "which are used," is misplaced.

§34. We really have surobviatives at 116.25, 26 and 146.4. Hence the peculiarity.

§§34, 41. A rare obviative occurs at 114.11.

It should be noted that the -gi of the conjunctive of the very indefinite passive has no obviative. (See 90.29.)

§41. The syntax is bad at 30.29, for the indefinite passive is used with an expressed agent.

Rare past subjunctives (third person animate) of the passives are to be found at 168.18; 168.29; 170.8.

A rare third person inanimate of the conjunctive of the indefinite passive, involving a "whenever" clause, -amegini, occurs at 108.17.

Examples of the very indefinite passive in -pi, -gi (on which see Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 347, 613; Bull. 87, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 40; Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 67) may be found at 110.2, 3 and 162.5.

An example of -inamegi (on which see Bull. 72, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 70; Bull. 89, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 26; Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 286, 613) occurs at 42.14.

For the passive in -we^dtci, of which I have spoken more than once, see 28.42. The form -āwe^dtci (22.32; 22.34) plainly belongs somehow in this series.

The passive in -aweniwi- occurs at 28.26.

The word änwäwä''ā'sut' (110.35) is in structure an -ā'so- passive; but it idiomatically means "drum."

A new isolated passive in -äwe'si-, ä'kanōnäwe'sidtcl', "he was spoken to," occurs at 60.5.

§45. Examples of the ceremonial vocative plural exclusive, animate singular, ne— nāte are to be found in neme'cōme'senāte' (58.39; cf. 68.3), "our grandfather," and nō'ci'semenāte (46.38), "our grandchild."

The word nekete'sīme'nānanⁿ¹¹ (150.42) is an obviative; otherwise it is explained on page 539 of the Fortieth Annual Report Bureau American Ethnology.

The word keta'kwa'tōmwāw[i] (62.29), "your (pl.) weapon," must be translated in English "your (pl.) weapons."

At 62.35 we have kema'ckutä'menāgi, "on our (incl.) prairie;" the second normal n of -nān- is elided before the locative ending. (Cf. §12 of the grammatical sketch.)

§47. The obviative plural of īniya is īniyā'a (22.42; 24.1); compare mā'īyā'a from mā'ī'ya. (See Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 288, and Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Ethn., p. 40.)

References to the published grammatical sketch are not practical in the following:

A transitive form in an anticipatory sentence, to be associated with the forms discussed by me (p. 613 of Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn.), is natawänemāgw(e) at 26.39.

For ä'cinatotā'siga'wagedte' (150.37) and natotā'sagedte' (150.39), see Fortieth Annual Report Bureau American Ethnology, pages 495, 538; Bulletin 89, Bureau American Ethnology, page 27.

At 142.15 we have ä'pyätewänetag, which is explained on pages 40,

41, Bulletin 87, Bureau American Ethnology.

Loose composition with cä'cki, "only," incorporated within the verbal compound occurs at 162.2, 3.

A particle is verbalized at 144.28.

A very curious type of composition, kekīgānowi kenagamōne'-nānan^{nit}, "our gens festival songs," occurs at 82.19.

Very strange is also ä'pyänetīwe'gāwādtci (170.39), "they danced the Captive Dance." Of course the medial -w- is the element dis-

cussed by me formerly.

Note that myäwi, "road" (with elimination of -wi), appears in a verbal compound immediately before the instrumental participle -'kaw- (transformed phonetically) at 104.28; there are parallels for this.

Wholly anomalous is nī'kanōnā'i (50.21, 22), "I shall speak." Morphologically it would seem as if this belonged somewhere in the series discussed by me on pages 40, 116, of Bulletin 95, Bureau American Ethnology; but the meaning is unfavorable to this hypothesis, unless there is an error in rendition in Bulletin 95.

The morphology of awatonagwigi (54.16; 54.42), "those (an.) whom they took away from us," is so far unique.

The syntax at 56.30, 31 is anomalous if the text is correct.1

A breach of concord occurs at 116.2, 3.

Books, etc., referred to in this section are not given in the List of Works Cited, p. 189.

⁵⁸⁷²⁷⁻³²⁻¹³

are Fortieth Annual Report Bureau American Ethnology Sale 2015.

Construction of the second design of the second design of the second of

Rare past subjunctives (third person principles of the person principles of the person of the person

Tore third perfect water of the property of th

Wholly momentum is ni londing (50.21, 22), "I shall speak." More plustopically it would seem as it this belonged somey here in the series making set by an only pages 46. If it, of Hullerin 25, Bureau American halmology; but the meaning is unfavorable to this fit potlides, buffels

there is an error in rendition in Hullium powers as any production of an appropriate company of the state of

apolem is, nearly at the second of the secon

The word neketa arma nament (150,42) is an obvintive, otherwise it is explained on page 539 of the Fortieth Annual Report Bureau American Ethnology.

The word hers kwa tongwawh) (62,29), "your (pl.) weapon!"

At 82.55 we have keen constituents; (on our finel) pening? the stoom has been not entire to slided before the locative entire (Cf. 512 of the grammatical sketch)

p. 585, Shi Bull. 95, Bur. Amer. Behn., p. 595.

References to the published grammatical abasels and not practical

A structure form in an entirepatory square, to be emericine with the forms themselved by me (p. 682 of Fortieth Ann. Hope, No. Amer. Edm.), is natural expenses at 20.30

LIST OF WORKS CITED

- ALEXANDER, HARTLEY BURR. [Article] Sin (American). In Encycl. Relig. and Ethics, edited by James Hastings, vol. xi, pp. 528-531. New York, 1921.
- Cuoq, J. A. Lexique de la Langue Algonquine. Montreal, 1886.
- Dorsey, James Owen. A study of Siouan cults. Eleventh Ann. Rept. Bur. Ethn., pp. 351-544. Washington, 1894.
- Forsyth, Thomas. An account of the manners and customs of the Sauk and Fox Nations of Indians tradition. In Blair, E. H., The Indian Tribes of the Upper Mississippi Valley and Region of the Great Lakes, vol. II. Cleveland,
- Galland, Isaac. The Indian Tribes of the West—Their Language, Religion, and Traditions. Annals of Iowa, vol. vii, no. 4, pp. 347-366. Davenport, 1869.
- Grinnell, George Bird. The Cheyenne Indians. New Haven, 1923.
- HANDBOOK OF AMERICAN INDIANS NORTH OF MEXICO. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bull. 30, pts. 1-2. Washington, 1907-1910.
- Harrington, M. R. Sacred Bundles of the Sac and Fox Indians. Univ. Pa., Univ. Mus. Anthrop. Publ., vol. 4, no. 2. Philadelphia, 1914.
- HOFFMAN, W. J. The Mide'wiwin or "Grand Medicine Society" of the Ojibwa. Seventh Ann. Rept. Bur. Ethn., pp. 143-300. Washington, 1891.
- --- The Menomini Indians. Fourteenth Ann. Rept. Bur. Ethn., pt. 1, pp. 3-328. Washington, 1896.
- Jones, William. The Algonkin Manitou. Journ. American Folk-Lore, vol 18, pp. 183-190. New York and Boston, 1905.
- The Central Algonkin. Ann. Archæol. Rept. for 1905, App. Rept. Min. Ed. Ontario, pp. 136-146, Toronto, 1906.
- ---- Fox texts. Publ. Amer. Ethn. Soc., vol. 1, Leyden, 1907.
- Algonquian (Fox). Revised by Truman Michelson. Handbook of American Indian Languages, Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bull. 40, pp. 735-873, Washington, 1911.
- Ojibwa texts. Ed. by Truman Michelson. Publ. Amer. Ethn. Soc., vol. vII, pt. II. New York, 1919.
- KROEBER, ALFRED L. The Arapaho. III, Ceremonial Organization. Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xvIII, pt. II. New York, 1904.
- Ethnology of the Gros Ventre. Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. 1, pt. 1v. New York, 1908.
- Lowie, Robert H. Dance Associations of the Eastern Dakota. Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xi, pt. ii. New York, 1913.
- ——— Societies of the Crow, Hidatsa, and Mandan Indians. Ibid., pt. III. New York, 1913.
 - Societies of the Arikara Indians. Ibid., pt. VIII. New York, 1915.
- ——— Plains Indian Age-Societies. Ibid., pt. XIII. New York, 1916.
- Primitive Religion. New York, 1924.
 [Review of] W. Schmidt, Der Ursprung der Gottesidee, II Band: Die Religionen der Urvolker Amerikas. Anthropos, xxv, pp. 751-753. Wien, Osterreich, 1930.

189

- MARSTON, MAJOR MORRELL. Letter to Rev. Dr. Jedidiah Morse [1820]. In Blair, E. H., The Indian Tribes of the Upper Mississippi Valley and Region of the Great Lakes, vol. II, p. 172. Cleveland, 1912.
- Michelson, Truman. The Owl Sacred Pack of the Fox Indians. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bull. 72, Washington, 1921.
- —— How Meskwaki children should be brought up. In American Indian Life, Dr. E. C. Parsons, ed., pp. 81–86. New York, 1922.
- —— [Review of] Observations on the Ethnology of the Sauk Indians, by Alanson Skinner. Amer. Anthropologist, N. s., vol. 26, pp. 93–100, Menasha, Wis., 1924.
- —— The Mythical Origin of the White Buffalo Dance of the Fox Indians. Fortieth Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., pp. 23–289, Washington, 1925.
- Notes on Fox Mortuary Customs and Beliefs. Ibid., pp. 351-496.
- —— Notes on the Fox Society Known as Those Who Worship the Little Spotted Buffalo. Ibid., pp. 497–539.
- ——— A sacred pack called A'penäwänä'a belonging to the Thunder gens of the Fox Indians. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bull. 85, pp. 97–116. Washington, 1927.
- —— A sacred pack called Sāgimā'kwāwa belonging to the Bear gens of the Fox Indians. Ibid, pp. 117–159.
- ——— Notes on the Buffalo-Head Dance of the Thunder gens of the Fox Indians. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bull. 87. Washington, 1928.
- Observations on the Thunder Dance of the Bear gens of the Fox Indians. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bull. 89. Washington, 1929.
- ——— A sketch of the Buffalo Dance of the Bear gens of the Fox Indians. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Bul. 95, pp. 1–41. Washington, 1930.
- —— Notes on the Great Sacred Pack of the Thunder gens of the Fox Indians. Ibid., pp. 43-176.
- —— Note on Fox Gens Festivals. In Proceedings of the Twenty-Third International Congress of Americanists. New York., 1928; pp. 545-546, New York, 1930.
- Mooney, James. The Cheyenne Indians. Mem. Amer. Anthrop. Asso., vol. 1, pt. 6, pp. 357-442. Lancaster, 1907.
- Morgan, Lewis H. Ancient Society. New York, 1878.
- Murie, James R. Pawnee Indian societies. Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. xi, pt. vii, pp. 543-644. New York, 1914.
- RADIN, PAUL. The Winnebago Tribe. Thirty-seventh Ann. Rept. Bur. Amer. Ethn., Washington, 1923.
- Schmidt, W. Der Ursprung der Gottesidee. II Band: Die Religionen der Urvölker Amerikas. Münster, 1929.
- Skinner, Alanson. Notes on the Plains Cree. Amer. Anthropologist, N. s., vol. 16, pp. 68–87, Lancaster, 1914.
- ——— Ponca Societies and Dance. Ibid., pp. 777-801.
- —— Associations and Ceremonies of the Menomini Indians. Ibid., vol. XIII, pt. II. New York, 1915.
- Observations on the ethnology of the Sauk Indians. Bull. Pub. Mus. Milwaukee, vol. 5, no. 1. Milwaukee, 1923.
- —— The Mascoutens or Prairie Potawatomi Indians, part III, Mythology and folklore. Ibid., vol. 6, no. 3, 1927.
- Ethnology of the Ioway Indians. Ibid., vol. 5, no. 4, 1926.
- Swanton, John R. An early account of the Choctaw Indians. Mem. Amer. Anthrop. Asso., vol. v, pp. 51-72. Lancaster, 1918.

Wissler, Clark. Societies and Ceremonial Associations in the Oglala Division of the Teton-Dakota. Anthrop. Papers Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vol. XI, pt. 1, pp. 1-99. New York, 1912.

- General Discussion of Shamanistic and Dancing Socieites. Ibid., pt.

XII, pp. 853-876. New York, 1916.

—— The American Indian: An introduction to the anthropology of the New World. 2d ed. New York, 1922.

Wissing Counties Societies and Commonistrations instituted States Division Control Patentials of the Control Patentials of

The State of the New York, 1916. (1944 and standard W. 27 the saids New York, 1916).

Line Dr. R. C. Provena of pp. 51-60, ESSI MacK MCM, for 52 block of the Sauk Indiana to Alaman Salman Appear Anthropologist, n. s., on 76, pp. 60-100, Manager Sauk 1924

Foreign Ann. Rent. Blor Jones. Billy , pp. 13-302. Washington 1925

- Notice on Roy Meetings Common and Best in This but set son

Bullates Bold. pp. 197-500.

For Indiana: Bur, Amer. Etta. Roy, on, pp. 19-11. Wood being 1997.

For Solitons Cold up. \$17-180

But. Astron. 18ths., But. 52. Whiteholder 18th.

The Annual Print State on White Lower Transport The State of the State

A sketch of the highlie Danie of the Louis second on the bediese from

Third, on 33-150

without Congress of Americanists. New York., 1938; pp. 548-540; New York.

Museus, January The Chapterns Territory Men Amer Anthrop Andrews in pr. 5 pp. 557-645. Tennesser, 1997.

Mongar, Level M. Aurices Bonnies Store Wirk. 2619.

Munic, Janua B. Passina Indian somethic Assisted Private Amer. Mus. Nat. 1710. vol. vi. vi. vo. vo. vo. vov. vov. 10101

Rance, Patric. The Waterstown Trible. Prints according to Rept. Nor. Agree.

Schuler, W. Der Ungering der Gestaltelle. Il Burer, Sie Reinstehen der Urwillige Amerikan. Mittaster, 1999.

HARLEDS, ANDREWS. Notice on the Platty Color, America Artherical M. S.

party on the fact when the first and the fir

Die Ten Fare 1912

Observation of the circulary of the Sant Jestians Bell but Mus.

and felthers. Buth. Sec. 5, and St. 1927.

ever Blanches of the India Tradition Inc. val. 8, no. 4, Cala

Description Associated to the Charles Indian Same American

INDEX

Page	Page
ADOPTION FEAST, mentioned 15,	Dog's HEAD, eating of 7
173, 175	Eagle gens, mentioned15, 147, 161
ALGONKIN, comparisons with 6, 12	ETHICS AND RELIGION, connec-
ALGONKIN, CENTRAL, compari-	tion between 17
son with 13	FACIAL PAINTING, reference to 25
Arapaho, comparison with 14	Fasting, practice of 21, 23
Arikara, comparison with 13	FEATHERED GENS. See THUN-
BEAR, a form of witch 4	DER GENS.
Bear gens-	Fire dance, mention of 14
Brown bear division of 16	FIRE Wâpanōwa, mention of 59
reference to 2, 3, 4, 5, 15, 137	Formulas, regular 3
synonym of 163, 167	Four, the ceremonial number 3, 5,
BIBLIOGRAPHY 189-191	13, 14, 23, 53, 115, 119, 149,
BIRD DANCE, mention of 7	163, 171.
Birds—	Fox gens, mentioned 15, 147
knowledge of language of 21, 25	FREEZING WÂPANOWA, mention
Wâpanōwi, mention of 7	of 59
Brown, Tom, translation by 1	GENTLE MANITOU-
BUFFALO DANCE—	discussion of 17-18
mention of /	mention of 39, 41, 49, 53, 69, 71
of Bear gens, mentioned 14, 15	GREAT MANITOU-
BUFFALO HEAD DANCE of Thun-	discussion of 17–18
der gens, mentioned 14, 15	reference to 3, 9, 87, 89
CAPTIVE DANCE, mentioned 171	GREEN Wâpanōwa, mention of 59
CATAMENIAL CUSTOM	Gros Ventres, comparison
CEDAR LEAVES used in exorcisms	with14
and ceremonials4	HE WHO LIES WITH HIS EYES
CENTRAL ALGONKINS, cults of 14	BULGING IN THE SMOKE HOLE,
CEREMONIAL FOUR. See CERE-	reference to 115, 117, 121
MONIAL NUMBER.	Hidatsa, comparison with 13
CEREMONIAL NUMBER, mention	Informants, reliability of 2
of 5, 13,	Iowa (Ioway), comparison
14, 23, 53, 115, 119, 149, 163, 171	with
CEREMONIES-	Joking Relationship, refer-
comparative study of 7, 8	ence to 23
details of 7-12	Kickapoo, performance by 14
CHEYENNE, comparison with 13	KIYANA, ALFRED—
CREE, comparisons with 6, 12	mention of 2
Dakota, Eastern, comparison	texts written by1
with13	LINCOLN, HARRY—
Dancing songs, orthodox num-	acknowledgment to 1
ber139	mention of1
DIRTY LITTLE ANI, equated with	LINGUISTIC NOTES
gentes15	Mama'sā'a, myths concerning. 3,
Dogs, sacrifice of 109,	Manual comparison with
111, 115, 119, 147, 149	Mandan, comparison with 13

Page	Page
Manitou. See Gentle Mani-	Sī'sa'kyäweni—
TOU; GREAT MANITOU.	mention of 5
MASCOUTENS (PRAIRIE POTA-	Plains Cree and Ojibway,
WATOMI), comparison with 13	connections of 5
Membership, interlocking 16	Songs 3,
MENOMINI, comparison with 12, 13	7, 61, 63, 71, 73, 81, 83, 89,
Metäwiweni, mention of 3, 5	91, 99, 101, 103, 105, 149, 151.
Мутня—	153, 155, 157, 159, 161, 163, 165,
abstracts of 3-4	167, 173, 175.
ætiological, concerning Wâ-	Songs, Dancing, orthodox num-
panōwiweni 21-107,	The state of the s
125–135, 143–149	Speeches—
concerning Mama'sa'a' 3,	by Pa'citönīgwa 151-135
169–173	by Young Bear 125-137
Naming customs 125	conventional 3, 9
Nanā'kawinātawinōni, men-	Spirit of Fire, reference to 77,
tion of5	87, 93, 95, 97, 99, 115, 121,
OJIBWA, Comparisons with 4, 5, 12, 13	127, 151, 161.
OWL DANCE, connection of, with	Story within a story 5
Wâpanōwiweni2	SUN DANCE, CHEYENNE, trick
Pa'citōnīgwa, speech by 161	performed in 14
PAWNEE, comparison with 13	SUPERNATURAL POWER-
Peters, Jim, text by 1	mention of 25
Peters, Sam-	practice of 169, 171
mention of 2	Swan gens, mention of 6, 7
text by1	TERMS, Fox, for magico-relig-
Phraseology, conventional 3	ious ideas and practices 4
PLAINS CREE, comparisons with 4,	Tesson, sr., Joseph, mention
5, 13	of3
Poison, known to Indians 3	
	TETON-DAKOTA, comparison with13
Ponca, comparison with 13	
Poweshiek, Horace, para-	THE ONE WHOSE EYES ARE
phrases by1	SAID TO BE IN THE SMOKE
RED Wâpanōwa, mention of 59	Hole, reference to 151, 161
RELIGION AND ETHICS, connec-	Thunder dance of Bear gens,
tion between 17	reference to 15
RELIGIOUS IDEAS, Fox terms for 4	Thunder gens, mention of 15,
SACRED PACK—	147, 161
contents of a	Товассо—
reference to 77	as an offering 23, 69, 115, 121
Sacrifice of dogs 109,	origin of 127
111, 115, 119, 147, 149	TRICKS, SHAMANISTIC 4, 5, 13, 14
SAUK, comparisons with 4, 5, 6, 13	WABANOWIWIN, ALGONQUIN,
SCOTT, THOMAS, mention of 1	discussion of 14
SIN AND VICE, Fox discrimina-	Walesi wi so tti ki-
tion between 17	discussion of 5-7
SIOUAN TRIBES, comparison	translation of text con-
with	cerning 7-12
A STATE OF THE STA	Dasteryo soxos, erchicator milita

Wâpanöwa— Page	1
meaning of 12	
mention of 35	
of the east 43,	
59, 69, 75, 85, 87, 93, 147	
of the north 47,	
59, 69, 75, 87, 93, 95, 147	
of the south 59,	
69, 75, 85, 93, 147	
of the west 59,	
69, 75, 85, 93, 95, 147	
phonetic equivalents of 12	
plural of 12	
Wâpanōwa dance, mention of_51, 173	
Wâpanowagi—	1
blessings bestowed by 51	
mention of 12	

Wâpanōwiweni— Page
ætiological myth concern-
ing 21-107
details of performance of 109-
141, 149-167
external performance of 14-15
gentes represented in 5
members of 15
mention of 5
notes on members of 16-17
WAR CHIEFS GENS, mention of _ 3, 5, 15
WHITE WÂPANÖWA, mentioned 69
Winnebago, comparison with 13
Wolf gens, reference to 15, 147
Young Bear, speech by 125-137







